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PRAISE FOR JOHN J. GOBBELL

 John Gobbell tells Navy tales like no other writer. Here, he combines historical  facts,  reasonable  conjecture  and  authentic  Navy  culture and  language  to  bring  a  new  flavor  to  the  epic  story  of  PT-109,  its famous  skipper  and  the  woman  who  captivated  him.  It  is  an enlightening  and  entertaining  visit  to  the  danger,  discomfort  and drama of the South Pacific at war. 

—  ADMIRAL ERIC OLSON, USN (RETIRED), FORMER

COMMANDER, U.S. SPECIAL OPERATIONS COMMAND

 From John Gobbell’s preface, to the last revealing page, Somewhere in  the  South  Pacific  is  a  riveting,  entertaining,  and  historical  page turner. This Todd Ingram series is well researched and an engaging must read. 

—  HOWARD G. KAZANJIAN, PRIMETIME EMMY AWARD

RECIPIENT, EXECUTIVE PRODUCER:  INDIANA JONES AND

 THE RAIDERS OF THE LOST ARC, RETURN OF THE JEDI, PRODUCER: THE ROOKIE, DEMOLITION MAN

 Once  again,  John  J.  Gobbell  has  added  to  his  already  solid reputation  as  a  spinner  of  sea  stories.  As  his  fictional  hero,  Todd Ingram, once again finds action in the South Pacific, Gobbell’s own experiences  as  a  naval  officer  shine  through  as  he  blends  history with  imaginative  drama,  taking  the  reader  back  to  a  time  when  the future president Jack Kennedy is in command of a PT-boat, fighting the  Japanese  and  in  love  with  an  exotic  and  potentially  dangerous beauty. 

—  THOMAS J. CUTLER, THE GORDON ENGLAND CHAIR OF

PROFESSIONAL NAVAL LITERATURE, U.S. NAVAL

INSTITUTE

 I  am  more  than  impressed...John  Gobbell  knows  what  he  writes about.  This  was  one  of  the  most  difficult  books  to  put  down  that  I have read in recent years. So many great characters, each brought to life, whether real or fictional. Many of them are familiar to readers of  the  series  and  several  of  them  are  real  people  whose  recorded actions blend in with the fictional lives in the heat and humidity of the South  Pacific  during  the  largest  and  most  intense  naval  war  in history. 

—  TERRY MILLER, FORMER EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR, TIN

CAN SAILORS: NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF DESTROYER

VETERANS

 John Gobbell's rip-roaring tale of US Navy PT boats battling Imperial Japanese  Navy  forces  in  the  Solomon  Islands  bursts  with  daring exploits by America's Greatest Generation, including a young John F. 

 Kennedy.  Gobbell's  World  War  II  novels  are  second  to  none  in portraying  the  bravery,  sacrifices,  and  human  frailties  of  ordinary men and women during the best years of their lives. 

—  GEORGE D. JEPSON, EDITORIAL DIRECTOR, MCBOOKS

PRESS

[image: Image 2]

SOMEWHERE IN THE SOUTH

PACIFIC

A TODD INGRAM NOVEL

JOHN J. GOBBELL

SOMEWHERE IN THE SOUTH PACIFIC

Copyright © 2021 by John J. Gobbell. 

All rights reserved. 

No part of this book may be reproduced in any form or by any electronic or mechanical means, including information storage and retrieval systems, without written permission from the author, except for the use of brief quotations in a book review. 

Severn River Publishing

www.SevernRiverBooks.com

This is a work of fiction. Names, characters, businesses, places, events and incidents are either the products of the author’s imagination or used in a fictitious manner. Any resemblance to actual persons, living or dead, or actual events is purely coincidental. 

Registered WGAW : 2132921

ISBN: 978-1-64875-528-6 (Paperback)

CONTENTS

Also by John J. Gobbell

Preface

Cast Of Characters

Maps

Prologue

Part I

Chapter 1

Chapter 2

Chapter 3

Chapter 4

Chapter 5

Chapter 6

Chapter 7

Chapter 8

Chapter 9

Chapter 10

Chapter 11

Chapter 12

Chapter 13

Chapter 14

Chapter 15

Chapter 16

Chapter 17

Chapter 18

Chapter 19

Chapter 20

Part II

Chapter 21

Chapter 22

Chapter 23

Chapter 24

Chapter 25

Chapter 26

Chapter 27

Chapter 28

Chapter 29

Chapter 30

Part III

Chapter 31

Chapter 32

Chapter 33

Chapter 34

Chapter 35

Chapter 36

Chapter 37

Chapter 38

Chapter 39

Chapter 40

Chapter 41

Epilogue

Also by John J. Gobbell

About the Author

ALSO BY JOHN J. GOBBELL

The Todd Ingram Series

The Last Lieutenant

A Code For Tomorrow

When Duty Whispers Low

The Neptune Strategy

Edge of Valor

Dead Man Launch

Somewhere in the South Pacific

Danger’s Ebb

Other Books

A Call to Colors

The Brutus Lie

Never miss a new release! Sign up to receive exclusive updates from author John J. Gobbell. 

severnriverbooks.com

 This novel is dedicated to my wife Janine, who has put up with me through thick and thin and has always brought us out on top. 

 All my love …

PREFACE

Jack  Kennedy  crashed  my  wedding.  This  is  true.  He  walked  in, signed  our  wedding  register,  then  patiently  went  through  the reception  line,  meeting  two  sets  of  parents,  then  Janine,  my  bride, and  then  me.  This  was  on  Friday  evening,  July  15,  1960,  just  after Kennedy accepted the nomination for president from the Democratic Party at a ceremony in the Los Angeles Memorial Coliseum. 

During  that  day,  I  was  a  newly  minted  boot  ensign  just  out  of USC’s  NROTC  program,  having  graduated  a  month  earlier.  My orders were to a destroyer in San Diego, the USS  Tingey (DD539). 

But  first,  they  sent  me  to  ASW  (anti-submarine  warfare)  school  in San  Diego.  So,  that  day,  I  was  at  sea  off  San  Clemente  Island,  on another destroyer, learning how to kill bad guys. 

On schedule, we moored at 1630, then I zipped over to the San Diego airport and jumped on a tired old DC-6 for Burbank Airport. My brother  Bill,  my  best  man,  picked  me  up  with  tux  in  hand  and  we made it to the church with time to spare. But I’d had a long, long day, and I still had my sea legs. My land legs hadn’t returned and things were  spinning  around  as  I  was  trying  to  figure  out  the  differences between  depth  charges  and  the  bomb  shells  in  Pasadena.  But  we made  it  through  the  ceremony.  To  my  delight,  Janine  accepted  me with  all  my  warts  and  bruises.  Frankly,  I  got  the  better  end  of  the deal.  Janine  was  the  only  gorgeous  girl  walking  around  that  night. 

How lucky I was and still am. 

Our reception was at the Huntington Hotel, now the Langham, in Pasadena,  down  by  the  pool.  This  happened  to  be  Kennedy’s California  campaign  headquarters.  It  was  a  balmy  summer  evening and these guys came storming in all full of victory. They looked down at the pool and saw us in tuxedos with wives and dates and decided to go party. Newly arrived ourselves, we had just set up the reception line,  and  the  next  thing  I  know,  I’m  shaking  hands  with  this  guy named  John  Kennedy.  Fortunately,  Janine’s  mother  figured  it  out, and just before he got there, she whispered in my ear to be nice to some guy I’d barely heard of, coming through the line. 

I  remember  meeting  him.  Very  nice.  He’d  learned  something about me and we blabbed Navy for about sixty seconds, and then he and his brothers melted into the crowd. 

It wasn’t until years later that I got to know John Kennedy much better. Unfortunately, he was gone by then. I had taken a job with the Los  Angeles  Office  of  Boyden  Associates,  Inc.,  an  international executive  recruiting  firm  based  in  New  York  City  with  offices  worldwide.  Syd  Boyden’s  modus  was  to  hire  executives  who  had  been successful  in  their  previous  jobs  as  senior  vice  presidents  and above. Thus, I was blessed to be surrounded by men with incredible backgrounds, civilian and military. I was looked upon as a young pup at the time, and my only commonality with them was having been in the Navy on a destroyer. They seemed to like that and we got along fine.  The  branch  manager  was  Al  Cluster,  who  I  discovered  was John Kennedy’s commanding officer in PT squadrons 2 and 3 in the Solomon  Islands  of  World  War  II.  Later,  Al  served  as  an  exec  of  a destroyer. 

I became close friends with Al, a Naval Academy graduate, as we talked  often  about  his  time  in  PT  boats,  and  especially  his  direct involvement in Kennedy’s rescue from Olasana Island in the Blackett Strait. I was fascinated. Al is gone now. Prematurely, he had a falling accident that took him from his family and friends. 

As  I  looked  about  for  material  to  use  in  my  next  Todd  Ingram novel,  I  discovered  that  1943  was  sort  of  a  blank  period  in  this series, and there were amazing things that happened that would be interesting to write about. 

Hence,  I  recalled  my  run-in  with  Jack  Kennedy  on  my  wedding night,  and  my  extensive  conversations  with  Al  Cluster,  who, incidentally, became Kennedy’s California campaign manager during 1959-1960. Al also was the president’s liaison for the filming of the movie  PT 109. 

When I was researching this work, Al’s son, Tom Cluster, helped incredibly with material, papers, and recollections about the Kennedy days. My thanks and appreciation go to Tom for all that he provided. 

Thanks  also  to  Phil  Schwartzberg  of  Meridian  Mapping,  who,  not only  for  this  work  but  for  many  of  my  previous  novels,  did  an outstanding  job  in  the  cartography.  My  thanks  and  appreciation  go also to an old friend and shipmate, Doug Patterson, Captain, USN, who  gave  a  marvelous  assist  with  naval  nomenclature.  I’ve  also received  fantastic  support  from  great  friends  with  whom  I  share breakfast on Friday mornings. These men are retired first responders from local and national law enforcement agencies who served brave, enriching, and patriotic careers. And like good cops, they jabbed me in  the  right  places  to  keep  this  work  on  track.  Last,  I  must acknowledge  Amber  Hudock  and  Andrew  Watts  at  Severn  River Publishing  who  have  done  an  outstanding  job  for  yours  truly  in addition to many other authors in their lineup. For sure, this has been an amazing and fantastic collaborative experience. I can only hope that it lasts. 

I  have  a  friend  who,  many  times,  with  a  nod  toward  my  wife, Janine,  reminds  me,  “Hey  Gobbell,  you  married  above  your  level.” 

There’s no doubt about that. And now, all I can say is that since that wonderful evening many years ago, when the future president of the United States walked our reception line, she really is a blessing. 

To you, my readers, I am indeed blessed. So many of your emails have been uplifting especially with the stories that you share. I try to respond to them all and can only say thank you, and thank you, and thank you. 

May All Good Things Come To You, 

John J. Gobbell

Newport Beach, California

John@johnjgobbell.com

www.johnjgobbell.com
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UNITED STATES NAVY
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J. Edgar Hoover, Director

Directed FBI investigation of JFK and Inga Arvad Clyde Tolson, Assistant to the director

[image: Image 3]

[image: Image 4]

[image: Image 5]

PROLOGUE

 When a man dies, a library burns to the ground. 

—Anonymous

9 August 1936

Olympiastadion

Berlin, Germany

She  was  a  Nordic  blonde  beauty.  A  Dane.  And  proudly,  on  this overcast  day,  she  sat  with  Chancellor  Adolf  Hitler  in  his  box  at  the Olympic  Stadium  watching  world-class  athletes  at  the  top  of  their game.  This  was  the  day  when  the  black  American,  Jesse  Owens, unexpectedly won his fourth gold medal in the men’s 4 X 100 relay. 

But  to  Germany’s  resurgent  population,  all  options  were  open with  Der  Führer.  They  cheered  with  stiff-armed  Nazi  salutes. 

Especially to women, he was a bachelor and very eligible. 

But  unknown  to  everyone,  except  just  a  few,  his  girlfriend  Eva Braun, twenty-three years younger than Hitler, was sequestered as a worker  in  his  vacation  home  at  the   Berghof  near  Berchtesgaden  in Bavaria. 

Inga  Arvad  was  this  woman’s  name.  At  5’  8”,  127  pounds,  she was twenty-six years of age. Her father had died when she was just

four years old, but her mother, Olga, never re-married. Instead, with the help of a modest inheritance, Olga took young Inga on extended trips  to  Europe,  Asia,  and  South  America,  which  resulted  in  Inga becoming  very  international,  speaking  at  least  four  languages fluently: her native Danish, German, French, and English. Along the way,  she  learned  the  guitar  and  the  piano  and  was  on  track  to become  a  concert  pianist.  But  by  her  seventeenth  year,  and  now quite  cosmopolitan,  she  convinced  Olga  to  let  her  enter  the  Miss Denmark beauty contest in 1931. 

She won. 

Later that year, Inga wanted to enter the Miss Europe contest, an event  conducted  from  Paris.  Olga  mulled  and  mulled,  delaying  her permission.  Deciding  to  ignore  ditzy  young  women  associated  with the Miss Europe contest, Olga gave permission for Inga to run, not for  any  awards  she  might  win  but  because  of  the  exposure  and opportunities to meet people of influence. 

Not  even  expecting  to  place,  Inga  was  awarded  second  in  the Miss Europe contest. And she did meet people of import, eventually marrying  Kamal  Abdel  Nabi,  an  Egyptian  training  for  the  country’s diplomatic  corps.  After  an  elaborate  wedding,  Inga  moved  to  Egypt with  her  husband.  Olga  soon  followed,  but  the  marriage  didn’t  last. 

Neither  mother  nor  daughter  could  adapt  to  the  ways  of  Islam.  So they  escaped  Egypt  on  a  ruse,  with  Inga  never  formally  divorcing Nabi in Egypt, only in Denmark. 

Inga  had  given  up  the  piano  and  later  the  ballet  for  acting. 

Eventually  she  settled  on  a  life  in  journalism,  writing  articles  about well-known people that were not the usual exposés but were positive and  entertaining,  showing  the  optimistic  side  of  those  she interviewed.  Her  bylines  became  popular  and  she  was  soon syndicated all over Europe. In a way, Inga Arvad had become a siren of Europe. 

Throughout  her  travels,  she  met  the  Hungarian-born  and naturalized  American  Hollywood  movie  director,  Paul  Fejos.  With early medical training in Hungary, Fejos grew tired of Hollywood and eventually carved a new career as an anthropologist, filming people, locations,  and  animals  in  out-of-the-way  places  in  the  jungles  of Southeast  Asia  and  South  America.  Fascinated  with  Fejos’  work, 

Inga married him in January 1936, seven months before the Summer Olympics. 

This  was  when  a  newborn  Germany  was  all  the  talk  of  Europe. 

Germany’s  new  chancellor,  the  upstart  Adolf  Hitler,  was  highly spoken of on an almost daily basis. Inga Arvad set her sights on this new  phenomenon  and  their  rapidly  improving  economy.  She’d  met Joseph  Göbbels,  the  propaganda  minister  who  introduced  her  to Hermann Göring, second only to Hitler in the Third Reich. Agreeing to be interviewed, Göring was so taken with this young and gorgeous Dane that he invited her to his wedding, a lavish one said to be more opulent than the 1981 wedding of Prince Charles to Lady Diana. This led to not one but two interviews with Adolf Hitler, also taken by this extremely cosmopolitan and good-looking woman. 

The  day  at  the  Olympics  was  preceded  by  a  luncheon  Hitler threw  in  Inga’s  honor  at  the  Reich  Chancellery.  Along  the  way  he presented Inga with a photo, personally inscribed: “To Inga Arvad, in friendly  memory,  Adolf  Hitler,”  enclosed  in  an  ornate  silver  frame. 

Inga’s continual visits to Germany and subsequent bylines practically made her a household name in Europe. 

But  then  an  article  provided  by  the   International  News  Service was  released  promoting  a  new  film  that  featured  a  photo  of  Inga Arvad. The caption read, “Meet Miss Inga Arvad, Danish beauty, who so captivated Chancellor Adolf Hitler during a visit to Berlin that he made her Chief of Nazi Publicity in Denmark …” 

Chief of Nazi Publicity in Denmark. 

This comment eventually followed her to the United States and to the desk of J. Edgar Hoover, director of the FBI. And Hoover never really did let go. Ever. 

Inga was back in Germany the following September, having been invited to a party at the home of a German prince. During the lavish evening, she was approached by a “top man” in the Nazi party who became  very  friendly  and  complimentary  of  Inga.  After  a  while,  the man  overtly  propositioned  Inga  to  work  for  Germany,  to  spy  on people and report back on conversations and events she’d seen or heard, important to the Nazi Party. The man promised a large salary and expenses. 

Inga felt extremely nervous about what had passed. Pressed for an answer, she said she would think about it. 

The man walked off. 

Someone else stepped up. He was a dapper elderly gentleman of sixty-three years by the name of Konstantin von Neurath. He was the foreign minister of Germany and a World War I army officer of the old school.  A  previous  minister  to  Denmark,  von  Neurath  was  highly respected at all levels in the Nazi Party and knowledgeable in many, many categories. 

After  small  talk,  he  asked  to  walk  Inga  back  to  her  hotel.  She agreed, and on a cold evening in Berlin, Germany, they made their way to the Adlon Hotel, a few short blocks away. 

While they walked, von Neurath asked what had transpired. 

Inga told him, and that she had balked at the offer. 

He  told  her  that  she  would  be  reported  to  Himmler  and  would soon be “interviewed” by the Gestapo. 

That  frightened  Inga.  Weeks  earlier,  she  had  met  Reichsführer Heinrich Himmler, head of the SS, the Schutzstaffel. He’d taken her on  a  tour  of  Gestapo  headquarters  and  gladly  demonstrated  their interrogation techniques on real prisoners, some of it bloody. 

She never forgot. 

And now, it had caught up with her. 

“What should I do?” she asked von Neurath. 

The diplomat said, “Get out of Germany. Now, tonight. And do not return until this whole mess is forgotten.” 

Once in her room at the Adlon, a shaken Inga called Tempelhof Airport, booked a flight to Copenhagen, and flew out early the next morning. 

Nervously, she waited for the return of her husband. Finally, Fejos got back to Copenhagen in December. On contract for another film, Fejos  left  almost  right  away  for  the  Dutch  East  Indies  (now Indonesia), taking Inga with him. There they collaborated on filming the Komodo dragon (giant lizards) and cannibalistic pygmies. 

Accepting the advice of Konstantin von Neurath, Inga Arvad did not return to Germany until long after the war was over. 

PART I

 Brilliant planning doesn’t win wars; 

 it’s the side that screws up the least (who wins). 

—Clarence “Bud” Anderson, Colonel, USAF (ret.) P-51 pilot, 18 kills, ETO

1

18 April 1943

Tulagi Harbor

Solomon Islands

It was another hot, sultry afternoon as two men paced the dock. Off by  themselves,  both  were  deep  in  thought.  The  sun  beat  with  a sizzling  intensity,  making  both  stay  under  an  anemic  section  of shrapnel-holed  canvas  stretching  half  the  length  of  the  dock.  Both men  were  officers,  except  one  was  in  shorts;  neither  wore decorations. 

But there were subtle accouterments on the one in shorts, which explained he’d been in SOWESTPAC for a while. To begin, he was older with salt-and-pepper hair. The brass device on his garrison cap was fringed with green, a reminder of the grunge that plagued men in the Solomon Islands. He was stocky, although it could have been worse. His girth was not that extreme, as he was on a “jungle” diet that kept his weight down to 227 pounds. On his last thirty-day leave home  to  Purcell,  Oklahoma,  he’d  soared  to  255  and  swore  he’d never  let  that  happen  again  even  though  both  his  father  and grandfather clocked in at over 275 pounds when they’d died. 

Steak, potatoes, apple pie, cold beer: a family Sunday tradition. 

He loved it. But if he just glanced at any of it, including the buttered corn on the cob, he would gain five pounds. 

He  was  Captain  Theodore  R.  Myszynski,  age  thirty-eight, commander  of  Destroyer  Squadron  Twelve  (DESRON12),  his headquarters aboard the 8.325-ton destroyer tender  Whitney (AD-4) swinging  at  anchor  out  in  the  bay.  They  called  him  Rocko,  and Rocko loved cigars. But he couldn’t smoke the stogie now clamped between  his  teeth  because  two  Elco  PT  boats  moored  alongside were  being  refueled  with  100  octane  aviation  gas  that  fed  their Packard 2500 series V-12, 1,800 horsepower engines. 

With a sigh, Rocko watched thick fumes rise above the refueling PTs.  And  that  wasn’t  good  for  PTs,  which  were  well-known  for exploding  while  fueling.  Just  two  weeks  ago,  a  native  Melanesian worker, an Isatabu of Guadalcanal, was smoking a Lucky Strike and flicked the lighted butt into the water beside a nest of four refueling PT boats. 

An enemy saboteur couldn’t have done a finer job. The PT boat closest to the cigarette caught fire and blew up right away, killing four of  her  eleven-man  crew.  Three  more  were  disfigured  for  life  with gruesome  burns.  The  PT  inboard  likewise  caught  fire,  her  crew frantically trying to keep the flames from the main gas tanks. The two inboard PTs quickly cut their dock lines, slithered out from between, and got underway. But no luck for the still-burning PT. Their skipper realized  the  inevitable  and  wisely  called  “abandon  ship.”  Twenty seconds  later,  the  flames  touched  off  her  gas  tanks  with  a  mighty roar. By this time, they had all jumped to safety. 

But  it  wasn’t  over.  The  fire  ate  its  way  to  the  fueling  barge,  a converted LCM whose crew was frantically trying to start her engines and cast off. 

Not in time. The LCM exploded as sirens wailed uselessly while incredulous firefighters cursed at hoses that dripped rather than shot water. 

With the blazing LCM half-sunk, the fire wasn’t through. It ate its way  ashore,  over  the  dock,  and  into  a  temporary  fuel  dump  with thirty-two fifty-five-gallon drums of 100 octane gasoline. 

The  explosions  were  thunderous;  flames  licked  at  the  early evening sky and well into the night. The whole area smoked for days while crews did their best to restore a semblance of order. 

Rocko had helplessly watched from the  Whitney’s 02 deck. Nope. 

No smoking. The irony was that he’d heard the Navy was converting to  130  octane  for  their  aircraft  and  PT  boat  engines.  Nice.  All  one had to do was look at it cross-eyed and it would explode. 

A 1 ½ ton Dodge gray Navy ambulance and two Jeeps thumped onto  the  dock  and  drew  up  near  Myszynski.  A  gaunt-faced  sailor leaped  out.  He  was  pharmacist’s  mate  first  class  Horace  Evans,  a skinny  blond  kid.  They  knew  one  another.  It  was  Evans  who  made sure Myszynski got sleeping pills when the  Whitney’s dispensary ran out. 

They  tossed  casual  salutes.  “Afternoon,  Commodore,”  said Evans. “Anything on their ETA?” 

Myszynski checked his watch. “Pretty soon, Horace. Glad you’re here.” 

“What happened?” They were due six hours ago. 

“Apparently, the 88 boat had a breakdown. Water in the gas. The 72 boat had to tow them until they cleaned their filters. Now they’re back on the step.” 

Evans looked puzzled. “On the step, Captain?” 

“They’ll be here soon, Evans. Glad you’re on time.” 

“Well,  that’s  right.  I  got  patients,  Commodore.”  Evans  and  his equally skinny apprentice, Warren Vogel, a pharmacist’s mate striker, went to the ambulance’s back doors, snapped them open, and pulled out a gurney. 

Returning  to  his  ruminations,  Myszynski  was  delighted  with  the news he’d heard aboard the  Whitney at lunchtime. Before sunup this morning,  sixteen  P-38s  of  the  Army  Air  Corps’  339th  fighter squadron had taken off from Guadalcanal, flew up The Slot, and two hours  later,  intercepted  Imperial  Japanese  Navy  Admiral  Isoroku Yamamoto’s  G4M2  bomber  over  Bougainville  and  shot  it  down. 

Intelligence  for  this  mission  was  gained  via  a  coded  Japanese message  intercepted  in  Hawaii.  From  the  message,  codebreakers had  learned  of  Yamamoto’s  itinerary  to  tour  his  bases  in Bougainville.  The  message  was  kicked  all  the  way  up  to  President

Roosevelt,  who  personally  authorized  the  mission.  And  now,  it  was done. Fifteen of the sixteen P-38s had landed at about eleven a.m., their pilots joyfully celebrating, their ground crews partying alongside. 

The news spread quickly, and by early afternoon the base hummed with what happened. 

Admiral  Halsey  soon  caught  wind  of  the  celebrations  and  sent word  for  everybody  to  knock  it  off,  that  any  further  mention  of  the Yamamoto mission would result in serious consequences, including heavy  prison  time.  With  good  reason,  Halsey  and  his  staff  were afraid  the  Japanese,  learning  of  the  celebrations,  would  correctly guess  their  codes  had  been  compromised  and  change  them completely,  nullifying  years  of  meticulous  work  by  the  U.S.  Navy’s code-breaking staffs in Hawaii and Washington DC. 

Halsey’s wishes filtered down fast and were implicit:  You people shut up. 

Later  that  afternoon,  things  had  quieted  down,  with  sailors  and Marines returning to their jobs, conjecture and innuendo suppressed. 

The other man finally walked close and drew up to Myszynski. He was  a  young  lieutenant  junior  grade  in  fresh  new  regulation-length khaki  trousers  and  shirt.  He  had  a  full  head  of  reddish-brown  hair, aviator  glasses,  and  was  slightly  built,  as  if  he  too  suffered  from jungle  rot.  Yet,  he  flashed  a  broad  and  disarming  grin  that  made Rocko  smile.  He  felt  sorry  for  this  young  newbie  out  here  isolated from  everybody.  What  the  heck?  He  looked  over  and  asked,  “You waiting for the 72 boat, son?” 

“Yes, sir.” The man stood straight. 

Rocko  nodded  toward  Iron  Bottom  Sound.  “You  know  her mission?” 

“Well, no sir, just that a buddy is aboard.” 

“Who is that?” 

“Tubby White, Captain. I think he’s the skipper.” 

Myszynski suppressed a smile. “You know Tubby?” 

“Just met him a couple of days ago when I got here.” 

“You look like you just got in from stateside.” 

“That’s right, Captain. Two days ago.” 

Even  though  his  accent  was  Bostonian,  Ivy  League,  this  young lieutenant junior grade, all 150 or 160 pounds of him, had an easy, 

almost charming way of turning a phrase. Myszynski sensed he was used to speaking to people senior to him. Very cosmopolitan. 

“And your duty station?” 

“PT boats, sir.” He nodded over his shoulder toward Sesapi, the PT boat base. 

Rocko  extended  a  hand.  “Rocko  Myszynski.  Welcome  to paradise on earth, son.” 

The JG flashed an enormous grin. They shook. “John Kennedy.” 

He made a show of looking around. “Not sure if I can say yet ‘nice to be here.’” 

Rocko  chuckled.  “That’s  okay.  You  can  hold  off  on  that  for  a while. But seriously, welcome. We need more fellows like you. What boat are you on?” 

The  JG  spread  his  arms.  “Looking  for  one,  Captain.  I  had  a training squadron stateside and finally finagled orders out here.” 

“You finagled orders out here?” 

“Well, yes, sir.” 

“You crazy?” The corners of Myszynski’s mouth turned up a bit. 

The  man  played  along.  “Well,  they  told  me  it  was  a  tropical paradise, Captain. How can you miss, they said? Girls, nurses, USO

everywhere. Gambling casinos, all the booze you could drink. So, I must  admit,  I’m  sort  of  disappointed.  But  I  do  have  simple  tastes. 

Right now, I’m just looking for my own boat.” 

“To command?” 

“That’s right, sir. Do you know of any available boats?” 

Myszynski  looked  over  to  see  the  fueling  barge  had  wrapped  it up.  The  hoses  were  secure,  and  they  were  making  ready  to  shove off. 

 Wait a few more minutes. 

“Sorry,  son,  I’m  just  a  lowly  destroyer  squadron  commodore.  I know  nothing  about  PT  boats  except  that  you  guys  are  a  bunch  of crazy, wild-ass sons-of-bitches.” 

He held up a hand. “Sorry, sir. I didn’t mean to–” 

“No, son, the apology is mine. I didn’t mean that the way it came out. I think you guys are the bravest bunch I’ve ever met; you’ll do anything.  And  very  dependable.”  With  a  smirk,  he  tapped  his

forehead. “Maybe a little light up here when I think of those floating time-bombs you ride, but still, very brave.” 

The JG laughed. “Guilty as charged. Commodore, I—” 

They looked out in the bay, hearing the deep-throated rumble of engines. 

Packards. 

Two PT boats rounded the point and throttled down, idling for the dock. 

Myszynski  said,  “Yes,  I  take  it  all  back.  There  are  brave  men aboard those  boats.  Dependable,  too.  Very.  And  I  am  willing  to  bet you are one of them.” 

‘Well, thank you, Captain.” 

The engines grew louder, the numerals 72 clearly standing out on the lead boat’s cabin. 

“Wonder why they’re late?” asked the JG. 

Myszynski checked his watch. “The 88 boat had a breakdown on the  way  back.  Water  in  the  fuel,  they  think.  The  72  boat  slowed  to tow  her  until  they  got  the  lines  cleared.  So,  here  we  are,  six  hours later.” 

Another Jeep pulled up. Its driver, the lone occupant, got out. He was over six feet tall, a lieutenant commander with a slender build, and  was  wearing  shorts  and  jungle  boots.  Like  the  JG,  he  wore aviator  glasses.  He  nodded  to  the  JG.  “Thought  I’d  find  you  over here.” 

“Afternoon,  Commander.”  The  JG  turned  to  Myszynski.  “Sir,  this is—" 

Myszynski said, “Well, if it isn’t the great Al Cluster. Did you get it done?” 

Cluster gave a lopsided grin. “Yes, sir. Just relieved Al Harris as Commander of PT Squadron 2.” 

Myszynski stepped over and shook. “Congratulations, Al. Where is Harris?” 

“He couldn’t wait. Within forty minutes, he’d packed and jumped on  a  YP  boat  for  Henderson  Field.  Most  likely  winging  his  way stateside now.” 

“Well, I hope you like it here.” 

“Glad to be here, Commodore. So far, so good. Even had a fresh-water shower over at the hotel,” said Cluster. 

Kennedy knit his brow. 

Cluster explained the Seabees had rigged a flume bringing fresh water  from  the  hills  down  to  the  village,  which  the  old  salts  called

“the hotel.” He turned to Kennedy. “Best deal in town. Pure water. No leeches, no snakes. No bugs of any kind. Nothing. Just pure clean water for anyone who wants to bathe. Runs twenty-four hours a day.” 

Cluster turned back to Myszynski. “What brings you to Paradise in the Pacific?” 

Myszynski  pointed.  “Your  72  boat  brought  back  a  couple  of  my boys.” 

Cluster snapped his fingers. “I got that message. They found your people  passed  out  in  a  binjo  ditch  on  Mondo  Mondo  Island.  Took hours to sober ’em up.” 

Their voices were drowned out as the 72 boat pirouetted counter-clockwise, her skipper expertly bringing her in for a starboard-side-to landing. The man at the helm was all Tubby White. Shirtless, short blond  hair,  sweating,  unshaven,  and  closely  competing  with  Rocko Myszynski for the “heaviest man in the Solomons” award. 

The  88  boat  tied  up  just  aft.  All  six  engines  were  cut.  Silence descended  and  for  a  moment,  everyone  seemed  to  appreciate  the lack  of  noise.  But  it  got  noisy  again  as  a  squad  of  Marines disembarked  from  the  88  boat  with  their  equipment  and  tromped down the dock. 

The JG stepped over to catch the 72’s bowline. Deftly, he cleated it and flacked down the tail. 

“Jack, what the hell are you doing here?” called Tubby. 

“Need your advice,” replied Jack. 

Myszynski muttered to Cluster, “Who is this fellow, anyway?” 

“I thought you two had met,” said Cluster. 

“Just briefly.” 

“Jack, get over here,” called Cluster. 

“Yessir.” He came over. 

Cluster  said,  “Commodore  Myszynski,  may  I  present  Jack Kennedy, the newest addition to PT Squadron Two.” 

Myszynski extended a hand. “Hello again, son. Welcome to Ron 2. Al will take good care of you.” 

“Yes, sir. Thank you, sir.” They shook again and Kennedy nodded with  a  smile.  “Wow.  Commodore.  Er,  what  is  your  command  if  you don’t mind me asking?” 

“Just a Tin Can sailor.” He waved to a large ship anchored out in the  harbor.  Several  destroyers  were  nested  alongside.  “That’s  my home. The USS  Whitney. And that’s my brood alongside. Destroyer Squadron Eleven.” 

“Wow. Impressive.” 

Al Cluster leaned over and said sotto voce, “Be nice to Tin Can people,  Jack,  and  maybe  Rocko  will  invite  you  out  there  for  chow, sometime. And man oh man, they are a great feeder.” 

“I’ll try.” 

Tubby White joined them. 

Myszynski  looked  White  up  and  down  and  then  said, 

“Wheeeeow! You are out of uniform, mister. Lookit you. How can we pin a silver star on someone who looks like a piece of shit?” 

“Silver what?” 

“You heard me.” 

White stammered, “Commodore, I’m sorry. We just got in and it’s hot out there, especially when—" 

A  long,  exquisitely  coiffed  line  of  cursing  ranged  from  the  72. 

They  looked  over  to  see  that  a  bedraggled  Navy  commander,  at least that was what his collar tabs testified to, was doing the yelling. 

His right leg was freshly splinted, and he carried a crutch provided by Evans and Vogel, who were now puffing mightily to help the man off the 72 boat and onto their gurney on the dock. 

Myszynski walked over. “Jerry, good to see you. Glad you got out of your little squeak.” They shook. 

Jerry  Landa  flashed  a  broad,  white-toothed  smile  that  rivaled Kennedy’s.  “Sorry  we’re  a  little  late  for  officer’s  call,  Commodore. 

Ehhhayyyhh!”  The  medics  had  lifted  his  bandaged  leg  onto  the gurney. 

Another  man  joined  them.  Dark,  sandy  hair,  a  lieutenant commander with a slender build that would have been quite athletic if it hadn’t been for the jungle diet. 

Landa  looked  up  to  him  and  said,  “Gentlemen,  may  I  present Todd Ingram, the current president of Nine Lives Incorporated.” 

Rocko  extended  a  hand.  “Read  the  preliminary  report,  Todd.  I know you’d like food and sleep. You can tell me the rest later.” 

Ingram smiled. “And a hot shower, Commodore?” 

“Well, we’ll have to check on that. Usually, hot showers are fifty dollars extra in SOWESTPAC.” 

“Thank you, sir.” 

“And say hello to our newest PT boater, Jack Kennedy.” 

The  two  shook.  Kennedy  asked,  “The  Todd  Ingram  of Corregidor?” 

Ingram stammered, “Well, I …” 

“And two Navy crosses?” 

“Yes, but—” 

Now it was Kennedy’s turn to smile. “Gentlemen, I’m privileged to stand among greatness.” 

Ingram  said  a  bit  sharply,  “We  just  do  our  jobs,  Lieutenant.  The great  ones  stay  here  forever,  while  those  more  lucky,  go  home  to their families.” 

“I mean no disrespect, Commander.” 

Ingram gave a wry grin. “Nor do I. I’ve been up all night, am full of jungle rot, and I guess I sound like it, too.” 

“See ya, fellas.” Landa waved over his head as Evans and Vogel wheeled him to the ambulance. “Time for all that ice cream.” 

Myszynski walked over and called, “Well, think about this, Jerry. 

Get  your  leg  fixed,  then  you  get  to  serve  thirty  days  forced  labor stateside.” 

“Sounds great, Rocko. Thanks.” 

“And don’t bring back the clap.” 

“Wouldn’t think of it, Rocko.” 

Myszynski’s response was cut short when the ambulance’s rear doors  were  slammed  shut.  With  a  wave,  Evans  started  the  engine and slowly backed away. 

Myszynski  said,  “Come  on  out  to  the   Whitney,  Todd.  Showers, rest, food, plenty of chow. After that, tell me what happened and then you’re off to stateside and to your wife.” 

“Nice. Thank you, sir.” 

Myszynski pointed to a twenty-six-foot motor whale boat bobbing alongside the dock. “Fine, let’s go.” 

Myszynski  and  Ingram  shook  hands  with  the  rest  and  walked away. 

Al  Cluster  sighed.  “No  rest  for  the  wicked.”  He  turned  to  White. 

“How’s your boat?” 

“Fine, sir, as well as I can tell. Could use a little gas, though.” 

Cluster  clapped  him  on  the  shoulder.  “Okay.  Can  you  make Sesapi?” 

“Yes, sir.” 

“Good  enough,  get  going.  I’m  taking  you  off  the  roster  next  two days so you can rest up and do whatever it takes to keep the old 72

going. And then, we’ve got you joining me in the Russells.” 

“Thanks, boss.” 

“You’re welcome. After that, you’re going on leave.” 

“Huh?” 

“Thirty days.” 

“No sh— I mean you’ve gotta be kidding.” 

“You and your whole crew.” 

“Jesus.” 

“Mr. White, is that how you address your commanding officer?” 

“Yes, er … no, sir. But you see, I—” 

Cluster turned to Kennedy. “I think we have a boat for you.” 

Kennedy said, “Really?” 

Cluster nodded. “Yes, the 109.” 

“Really?” 

“Is that how they teach you to speak at Harvard, Mr. Kennedy?” 

“No, sir, I meant …” He stopped to see Cluster smiling, a gleam in his eye. 

Tubby White was sputtering. 

“What the hell’s wrong now, Mr. White?” 

“The 109 is a piece of shit, Al. Everybody knows it.” 

Kennedy looked perplexed. “A piece of … what?” 

Cluster reddened a bit. “Dammit, Tubby. Look what you’ve done.” 

White grumbled, “Just trying to help out, Commander. That thing ain’t goin’ nowhere.” 

Cluster turned to Kennedy. “Lieutenant, it’s true. The 109 needs work.  But  there  are  no  other  boats  available.  I  can  give  you  a  top-notch  crew,  tools,  equipment,  and  shoreside  assistance  to  get  that damned  boat  into  shape.  Even  two  or  three  weeks,  so  which  is  it? 

The 109 or back to Noumea for re-assignment?” 

“Noumea?” 

“That’s what I said.” 

“No,  no.  Let’s  make  it  the  109.  We’ll  turn  it  into  a  rocket  ship. 

Thanks, Al.” 

“Okay,  she’s  beached  at  Sesapi.  Tubby  can  take  you  by  for  a look-see.” Cluster held out a hand. “Congratulations, Skipper.” 

“Beached?” asked Kennedy. 

Tubby White rolled his eyes. 

Cluster  stood  to  his  full  height  of  six-two.  “Mr.  White.  You  don’t mind taking Mr. Kennedy out for an orientation cruise around Tulagi, do you?” 

Tubby  said,  “Sure,  nothing  like  a  beautiful  cruise  with  jungle drums beating in the background.” 

Kennedy tossed a big smile and shook. “Jungle drums. Love the sound of it. Thanks, Al.” 

2

PT 72

23 April 1943

Calvertville, Sesapi Harbor

Tulagi, Solomon Islands

Since  early  February  when  the  Japanese  evacuated  Guadalcanal, the opposing sides had stood back, like blinking, drunken sailors in a barroom brawl with fists doubled. 

During the naval battles for Guadalcanal, each side lost about the same number of ships. U.S. Navy, 24 ships -- 126,240 tons; Imperial Japanese  Navy,  24  ships  --  134,839  tons.  But  far  worse,  the Japanese  had  also  lost  over  25,000  front-line  troops  due  to  armed conflict,  or  sickness,  or  abject  starvation.  On  the  American  side, 7,100  GIs  were  lost.  Most  of  these  were  U.S.  sailors  from  those ferocious  naval  battles.  However,  about  1,500  were  combined  U.S. 

Army  and  Marine  land  forces  killed  while  fighting  fierce  Japanese troops under miserable, disease-ridden, jungle conditions. 

For  sure,  Guadalcanal,  code-named  Cactus,  belonged  to  the Americans,  but  Admiral  Halsey  wanted  a  buffer.  Thus,  in  late February,  U.S.  forces  threw  out  300  Japanese  from  the  lightly defended Russell Islands, about forty miles west of Cactus. 
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For perimeter defense, eight boats of Al Cluster’s PT Squadron 2

were stationed at Mbanika Island in the Russells. Four PTs had been held  back  in  Tulagi,  code-named  Ringbolt,  waiting  for  base improvements at Mbanika. And now, Mbanika was ready. So, Cluster was in Sesapi to give a skippers’ briefing to his remaining PTs—PT

72,  PT  88,  PT  59  and  PT  98—for  the  trip  over  tonight.  This  would round out his squadron’s strength to one hundred percent or twelve PTs. 

With the Russells firmly in hand, Admiral Halsey still felt uneasy. 

So,  he  issued  a  mandate  to  “…keep  pushing  the  Japs  around.” 

There was an underlying reason for this. He wanted them distracted; to  keep  the  Japanese  engaged,  like  swatting  mosquitos  every  ten seconds.  The  Japanese  didn’t  realize  that  Halsey  and  General Douglas MacArthur, his immediate superior in the Southwest Pacific command,  were  planning  their  next  steps:  how  to  throw  the Japanese  out  of  New  Guinea,  and  then  the  rest  of  the  Solomon Islands.  After  that,  they  planned  to  kick  them  out  of  the  rest  of  the Bismarck  Archipelago,  including  their  stronghold  at  Rabaul  on  New Britain Island, all major steppingstones to Tokyo. 

Times continued to be hard on the Japanese. Of a group of 7,000

taken  from  Guadalcanal’s  Cape  Esperance,  approximately  3,000

were  judged  too  far  gone  to  serve  as  soldiers  in  the  Imperial Japanese Army. These men were put ashore on Bougainville Island to “…shift for themselves.” It is not known how many, if any, survived and returned to good health. 

Cluster’s  briefing  was  basically  the  same  as  previous  “midnight patrol” briefings. Except today, Intelligence had it that the enemy was running  down  The  Slot  again.  Just  a  few  ships  this  time.  This  was puzzling  since  the  Japanese  had  not  ventured  this  far  east  after evacuating Guadalcanal in early February. Instead, they’d heard the enemy was reinforcing Kolombangara, a high-mounded island in the Western Solomons, currently packed with 10,000 troops. 

Unusual. 

They  got  underway  in  pairs  at  2215:   Little Lulu,  PT  72,  with  Tubby White, and again, PT 88 with Lt. (j.g.) Tommy Madison as skippers. 

Side by side, on a moonless night, the two PTs were barely in sight of  each  other  as  they  slipped  from  the  harbor  into  deep  blackness and headed west toward Mbanika. 

Without  a  moon,  the  sky  was  brilliant  with  stars  and  galaxies, their  reflections  dancing  in  the  wavelets.  A  lone  fire  to  their  left  on Guadalcanal’s  Henderson  Field  flared  up  from  time  to  time,  briefly illuminating the faces of those aboard PT 72. As was their practice at nighttime,  they  stood  at  their  battle  stations:  at  the  twin  .50-caliber machine  guns  waist-mounted  to  port  and  starboard;  or  the  aft-mounted single 40-millimeter cannon; or the torpedo stations; or the engine room. 

A semi-portly Ensign Winston Fuller was down below in the chart room,  watching  the  radar  and  running  a  plot,  the  only  choice  they had  for  the  moment  without  any  land  or  other  navigable  objects  in sight.  Fuller,  with  thin,  sandy  hair,  was  a  Churchill  look-alike,  so much so that they called him Sir Winston or Winnie for short. With a deep baritone voice, Fuller oftentimes lived up to his nickname. 

Outside and just above Fuller on the commander’s platform, PT

72’s skipper, LT (j.g.) Eldon P. White, stood with two others. He was somewhat comparable in stature to Fuller. Known as Tubby, he was five nine and weighed in at a compact two hundred and five pounds. 

Tonight, he was dressed in what he called his standard Solomon Islands dress khaki uniform of the day. This consisted of jungle boots and  cut-off  khaki  work  trousers  complete  with  grease  splotches. 

Also,  he  wore  a  sleeveless  khaki  shirt,  remarkably  without  grease splotches,  and  a  garrison  cap,  a  “piss  cutter,”  pushed  back  on  his large,  oval  head.  A  1911  .45  automatic  pistol,  dangling  from  a  web belt, completed his ensemble. Tubby had played guard at USC and his  fine  blond  hair  was  cut  short,  emphasizing  a  round  face  and oversized  lower  lip  some  took  for  a  sign  of  ignorance.  But  his personal  appearance  was  off-putting  in  that  he’d  earned  a  BS  in mechanical  engineering  at  USC  with  a  3.8  grade  average. 

Academically, he’d excelled at everything he did and graduated cum laude. 

The  two  beside  Tubby  wore  helmets  that  were  tilted  carelessly, straps  dangling.  They  spoke  at  stilted  near-shouts  over  the Packard’s rumble: LCDR Alvin P. Cluster, Commander of Ron2, LT. 

(j.g.) Tubby White, commanding officer of PT 72, and LT (j.g.) John F. Kennedy, who stood at the helm. Tubby had turned the wheel over to Jack Kennedy, who wanted to get the feel of a PT in darkness and especially “out here for the first time” while going up The Slot. 

Kennedy  was  well-qualified  on  PT  boats:  over  a  year  ago,  he’d graduated  from  the  MTB  Squadrons  Training  Center  at  Melville, Rhode  Island.  He  had  been  anxious  to  get  into  the  war,  but nevertheless,  they’d  held  him  back  because  he’d  excelled  in everything  Melville  had  to  offer.  Because  of  his  family  background and  his  experience  over  the  years  with  small  boats,  this  led  to  the dubious honorific of becoming commander of PT SQUADRON 14 in Jacksonville,  Florida.  Kennedy’s  family  played  a  role  in  his  naval career.  Jack  was  sure  his  father,  Joseph  P.  Kennedy,  had  pulled strings and had his second oldest son assigned to Jacksonville, safe stateside duty. 

Then,  from  a  friend,  young  Kennedy  had  heard  RON  14  was being  transferred  from  Jacksonville  to  the  U.S.  Naval  Station, Taboga, Panama. 

Dead  end.  Stuck  in  Taboga,  you  could  put  music  to  it.  Taboga was  a  small  island  off  the  west  coast  of  Panama  and,  on  paper,  a component  in  the  defense  of  the  Panama  Canal  in  case  of  a Japanese attack. 

Recently  Kennedy  had  crawled  out  of  bed  and  looked  in  the mirror. The man who looked back was a glorified “training officer” for new  recruits  while  months  before,  the  lucky  ones,  his  Melville classmates, had sailed off to defend their country. 

With  his  older  brother  Joe,  Jr.,  Jack  knew  he  was  destined  for politics. So why not now? After nearly a year, a frustrated Lieutenant Junior  Grade  John  F.  Kennedy  contacted  a  family  friend, Massachusetts  Senator  David  I.  Walsh.  The  budding  politician picked well, for Walsh was Chairman of the Naval Affairs Committee. 

Senator Walsh diverted Kennedy from his assignment to Taboga and had  him  sent  directly  to  PT  operations  in  the  Solomon  Islands.  All this  against  Joseph  P.  Kennedy’s  wishes;  with  one  son  already

serving in combat over Europe, he did all he could to keep Jack out of  the  war.  But  it  wasn’t  to  be.  Senator  Walsh’s  actions  prevailed. 

Young  Jack  went  on  his  way  to  the  Pacific  warzone  and  to  places none  had  heard  of:  the  Solomon  Islands,  Guadalcanal,  Tulagi,  and The  Slot,  where  ferocious  naval  battles  had  been  fought,  most  of them at night. 

But Kennedy spoke of none of this as he helmed PT 72 through light swells. Behind, they drew a phosphorescent green-white rooster tail wake. A hundred yards to starboard, PT 88’s rooster tail matched pace  with  them.  The  nighttime  sky  and  the  soft  dashboard  lights were enough to illuminate their faces. Also slightly illuminated were wavelets,  with  Kennedy  picking  up  the  rhythm  and  steering  neatly around  them.  He  soon  had   Little  Lulu  on  the  step  giving  a  steady, nearly  somnolent  light,  pounding  as  the  Packards  produced  thirty knots. 

Al Cluster said loudly, “So, you got your deal, Jack?” 

“Uh-huh,” said Kennedy. 

“Got what?” called Tubby. 

Cluster grinned. “A pig in a poke, just like you said.” He slapped Tubby on the back. 

Kennedy gave an eye roll. “Thanks, Commander.” 

“What deal?” said Tubby. “I’m supposed to guess what you guys are talking about?” 

“I took command of the 109,” said Kennedy. 

Cluster cackled into the wind. 

“You what?” said White. 

“Tubby.  No  other  boats  were  available.  People  asked  me  to  be their  exec,  but  jeez,  I  outrank  most  of  those  guys.  And  I’ve  been banging around PTs for nearly a year. I know a thing or two. I want my own horse, dammit.” 

Tubby looked at Cluster, who shrugged. 

“Who’s gonna fix it?” asked Tubby. “She’s ready for the junkyard.” 

“We all are,” said Kennedy. 

“Huh?” 

“Al  has  carved  out  a  top-notch  crew  for  me.”  He  held  up  three fingers.  “Three  motor  macs.  All  qualified  in  PTs.”  He  flipped  up another  three  fingers.  “Three  torpedomen.  Uh,  let’s  see,  three

gunners’ mates, one signalman, who, by the way, is a hell of a cook, I’m told. A radioman. And maybe a radarman if we get the radar.” 

“Holy shit.” 

“That’s right, Mr. White. And Al has given us thirty days to get the thing ready.” 

“Think you can do it?” 

“For  sure.  We’ll  work  like  hell.  Better  yet  if  we  get  certain components, right, Mr. Cluster?” Kennedy threw him a stare. 

“You ought to see what’s on the way,” said Cluster. His voice was quiet, no bravado. 

Tubby spread his palms. “Clue me in.” 

Al  Cluster  stood  to  his  full  height  of  six-two.  “Mr.  Kennedy,  you are  now  the  proud  new  owner  of  three  Packard  3M  2500  engines, each delivering 1200 horsepower. What do ya think of them apples?” 

“They came through?” 

“All  your  requests.  Everything  except  the  Harvard-embossed toilet seat.” 

“Amazing. I’ll have the fastest boat in the squadron.” 

“You gotta install them first.” 

“When do I see them?” 

“On their way right now from Espiritu Santu via AKA. Should be in Calvertville in two and a half days.” 

Tubby grumbled, “Boss, could I have new engines?” 

“What the hell for? This thing’s running fine.” 

Tubby pouted. 

Suddenly, his face was illuminated to near daylight. 

“Flare!” shouted Cluster. 

“I got it, Jack.” Tubby moved over. 

“Yo!” Kennedy jumped aside, giving Tubby the wheel. 

Quickly he chopped the throttles, hauling them down to idle; then he  spun  the  helm  to  starboard.  He  goosed  a  button  on  the dashboard and shouted, “Look alive. We got company.” 

“Jeez,” said Kennedy. 

PT 72 leaned to port as she swung into a tight turn to starboard. 

Her  stern  wake  caught  up  to  her  and  began  to  shove  her  fantail around.  Just  then,  a  Nakajima NK1C,  14-cylinder  engine,  roared  to

life just behind them. They briefly felt the engine’s heat as it blasted overhead, wind whistling in its struts. 

With throttles pulled all the way back, PT 72 settled in her wake. 

Something whistled at them at a high pitch. 

There  was  a  loud   CRACK.  The  aerial  bomb  exploded  on  their original track  with  a  brilliant  orange-yellow  flash.  A  huge  column  of water shot in the air and cascaded over them. 

PT 72’s exhaust burbled quietly as she bobbed up and down in her  wake.  The  three  in  the  cockpit  stared  at  one  another,  wiping water from their faces. 

“We okay?” shouted Cluster. 

“Let  me  check.”  Tubby  leaned  into  the  hatchway.  As  he  did,  he felt tingling in his left arm, the one he used to steady himself in the hatchway. And his hand was shaking. Quickly he braced himself with his right hand lest the others see it. “What we got, Winnie?” 

Fuller called back, “Checking now, Skipper.” 

Then Fuller said, “Okay, everybody okay except Peterson in the engine room. Bomb fragments punched holes in the port side. One hit Peterson in the neck. Looks pretty bad.” 

“Engines?” 

“Okay, as far as we know.” 

Tubby said, “Okay, Winnie. Can you get back there and…?” 

Cluster stood. “No. Jack and I will look after Peterson. You guys stay here and take care of that Jap if he comes back.” 

Tubby leaned into the hatchway. “Tell Chief Ott that Al and Jack are coming back to help out. Hand up the first aid kit, will ya?” 

“Holy shit,” said Fuller. 

“What?” 

Fuller  turned  pale.  “Don’t  look  too  good.  Ott  doesn’t  think  he’ll make it.” 

Cluster  sprang  from  the  cockpit.  “Bring  the  bag,  Jack.”  He disappeared into darkness. 

“Yessir,”  Kennedy  called.  Then  he  turned  to  Tubby.  “Good  God. 

Was that a Rufe? Never thought I’d meet one face to face.” 

Tubby cranked the wheel to port and brought PT 72 back to her original  course.  “Recently,  we’ve  been  shooting  up  their  barges,  so they’re  out  looking  for  us.  Our  wake  was  a  dead  giveaway.  Never

thought we’d see them this far down The Slot. That’s what they like to do after they spot you. They cut the power, glide in, then light us up. Usually there’s two. One Rufe lights us up with flares while the other drops a bomb. My fault. I didn’t even think about this on a milk run.” 

“Tubby, it’s not—” 

A  bulky  black  bag  appeared  in  the  hatchway.  “Here  you  go, boss.” 

Kennedy grabbed it. “Okay, Winnie. Tell Al I’m on my way.” 

Fuller said, “No hurry, Jack.” 

“What?” 

“Chief Ott just told me Peterson died in Al Cluster’s arms. They couldn’t stop the bleeding.” 

Their  shoulders  sagged.  Kennedy  handed  back  the  first  aid  kit, then began to walk aft. 

“Jack, it’s all over. Where are you going?” 

“I need to see him.” 
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25 April 1943

PT 72

Calvertville, Sesapi Harbor

Tulagi, Solomon Islands

Tubby White paced the dock, checking his watch for the tenth time in as many minutes. “Where the hell are they?” 

PT  72  was  moored  starboard-side  to  the  dock.  She  was  fueled and  ready  to  go  for  the  twenty-six-mile  trip  to  Guadalcanal,  and eventually, Henderson Field. Her auxiliary engine softly putted in the engine room. They’d just taken her off the ways after patching up six large  bomb-fragment  holes  in  her  engine  room,  three  below  the water line. There were only two haul-out ways in Sesapi Harbor. PT

72 had been on one and Kennedy’s PT 109 was on the other. The haul-out  ways  in  Sesapi  were  in  high  demand;  PT  114  waited offshore  for  PT  72  to  clear  off.  She’d  lost  her  port  screw  and  shaft after hitting an uncharted coral head just outside the harbor. 

Winston  Fuller  tossed  a  length  of  dock  line  around  a  piling  and quickly tied a bowline hitch. “What’s the hurry, Tubby?” 

“In case you didn’t notice, Ensign, our orders say to deliver those two idiots by thirteen hundred.” 

“Well, if they don’t show, that’s too damned bad.” 

Tubby  White  made  a  show  of  puffing  out  his  chest.  “For  me, Ensign, orders is orders.” He checked his watch. 

Fuller found another piling beside PT 72, wrapped a line around it, and threw on a Bowline hitch. Above him, Kilmer and Patterson, two  of  Tubby’s  gunner’s  mates,  stood  shirtless,  bored,  smoking cigarettes. 

Jack Kennedy, also shirtless, walked up to the dock. “I’m back.” 

White  gave  a  weary  grunt.  “You  give  up  scraping,  Jack?  Rank hath  its  privileges?”  With  the  rest  of  his  crew,  Kennedy  had  been scraping a considerable crop of barnacles off the bottom of the 109. 

In every sense of the word, it was a very dirty job. 

Fuller  called,  “Jeez,  Jack.  You’ve  gone  from  godawful  to  totally morbid. Like you been crawling in a shithole.” 

Kennedy  indeed  looked  the  part.  Above  the  waist,  he  was covered  with  dirt  and  slime.  A  few  pieces  of  seaweed  clung  to  his chest. Smeared across his forehead and left cheek was a large trail of grease. Kennedy gave his flashing 1000-watt grin. “Winnie, I could use  you  about  now.  How  about  you  work  for  me  for  a  couple  of hours?” 

“Doing what?” 

“Scraping the bottom. You wouldn’t believe all the cancer stuck to it.” Kennedy walked to the dock’s edge, hands jammed on his hips, looking out to sea. 

“Something on your mind, Jack?” asked Tubby. 

“My  engines  are  showing  up  pretty  soon.  They  off-loaded  them onto an LCM. Due here any moment.” 

“We’re here in your spot.” Tubby waved to the dock, which could only accommodate one PT but not an LCM together. 

Another grin. “Tubby, would I pull rank on you?” 

“No, of course not.” Tubby faked a smile. “Gotta hit the head.” He walked  toward  the  lavatory,  a  thatched  two-holer  next  to  the  admin building. 

Kennedy, his brow furrowed, watched White trudge off. 

Fuller tilted his hand from side to side. “Not sleeping well. Shitty mood. It gets to you.” 

“Maybe he needs a rest?” 

Fuller shrugged. “The boss says our leave is all set up. We all go

—the whole crew. He just won’t say when.” 

“Lord knows he needs it. All of you do.” 

An engine growled. They turned to see a gray Navy Dodge 4x4

ambulance rumble down the road and up onto the dock. 

In a deep Churchillian voice, Winston rumbled, “Righto, what do you bet we have, Rosencrantz and Guildenstern again?” 

“I’m in,” said Kennedy. 

Sure  enough,  the  same  skinny  pharmacist’s  mate  first  class Horace  Evans  and  his  striker,  Warren  Vogel,  stepped  out.  Evans tipped  two  fingers  to  his  forehead  in  a  mock  salute,  walked  to  the back, and opened the clamshell doors. 

Todd  Ingram  jumped  out,  looking  rested  and  fresh  in  clean working khakis. But still, he had gaunt splotches under his eyes. 

The  two  corpsmen  got  in,  and  soon,  deep  inside,  they  heard swearing  and  bumping.  Eventually,  Vogel  and  Evans  worked  Jerry Landa’s stretcher out of the ambulance and up to the dock. Next out were two duffle bags. Landa, smiling broadly, announced, “All right, you guys, just step away and let me off this damn thing. Here—” 

“Commander, wait,” said Evans, his voice strident. 

“Knock it off,” grumbled Landa. He made to roll off the stretcher, putting weight on his injured leg. “Yeeeeaoww! Sheeeyatt!” He rolled back on the stretcher and lay back, gasping for breath. 

Vogel leaned over and fussed with Landa’s pillow. “You gotta take it  easy,  Commander.  That  thing’s  not  quite  ready  yet.  Do  what  the doc says.” 

“Yeah, yeah,” gasped Landa. 

With  the  crew’s  help,  the  corpsmen  worked  Landa  up  and  over PT  72’s  lifelines  and  to  a  sitting  position,  his  back  against  the doghouse bulkhead. Evans and Vogel reached over and tossed the two duffle bags aboard. “You okay, Commander?” asked Evans. 

“All  set,  Horace,”  said  Landa.  “Proceed  on  duty  assigned.  And oh, yeah, I’m putting you both in for a raise.” 

“Thank  you,  sir.”  Evans  smiled.  The  corpsmen  piled  into  the ambulance and drove off. 

They  swerved  to  avoid  a  Jeep  pulling  up.  A  shirtless  Al  Cluster got  out.  He  spotted  Kennedy  and  stepped  up.  “Just  got  the  word

from  operations.  The  Mike  Boat  left  Tulagi  Harbor  an  hour  ago; should be here soon.” 

“So I heard,” said Kennedy. 

“These engines are in tip-top condition, having been overhauled by two of the best Espiritu Santu has to offer. You should–” Cluster spied  Jerry  Landa  and  Todd  Ingram  on  the  72.  He  moved  to  join them and tossed back to Kennedy, “No monogrammed toilet seat.” 

Kennedy said, “Shafted again.” 

Cluster walked over to Landa. “You’re looking a lot better, Jerry. 

So quiet and well-behaved.” 

Landa  twirled  a  finger  in  the  air.  “Eh?  Wait  until  I  see  some nurses. Then watch me bitch and snivel.” 

Cluster  shook  Ingram’s  hand.  “You  still  hanging  out  with  that bombshell nurse from Corregidor?” 

A  surprised  Ingram’s  brow  furrowed.  “Well,  yes.  You  see—How did you—” 

“I thought so; she seemed pretty stuck on you. Nothing I could do to convince her to have dinner with me.” 

Ingram stood tall, silent, his chin set. 

“Yes, that’s right. You see, her parents were with her and—” 

Kennedy’s voice was strident. “Her parents? Where was this?” 

“St. Francis Hotel.” 

“San Francisco?” 

“Is there another St. Francis Hotel anywhere else?” 

Ingram took a deep breath. “When was this?” 

“Last December. Look, Todd,” said Cluster. “I decided not to ask her to dinner anyway.” 

Ingram sputtered, “But you just—" 

“I didn’t follow through since I didn’t have enough money for four of us. The St. Francis is so damned expensive. Besides, I don’t think her  dad  liked  me.  Gravy  stains  splotched  my  shirt  and  my  fly  was unzipped and…” 

Cluster trailed off, a twinkle in his eye. 

Jerry Landa chuckled. “Todd, you bozo. He’s pulling your leg.” 

Ingram’s face turned red. “No shit.” 

Cluster  said,  “You  were  over  at  the  checkout  counter  and  I bumped into her. Wow! You scored big time with her. Are you still–” 

“I married her,” said Ingram, finally smiling. 

Cluster’s face was deadpan. “Oh, I wondered. She kept referring to her slovenly husband. Poor thing. I offered my condolences, which didn’t seem to faze her.” 

Tubby White walked up. “You guys ready for your taxi?” 

“All set,” said Ingram. 

White  jumped  over  the  lifelines  and  stood  before  Landa,  hands jammed on his hips. “Welcome aboard again, Commander. We’ll try to keep you comfortable on this ride. I regret to inform you that we’ve run out of beer and scotch. Nor do we have hors d’oeuvres. You see, the Japs sunk our—” 

Landa waved a hand and looked away. “Knock it off, Mr. White. 

Can we start moving, please?” 

“Of course, Commander.” Tubby caught Chief Rockwell’s eye and twirled a finger in the air.  Wind ’em up. 

Rockwell  had  been  lingering  on  the  engine  room  hatchway ladder.  He  tipped  two  fingers  to  his  brow.  “Okay,  Tubby.”  He scampered down below. The three Packards soon blasted into life. 

Cluster  and  Kennedy  walked  to  the  bow  and  stern  lines.  At  a signal  from  Tubby,  they  undid  the  lines  from  the  cleats  and  tossed them aboard to waiting sailors. 

Tubby White expertly spun his boat out of the slip and was soon headed  out  of  Sesapi  Harbor.  As  PT  72  moved  further  out,  her silhouette  grew  smaller  and  unmasked  a  Landing  Craft  Medium (LCM) coming into the harbor. 

“Well,  blessa  mah  soul,”  said  Cluster.  “Thus  cometh  thine engines.” 

They  stood  waiting,  the  Mike  Boat’s  twin  diesels  grinding  away, getting louder. 

Kennedy  said,  “Tubby  White  and  Jerry  Landa.  I  don’t  think  they like each other.” 

Cluster  shook  his  head.  “Maybe,  but  I  think  it’s  an  act.  They’re both  hams.  They  love  milking  it.  Besides,  too  much  time  has  gone by,  and  Landa  could  have  hung  some  sort  of  charge  on  him  like insubordination by now.” 

“Well, Tubby told me about what he did. At least part of it.” 

“What?” 

“It  was  the  night  I  got  in.  I  was  wandering  around  bumping  into things when Tubby found me. He was a great host and took me to dinner  out  on  the   Whitney.  Very  nice.  But  his  mission  to  rescue Landa was coming up and he was a little nervous about it. So he told me what he’d done to Landa to piss him off.” He paused. 

“Well, come on, Jack.” 

“Apparently, they got into an argument over Tubby, as an in-port OOD, not getting the word to Landa about the arrival of a four-striper. 

Landa chewed him out in front of the ship’s officers. Tubby was really pissed. He was being detached right after his watch while everyone was at the noon meal. So, he sneaked up to Landa’s sea cabin and loaded  a  bunch  of  ball  bearings  in  the  overhead  air-conditioning duct. 

“So Tubby left the ship, and Landa and Ingram got underway the next day. That night, Landa hit the sack, but all he heard was—” 

“Ball bearings,” Cluster interrupted. 

“Well, yes,” said Kennedy. “Landa was really angry. He knew right away it was Tubby White, but he couldn’t do a thing about it. Er—you okay, Al?” 

Cluster was laughing and slapped a dock piling. Then he cackled harder and harder. “Ball bearings,” he sputtered again. 

“Well … yes,” replied Kennedy. 

“Guess who taught him the trick,” Cluster wheezed. 

“Come on, Al.” 

Cluster jabbed a thumb at his chest. “Yes, me. I’m the one. Oh, Landa’s gonna kill me when he hears about this.” 

“Who’s to tell him?” 

“Oh, it’ll get out, all right. It’s too sweet not to.” Then he broke into another  spasm  of  laughter.  Finally,  he  managed,  “It  was  at  San Diego  last  September.  I  ran  into  Tubby  at  the  Coronado  Island  O

Club. We were both in transit, in the bar, alone, and over drinks, we got  to  know  one  another.  I  learned  Tubby  was  headed  for  PT  boat school at Melville. So suddenly, we had a lot in common. Right away, any idiot could tell there was the streak of the devil in Tubby White

—” 

Kennedy nodded. 

“—and  we  began  talking  about  all  the  bullshit  maneuvers  we pulled on people. That’s when I told him about the ball bearing stunt, which I learned from a grizzled chief bos’ns mate who loved pulling it on officers that had pissed him off.” 

Cluster  smirked.  “So,  that’s  how  it  all  got  started.  With  me.  And now, it comes full circle via Jerry Landa.” 

With  diesels  idling,  the  Mike  Boat  coasted  into  the  dock starboard-side  and  hit  with  a  small   crunch.  Two  sailors  jumped  off and secured bow and stern lines to cleats. The cox’n, a bare-chested redheaded  sailor  with  his  cap  at  a  jaunty  angle,  looked  over  and asked, “Gentlemen? You know where we can find PT 109?” 

Kennedy called over, “That would be me.” He pointed to the twin haul-out ways nestled in a grove of palm trees. “She’s over there.” 

“So, you’re Lieutenant Kennedy?” 

“One  and  the  same.  And  those  are  my  engines?”  He  nodded toward  three  large  wooden  crates  in  the  hold.  Stenciled  across  the top was:

PACKARD MOTOR CAR COMPANY, DETROIT, MICHIGAN

. 

“Yessir.” The cox’n waved a clipboard with a thick sheaf of papers attached. “So Mr. Appleton tells me, Lieutenant, all you have to do is sign, and they’re yours. But he told me not to come back without the old engines.” 

“Okay. We took ’em out. They’re waiting for you over at the haul-out  dock.  You  don’t  mind?  Make  the  dock  over  there.”  He  pointed. 

“That’s where they’re waiting. We’ve got a crane.” 

“Okay. You wanna ride over with us?” 

“Sure,  thanks.”  Kennedy  turned  to  Cluster.  “Thanks,  Al,  for  the engines. We’ll have to have a drag race some time. See you later.” 

He stepped aboard and walked to the cox’n’s cupola. He signed the paper and the cox’n gave him a receipt, which he stuffed in his back pocket. 

The cox’n wound up the twin diesels. The other two sailors took in the dock lines, and the Mike Boat began backing out. 

Cluster jumped aboard. “Wait up, Jack. I have to talk to you.” 
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25 April 1943

Boat Yard, Calvertville, Sesapi Harbor

Tulagi, Solomon Islands

PT  109  was  one  of  326  eighty-foot  Elco  wooden  boats  built  in Bayonne,  New  Jersey,  during  World  War  II.  Commissioned  on  16

June 1942, PT 109 was part of a block of PTs (PT 103-114). With a twenty-foot,  eight-inch  beam,  all  twelve  were  powered  by  three Packard  3A-2500  V-12  liquid-cooled  aircraft  engines.  Originally designed to run on 100 octane, they later were beefed up to run on 120  and  even  150  octane  fuel  as  it  became  available  to  the  Air Corps  and  the  fleet.  Speeds  in  early  boats  ranged  up  to  30  knots. 

But as engines and octanes improved, the PT boat speed crept up to 45 and 50 knots. But only if the boat had a clean bottom. Otherwise, boats with bottoms fouled with mussels, algae, and barnacles huffed and  wheezed  along  at  25  and  30  knots,  often  overtaken  by  the Japanese destroyers they were designed to out-distance. 

Armament consisted of four twenty-one-inch torpedo tubes firing Mark  8  torpedoes,  each  weighing  2,600  pounds  and  packing  466

pounds of TNT for a warhead. Originally, this class of PT boats had

two twin waist-mounted 50 caliber machine guns with a 20-millimeter Oerlikon cannon mounted aft. 

The  boat’s  complement  consisted  of  a  commanding  officer, usually  a  lieutenant  or  a  lieutenant  j.g.,  and  an  executive  officer, normally  an  ensign.  There  were  ample  provisions  aboard  for bunking,  food,  and  messing.  The  crew  ordinarily  consisted  of  three enginemen  or  machinist’s  mates,  two  or  three  torpedomen,  three gunner’s  mates,  a  quartermaster,  and  a  signalman.  Beginning  in Melville, Rhode Island, the training was intense, and each officer and sailor  came  out  with  not  only  complete  knowledge  of  his  job  but  of the other jobs as well. They were cross-trained and good at it. 

With  one  more  exception.  As  an  army  moves  on  its  stomach, thus do sailors. The recruiting officer, usually the PT boat’s captain, had  to  find  men  who  could  cook  in  addition  to  his  own  job.  Good cooks were in short supply. But one of the crew had to be the ship’s cook.  Just  one.  And  he  was  not  cross-trained  by  anyone  else.  On occasion,  an  engineman  third  class,  skilled  in  cooking,  would disappear  in  the  middle  of  the  night.  Sometimes,  it  was  a  game. 

People  laughed.  But  more  often  than  not,  there  were  fights,  and bitter  enemies  were  made.  Often,  it  was  up  to  the  squadron commodore to settle the matter. 

But cooking wasn’t on their mind now, as Kennedy’s crew stood beneath  the  109  scraping,  cursing,  swatting  mosquitos,  and  taking occasional desperate swigs of water. 

Kennedy waved to her. “What do you think, Al? Looking better?” 

Cluster said, “The jury is still out. But it looks promising.” PT 109

had  been  a  near-wreck  when  Kennedy  inherited  it.  Of  necessity, she’d  been  beached  with  rotted  planking  and  worn  and  leaking propeller  shaft  fittings.  Pumps  barely  kept  her  afloat  while  they dragged her off the beach and over here for haul-out. “How long do you figure?” 

“Two to three weeks. But at least we have new shaft struts and fittings.  She  won’t  leak  anymore,  and  with  the  engines  out,  they managed to slap on a new coat of paint in the engine room.” 

“And shafts?” 

“Yes, sir. Three brand-new drive shafts completely installed.” 

“Where’d you get them?” 

Kennedy didn’t miss a beat. “We also got a new deck grating for the pilot house. You should have seen the old one. It was…” 

Cluster threw a hand in the air and rolled his eyes. “That’s what I figured.”  He  turned  to  ask  another  question  just  when  the  LCM’s diesels  roared  with  her  backing  down  at  the  haul-out  dock.  The  air was  filled  with  diesel  noise  and  smoke  as  the  cox’n  neatly  slowed and  parked  the  Mike  Boat.  Sitting  on  the  dock  were  three  greasy Packard engines, covered with muck, looking like devices from hell. 

The  two  sailors  deftly  cleated  bow  and  stern  lines,  then  walked over to a tree line, taking shelter under a line of palms. Kennedy was off the boat too and headed for the tree line before Cluster could ask any more questions. “Jack, wait up.” 

Kennedy turned, his brow knit. “Al, I’m sorry about the shafts. But you  know  it’s  kill  or  be  killed  out  here.  Zinsser  found  them  at  the Midnight Auto Supply.” He held out his wrists. “So put me in the brig. 

And here I am, shafted again. But that’s all I get from the pork chop. 

Delay and wait… then, ‘Oh, sorry, your stuff disappeared. We can’t find it. So we must re-order and then—'” 

Cluster held up a hand. “You don’t need to remind me of all that nonsense,  Jack.  Just  don’t  forget  the  golden  rule.”  Cluster  bent  his knees slightly so he could look directly into Kennedy’s eyes. “Just …

don’t …” 

“…get  …caught,”  Kennedy  finished.  His  eyes  gleamed  and  the corners of his mouth turned up. “Zinsser did a good job. Nobody can track it to us.” 

Cluster nodded. “Zinsser’s a good motor mac. He knows his stuff, used to work for me.” 

“Mmmm.” 

“Come  on  over  here.”  They  found  a  cool  spot  under  the  palms near the showers. 

Kennedy found a spot under a 50-gallon drum. He yanked a rope and  clear,  cool  water  tumbled  over  his  head,  bare  torso,  and  khaki pants. “Ahhhh. Watcha got, boss?” 

Cluster found another empty spot and pulled the lanyard. “Wow,” 

he burbled under the water. “You guys have any beer?” 

“All  you  want.”  Kennedy  smoothed  back  his  hair  and  then stepped out into the shade to dry off. 

Cluster joined him. “You ever know a guy named Charlie Fulton?” 

Kennedy  tried  the  name.  “Fulton,  Fulton.  Charlie  Fulton.  Don’t think so. Except in one of our classes. They had this guy out to tell us all about radar.” 

“Weird  son-of-a-bitch?  Big  round  head?  Chipped  front  tooth. 

Deep baritone voice. Going bald, kinda skinny?” 

“Yeah, that’s the guy.” Kennedy’s fists were planted on his hips as he swiveled to watch the activity on the dock. An engine crate swung gently  in  the  air  and  soon  joined  two  others  sitting  on  the  dock. 

“Intense as hell. But really knew his stuff. Wish we had one like him aboard the Good Ship Lollipop.” He nodded toward PT 109. 

“Your  wish  may  come  true,”  said  Cluster.  “But  let  me  tell  you about Charlie Fulton.” 

“Shoot.” 

Cluster found a fallen log and sat. Kennedy took a place close to him.  “We  were  in  the  same  class  at  the  Naval  Academy.  He graduated number two, I think.” 

“Wow.” 

“The guy is so smart there’s brain cells in his shit. Never had to study.  He  would  read  something  once  and  get  an  A  on  the  test. 

Photographic memory. But he knew how to use it. And loved to tinker with stuff. All the time, Charlie was tinkering with things. Meantime, Charlie decides he wants to be a hero and signs up for PT boats. So we were side by side going through training classes at Melville. 

“But Charlie’s not happy just going through training at Melville. I have to say I was beat to death at day’s end. They threw everything at us, but Charlie just lapped it up. Never got tired.” 

“Guys  like  that  burn  me  up,”  Kennedy  said.  “Everything  comes easy to them.” 

“That’s Charlie. Like many smart people, he did everything well. 

Math, physics, chemistry, electronics. And in PT boat school, same thing.  Everything  seemed  to  come  Charlie’s  way.  Even  in  physical things: tennis, doubles, singles. Charlie always won. 

Golf,  croquet,  badminton,  checkers,  chess.  You  couldn’t  touch him.” 

“Yep. Those guys really piss me off.” 

Cluster  gave  a  slight  smile  and  held  up  a  hand.  He  continued, 

“Charlie  was  born  to  the  purple.  His  folks  took  good  care  of  him wherever he went. Got him a nice three-bedroom apartment off the base and …” 

“Jeez, three bedrooms?” 

“Yep.” 

“Snake-pit.” 

“Mmmm. We had some great parties out there.” 

Kennedy  grabbed  a  stick  and  poked  away  a  land  crab  trying  to crawl over his boot. “Already, I feel sorry for the guy.” 

Cluster  nodded  and  wondered  why  this  young  man  had volunteered  for  duty  as  dangerous  as  PT  boats  in  a  combat  zone. 

Yes, he was sophisticated, and that had to come from somewhere. 

But he kept silent. “Once Charlie got into something, he never let go. 

It  became  an  obsession.  Like  a  moray  eel.  He  just  wouldn’t  let  go until he got to the base of something.” 

Kennedy looked over to his PT boat, then back to Cluster with a

“where are we going with this” expression. 

Cluster  nodded.  “Charlie  got  all  wrapped  up  in  radar.  He  was fascinated  with  it.  Went  to  an  electronic  parts  house.  Dragged  a bunch of stuff back to his apartment and scratch-built his own radar set.” 

Cluster pronounced the word “radar” softly and out of the corner of  his  mouth.  Developed  in  deep  secrecy,  radar  was  such  a revolutionary  device  that  nobody  except  those  specialized  users were supposed to know about it, let alone even pronounce the word. 

It was classified TOP SECRET for a long, long time. 

He  continued,  “Charlie  set  up  the  power  modules  in  the apartment,  but  the  transmitting  and  receiving  gear  were  out  on  the porch pointed directly at the Brooklyn Navy Yard. 

“Well,  one  late  Friday  night,  Charlie  is  sitting  in  his  apartment playing with his gizmo. The door is kicked in and five or six guys rush in, pointing guns and screaming, ‘Hands up. FBI.’” 

“Holy cow.” 

“They  yanked  Charlie  out  of  his  chair,  braced  him  to  the  wall, searched  him—he  was  in  his  skivvies—and  then  handcuffed  him. 

Charlie  Fulton  disappeared  for  two  weeks  while  being  interrogated

by the FBI. I was at PT school and getting worried, but nothing was said, almost as if Charlie never existed. 

“And  then,  just  before  graduation,  I  get  a  federal  summons  to come to FBI headquarters. That was when I learned what it was all about.  Three  guys  are  in  the  room,  and  for  two  hours,  they  pepper me  with  questions.  One  guy  is  a  skinny  little  shit  named  Special Agent  Clausen,  who  asked  questions  as  if  he  already  knew  the answers and that you were guilty no matter what.” 

By now, Kennedy had focused on Cluster intently. 

“Clausen,  Richard  Clausen,”  Cluster  repeated.  He  looked  to Kennedy. “You know the guy?” 

Kennedy looked away. 

“Richard Clausen seems to know a lot about you.” 

“I can’t talk about it, Al.” 

“You see, Richard Clausen is out here now looking into the affairs of Lieutenant junior grade John Fitzgerald Kennedy.” 

“Sorry, Al. I can’t.” 

“Normally, with a response like that, I’d kick your ass out of here. 

But then something is going on that I don’t like. Richard Clausen is not Richard Clausen.” 

“What?” 

“He’s  introducing  himself  here  as  Merlin  Chartré.  Not  with  the FBI. His ID says he’s with ONI. But when I met him a couple of years ago when the Feds called me in to vouch for Charlie Fulton, he was Richard Clausen. Now, he’s Merlin Chartré. So Jack, maybe you can tell me what the hell is going on.” 
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“Air raid!” 

Sirens  spooled  up  to  a  gut-wrenching  howl.  Three  A6M  Zeros swooped  low  in  a  V  formation,  their  engines  whining.  As  if  on command, six sixty-kilogram bombs, two from under each Zero, fell as they screamed overhead. 

Cluster and Kennedy looked at each other, open-mouthed. 

No warning. 

“Foxhole!” each shouted, with Kennedy leading the way. 

They found a trench at the base of a 40-millimeter gun mount as it erupted into life. They both jumped the last six feet as the bombs went off harmlessly on the beach. 

A loader on the gun-mount shouted at them. He was shirtless. A Marine, like everyone else on the gun-mount crew. The man shouted again just as another V of Zeros blasted over. He pointed to his feet and violently shook his head. 

Kennedy  looked  down.  “Ahhhhhh,  shit.”  They  were  in  a  binjo ditch. A latrine. 

Cluster scrambled out, got to his knees, and extended a hand to Kennedy.  “Come  on,  Jack.”  He  yanked  Kennedy  out  just  as  the bombs  from  the  second  flight  went  off.  They  erupted  closer  to  the docks, showering their engine-hauling LCM with a tall water column. 

The men aboard ducked, their hands clasped over their heads. The cox’n  warped  his  Mike  Boat  in  a  clockwise  twist,  trying  to  point  her out to sea. 

Men  screamed,  some  in  pain.  Others  shouted  orders. 

Everywhere, people ran, looking for shelter, or looking for something to  shoot  back  with.  The  dry,  thatched  roof  of  an  open,  windowless hut burned furiously on the other side of the compound. But two men were already up to it with a fire hose. 

“O  Club,”  moaned  Cluster,  standing  and  bracing  his  fists  on  his hips. 

Kennedy stood before him. Then his eyes widened. “Down!” He shoved  Cluster  to  the  ground  as  20-millimeter  gunfire  shot  up  like cornstalks toward them. 

Another three Zeros flashed overhead, flying upside down. Holy cow, Cluster thought, glancing up to see the pilot of the middle Zero looking  down  at  him.  The  cockpit  was  cranked  open.  He  gave Cluster the finger. 

This time the Zeros were being chased by two U.S. Marine Corps F4F  Wildcats,  their  .50-caliber  guns  chattering.  The  finger-giving Zero  quickly  flipped  right  side  up  and  began  climbing,  its  two partners following in tight formation as they disappeared into smoke. 

“Jeez, you okay, Al?” asked Kennedy. 

“Yeah. You see that?” 

“See what?” 

“That son-of-a-bitch gave me the finger.” 

“You’re kidding.” 

“Flew upside down. Hell of a pilot.” 

The  40-millimeter  had  stopped  firing.  The  loader  called  over  to them, “Hey, Swabs, thanks for testing our latrine.” 

“Anytime,”  yelled  Cluster,  his  voice  loaded  with  disgust.  “Call anytime. We’re always glad to help the United States Marine Corps.” 

The  man  grinned,  his  helmet  straps  dangling  beside  his  face. 

“But no help this time, Swabbies.” 

“Huh?” 

“No shit in the shitter. We just dug that thing this morning. Hasn’t been used yet.” 

Al Cluster gave an ear-to-ear grin. “Best news I heard all day.” He checked his boots. Clean. “Thanks, Jarhead.” 

“Best we can do for our Swabbie friends.” 

The siren howled up to an “all clear,” then spooled down. 

They  stood.  Kennedy  peered  over  to  the  boat  yard.  “Bastards missed. We’re still in good shape. You want to take a look?” 

Cluster slapped dirt off his palms and trousers. “Yeah, I’d like to see it. But I’d really like to know more about Charlie Fulton.” 

“Who?” 

“Come  on,  Jack.  Don’t  screw  with  me.  There’s  a  good  chance you’ll get kicked out of here. Especially if you just ignore it.” 

Kennedy hung his head for a moment in thought. Then, “You like a beer?” 

“Cold?” 

“Of course.” A smirk. 

“How do you work that?” 

“Chief  built  a  reefer  from  scrap  parts.  Keeps  everything  cold. 

Really nice. I let the boys have two cans each after work each day. 

Except work doesn’t stop. They just keep going.” 

“Where do you get the beer?” 

“Cumshaw. They won’t tell me. You want one or no?” 

Cluster  laughed  his  signature  cackle.  “Depends  on  what  you’re charging for it.” 

“I’ll take that as a yes. Come on.” They started walking. 

“Wait up.” Al Cluster stopped and looked back. 

“What?” 

He shaded his eyes to see the burning O Club. “Ummm. Wonder if they saved the booze.” 

“Too  bad.  Come  on.  We  have  beer  and  ham  sandwiches  for dinner. You’ll be dining in splendor.” 

“Nothing  serious  over  there  as  far  as  I  can  tell.”  He  grinned. 

“Except  for  our  beloved  Officers’  Club.”  Cluster  watched  the  LCM

underway,  just  about  out  of  the  harbor,  its  engines  growling.  “Wow, the Mike Boat made it. I thought for sure they were gonners.” 
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Kennedy looked around. “All okay, it looks like. Crappy aim.” 

“All right, I’m up for that beer. You sure your boys won’t mind?” 

“Can’t guarantee that.” Kennedy’s eyes glistened. 

They  toured  PT  109.  Cluster  was  amazed.  “Never  seen  such  a metamorphosis. This thing was a wreck four days ago.” 

Sans  the  old  engines,  the  engine  room  had  been  painted  a gleaming white, and already the motor macs were getting ready to lift one of the three new Packards on the starboard side. Meanwhile, the rest  of  the  interior  spaces  were  being  refurbished  and  painted  as well. Outside, four men were detailed to finish up with the bottom. It had all been scraped and cleaned and sanded, and now, they were brushing  on  a  primer  coat,  getting  ready  for  the  gleaming  black bottom coat. But there had been holes and dings everywhere, even above the waterline, that slowed their pace, and now, smaller ones kept  revealing  themselves,  which  meant  an  extensive  and  lengthy patching process. 

That’s  why  Kennedy  and  Leonard  Thom,  his  exec  and  larger-than-life Ohio State guard and tackle, both joined the working party. 

There  was  still  a  lot  of  work  to  do  and  every  soul  was  needed, officers included. 

The sun touched the horizon. The sky turned from an intense blue to yellow  to  pink  and  then  a  deep  red.  Cluster  and  Kennedy  hardly noticed as they sat away from the others on a log, quietly munching their sandwiches and swatting mosquitos. 

Each had two sandwiches to go with two cans of Schlitz beer, so perfectly  chilled  that  condensation  ran  down  the  sides.  Cluster waved off flimsy explanations about the beer’s origin. Instead, after his  last  bite,  he  sat  back  and  belched  in  satisfaction.  “Nice,  Jack, thanks.” 

Kennedy, finishing his last, nodded and waved. 

Cluster sat back, waiting. 

“Okay, Al, you win.” 

Silence. 

Kennedy  grabbed  a  piece  of  driftwood  and  jabbed  at  the  sand. 

“You win. But I must swear you to secrecy.” 

“Within the constraints of my job.” 

Kennedy’s eyes turned to ice for a moment. Then, “Okay.” 
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Her  name  was  Inga  Marie  Arvad  Petersen.  Born  on  October  13, 1913,  in  Copenhagen,  Denmark.  Her  father,  Anton  Margretus Peterson, died of malaria in 1917, when she was only four, and even then, a beautiful child. She was raised entirely by Olga, her mother, who was devoted to Inga. At an early age, Inga also became fluent in  adulthood  because  she  had  no  siblings  or  close  friends,  as  she and her mother were always on the go. Early on, it was obvious that this youngster was going to become a Danish beauty, so Olga piled on  piano  and  dance  lessons  to  the  rest  of  the  regimen  of survivorship  in  foreign  lands.  Also,  Olga  filed  and  won  for  both  the right  to  drop  the  more  common  name  of  Peterson  and  use exclusively an old family name in the Peterson lineage: Arvad. 

On the page, Arvad looked distinguished, simple, and stood out. 

But  to  a  calculating  Olga,  who  had  dedicated  her  life  to  her daughter’s future, Arvad had more luster and pizazz. As it turned out, Arvad was found in Ezekiel 27:8 and further back, in Genesis 10:15. 

A  mile  and  a  half  off  the  coast  of  Syria,  Arvad  (Arwad)  was  an ancient  island  city  named  after  the  son  of  Sidon,  grandson  of Canaan, a descendant of Ham, one of the three sons of Noah. 

Inga  studied  dance  in  Paris  and  later,  more  seriously,  piano, under a Chopin maven. In 1931, she applied for the Miss Denmark Contest  and  won,  giving  her  the  opportunity  of  running  for  Miss Europe the same year. 

Inga didn’t win. She came in second among sixteen contestants. 

But to Olga’s great delight, Inga did win a lot of notoriety along the way, and as far as Olga was concerned, that was the game plan all along.  Inga’s  beauty  was  great,  but  her  demeanor,  her  richly developed  international  savoir  faire,  opened  doors  inaccessible  to the usual beauty contest contestants. 

One  of  the  doors  was  opened  to  an  Egyptian  nobleman  named Kamal Abdel Nabi, who put a full court blitz on Inga. 

And won. 

They married in 1931. But they were in the midst of a world-wide depression.  And  after  all  the  extravagance  of  prenuptials,  it  turned out  that  Nabi  had  limited  funds—limited  funds  to  no  funds.  After  a fabulous  honeymoon,  he  brought  Inga  (and  Olga)  to  Egypt.  But although  the  accommodations  were  nice,  Inga  couldn’t  stand  the confinement in an Egyptian household. In 1933, feigning pneumonia to  Nabi,  she  had  a  doctor  prescribe  a  clinic  in  Davos,  Switzerland. 

She  and  Olga  flew  out  of  Egypt,  never  to  return.  After  staying  in Davos  just  a  few  days,  she  moved  back  to  Copenhagen.  She  got divorced  in  Denmark  but  was  never  released  from  her  marriage  to Nabi in Egypt. 

In  Copenhagen,  she  took  interest  in  the  Danish  film  industry, where she met Hungarian-American director Paul Fejos, 35 years of age,  who  had  a  decent  track  record  of  filming  in  Hollywood.  Fejos was  instantly  smitten.  Right  away,  he  signed  her  as  a  star  in  two films,  both  fizzling  soon  after  they  were  released.  But  the  hot-tempered  Fejos  was  still  enraptured  by  Inga  even  though  she  saw the  handwriting  on  the  wall  and  made  a  career  decision  to  pursue journalism. Meanwhile, a shrewd Fejos made more of a play toward Olga than Inga and was often a houseguest for dinner and at social functions. 

But the talk of Europe in 1935 was about how the new Chancellor of  Germany,  Adolf  Hitler,  had  changed  everything,  seemingly overnight.  Suddenly,  Germany  was  prosperous  and  becoming powerful and developing a crack military. Journalists from all over the globe flocked to Germany to learn more about the people, especially the leaders, and the place designated to host the 1936 Olympics. 

Inga  found  a  job  with   Vore  Damer  ( Our  Ladies)  magazine,  and after hard work, earned her credentials as a foreign correspondent. It was in 1935 when she went to Berlin and found herself recognized in the  world  of  German  cinema  due  to  her  work  with  Fejos  in  her previous two failed films. Via propaganda minister Joseph Göbbels, she  was  provided  an  introduction  to  interview  Hermann  Göring’s fiancée,  actress  Emmy  Sonnemann.  Inga’s  approach  to  interviews and  articles  was  always  on  the  human  side  and  not  exposés  or gotcha-type narratives. Thus, Emmy was pleased with Inga’s article, which  led  to  an  invitation  to  the  Göring  wedding—Hermann’s second,  his  first  wife,  Swedish  baroness  Carin,  having  died  earlier. 

This led to introductions to high officials in the Nazi Party, including Adolf Hitler, Göring’s best man. 

About  this  time,  Denmark’s  largest  magazine,  Berlingske Tidende, challenged Inga to see if she could secure an interview with Hitler. By this time, Inga was well known to Nazis as an international celebrity, and it was no trouble to pick up the phone and once again ask Herr Göbbels for the interview. Even so, she was a bit nervous because she knew it would launch an international career. 

The interview was granted. In fact, Hitler wanted to see her right away. He sent a Mercedes-Benz limousine with SS escort to pick her up at the five-star Adlon Hotel. The interview was conducted in the Reich  Chancellery  in  Hitler’s  massive  office,  the  length  she estimated  at  least  twenty-five  meters.  Acting  the  consummate gentleman, Hitler was somewhat diminutive, as was an equally edgy Inga, but not so obvious, she hoped. 

That  led  to  a  subsequent  interview  with  Der  Fὒhrer,  this  time  at lunch  in  the  Reich  Chancellery.  And  at  the  meal’s  end,  Hitler presented  her  with  a  silver  framed  photograph  inscribed  with,  “To Inga  Arvad,  in  friendly  memory  of  Adolf  Hitler.”  Other  interviews followed  with  Nazi  leaders  in  Berlin.  And  then  Hitler  had  her  as  a
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guest  in  his  personal  box  at  the  1936  Olympics.  By  then,  Göbbels referred to her as the “Chief of Nazi Publicity in Denmark.” And yes, Inga did make quite a bit of money as her articles were published not only in Europe but also worldwide. 

In 1936, Paul Fejos returned to Copenhagen from a film project in Madagascar.  Once  again,  the  two  became  close,  and  they  married later that year. 

At  the  same  time,  the  Germans  became  more  open  about  their desires  for   lebensraum.  Consequently,  Europeans  grew  more nervous about what was really going on. 

In  the  meantime,  Paul  was  turning  into  an  archeologist  rather than filmmaker, and after striking up a friendship with a very wealthy Swede,  Axel  Wenner-Gren,  accepted  his  offer  to  produce documentaries  about  ancient  cultures  in  East  Asia  and  later,  South America. He took his wife on a ten-month sojourn through Asia, and then trudged off by himself to Peru looking for lost civilizations. 

By  this  time,  Germany  was  flexing  its  muscles  and  took  over Austria and Czechoslovakia in 1938’s Sudeten crisis. Later, in 1939, the Nazis directly invaded Poland, starting World War II. 

Feeling nervous about Europe’s future, Inga and Olga moved to Washington  D.C.,  where  she  enrolled  in  a  journalism  class  at Columbia University while taking a job with Washington D.C.’s  Times Herald.  Once  again,  she  was  a  sophisticated  gossip  columnist  and within two days of walking in the door, was out with her first byline. It never stopped. 

Darkness  had  long  ago  fallen.  Stars  rampaged  overhead  on  a moonless  night.  Cicadas  clicked  and  clacked  and  chirped  in  the jungle around them. Wisps of jungle rot tugged at their nostrils and the air seemed much closer, more heavy, oppressive. 

They  dared  not  show  a  light  with  Japanese  airplanes  about. 

Especially with the hi-octane-saturated PT boats moored around the cove. Spectacular targets. Floating time bombs. 

Cluster was the first to speak. “This is about a girl?” 

“Not just a girl. One I hope to marry. Except J. Edgar Hoover has tied a can to my tail. I’m shafted.” 

Cluster sat up. “The FBI Hoover?” 

“One and the same. They think she’s a German spy. You see–” 

“No, I don’t see.” 

“Since she interviewed all those Germans and all that, they say she’s  a  sympathizer.  Maybe  involved  in  something.  Maybe  a saboteur.” 

Cluster filled in the blanks. “And you’re there lighting the fuse to this  giant  firecracker  she  holds  in  her  hand.  How  did  this  come  to land on your doorstep?” 

“Well,  my  brother  Joe  signed  up  for  the  Navy  a  few  months before me. He got right into flight school, and now he’s flying B-24s out of England. So, after Harvard, I tried to get into the Army, just to be different. But my back acts up occasionally and it was driving me nuts about the time I took the Army flight physicals. The docs told me to take a hike. So, later on, I got into the Navy reserve and went on active duty a year ago, October.” 

“So?” 

“Uh, that’s when I met her: Inga. But, my dad. He worries about us. Tries to keep us safe.” 

“Inga? Your dad?” 

“Right.  Joseph  P.  Kennedy,  Sr.  Former  ambassador  to  Great Britain.” 

“I didn’t realize you were part of that Kennedy family.” 

“I  don’t  like  to  boast  it.  So,  Dad  got  me  assigned  to  ONI  in Washington  D.C.,  a  very  safe  and  very  boring  place.  It  was  a  do-nothing job. Lots of doughnuts in the morning and check-out at 1630. 

After that, the night scene, which I must admit wasn’t too bad. In fact, the scenery in Washington D.C. is excellent.” 

“So I’ve heard.” 

“And that’s how I met Inga. We ran into each other at a party and haven’t stopped since. It’s been great except for …” 

“Who?” 

“That  goddammed  Hoover.  That’s  who.  And  then  he  got  to  my dad, who made me cut it off with her.” 

“Wait a minute. First things first. Hoover? What does he have to do with all this? Or should I ask, what did you do?” 

“He and his boys think I’m dating a Nazi spy. With all that Hitler business  and  so  forth.  But  that  was  when  she  lived  in  a  free Denmark. Years later, the Krauts marched in and she marched out to America.  Even  before  I  showed  up,  she  was  spied  on.  Then  they followed  us  around.  They’ve  bugged  both  our  apartments.  Wire recorders.  Can  you  believe  it?  They’ve  opened  our  mail.  They’ve spoken with people from the  Times Herald. They’ve spoken with the Navy Department, and one guy, a four-striper, wants to kick me out of the Navy. They got to my dad and he took their side. Read me the riot  act.  He’s  angry  because  he’s  setting  up  to  run  Joe  or  me someday  for  president.  And  now  he’s  got  this  to  deal  with.  So  he threatened to cut me off. Entirely.” 

“And?” 

“They  played  softball  at  first.  Dad  and  Hoover  had  the  Navy transfer me to ONI in Charleston, South Carolina. But we’d sneak off and  keep  seeing  each  other  on  weekends.  And  that’s  when  Dad really got angry and threatened me with everything: expulsion from the  family,  financial  expulsion,  expulsion  from  close  family  friends. 

So  I  had  to  shut  it  down.  That’s  when  I  signed  up  for  PTs  and  got sent to Melville for training. And eventually … here. 

“There  was  no  choice.  I  cut  it  off.  She  cried,  I  cried.  It  was  the shits. But now that I’m out here, I’ve had time to think about things. 

And I say to hell with it. I want back in. I want her. I want to marry her.” 

“How did your dad feel about sending you out here?” 

“Dad didn’t use his influence to send me here.” Kennedy sat up straight.  “I  didn’t  want  him  to  have  anything  to  do  with  my  future assignments.  He  would  just  screw  it  up  and  have  me  sent  to  a supply dump in North Dakota or something like that. To get around all  that,  I  called  David  Walsh,  a  long-time  family  friend,  and”—  he grinned—“a senator and Chairman of the Naval Affairs Committee. I asked  for  orders  out  here.  Pleaded  with  him  not  to  say  anything. 

Well, he came through.” 

“You asked for this?” Cluster spread his arms in mild incredulity. 

“Yep.” 

He raised his beer, his second, finished it off, and crumpled the can. “One question.” 

“Fire away.” 

“You sure about this chick?” 

“Head over heels.” 

“Are you communicating?” 

Jack waved a hand. “Going to try.” 

“Damn fool. How?” 

“Military secret.” 

“You’re not trying to bribe a mail censor or anything like that, are you?” 

“Not that stupid.” 

“That’s right. It’s a federal offense.” 

“I  know,”  Kennedy  shot  back.  “But  having  a  girlfriend  is  not  a federal offense.” 

“The question is, how do you get in touch with her?” 

“Military  secret.  Now,  it  sounds  like  we’ve  got  the  FBI  to  screw with. I may get shafted after all.” 

“The FBI? The hell with that. As far as you’re concerned, there’s just one thing.” 

“What?” 

“Drop it.” 

“Huh?” 

“This  is  ugly  business  out  here.  People  are  getting  killed  all  the time,  as  you  just  saw.  You  could  be  next.  Who  knows?  In  the meantime, we need you fully alert. Not distracted by some poon-tang back home.” 

Kennedy picked up his stick and jabbed at the sand. 

“You have to put Inga on hold for the time being.” 

“Sure.” 

“I’m serious, Jack. Look at it this way. Japs are shooting at you. 

Just as of a few minutes ago, right?” 

“Okay, but—” 

“And shooting at your men, too. You have to take care of them.” 

Kennedy jabbed back at the sand. Then harder. “I’ll buy that.” 

“Look, so far, you’re doing a good job. The 109 is coming along in fine  shape.  Don’t  worry  about  the  FBI.  I’ll  take  care  of  Richard

Clausen or Merlin Chartré

or whoever the hell he is.” 

“That’s the beer talking.” 

Tapping  his  fist  to  his  chest,  Cluster  erupted  with  an  enormous belch.  “Good  stuff.  Meantime,  just  take  care  of  your  boys  and  your boat. Deal?” 

Kennedy belched. “Okay … deal.” 

Cluster cupped a hand to his ear. “I didn’t quite hear that.” 

“Deal. I said ‘deal,’ dammit.” 

“That’s better.” 
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27 April 1943

PT 109

Boat Yard, Calvertville, Sesapi Harbor

Tulagi, Solomon Islands

Leonard Thom shouted down the engine room hatch. “Hey, Jack.” 

Kennedy  tossed  back,  “Yo.”  Looking  up,  he  saw  Thom’s  water-soaked face. It had been raining all morning. But it was comfortable in  the  engine  room.  Over  the  last  two  days,  they  had  installed  the port and starboard Packard engines. The two had fired right up and performed well. And now, he was crouched beside Motor Machinist Mate first class Pat McMahon, helping to install the exhaust manifold on the center engine, the last one to be bedded. 

“Big Al wants you on the phone, chop chop.” 

The socket wrench slipped, racking Kennedy’s knuckles. “Shit!” 

Thom called down dryly, “Is that what you want me to say to Big Al?” 

With a wink, McMahon said, “Duty calls, Skipper. I can handle the rest of it.” 

“You sure, Pappy?” 

“You bet. Go on.” 

“Okay,” said Kennedy. He called up to the hatch, “On my way.” 

“I think he’ll like that answer.” Thom walked off. 

His  back  was  bothering  him,  and  it  took  almost  two  minutes  for Kennedy to wiggle to an upright position, scramble out of the hatch, jump  down  the  ladder,  and  dash  over  to  the  tattered  boatyard telephone, its bracket nailed to a coconut palm. “Kennedy.” 

“Jeez, Jack, where you been?” 

Kennedy wheezed, “I was in the engine—” 

“You  sound  like  you’re  drunk,  Mr.  Kennedy.  Have  you  been drinking that swill you call beer during working hours?” 

“What? No. I was just–” 

“Because  if  you  have,  I’ll  have  to  confiscate  what’s  in  your refrigerator over there.” 

 He’s  pulling  your  chain,  Jack.  “Well,  I’ll  tell  you  what, Commander. You and your gorillas can just try it. Come on over here and  see  what  you  get.”  Jeeez.  That  was  stupid.  You’re  gonna  get fired. 

Cluster cackled. “Atta boy, Jack. Just checking to see if you were awake.” 

“I’ll bet.” 

Cluster’s  tone  changed.  “Look,  we’re  doing  a  raid  tonight.  New Georgia coast. Looking for Jap barges. Tubby’s up for this in the 72, but Sir Winston came down with malaria two days ago. Shaking like hell, sweats, everything. The docs have pumped him full of atabrine and grounded him.” 

“Uh-oh.” 

“So,  my  question  is,  could  you  take  a  break  from  your  busy schedule  slopping  up  rot-gut  beer  with  sleazy  broads  and  join  us tonight in Winston’s place? We need your radar expertise.” 

“You bet. When and where?” 

“Skippers’  meeting  over  here  at  1830.”  Cluster  was  in  the Russells on Mbanika Island. “Underway at 1930. So, Tubby will pick you up at 1800. That okay?” 

“Yes, sir.” 

“Have a good dinner. It’s going to be a long night.” 

“Nothing but the best: ham sandwiches.” 

“Okay, no beer this time.” 
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“I wouldn’t think of it.” 

“And back to Tubby,” Cluster said off-handedly. “His leave papers came through. I’m sending him off after tonight’s raid.” 

“Does he know it?” 

“I told him. He went nuts.” 

“What about the 72 boat?” 

“I’ll give it to Sir Winston temporarily. He should be back among the living in a week or so.” 

Kennedy  was  thinking  fast;  there  was  something  he  had  to  do. 

“What a lucky boob.” 

Al Cluster sent out four boats. Going in pairs were PT 72 and PT 88

with Tommy Madison as skipper. Half a mile behind were PT 94 and PT  114  with  Al  Cluster  riding  in  PT  94.  Tubby  White  and  Tommy Madison  were  detailed  to  intercept  barge  traffic  approaching Napuana Island, a two-mile strip of land just off New Georgia Island’s coast,  ninety-six  miles  northwest  of  the  Russells.  PT  94  and  114

were  dispatched  seven  miles  south  of  Napuana  to  cover  Minijanga Island, a four-mile strip of land near New Georgia’s southern tip. 

It was raining steadily all day, but there was no wind. The water was  flat-calm,  almost  oily,  except  it  was  dimpled  with  billions  of raindrop craters; humidity was high with the air temperature clocking in  at  eighty  degrees.  Visibility  was  only  100-200  yards,  which  was good: no snooping Rufe float planes could spot their wakes so they could  make  full  speed.  Except  for  the  engine  room  crew,  most everyone topside was scrubbing up, taking showers. 

Except for Jack Kennedy monitoring the radio circuits and radar in  the  chart  room.  He  kept  a  close  watch  on  the  device.  The  radar was  new,  featuring  a  small  nine-inch  PPI  (circular  Plan  Position Indicator)  with  a  sweeping  cursor  that  made  it  much  easier,  as  his own ship was in the center of the display where one could instantly see what was going on all around. If the radar was working well, that is. Which it often was not. The technology was new, and the damned machines were always breaking down, especially with the humidity. 

Tonight could be bad, Kennedy feared, with all this rain flying around. 

The machine could easily short out. 

Tubby  kept  them  at  general  quarters  lest  they  stumble  into  an unfriendly  situation.  Right  now,  the  PPI  looked  clear.  And  so,  his main job for the evening was to monitor the coffee machine, a two-gallon  GE  commercial  coffee  maker,  and  make  sure  the  brew  was fresh and ready on demand for anybody who showed up. This was one  of  those  situations  where  rank  was  off-limits,  not  even considered. Coffee ruled in the chart room, radar be damned. 

Kennedy reached in his pocket and pulled out the letters, five of them,  to  Inga.  He  stuffed  them  into  a  large  manila  envelope  and quickly scrawled Inga’s New York address. 

He was just finishing when Tubby leaned into the hatchway. He wore his helmet, and rainwater ran freely down his face. “How much further, Jack?” 

Kennedy  checked  the  radar.  “Napuana  Passage  twelve  miles. 

Bears about two-one-three.” 

“Keep  up  the  good  work  and  don’t  leave  town.”  Tubby  moved away. 

Lightning  struck.  The  area  lit  up.  Three  seconds  later,  a thunderclap smacked into them. The coffee pot rattled. 

Outside  he  heard  Tubby  order,  “Steer  two-one-three,  Ralph.” 

Signalman first class Ralph Wilcox was on the helm. 

Tubby leaned back into the hatchway. “Check it again?” 

Kennedy  leaned  into  the  PPI  and  scanned  it  for  a  whole  sixty seconds.  Nothing.  “Tubby,  it  looks—whoa!  Three  contacts  in  a column  headed  straight  for  Napuana  Passage  about  seven  miles bearing three-five-seven.” 

Tubby  grinned.  “Well,  well,  well.  Business  coming  our  way.  But nothing inside, right?” 

“That’s  right.  Nothing  inside.”  To  make  sure,  Kennedy  leaned close  and  studied  the  New  Georgia  land  mass  inside  the  Napuana Passage.  “Could  be  something  by  the  beach.  But  for  now,  it  looks okay, Tubby.” 

“Okay,  we’ll  wait  for  them  in  there.”  He  picked  up  his  TBS

handset and spoke with Tommy Madison in the 88 boat, setting up a coordinated attack. 

Moments  later,  Tubby  poked  his  head  back  in  the  hatchway. 

“Jack, can you call Al Cluster and give him our SITREP? Things may be getting busy here and I have to keep my eyes peeled.” 

“Okay, Tubby. Al’s on the 94 boat, right?” 

“Either there or at Shanghai Red’s in San Pedro.” 

Kennedy  said  dryly,  “I  can  do  this.”  He  reached  for  the  mic  and keyed it. “Green Hornet, this is  Little Lulu, over.” 

The speaker crackled with, “Green Hornet, over.” 

That  didn’t  sound  like  Al  Cluster,  so  Kennedy  said,  “Green Hornet, interrogative Top Kick, over.” 

The  speaker  crackled  and  snapped  with  the  rainstorm  outside. 

Finally, “Uhhh,  Little Lulu, Green Hornet. Top Kick not here.” 

Huh? 

“Just before we shoved off, he was called away to Cactus. So it’s just us chickens out here. And so far, we’re almost on station and it looks like no business in the neighborhood. How you? Over?” 

“Yes, we’ll be with some people in about ten minutes. Wait one?” 

Kennedy  leaned  out  the  hatch.  Rain  pummeled  him  as  he  called, 

“Tubby, Howie says Al is not aboard. Was called over to Cactus for some reason. He also says there’s nobody around Minijanga Island. 

You want to get him up here to help out?” 

Tubby yelled over the rain, “He can’t be that close to Minijanga to see anything.” 

“Probably radar information.” 

Lightning  flashed,  the  two-second  burst  capturing  him  as  in  a blue-white  horror  movie.  He  wiped  again  and  asked,  “What  do  you think?” 

Thunder hit. It was right over the top. Signalman Wilcox wrapped his arms around his head. “Sheeeeyat!” 

Tubby ducked instinctively. 

“Jeeeez.”  Kennedy  rolled  his  eyes.  “They’ve  got  nothing  to  do? 

Okay. Let’s give Howie something to do. We may need him if there are any more barges out here.” 

Tubby nodded. “That makes sense. Call him back and tell him to get up here, chop chop.” 

“Okay.” 

Tubby said, “Cactus? What the hell is Al doing on Cactus?” 

[image: Image 11]

David  Armour,  skipper  of  PT  94,  had  wrong  information.  Al  Cluster had  not  been  summoned  to  Guadalcanal  (Cactus).  The  message was garbled. 

Merlin Chartré of the Office of Naval Intelligence (ONI) had sent Lieutenant  Alvin  P.  Cluster  a  message  from  Henderson  Field  on Guadalcanal  saying  to  meet  him  in  the  Russell  Islands  group,  on Mbanika at the PT base. 

Chartré arrived in a Stinson L-5 Grasshopper during a lull in the rainstorm. The pilot was a Marine flying sergeant who nonchalantly stalled  the  L-5  at  the  prescribed  38  miles  per  hour  over  the  crude, potholed  Mbanika  base  road  and  rolled  to  a  stop  within  two  tennis courts’ length. The pilot got out, wearing jungle boots, shorts, and a sleeveless shirt with gleaming pilot’s wings. 

Al Cluster was there to meet him. “Great landing.” 

The Marine grinned. He had crooked, tobacco-stained teeth. “Eh, yeah, maybe.” He nodded to the figure in back of the L-5 struggling to get out. “Guy had a rough time. Puked his guts out.” 

“I’m sorry. You want someone to help clean it up?” 

“No thank you, sir. Got him a barf bag. He should be okay.” 

“You hungry?” 

“You’re talking to a Marine, sir.” 

Cluster  grinned  and  nodded  over  his  shoulder  to  a  thatched building  in  shadows.  “That’s  what  passes  for  our  O  Club.  I’ve  got some sandwiches and beer waiting for you.” 

“Wow. Thanks, Commander.” 

“Just one beer, Sergeant. You’ve gotta drive home.” 

The sergeant grinned. “I was hoping for a half-dozen.” 

“Go on.” Cluster slapped him on the rump, then stepped over to meet Chartré. The man was shorter than Cluster remembered: about 5’9” with an oval body that had consumed too many sweets. He wore a long-sleeved shirt and khaki pants, all straight off the shelf from the storekeeper’s shop. His handshake was oily, though, maybe from the rain.  But  his  eyes  were  just  as  Cluster  remembered  him.  Close together with thin lips and a heavy five-o’clock shadow. 

Cluster pumped his hand enthusiastically. “Mr. Chartré. How are you? Have a nice flight?” 

“That’s not funny.” 

Chartré handed out a paper bag. 

Cluster stood back. The two glared at each other for a moment. 

Then Cluster nodded over his shoulder to a trash can. “Is that what you want?” 

Chartré marched over and deposited the bag. Then he returned. 

Cluster said, “How can I help you?” 

“I need to see your files on John F. Kennedy.” 

“No.” 

Chartré looked surprised. “Why not?” 

Cluster  replied,  “Well,  why  the  hell  not?  Lieutenant  Kennedy  is involved  in  top-secret  work.  I  just  don’t  pass  out  his  file  to  any  jerk who stumbles in.” 

“Then perhaps you can say why only Kennedy’s file is top-secret. 

What about the others who work here?” 

“Jeeez, where have you been, Mr. Chartré? This is a war zone. 

We’re all doing top-secret work. All classified the same.” 

Chartré  blinked  and  then  went  on.  “I  also  need  to  speak  to  his supervisor about his performance.” 

“That’s me.” 

“Well?” 

“Mr.  Chartré.  There’s  puke  on  your  shirt  and  I’d  say  on  your hands as well. Would you care to clean up? The head is right over there.” He pointed. 

Chartré shrugged. “Very well.” He walked away. 

Cluster called after him, “And I’ll need ID for that information.” 

They  met  in  the  operations  room  ten  minutes  later.  Chartré  had cleaned up pretty well. His shirt looked much better, although it was very  damp  in  front.  But  his  hair  was  combed,  and  he  looked  fresh. 

They sat at a wooden desk made from jerry can crates. 

“That plane ride was awful,” Chartré began. 

“Terrible weather out here.” Cluster pushed over a cup of coffee for him. 

He  sipped.  “Ahhhhh,  nice.  Thank  you.  So,  you’re  Kennedy’s commanding officer?” 

“That’s right.” 

“Can you show me some ID, please?” 

“Allow me to tell you something, Mr. Chartré. John Kennedy is a fine  Naval  officer  and  works  hard  to  uphold  the  best  interest  of  the United States Navy. He is—” 

“Yes, I’m sure about all that. But what I want to know is—” 

Cluster  smashed  a  fist  down.  Papers  and  ashtrays  jumped. 

“Right now, my boys are out there in this muck risking their asses for the good old US of A while you try to dig up dirt. And I should be out there with him. But no. I was told to meet you instead. So while you slop up hot coffee in a rainstorm, my boys are in peril. It’s bullshit.” 

“Mr. Cluster. May I remind you I’m from ONI and could have you arrested at the drop of a hat.” 

Cluster  ground  his  teeth.  “Amazing.  Kennedy’s  out  there  now risking  his  ass  and  you  want  to  arrest  everybody.  Well,  that  ain’t gonna happen. Get out of here, you unctuous little turd. Get back on that  L-5  and  get  off  my  island  or  I’ll  have  the  Marines  throw  you  in the brig.” 

“Mr. Cluster, you don’t know who you’re speaking with.” 

“Oh, that’s right. Is it Mr. Chartré or is it Richard Clausen of the FBI?” 

“You speak in riddles.” 

“You’re  the  asshole  who  almost  ruined  the  career  of  a  fine officer.” 

“What?” 

“You don’t remember? It was 1940 then. You busted in on Charlie Fulton while he was building his own radar set and tried to pull him through a knothole. Now let me ask you, where’s your ID? And are you Merlin Chartré or are you Richard Clausen?” 

“You will regret this.” 

“Which is it? Chartré or Clausen?” 

“I’m not kidding.” 

Cluster stood and marched around the desk. Picking up Chartré by the lapels, he walked him outside and over to the Officers’ Club, finding the flying sergeant nursing the last of his beer. “Sergeant, this man  is  an  imposter.  No  ID.  I’m  ordering  you  to  handcuff  him  and return him to the Marine Brig at Cactus at once.” He shoved Chartré

into a chair. “Hold on for a minute. Let me find another Marine with handcuffs.” 

“Yes, sir.” 

Cluster  glanced  over  to  see  three  empty  beer  cans  in  the  trash basket. “How was the beer?” 

The sergeant winked. “Finest kind, sir. Thank you very much.” 
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28 April 1943

PT 92

Napuana Passage, Two Miles North of New Georgia Island

Solomon Islands

Tubby leaned in the chart house. “How far now?” 

Kennedy checked the scope. “About two miles before they hit the passage.” 

“Okay. We’ll get ’em inside here with us and let ’em have it.” 

With  the  engines  at  idle,  they  had  nosed  through  the  Napuana Passage  and  now  lay  about  400  yards  off  the  St.  Georgia  Island beach. Except it wasn’t a beach. In this section of New Georgia, the jungle grew right down to the water’s edge. 

Like  right  now.  Kennedy  stuck  his  head  out  the  hatch.  The  rain had stopped, the air crisp and cool. He took a deep breath, getting the  combined  scent  of  honeysuckle  with  a  tinge  of  eucalyptus. 

Always nice after a rain. It could lull you to sleep. 

 Wake up, you idiot. 

The  scent  of  flowers  was  not  the  reason  he  looked  toward  the shore. 

Tubby looked at him. “What?” 

“I don’t like it in here.” 

“Too constricted?” 

“Yes,  and  there’s  some  weird  return  I’m  getting  from  the  shore. 

Not exactly mushy, but not exactly solid.” 

“What do you think, Jack?” 

“I’d say we get outside and join Tommy where we can stand off a few  hundred  yards  with  sea  room  if  we  need  it.”  They’d  left  the  88

boat outside as a precaution. 

“Yeah,  I’m  getting  the  shivers,  too,”  Tubby  said.  “And  that happens when Japs are around.” He turned to Wilcox. “What do you think?” 

“Kind  of  quiet,  Tubby.  We  don’t  have  to  be  this  close  to  shore, especially  in  the  middle  of  the  night.  We  could  run  aground  or something.” 

Tubby stroked his chin. “We have a quorum.” He pitched a thumb over his shoulder. “Reverse course and head back for the passage.” 

“Yessir.” Wilcox spun his helm and revved the outboard engine to help kick the stern around. 

Kennedy said, “Makes sense. See that tall clump of trees? Now that’s where I’d hide if I was a Nip. And then—" 

It  was  like  lightning  and  thunder  at  the  same  time.  Something whizzed over their heads. Then more. 

Gunfire! 

Tubby took the helm and floorboarded the throttles. PT 72 roared and jumped to gain the step. 

More  gunfire  from  the  beach.  Kennedy  spotted  three  different sources,  but  clustered  together.  “Three  Jap  barges,  Tubby,”  he shouted. 

Tubby shouted at Alexander Turner and Henry Brunner, his twin

.50-caliber mount captains already returning fire. “Get the one in the middle. He’s the most accurate.” 

Just then, Kennedy made to step down the ladder back into the chart  room  when  he  felt  a  large   whoosh.  Something  pushed  at  his back, almost shoving him out the hatch. It felt warm and smoky. He turned and looked into the chart room. Acrid, intense smoke; bits of flame. Destroyed. Everything jumbled. The radar repeater, which had

been  mounted  over  the  chart  table,  had  been  blown  from  its brackets. Now, it was a smoking, fizzling mess on the chart table. He reached over to the fuse panel and tripped the radar switch to “off.” 

The smoldering and fizzling subsided. 

To the port side of the cabin was a neat hole the size of a three-inch  projectile.  To  starboard  gaped  a  large,  jagged  hole  where  the round had exited. 

“Jeeez!” he shouted to the night. 

“What?” bellowed Tubby. 

“Jap round just took out the chart room. Place is totally shafted. 

Radar is wrecked.” 

“Anybody hurt?” 

“Not that I know of.” 

“Well,  that’s  good.”  He  pointed  forward.  “Looks  like  Tommy  is taking  good  care  of  those  barges  out  there.”  Kennedy  looked forward, seeing two large fires in a group off the portside entrance. 

The 88 boat stood off further to port, all guns blazing. 

Tubby  nodded  to  Kennedy.  “Come  on  up  and  pass  ammo  to Turner and Brunner.” 

“Right.” Kennedy scrambled topside and to the .50 caliber-ready service locker. 

A large explosion aft. Chief Rockwell and Mario Ocello had been pounding  away  at  the  gunfire  on  the  beach  with  the  40-millimeter. 

And now they had hit something. 

The  explosion  caught  up  with  them.  A  thunderclap.  “Barge,” 

shouted Tubby. “Ammo barge, by the looks of it.” 

And  now,  they  were  on  the  step  and  surging  through  the Napuana Passage and into the New Georgia Sound. One barge, the closest,  was  afire  and  sinking.  Soldiers  jumped  into  the  flaming water. Alexander and Brunner had each selected a barge and fired their  twin  .50  calibers.  The  88  boat  stood  off  to  one  side,  shooting into Ocello’s target. 

The  Japanese  fired  back  with  rifles.  But  it  was  weak  and  the rounds that did hit their boat clanged and pinged off armor plate clad to the pilot house. One of the barges caught fire astern; a hit in the fuel tank, most likely. Soldiers jumped overboard. By the light of the

flames, they saw men with full field packs pitch into the water. Some did not rise. 

The  other  barge  was  going  down  by  the  stern.  Men  leaped  off this one as well. 

Except, an officer stood near the driver’s pulpit, waving a sword, shouting something. 

Tubby throttled down and yelled into his mic and sound-powered phones, “Cease fire.” 

The  men  aboard  the  sinking  barge  were  stripping  off  their  field gear, packs, and web belts. Then, they tossed their rifles in the water and jumped after them. 

Tubby got on the R/T with Tommy Madison on the 88 boat. “No casualties,  but  we  took  a  hit  in  the  pilot  house.  My  peeping  tom  is wrecked. How you?” 

“Mine’s okay,” reported Tommy. “Looks like no more business for tonight. What the hell was that giant explosion?” 

“I think we got an ammo barge. Two or three of them nested in a mangrove swamp at the water’s edge. Couldn’t see ’em at first. But yeah,  what  a  show.  I  think  we  got  the  biggest.  He  took  the  others with him. You guys okay?” 

“We’re okay, Lulu. What do you think? Head back to the store?” 

“Concur. Out,” said Tubby, bracketing his mic. 

He  looked  to  Kennedy,  still  in  the  hatchway.  “Can  you  drive, Jack? I’d like to check out the chart room.” 

“Sure.” Kennedy jumped on the platform and took PT 94’s helm. 

Tubby White eased down the hatchway and poked around what was  once  PT  72’s  chart  room.  About  five  minutes  later,  he  came back up, his face sullen. 

“Nice and tidy, huh?” quipped Kennedy. 

“Jeez.” 

“Jeez, what?” 

“You’re  one  lucky  sonofabitch.  You  could  have  been  killed  in there.” 

Kennedy  had  been  thinking  the  same  thing.  He  looked  down  to his hands. They were shaking. Both of them. And suddenly, a wave of nausea swept over him. But it soon passed, and he was thankful it was  dark,  where  nobody  could  see  his  hands,  and  that  he  had  the

helm to hang on to. Plus, the power of these three Packard engines helped  keep  him  busy  as  they  surged  alongside  PT  88,  hard-charging for the Russells. 

Tubby was looking at him. 

 Can he see me shaking?  “You’re the lucky one. Going on leave?” 

“You bet. I’ve lived to see home again.” 

“Where’s that?” 

“California, LA.” 

“Nice. Whereabouts?” 

“Santa Monica. My dad’s an engineer at North American.” 

“No kidding? He builds B-25s?” 

“I think he worked on that design. That was before the war. And now  they’ve  built  hundreds.  He  doesn’t  talk  too  much  about  it. 

Except  that  they’re  coming  out  with  something  new.  A  hot  new fighter.” 

“Oh yeah? We could use something like that.” 

Tubby  looked  from  side  to  side.  In  a  conspiratorial  voice  that barely rose above his Packards, he said, “They call it the Mustang. It can do 400 flat out.” 

“Holy cow.” 

“The  Army  gets  it  to  replace  P-39s.  Should  be  out  here  pretty soon.” 

The hand shaking had subsided. Kennedy felt better. “Can’t wait to see one.” Then, “Did the coffee machine survive?” 

“Funny you ask. It got knocked over. Coffee grounds all over the place.  Looks  like  cat  shit.  Parts  scattered  all  over  the  place.  But  I found them and set it up. It’s brewing again. You ready for some?” 

Kennedy smacked his lips. “You bet.” 

“Okay, I’ll pour us a cup once the boys get theirs.” He looked up to  Wilcox.  “Okay,  Ralph,  it’s  ready.  Start  with  the  boys  on  the  40-millimeters.” 

“Yessir.” Wilcox stepped aft. 

The water was smooth as glass as they powered along. Hardly a ripple, the only sensation the vibration of the great Packards. 

They  watched  as  Wilcox  returned  and  drew  three  cups  for  the men in the engine room. Carefully, he walked aft to hand them down the hatch. 

“Tubby?” 

“Yo.” 

“A favor?” 

“Just say it.” 

Kennedy  hauled  out  a  package  from  under  his  belt.  “When  you have time in LA, could you deliver this to my sister, Kick.” 

Tubby  White  flicked  on  his  red  lens  flashlight,  illuminating  the address.  “Nice.  Beverly  Hills.  Not  too  far  away.”  He  shook  the package. “Not booze or contraband. Letters?” 

“Exactly.” 

“Ah… no censor?” 

“Yes.” 

“You know what you’re asking me to do?” 

“Yes.” 

Tubby rubbed his chin. Twice. “Your sister, Kick?” 

“That’s  right.  I  have  five  sisters  and  three  brothers.  One  of  my sisters is Kathleen. We call her Kick.” 

Tubby whistled. “She lives in Beverly Hills?” 

“No,  that’s  a  family  friend.  She’s  staying  out  there  for  the summer.” 

“Some family.” Another chin rub. “Okay.” 

“Thanks, Tubby.” 

Wilcox returned and ducked down the hatch. Soon he handed up two steaming cups of coffee. “Cream or sugar?” 

“No thanks, Ralph,” said Tubby. 

“Nor me,” said Kennedy. 
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10 May 1943

Pacific Ocean

Tubby tried to lean back and take the weight off his butt. With bench seats,  this  R5D-1  was  built  for  carrying  troops  short  distances,  not passengers over thousands of miles. He had been delayed several days. Al Cluster kept him in Calvertville to oversee repairs to the 72

boat’s chart house. And then it turned out the right engine had blown a head gasket, so that had to be dealt with, especially since Cluster had sent the rest of PT 72’s crew to R&R in Sydney, Australia. Tubby was the only one left to oversee repairs. 


But then Sir Winston recovered enough to take over. So Cluster set it up for Tubby to go all the way home and spend time with his family  in  Santa  Monica.  A  PBY  rescued  him  from  Calvertville  and gently  dropped  him  at  Noumea  in  New  Caledonia.  After  a  six-hour wait, Tubby boarded a C-54 to begin a 6,100-mile trip home, much of it a wild ride. The first leg was a bouncing and bucking 1,203 miles from  Noumea  to  Funafuti  Island.  They  stopped  for  gas  but  then  a generator  needed  changing.  So  that  caused  another  ten  hours  lost on the ground. Most of the next 2,570-mile leg to Pearl Harbor was at  night  with  more  bucking  and  bouncing.  Tubby  was  able  to  get

some sleep in spite of the groaning and puking, the stench awful. But the  last  leg,  2,580  miles  from  Pearl  Harbor  to  Long  Beach,  was serene,  pure  heaven,  smooth.  At  12,000  feet,  one  couldn’t  feel  a bump.  Just  the  mild  vibration  and  synchronized  drone  of  the four Pratt & Whitney R-2000 Twin Wasp engines. 

Ever  since  Noumea,  the  same  person  had  been  sitting  beside him. He’d been pretty sick but used the barf bag fairly effectively. But he’d never buckled himself in and kept falling over on Tubby or the fellow on the other side. Tubby peeked around. He wore the bars of a full USN lieutenant. He had sort of a plumpish body, as if he wasn’t in  good  shape.  In  fact,  his  face  was  flushed,  with  a  full  five-o’clock shadow.  His  eyes  were  close  together  and  his  lips  thin.  Tubby visualized a tiny black forked tongue flicking between them. 

The  man’s  eyes  snapped  open.  They  focused  immediately  on Tubby.  Intelligent.  “Hi.  Sorry  I’ve  been  such  lousy  company.”  His voice was squeaky, like he’d been throat-chopped. His left eye had tell-tale  signs  of  once  being  black  and  blue.  A  barroom  brawl?  He stuck out his hand. “Merlin Chartré, United States Navy, ONI.” 

They  shook.  Tubby  said,  “Elton  P.  White.  Military  forces  of Freedom.” 

Chartré  leaned  out  to  check  Tubby’s  uniform.  “You  kind  of  look Navy to me.” 

“Unfortunately, that’s true. The Navy is stuck with me, I’m afraid.” 

“What’s your billet?” 

With  a  half-smirk,  Tubby  sing-songed,  “…I  pass  out  the  papers and I pass out the towels, while listening to the groaning of the other man’s bowels.” 

But  Chartré  didn’t  laugh  or  grin  or  even  smile  at  Tubby’s  stupid joke. He stared. 

“…once  in  a  while  a  fart  is  heard,  followed  by  the  sound  of  a thundering turd.” 

The man still stared. 

Tubby’s  mind  shifted  gears.  ONI?  This  guy  was  open  for business. And he outranked him. He announced, straight-faced, “PT

boats.” 

Chartré  mocked  a  look  of  comprehension.  “Ahhhhh,  PT  boats. 

How do you like them?” 

“Bad on your kidneys.” 

“I beg your pardon?” 

“Never  mind.  They’re  fun.  Nice  smooth  rides.  We  go  out  and water ski once a week. Sundays, while everybody else is in church.” 

“Church? You said ‘church?’” 

“Yes,  on  Sundays  it’s  holiday  routine,  and  we  get  to  roll  out  a pony keg and go water skiing.” Tubby nudged Chartré with an elbow. 

“You ever go waterskiing?” 

“No.” 

“Just last week they taught me how to get up on one ski. Now I can do it and jump a few wakes, too. Top speed. Twenty-five knots. 

You should feel the wind in your hair.” 

“Twenty-five knots,” Chartré muttered. 

“Yeah.” 

“I thought PT boats went faster than that.” 

Tubby drew a look of incredulity. “Ahhhhh. You see, they don’t let us  water  ski  behind  the  PT  boats.  Blinding  speed.  We’d  kill ourselves.” 

“How so?” 

Tubby sat straight and faced Chartré. “Crash boats. The Army Air Corps  has  some  crash  boats  out  there  for  pilot  rescue.  We  use those. Neat guys. We give ’em beer, they take us for a ride.” 

“I see. Waterskiing.” 

Men  screamed.  Objects  went  flying.  Dixie  coffee  cups,  garrison caps, popcorn, pencils, bits of food. Men cursed and wound up their seat belts. The R5D fell 200 feet and then slammed back into level flight. The airborne junk suddenly came to a rest, mostly on the deck. 

Chartré’s  hands  flailed  at  space  for  a  moment,  then  came  to  rest beside him. Immediately, he reached for a large paper sack stowed under  his  bench  and  shoved  his  face  into  it,  his  stomach  and  back heaving. The plane droned on as smoothly as before, as if nothing had happened. 

Pale-faced, Chartré looked sheepishly at Tubby White and forced an anemic smile. 

Tubby smiled back. “Ride ’em, cowboy.” 

“That doesn’t bother you?” 

“Not at all. Courtesy of PT-72.” 

“Ahhhhh, of course. You ride PT boats.” 

“Well, sort of.” 

“Say,  do  you  know  a  Lieutenant  Commander  Al  Cluster?  Or  a Lieutenant Junior Grade John Kennedy?” 

“Well—I.” Tubby’s eyes narrowed. “Who’s askin’?” 

Chartré  stuck  out  his  chest.  “Well,  I  think  you  know.  Me.  Merlin Chartré, Office of Naval Intelligence.” 

“I see.” 

“Well?” 

“And I don’t see. Are you under orders to interrogate every Tom, Dick, and Harry on this plane?" 

“Of course not.” 

“Or is it just me?” 

“You’re being paranoid.” 

“I don’t know what that means.” 

Chartré did a double-take. “Perhaps you should. After all, you are an officer in the United States Navy.” 

“I  didn’t  realize  knowledge  of  paranoia  was  a  requirement  for commissioning.” 

A  tall,  thin  aviation  boatswain’s  mate  walked  past.  “Long  Beach coming up. Allen Field. Ten minutes. Please secure your seat belts, gentlemen.” 

Tubby spun on his bench and looked out the window. “Good God, the Santa Monica Mountains. How nice to see them.” 

“You know this place?” 

“Know it? I was born and raised here.” 

“Where do you live?” 

Tubby suddenly felt alive, as if a heavy weight had been lifted off his  chest.  After  months  of  being  shot  at,  after  months  of  close brushes  with  death,  he  was  back  in  a  familiar  place.  Home.  Santa Monica, where he knew people. He couldn’t wait. “Pardon?” 

“I asked, ‘where do you live?’” 

Tubby White took a deep breath. Patience. “Purple City.” 

“What?” 

“Purple City. It’s on the northeast side of town. Main drag is lined with  jacaranda  trees.  They’re  pretty;  they  break  out  with  these beautiful purple flowers. But then they fall and get greasy and—” 

“I’m  familiar  with  jacaranda  trees,  Mr.  White.  But  I  didn’t  realize there was a city named after them.” 

Chartré turned pale as the plane jounced up; one heard grinding as the flaps came down. 

Tubby picked it up. “Stuff gets on the sidewalks and then it sticks to your shoes. Hard to clean the stuff off. It’s as if—You okay?” 

The  grinding  noise  was  louder,  wind  rushed  from  somewhere, and the plane shook with three loud, nearly simultaneous thumps. 

Chartré  turned  a  light  shade  of  yellow.  His  eyes  rolled  in  his sockets. “I’m not sure. What’s that?” 

“Just the landing gear. Don’t worry. We’ll be on the ground soon. 

Say, didn’t they fly you out to Noumea?” 

The  engine  noise  lowered  with  the  C-54  pitching  into  a  steep angle of decent. 

“No, I came out on a tanker. This is my first time in the air.” 

“Welcome to the mile-high club.” 

“What’s that?” 

“Never mind. Tell me, why is it you insisted on sitting beside me for this whole trip?” 

“I’m not sure if I—” 

“You  elbowed  people  aside  so  you  could  have  the  seat  beside me. Why is that, Mr. Chartré?” 

“I don’t think—” 

“And  then  you  ask  about  people  who  may  or  may  not  be associated with PT boats.” 

“Well,  you  see,  I’m  interested  if  you  know  these  people.  There are things we have to check into and–” 

Tubby leaned close to Chartré. “Mr. Chartré. I can neither confirm nor  deny  having  any  knowledge  of  the  two  people  you  mentioned. 

And  get  this.  All  of  our  operations  are  in  a  war  zone  and  are  top-secret.  Thus,  I  don’t  share  small  talk  with  any  idiot  who  marches through  the  door  demanding  information.  Also,  I’ve  not  seen  an  ID

card or any other evidence that justifies your line of questioning.” 

“Nonsense!” 

“And  last,  Mr.  Chartré,  you’ve  got  beady  eyes.  I  don’t  trust  you. 

So  stay  the  hell  away  from  me.”  Tubby  White  pushed  away  from Chartré. 

Chartré  said,  “That’s  abusive.”  He  made  a  show  of  dusting himself off. 

Tubby  did  the  same  thing,  except  he  dusted  in  Chartré’s direction. “Not to worry, Mr. Chartré. You’re just being paranoid.” 
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16 May 1943

1591 Lexington Road

Beverly Hills, California

The early afternoon was bright as Tubby White drove along Sunset Boulevard  in  his  dad’s  1939  Chevrolet  Coupe.  He  marveled  at people  on  horseback  riding  the  bridal  path  down  the  center  of  the four-lane  thoroughfare.  Atop  gleaming  horses,  the  riders  were  in Sunday dressage as if in training for the next Olympics, even though they  were  not  to  be  staged  at  least  until  1948,  five  years  away. 

Seeing  them  bolt  upright  in  English  saddles,  in  jodhpurs  and  top hats, one wouldn’t know there was a war on. Amazing. 

He  hadn’t  been  to  Beverly  Hills  since  his  USC  days.  And  even then, he didn’t know it well. He’d once dated a producer’s daughter who  wanted  to  show  off  Tubby  as  muscle,  a  stupid  football  player. 

Bernadette  was  her  name.  Her  nose  was  always  in  the  air  or  up someone’s backside while trying to determine the extent of the poor sucker’s  bank  account.  Once  Tubby  figured  out  why  he’d  been invited,  he  simply  kissed  her  on  the  cheek  and  walked  out,  barely keeping  a  straight  face  as  she  screeched  from  a  group  of  shocked onlookers gathered around the poolside cabaña. 

Tubby gave a silent nod to the Beverly Hills Hotel and turned left onto North Crescent Drive, a tall, palm-tree-lined avenue, and drove up into the foothills. He came to North Lexington Road about a mile later  and  made  another  left.  Soon,  he  pulled  up  to  a  stop  sign. 

Across the street was his destination. A corner lot. 

Not a house. A mansion. He double-checked. The numerals 1591

were painted on the curb.  Holy cow, Jack. What have you gotten me into?   He  reached  in  his  khaki  uniform  blouse  and  pulled  out  Jack’s bundle. Yes, the address matched. 

It  was  a  half-timbered  two-story  house  that  rambled  over  a beautifully coiffed three acres of land overlooking downtown Beverly Hills.  Large,  filigreed  iron  gates  stood  wide  open,  so  Tubby  shifted into  first  gear,  turned  left,  and  drove  onto  a  driveway  lined  on  both sides  with  Eugenia  hedges.  He  came  to  a  wide  parking  area  and pulled up behind a two-door Lincoln Zephyr. 

He  got  out  and  mounted  brick  steps  to  an  alcove  over  a  large oaken front door. He pushed the doorbell and was rewarded to hear a muted chime deep inside the house. Forty-five seconds later, the door, as heavy as it was, snapped open. It was a girl; a good-looking young woman, actually, in her early twenties. She had brown eyes, even teeth, and an oval face with rivulets of water running down, all topped  by  a  white  bathing  cap.  She  had  been  swimming.  A  terry cloth  robe  covered  most  of  what  he  took  for  a  very  slender  and capable figure. 

Instantly,  she  smiled.  It  was  broad,  engaging,  ear  to  ear.  She said, “Well, hello, Navy.” 

Her  voice  was  deep,  in  control,  self-assured,  and  yet  not  out  to get you. 

Time to jump in. “Is Kathleen Kennedy here?” 

The smile turned brighter. “That’s me.” Then, “How did you get in here?” She looked over his shoulder. 

Tubby looked back. “I drove in. The gates were open.” 

“Shoot.” She reached up to something, then yelled back into the house. “You keep forgetting.” 

A voice replied, “Sorry.” It was another woman. Young. In the next room. 

“Twelve lashes,” replied Kathleen Kennedy, winking at Tubby. 

Tubby  looked  back  over  his  shoulder  to  see  the  gates  swinging shut. She must have thrown a switch.  Fawn-cee. 

The woman looked at Tubby. “How can I help you?” 

Tubby figured now was not the time to ask for an ID. And yet, “I have something for Kathleen Kennedy.” 

“Well?” 

“I’m not sure. Do you have a nickname?” 

“It’s Kick.” Another smile. 

Tubby melted. A woman hadn’t looked at him like that in a long time. He’d only been with his parents the past few days, getting lots of sleep and good food. 

Another woman walked up, curious. Similarly dressed, except her terry cloth robe was just hip-length. Her legs. Jeeez. Her face. Just then  she  tore  off  her  bathing  cap  and  shook  out  long,  shoulder-length  blonde  hair.  She  had  full  lips,  blue  eyes,  and  fair  skin.  What the hell had he walked into? Were there any more of these strutting around? She turned and walked toward a massive wooden staircase on the other side of the foyer. 

Kick waved a hand in his face. “Hello, Navy. Remember me? It’s Kick. Kick Kennedy. How can I help you?” 

Tubby blinked.  Get with it, you damned fool. “I’m Eldon P. White, United States Navy.” 

“Nice to meet you, Mr. White. I get the Navy part. Now how can I help you?” 

“They call me Tubby,” he blurted. 

She cocked her head. “Eh, not so much on the tubby side. You look in rather good shape to me. And by the ribbons on your chest, you look like you’ve been working at it.” 

 This girl knows her stuff. “You have a brother, Jack.” 

“Jack? What about him?” 

The  other  woman,  who  had  mounted  the  stairs,  stopped  short and whipped around. 

“I  have  a  packet  for  Kick  Kennedy,  directly  from  him.”  Tubby whipped it out and handed it over. 

“Ohhh,”  Kick  squealed.  She  tore  it  open.  “Inga  Binga.  Lookie here. It’s Jack. Five, six… no, seven letters for you and just one for me. Shows how much I rate.” 

The  blonde  quickly  came  down  and  accepted  the  letters  from Kick Kennedy. “Oh, thank you.” She skewered Tubby with a look and held  out  a  hand.  “Hello,  I’m  Inga  Arvad.  Thank  you  for  bringing these. I hope it wasn’t too much trouble.” 

“None whatsoever.” 

“Can you tell me where he is?” 

Tubby removed his cap, tucked it under his arm, and said, “Sorry to  put  it  this  way,  but  all  I  can  tell  you  is  somewhere  in  the  South Pacific.” 

The blonde pouted for a moment. 

“Sorry to be so formal about that, but it’s what they tell us to say. 

But this was good for me. You see, I’m on leave and live close by, so I’m okay with all this. The pleasure’s all mine.” 

“That’s  good…”  Becoming  distant,  Inga  Arvad  arranged  the envelopes,  tore  open  the  top  one,  and,  leaning  against  a  heavy mahogany foyer centerpiece, began reading. 

Tubby glanced at Kick, seeing her devour her letter. It looked to be five or six pages. A smile flicked across her face as she whipped onto the next page. 

Both were absorbed in Jack’s letters. 

“Good  afternoon,  ladies.”  Tubby  backed  away,  turned,  and walked down the steps. He was almost to the Chevrolet when Kick yelled at him. “You! Navy. Wait up.” 

Tubby turned. 

“What’s your name again?” 

“It’s Tubby.” 

“Come on back, not-so-Tubby. Let us feed you lunch.” 

“Well, thank you, but I’ve already had lunch.” 

“How about a swim? You’re in the Navy. You do swim, don’t you? 

It’s a nice warm day.” 

 This  is  getting  interesting.  But  how  would  Jack  feel  about  it? 

 Don’t want to get him mad. “I’m not quite equipped to go swimming. 

You see, I don’t have a suit.” 

“Don’t worry,” she called. “Uncle Stephan has a drawer full of all sizes and shapes. How ’bout it? I’ll even throw in a beer or two.” 

The  hell  with  Jack.  “Well,  okay,  that’s  very  kind  of  you.  Thank you.” He turned and walked back. 

[image: Image 12]

Kick  silently  led  Tubby  down  a  long  hall  to  the  east  wing  of  the house.  They  came  to  a  study  where  three  walls  were  lined  with bookshelves.  But  the  fourth  wall  consisted  of  three  leaded  glass windows  overlooking  a  swimming  pool  and  an  enormous  backyard, complete with croquet court and barbecue center. They stepped in, finding a man tilted back in an armchair with bare feet propped on a large desk. He was reading a thick book, and his only clothing was a brief bathing suit. He smoked an ornate meerschaum pipe. 

Kick gave a light knock. 

“Eh?” 

Kick said, “Er…Uncle Stephan, we have a guest.” 

He  was  in  his  seventies,  easily.  And  skinny.  Bones  protruded everywhere,  especially  his  clavicles  atop  his  shoulders.  But  white hair flowed above quick, dark brown eyes. “Hallo?” With a thin smile, he  exposed  pale  yellowed  teeth.  A  tooth  on  his  lower  jaw  was chipped. He stood and extended a hand. “Stephan Köhler.” 

Tubby  took  his  hand.  The  grip  was  firm.  “Elden  P.  White,  sir. 

Lieutenant j.g., United States Navy.” 

Stephan wheezed the laugh of the tobacco-infested. At length, he looked to Kick. “A fine-looking young man, Kick. Is this the one you want  to  marry?”  His  English  was  good,  yet  he  spoke  around  a German or Swiss accent; Tubby couldn’t tell. 

“No, Stephan. That one is in the UK. This one just showed up on our doorstep to deliver letters from Jack.” 

“Jack? You know Jack Kennedy?” said Stephan. 

Tubby replied, “I shouldn’t say, but yes, we’re shipmates.” 

“In PT boats?” He gasped. 

“Yessir.” 

“Where?” 

Tubby looked from side to side, then said, “I really can’t tell you that either. All I can say is we serve somewhere in the South Pacific.” 

“Solomons. Guadalcanal, I’d say.” 

Tubby fixed him with a stare. 

“I’m sorry. I do government work. I hear things. One can’t help but put two and two together.” 

Tubby  pasted  on  a  grin.  “You  have  a  beautiful  home  here,  Mr. 

Köhler. I’m on leave and your niece has been very kind.” 

After a rasping cough, Köhler stepped over and wrapped an arm around Kick. “I only wish she really were my niece. Her dad and I are friends,  business  partners.  I  don’t  get  to  see  Kick  much  anymore. 

And now she’s tied up with some schmuck in Britain.” 

“Uncle Stephan, I—” 

“And if she marries this idiot, then I’ll never see her again.” 

“Stephan, I intend to keep seeing you and Elsie no matter what.” 

Her hands went to her hips. 

“So,  I’m  thinking  about  taking  your  mother’s  side  and  forbidding you to marry this duke or count or prince. I keep forgetting. What in the hell is he?” 

“He’s a Marquess,” she shot back. 

Köhler turned to Tubby. “Now what in the hell is a Marquess? Do you know what a Marquess is?” 

Tubby looked from one to the other. In a way, he felt as if he were drowning.  Swim  or  no  swim,  he  was  in  over  his  head.  “I  have  no idea.” 

Someone was behind. Tubby turned. 

Inga. She smiled. 

 Jack, you are one lucky bastard. 

Köhler said something to her in German. 

She  replied  fluently.  Tubby  and  Kick  rolled  their  eyes  at  each other until Inga came back with, “Will we see Mrs. Köhler today.” 

He said, “I fear Elsie still doesn’t feel good. She’ll be down later.” 

He turned to Inga and spoke to her at length. Finally he kissed both Inga and Kick on the forehead and gave a short bow, saying, “It’s my nap time, Lieutenant. And I must be upstairs to look in on my Elsie. 

But, if you don’t mind, turn sideways and let me look at you.” 

The girls twittered. Tubby shrugged and did as he was asked. 

Köhler  coughed  for  a  moment  and  then  said,  “Yes,  I  have  an excellent suit for you. I’ll send it down and you will have the perfect swim today with these extraordinary, beautiful women.” 

No argument there, thought Tubby. “Thank you, sir.” 

“No,  the  thanks  are  all  mine.  Thank  you  for  doing  what  you  are doing. I know it’s not easy.” 

“Glad to do it.” 

“One  more  thing,”  said  Köhler.  “I’d  like  the  three  of  you  to  have dinner, on me.” 

“Chinese?” asked Kick. 

“You never give up, do you, my sweet?” Köhler gave her a hug. 

“Your Peking duck makes me fat.” He continued, “Lieutenant White is in  uniform.  So  let’s  honor  that  by  sending  the  three  of  you  over  to Mike Romanoff’s. You ladies will have to dress up. Do you remember how to do that?” 

“Excellent,  thank  you,  Uncle  Stephan.”  Kick  kissed  him  on  the cheek. 

“Very, very nice.” With a quick glance at Tubby, Inga smacked her lips and smiled. 

 Jack, you are one lucky bastard. 
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16 May 1943

Romanoff’s Restaurant

324 North Rodeo Drive

Beverly Hills, California

The  place  was  named  after  a  Lithuanian-born  actor  and  con  man who  finally,  trying  everything  else,  hit  the  right  stride.  A  slight, mustachioed  man  of  fifty-three,  Michael  Romanoff,  nee  Harry  F. 

Gerguson, claimed to be a prince descended from Russian royalty. 

But Hollywood quickly sniffed it out and forgave him because he put on  such  a  convincing  personal  act,  and  the  food  was  always excellent if not horribly overpriced. But sometimes, he miffed people, on  occasion  even  the  finest.  With  great  panache  he  would  ignore everyone and lunch alone at a table accompanied by two dogs who lapped up everything laid before them. 

Otherwise, Michael Romanoff moved among his tables bearing a façade  of  controlled  urgency  and  life-changing  consequence.  A simple nod from him made one feel glorious. A handshake or a well-directed  pat  on  the  back  lifted  one  out  of  his  shoes  with  the unspoken promise of perpetual success and glory. 

Kick was saying, “But he doesn’t like us.” 

“I  don’t  understand,”  Tubby  replied,  his  eyes  dancing  from  table to table. He thought he’d seen John Garfield across the room, and in the  booth  immediately  to  their  right  was  Lana  Turner  with  two enormous  men  in  tuxedos  smoking  cigars.  It  was  hard  to  keep  his eyes away. 

Kick  caught  him  looking  and  said  with  a  wink,  “Well,  Uncle Stephan is Swiss.” 

“So?” 

“As  far  as  Michael  Romanoff  is  concerned,  Swiss  is  a  half-step removed  from  German,  and  those  are  people  who  invaded  Russia two years ago.” 

She  sipped  her  wine  and  nodded  across  the  table.  “And  then there’s poor Inga.” 

“What happened?” A glance at Inga showed she was listening. 

“She  was  out  here  last  Wednesday  to  interview  Sydney Greenstreet. I came along for the ride and to spend time with Uncle Stephan.” 

“Wow!” 

“And it was to be all about his experience filming  Casablanca.” 

“Loved it.” 

“We all did. Except Greenstreet insisted on bringing Inga here for lunch.” She looked over to Inga. “Who would have known?” 

Inga  said,  “It  truly  is  a  small  world.  Turns  out  Michael  knows  J. 

Edgar Hoover. They’re close friends.” 

“The  FBI  guy?”  Tubby  had  a  strange  feeling  in  his  gut.  Things were beginning to make sense. 

“Michael  later  muttered  to  me  that  he’d  heard  Inga  had interviewed Hitler, Göring, and Göbbles.” 

“Holy shit! Oops, sorry.” Tubby gave a sheepish grin. He picked up the wine bottle and re-filled their glasses. 

Kick  waved  it  off  and  continued,  “Michael  doesn’t  like  that.  He learned J. Edgar has had her under suspicion along with Jack for the past two years. But nothing has been proved. Even so, Hoover tried to  get  Jack  thrown  out  of  the  Navy.  But  that  didn’t  fly  owing  to  the immediacy of the war effort and that Jack had done such a good job here in the States.” 

“Who does Inga work for?” 

Kick sat up straight. “The North American News Alliance in New York City.” 

“Wow. Doesn’t Hemmingway write for them?” 

Kick  flicked  his  nose  with  her  forefinger.  “I  just  knew  you  were smart. You like Hemmingway?” 

“I like to keep up with him.” 

“Before, she was at  The Washington Times-Herald, where I work. 

That’s where we met.” 

Tubby nodded. Inga gave him a smile that could have seared a steak.  And  her  perfume  drifted  over.  Arpege.  Amazing  stuff.  He looked back. “Er… when did you get here?” 

“February  29,  1940.”  Her  response  was  hollow,  automatic,  like something  off  one  of  those  wire  recorders  that  repeated  over  and over. 

“From where, Denmark?” 

“Had to. The Germans were marching in.” 

“Yeah, that sounded kind of messy.” 

“Believe me, it was.” She looked away. 

“This  cabernet  is  excellent.”  Tubby  reached  for  the  bottle,  but  a waiter beat him to it. The waiter leaned toward Inga. 

But  she  gave  a  slight  shake  of  her  head  and  covered  the  glass with her hand. “You see, I’m Danish.” 

“Okay.” 

“My trade has always been the newspaper business. That’s how I got to know”—she waved a hand—“all those Germans.” 

Kick, without any help from the waiter, refilled her wine glass and shook the bottle. 

Empty. 

She  looked  up  and  nodded  to  the  waiter.  He  rushed  off.  “She’s also a damned bombshell. Haven’t you noticed?” 

“How  can  I  say  otherwise?  And  her  perfume  is  driving  me  up  a wall.” 

They both guffawed. “Thank you.” Inga nudged him with her foot. 

Kick  said,  “She  won  the  Miss  Denmark  contest  ten  years  ago. 

And  then,  she  knocked  everybody  off  their  feet  and  won  the  Miss Europe contest.” 

Inga  sighed.  “Second  place  in  the  European  contest,  Kick.  How many times do I have to tell you?” 

“Just  giving  you  a  boost.  This  is  Hollywood,  honey.  First  place, second place.  Nobody  gives  a  damn.”  She  waved  a  finger.  “That’s why all those Krauts fell in love with her. Miss Denmark. The queen of  Europe.  They  went  crazy  over  her.  Hitler  even  had  her  in  his private box during the 1936 Olympics.” 

The wine was excellent. Tubby felt emboldened. “You’re far better looking than the one…uh, over there.” He nodded toward the booth to his right. 

“Tubby …” they both exclaimed. Inga covered his hand with hers and smiled. 

He fell in love. 

Just  then  the  three  on  their  right  rose  from  their  booth,  the  two tuxedoed men and then Lana Turner. Both chomped their cigars as one  ceremoniously  draped  a  mink  stole  around  Turner.  The  other surveyed  the  room.  His  eyes  landed  on  Kick,  and  then  Inga.  And then Tubby, and back to Inga. He pulled his eyes from Inga, looked at Tubby’s ribbons, then leaned toward him and said, “Looks like you been playin’ hardball.” 

Tubby tilted a palm from side to side. “Eh!” 

The  man  grinned.  His  upper  front  tooth  was  missing.  “Modest, huh?” 

“We have a job to do,” said Tubby. 

“I got a kid brother in the Marines.” 

“They’re very brave.” 

“I’ll  say.  The  little  bastard  is  only  twenty  years  old  and  they’ve given him two Purple Hearts.” Another grin, wider this time, revealing two missing lower teeth. 

Lana Turner was ready. She nodded toward the foyer and started walking. Her two gentlemen friends followed. 

Inga said under her breath, “Watch this, kids.” 

Sure enough, there was a blur across the room. It raced toward the three. 

Michael Romanoff. 

He  intercepted  them  about  twenty  paces  from  the  foyer.  They gathered.  He  soon  had  an  arm  around  Turner,  the  four  of  them
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laughing. 

Inga withdrew her hand and sipped her wine. 

“So  Hitler  decided  he  didn’t  like  Denmark  because  you  left  him high and dry?” Tubby asked. 

It fell flat, but she went along with it. “So much so that his boys invaded with great force and oppression.” 

“I’m sorry.” 

“My mother and I got out of Copenhagen just before they came goose-stepping in.” 

“And your dad?” Tubby probed gently. 

She  shrugged.  “I  was  only  four  when  he  died.  They  were traveling  in  South  Africa  and  he  got  a  blood  disease  or  something. 

He couldn’t shake it.” 

“That’s tough duty.” 

“From what I’ve heard, he would have been a real dad. And my mom  never  re-married.  Traveled  all  over  the  place.  Dragged  me along  with  her.  We  were  always  on  the  go.  Europe.  Asia.  South America.  I  mean,  we  went  everywhere.  I  never  had  a  chance  to make friends.” She sipped. 

But  Tubby  noticed  she  hardly  consumed  a  drop.  Very professional.  Very  much  in  control.  Very  cosmopolitan.  And extraordinarily  beautiful.  He  could  see  why  Jack  was  so  infatuated with her. 

Tubby had a ten-ounce steak done to a T. Inga and Kick each had pheasant  under  glass,  the  waiters  whipping  the  domes  off  their plates with choreographed panache. Tubby quickly wolfed every bite while the ladies lingered over their food. But Tubby listened. 

Everybody  had  problems.  Kick  had  fallen  in  love  with  William

Cavendish, Marquess of Hartington. Cavendish was a Brit she’d met

while  living  with  her  father  in  London  while  he  was  the  U.S. 

ambassador to Great Britain. After the European war was nearly two years  old,  Joseph  P.  Kennedy,  Sr.  resigned  and  was  replaced  by

John Winant. Then Kennedy soon moved his wife and children back to the U.S. and thus ended his own political career. 

Now,  Kick  was  trying  to  extricate  herself  from  her  family  and move  back  to  wartime  Britain,  and  join  Billy  Hartington,  as  he  was known, by then fully employed in the British Army. As Baked Alaska was  served,  she  let  on  that  her  mother,  Rose  Kennedy,  absolutely forbade  the  marriage,  for  Billy  and  his  family  were  Protestant  and anti-Catholic. 

Their  meals  finished,  Kick  signed  the  check  and  they  moved outside  where  Stephan’s  midnight-blue  1941  Packard  One-Eighty sparkled  under  the  lights.  Kick  had  driven  them  over  and  the  valet stood waiting to give her the keys. She took them and said, “Tired. 

I’m going in back.” She held up the keys for Tubby. “Do you mind?” 

“Not at all.” 

The  valet  snapped  the  back  door  open.  She  crawled  inside,  lay on the seat, and curled up fetal. 

Tubby called after her, “I can manage if someone can tell me how to get there.” 

Inga said, “I can do that.” 

“We’re  good,  then.”  Tubby  let  Inga  in  the  passenger  door  while the valet closed the back door and mouthed, “Asleep.” 

With a tip to the valet, Tubby got in and soon had the precision machine moving into traffic. 

It was quiet. He felt uncomfortable. “Were your letters okay?” 

She  scooted  closer  and  said,  “Wonderful.  I  was  just  thinking  of him.” 

Arpege. It swirled all around him. He wanted to throw her over his shoulder  and  run  for  the  nearest  clump  of  bushes.  At  length,  he blurted, “Shaftie. They call him Shaftie.” 

“Really? I hadn’t heard.” 

“He’s  under  a  lot  of  pressure  to  get  his  boat  up  and  running. 

Things go wrong. Orders get screwed up. Wrong parts. He’s always grumbling about being shafted.” 

She tried it. “Shaftie.” Then, “He calls me Inga Binga.” 

He gave her an eye roll. 

She giggled. The car lurched over a pothole. She seemed closer. 

“You’re thinking you don’t like Inga Binga?” 

He shifted into second and said, “Me think? Sorry. I’m in the Navy now.  They  don’t  let  you  do  that.”  He  looked  over.  “But  you  think. 

You’re pretty smart. Where’d they send you to school? Europe, huh? 

The Sorbonne, I’ll bet.” 

“Nothing  so  fancy.  Just  the  Columbia  Graduate  School  of Journalism. Two years ago.” 

“Wow. You did okay.” 

“And you?” 

“Me? Just a local mutt. USC. School of Engineering.” 

She chuckled and moved away a bit. “I’d say you did all right as well.” 

The Arpege still swirled as he shifted into third gear. The ride was fantastic. He felt like they were gliding on clouds. Tubby said, “That was a nice place. Thanks for letting me tag along.” 

She said, “It was all for you. You deserve it. Your letters were a bonus.” 

“Fun swim. I haven’t done that in a long time.” 

“Don’t  you  go  swimming”—she  threw  a  hand  toward  the windshield—“out there?” 

“It would be nice, all right. Water is the perfect temperature. But where we are, the water has some sort of crud that gets in your ears and drives you nuts.” 

“How awful.” 

“You can’t hear. And it’s like wax and won’t go away. They tell us not  to  swim  unless  the  docs  okay  the  water.  Trouble  is,  we’re  so busy  the  docs  don’t  have  time  for  testing.  Anyway,  it  was  fun swimming today.” 

“You didn’t have to cannon-ball us.” 

“I figured that was expected.” 

She snorted. “It was.” 

He laughed. “You two are just about like sisters.” 

She pointed. “Take a left at the next light.” 

“Okay.” He turned. 

“You’re doing pretty good with this old bus.” 

“Just  a  Packard:  one  hundred  sixty  horsepower.  My  three Packards have 4,500 horses.” 

“Oh. That’s a nice parallel. Maybe I should do an article on you.” 

“And see your subscriptions plummet to zero.” 

With  a  sigh,  she  said,  “That  was  most  likely  our  last  time  at Romanoff’s.” 

“No kidding? How so?” 

“It’s  no  secret  that  Michael  Romanoff  and  J.  Edgar  Hoover  are close friends.” 

“So what does that do?” 

“Hoover is trying to prove I’m spying for Hitler.” 

“That’s ridiculous.” 

“I  wish  it  were  as  easy  as  all  that.  When  Jack  was  here  in  the U.S., we got to be very close. We talked about marriage. We were so close  that  Hoover  had  bugs,  wire  recording  equipment,  people watching,  following,  or  listening  to  our  most  int—er,  closest moments.” 

“Jeeez. Who are these people?” 

“Funded  by  taxpayers.  You  and  me.  They  went  so  far  as  to  try and get Jack kicked out of the Navy.” 

Tubby gave her a look. 

Her voice quivered. “They all think I’m a spy for Hitler. They read our  mail.  That’s  why  we  have  to  go  through  this  charade.”  She pointed to the left: 1591 Lexington Road. The gates were closed. 

He turned in and pulled up. “What now?” 

“Honk twice.” 

Tubby honked. Lights flashed on and the gates swung open, slow and  stately.  “Impressive,”  said  Tubby.  “Tell  me,  what  does  Stephan do?” 

“Uniforms.” 

“Huh?” 

“He sells uniforms. To everybody. Even the Germans right up to September  1,  1939.  Then  the  U.S.  government  blocked  his  orders from Germany. But he still sells to everybody else.” 

“Nice.” 

“If the Germans only knew.” 

“What?” 

“He’s half Jewish.” 

“No kidding?” 

“His wife, Elsie, is one hundred percent.” 

They laughed as Tubby pulled in front and killed the lights. 

Inga  called  toward  the  back  seat,  “You  ready,  Kick?  Time  for beddy-bye.” 

Kick gurgled something and smacked her lips. 

Inga  said  quietly,  “Be  right  back.”  She  opened  the  door  and slipped away. Tubby waited in silence for two minutes. He looked at the clock. It was wrong. Car clocks never worked. 

The front door opened. Light spilled out onto the driveway. Inga came out followed by two men. 

Tubby  got  out  and  walked  around  the  car.  Already,  one  of  the men  was  in  back  lifting  Kick  by  her  shoulders.  The  other  had  her feet.  Soon,  they  had  her  outside  the  car  and  on  her  feet,  her  arms draped around the men’s shoulders. They hesitated. 

“Vamonos!” said Inga. 

“Si.” They moved off, Kick half walking, half dragging her feet. 

They were inside. Inga looked up to him. Yanking his lapels even and straightening his tie, she said, “Didn’t drink that much. But she has a low tolerance for alcohol. And she’d done a lot today. She was tired. I hope you don’t mind.” 

“Inga.  This  was  one  of  the  most  beautiful  evenings  of  my  life. 

Thank  you  very  much,  and  please  thank  Kick  tomorrow.  And Stephan, as well.” 

“She’ll be embarrassed.” 

“I’ll send flowers.” He meant it. 

The front door stood wide open. Light still painted the driveway. 

With a furtive glance, Inga looked back to Tubby and said, “Tell Jack I love him very much.” 

“I will.” 

She raised a forefinger, kissed it, then tapped Tubby on the nose with it. “And thank you again, Sailor, for being here today and being part of our lives.” 

Tubby stood immobile. He raised his finger to his nose. 

“Sorry. That was for Jack.” 

“Good God!” 

“You’re breathing hard, Tubby.” 

It wasn’t quite like that, but he did feel flushed. He played along. 

“Of course I am. I’m a sailor. You’re a tease.” He flashed a lopsided

grin. 

“Guilty as charged.” She reached up again and patted his cheek. 

“Tell  Jack  I  love  him  and  want  him  to  come  back  to  me  safe  and sound. And for you, Tubby; you’re a good man and, I’m sure, a good shipmate.  Somebody  is  out  there  for  you,  too.  Good  luck.”  She reached  for  his  cheek  and  patted  it  again.  “Good  night,  Lieutenant. 

Via con Dios.” She walked up the steps. 

“Via  con  Dios,  dear  Inga.”  Then,  Tubby,  you  damned  fool,  keep your hands to yourself. 
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23 May 1943

Gate 5

Long Beach Naval Shipyard

Long Beach, California

It was close to noon when eleven cars were backed up, single file, waiting outside Gate 5. An enormous flatbed truck stood at the head of  the  line  while  coveralled  dock  workers  in  tin  hats  swarmed  over the load, a semi-crated diesel engine. 

Finally,  the  truck  was  through  and  four  minutes  later,  the  1939

Chevrolet was up front. The Marine sentry beckoned the coupe onto the  ramp.  The  car  drew  to  a  halt;  the  Marine  and  the  driver  both recognized  each  other’s  campaign  ribbons  with  battle  stars.  They exchanged snappy salutes and Tubby White pulled through. 

Tubby’s  father,  Leonard  White,  sat  in  the  passenger  seat,  his mother, Eleanor, in back, gawking at all around her. The activity was frenetic.  Right  before  them,  a  yard  switcher  engine  pulled  flat  cars with  bulky  ship  components  in  their  path,  trucks  rumbled  past,  tin-hatted working parties trudged the side of the road carrying tools and building supplies. They passed metal shops with pounding foundries

and  grinding  lathes;  ship  whistles  moaned  while  yard  locomotives tooted at anything that dared get in their way. 

“Your  tax  dollars  at  work,”  said  Leonard.  “Looks  like  they’re running three shifts.” 

“You betcha, Dad. Haven’t you heard? There’s a war on.” 

Leonard snorted. “So I heard.” He could tell; they ran three shifts at North American Aviation up in Santa Monica as well. 

Tubby  knew  things  were  just  as  chaotic  there.  Secretly,  he  was happy  to  get  him  away.  He’d  been  working  long  hours,  too.  And today, even though it was overcast, he looked a lot better since he was out being a tourist. 

Tubby checked the rear-view mirror. Eleanor’s head shifted from side to side, her amazement as much as her husband’s. But Tubby was happy to see time had been kind to her. Eleanor White’s silver hair was swept up onto her head and combed delicately back. Unlike her husband, who more fittingly resembled her son’s name, she was in  good  shape,  slender,  and  hardly  any  wrinkles.  Leonard,  on  the other hand, was overweight and losing his hair. But he couldn’t help it. He worked six days a week and often seven when a crisis popped up. 

“Any PT boats around here, son?” asked Leonard. 

Tubby  pulled  up  before  the  operations  building  and  yanked  the emergency  brake.  “Don’t  think  so,  Dad.  They  build  them  back  east and ship them directly with their crews to the war zone.” 

Eleanor said, “That sounds so fatal, Tubby. Are you sure you’re safe out there?” 

Tubby called over his shoulder, “No problem, Mom. They’ve given me an easy job. I just sit there, smash papers with a rubber stamp, and watch the other guys head out to sea.” 

“Bullshit,”  muttered  Leonard.  “Like  you  got  those  battle  stars stamping papers.” 

“Shhh, Dad,” said Tubby. “Be right back.” 

“Can we get out and stretch?” asked Eleanor. 

Tubby  said,  “Sure.  Just  don’t  wander  off.  They  have  orders  to shoot on sight around here.” 

Eleanor’s hand went to her mouth. 

“Tubby, dammit,” snarled Leonard. 

Tubby grinned. “Sorry, Mom, just kidding.” He got out and flashed his ID to a Marine sentry before walking into the operations building. 

The OOD’s office was clearly marked and he went right in, his cap tucked under his arm. 

It  was  no  different  than  any  number  of  operations  offices throughout the United States Navy. Telephones jangled, messengers bustled  while  typewriters  clacked,  and  cigarette  smoke  rose  to  the ceiling  to  be  twirled  and  dispersed  by  overhead  fans.  A  large  desk stood in Tubby’s path. There were two nameplates. One read JOOD; the  other  announced  the  man’s  name:  STRYKER,  C.  N.GMC.  He looked up. He was completely bald with a large nose atop a narrow, thin face, like a parrot. 

“Help you, sir?” 

Tubby said, “White, Eldon P. Got a phone message yesterday to report  here  at  my  convenience.  Well,  I’m  on  leave  and  am  staying with my folks up in Santa Monica. So, it’s not inconvenient.” 

“ID, sir?” 

Tubby whipped out his card and handed it over. 

Stryker gave a quick look and handed it back. He rubbed his chin for  a  moment.  “White,  White  …  ah.  I  think.”  He  muttered  as  he withdrew a tall stack of papers and folders from a basket labeled IN. 

“Willard T. White?” 

“Eldon P. White.” 

“Eldon…Eldon…I  saw  it  just  yesterday  …  Ah!  Here  it  is.  Oops, here  they  are.”  He  held  up  a  clipboard.  “Two  messages.  Sign  here and they are yours.” 

“Glad  to.”  Tubby  grabbed  a  pen  from  atop  Chief  Stryker’s  desk, dipped it in the inkwell, and scratched out a signature. 

Stryker  handed  over  the  first  message,  a  flimsy.  It  was  from  Al Cluster  authorizing  another  week  of  leave  due  to  transportation delays.  “Wow.  Nice.”  A  third  item  followed.  “Congratulations.”  Why the hell was Al congratulating him on another lousy week of leave? 

He  looked  to  Stryker.  The  man’s  parrot-beak  mouth  was  drawn up to a grin. “Congratulations, sir.” He handed over the message and then  dropped  his  hand  to  the  desk,  palm  up,  fingers  gesturing  in  a

“come on” motion. 

“Huh?”  Tubby  read  it.  “Holy  cow!”  It  was  from  the  Bureau  of Navigation. He’d been promoted to lieutenant, effective upon receipt. 

Stryker  donned  and  adjusted  his  chief’s  hat,  then  rendered  an exaggerated salute. “Congratulations, Lieutenant,” he said slowly in a deep baritone. 

 The son of a bitch has me. Navy tradition was that an officer gave the  first  enlisted  man  who  saluted  a  newly  commissioned  or  newly promoted officer some currency, usually a five- or ten-dollar bill. 

“Okay.”  Tubby  smiled  back.  He  put  on  his  cap,  returned  the salute, and then reached for his wallet.  Damn. Just a five and a two-dollar  bill.  He  pulled  out  the  five  and  handed  it  over. 

“Congratulations, Chief.” 

Stryker snatched the bill and it quickly disappeared. “Thank you, sir.” He turned to his typewriter and began pecking on the machine, ignoring Tubby. 

“Nice meeting you, Chief.” Tubby turned for the door. 

A  hand  slapped  on  his  shoulder  and  stopped  him.  “Not  so  fast, Mr. White.” 

Tubby  whirled,  peering  into  the  grin  of  Todd  Ingram.  “Holy  shit, Ingram. How are you, Todd?” They shook. 

The two clapped shoulders with Ingram asking, “What brings you to town?” 

“On leave and picking up messages.” 

“Messages for you, a jay gee?” 

“Careful, Mr. Ingram.” Tubby held up a flimsy. 

Ingram  read  it  and  smiled.  “Wow!  This  is  great.  And  well-deserved. Nice going, Tubby. Were you in the zone?” 

“I have no idea. They asked me to come down here for traffic and I just found out. The chief just relieved me of five bucks.” 

Ingram chuckled. “Yeah, Stryker’s like that. But he’s a resourceful guy.” 

“You back on duty?” 

“They  got  me.  Jerry’s  here  too.  Right  down  the  hall.  We’re forming a new destroyer squadron.” 

“You have a ship?” 

“A new tin can.  Fletcher-class. USS  Maxwell. They’re building her up in ’Frisco at Bethlehem Steel. Just launched her and now fitting

her out. 

“And  we  have  some  new  and  old  cans.”  He  ticked  off  on  his fingers. “The  Freeman, the  Steinhauser, the  Brewster—” 

“Freeman, I remember her. Went aground three times in a week.” 

“Yeah,  Jerry  had  to  fire  her  skipper.  Now  she’s  awaiting  a  new skipper while stuck on coffee grounds dockside.” 

“Situation normal. All screwed up.” 

“They’re great ships.” 

“We got a guy off the  Brewster in our squadron.” 

“Yeah?” 

“Cheated at poker. Some Marines beat him up.” 

“Not good.” 

“Best thing that ever happened to him. On PT 111 now. A motor mac,  he’s  the  epitome  of  good  behavior.  Does  a  great  job.  But  he has three busted teeth.” 

“Leave it to Jarheads to straighten people out.” 

“I’ll say.” 

“Can’t say I miss tin cans. I’ll take my  Little Lulu  any day.” 

Ingram  smirked.  “You  mean  to  tell  me  you  don’t  miss  watching movies on the fantail on a warm summer evening?” 

“We  fish  off  our  fantails  on  warm  summer  evenings.  Catch  our breakfast.” 

“Suit yourself.” 

Someone  walked  into  the  foyer.  Limped  was  more  like  it.  An officer, he had captain’s eagles, a deep tan, and a gleaming, award-winning  white  smile.  He  said,  “Jeez.  How’d  the  sentry  let  this  guy in?” Jerry Landa stood before Tubby White, his hand extended. “How the hell are you, Tubby?” 

Tubby  accepted  the  hand  and  they  shook  warmly.  Still,  he couldn’t erase that resentment from the past. Jerry Landa had never apologized  to  Tubby.  Probably  forgotten  all  about  it,  Tubby  figured. 

But now, he saw it in Landa’s eyes. He’d blinked. It was still on his mind. “Well?” prodded Landa. 

“Good  news.  Al  Cluster  just  gave  me  another  week’s  leave  and

… and …” 

They stared at him. Ingram’s expression was  go on, you idiot. 

“… and the Navy Department just made a grievous error.” 
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Landa stood to full height and took a deep breath. “Well?” 

“They promoted me to full lieutenant.” 

“Hey.” Landa slapped Tubby on the back. “Congratulations. This calls  for  a  celebration.  Dinner  and  drinks  are  on  me  at  the  O  Club tonight.” 

“I’d love to, sir. But…” 

“But what?” 

“My  mom  and  dad  are  out  in  the  car.  They  came  down  for  the ride.” 

“Hell, bring ’em along. I’d love to meet them. Two Tubby Whites in  the  same  room.  Fantastic.”  He  turned  to  Ingram.  “Bring  Helen along. Tell you what, let’s go to Olsen’s up in Pedro. That’s close to your home, Todd, and that much closer to Santa Monica for you, too, Tubby.” 

“Well … I don’t know… my mom and dad …” He’d seen Landa at play  before  in  officers’  clubs.  After  two  drinks,  the  man  told disgusting  farting  jokes  attended  by  a  large  variety  of  authentic sounds.  People  roared  hilariously,  except,  in  many  cases,  the officers’  wives  barely  withheld  their  disapproval  at  Captain  Landa’s repulsive narrative. How would Leonard and Eleanor White react to such a situation? “I don’t know.” 

Ingram rubbed his chin and said quietly, “There’s something else I’d like you to think about, Tubby.” 

“You don’t say,” said Tubby, relieved that he’d gained some time making his decision. 

“I’m going to need an exec. How ’bout it? We could use you.” 

Olsen’s  was  an  upscale  steak  house  at  Ninth  Street  and  Grand  in San  Pedro.  Landa  got  on  the  phone  and  made  reservations.  He even got his girlfriend, Laura West, to come down from Beverly Hills. 

As  the  pianist  for  the  West  Coast  Branch  of  the  NBC  Symphony Orchestra, Laura added a fine touch to the evening by entertaining the  entire  crowd.  It  was  easy  for  her  to  step  over  to  the  piano  and start another piece each time Landa launched into a farting joke. But

the two seemed to blend well as Laura did her magic on the piano while the men roared at the table in the far corner. 

Meanwhile, Tubby delayed his decision about becoming Ingram’s executive officer. Deep down, he knew he couldn’t leave  Little Lulu and his men. He just didn’t know how to tell Ingram. 

So,  a  simple  celebration  for  three  became  a  magnificent  get-together  for  seven  with  Landa  in  fine  form,  spewing  out  his  farting jokes while Laura West played exquisite music. 

Perhaps  the  surprise  to  all  was  when  Tubby’s  father,  Leonard White,  senior  design  engineer  at  North  America  Aviation,  launched into his own repertoire of farting jokes, a red-faced Eleanor sitting in a corner, arms folded, feigning disgust. 

Landa slapped a hand on the table and roared, “Like father, like son.” 
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25 May 1943

Army and Navy Club

901 17th Street NW

Washington, D.C. 

Lowering  the  silver  tray,  the  white-coated  waiter  bent  over  and  set the  chilled  cocktail  glass  on  the  linen-covered  table  with  great panache. Then, he stepped silently away. 

“Thank you.” The man at the table picked it up and held it close, admiring  its  color  and  clear  texture.  It  was  said  that  the  Army  and Navy  Club  was  the  birthplace  of  the  daiquiri.  They  made  them perfectly here: two ounces of white rum, three-quarters of an ounce of lime juice, three-quarters of an ounce of simple syrup, and topped with a lime twist. He sipped. And this one needed just a bit. He gave the lime a deft squeeze and sipped again. 

Excellent. 

Joseph P. Kennedy Senior sat back in his armchair and checked his watch. It was nearly noon, and he’d arrived a few minutes early so he could enjoy his daiquiri in the house famous for its origination. 

And, he sighed, they deserved every kudo. This was heaven. It was his  small  divergence  from  a  life  without  alcohol.  He’d  sworn  off  the

stuff  earlier  in  life,  even  promising  his  sons  $1,000  not  to  touch  a drop  until  at  least  their  twenty-first  birthday.  And  he  rarely  drank before his family. So here was a fantastic opportunity, and he basked in it. 

A  voice  from  behind  said,  “Joseph,  you’re  supposed  to  be  a teetotaler.” 

Kennedy propelled his 55-year-old 6’0” frame out of his club chair and turned. “Director.” Grinning, he offered a hand and they shook. 

Kennedy  spread  his  arms  at  their  surroundings.  “How  can  one resist daiquiris in this magnificent place?” 

J. Edgar Hoover, At 5’7” and 205 pounds, looked a bit more jowly than  the  last  time  they’d  met  six  months  ago.  To  Hoover’s  left  was Clyde  Tolson,  his  assistant  and  close  companion.  Reaching  over, Kennedy shook and pasted on a welcoming smile although he hadn’t expected Tolson. This was to be a confidential visit. Joe was in town on banking business and the director had found him and rung him up for  lunch.  But  then  Tolson  had  been  working  for  Edgar  for  a  long, long time. Everything he saw or heard was classified. 

They took seats, with Hoover and Tolson scanning menus. 

“What do you hear, Joseph?” asked Hoover, still scanning. 

Kennedy raised his glass. Now he needed it. He felt like gulping. 

“Rubbish, rumors, and clap-trap.” He sat back. 

Hoover  signaled.  A  waiter  appeared.  “Blackened  salmon,  hold the potatoes, please. I’ll try the navy bean soup. Thank you.” 

Tolson ordered the same. 

Kennedy  ordered  an  eight-ounce  New  York  steak  with  mashed potatoes, green peas, and corn. “And”—he tapped his cocktail glass

—“could I have another one of these, please?” 

“Certainly, sir.” The waiter collected the menus and backed away. 

Hoover turned in his seat and faced Kennedy directly. With a half-smile, he said, “So nice of you to join me today on such short notice.” 

“Of  course,  Edgar.  It’s  been  three  or  more  months,  so  I’m  glad you rooted me out.” 

“Five and a half,” said Hoover. 

“Five and a half,” repeated Kennedy, a signal to get to the crux. 

“Time flies.” 

“Yes,” said Hoover. He raised his glass of ice water. “Here’s to old times.” 

Kennedy grinned. “Now Edgar, do we want to go that far back?” 

Hoover and Tolson looked at one another. Then they laughed. He said,  “You’re  right,  Joseph.  Those  were  touchy  times.  But  then  we were …” 

“Young,” declared Kennedy. 

The three laughed. Hoover said, “Here’s to youth.” 

“To youth,” Kennedy and Tolson parroted. 

Kennedy finished off his daiquiri. 

Hoover smacked his lips, refused an offer of a warm bun from a waiter, and then asked, “I’m wondering what Joe is up to?” 

Kennedy  knew  that  this  was  all  about  Jack.  And  this  seemingly harmless question was Hoover’s way of getting there. He gained an extra twenty seconds while the waiter stepped up with his silver tray, and  again,  with  great  panache,  set  down  a  fresh  daiquiri,  collected the old glass, and then stepped away. 

Kennedy sipped. “Ahhhhh.” 

“Lizard piss.” 

Kennedy sipped again. “Joe? Doing great as far as I know. With a squadron of Navy B-24s in England. As I understand, they patrol for U-boats. Now and then, they send them on a mission over Europe, France mostly.” 

“Didn’t  I  hear  at  one  time  that  you  planned  to  run  Joe  for president?” 

“Yes, that’s right.” 

“And how is that going?” 

“Well,  first  Joe  must  serve  his  country.  With  that  satisfied,  we’ll get him involved.” 

“Very  good,  Joseph.  When  he’s  out,  you,  what—run  him  for public office?” 

“I  think  so.  Start  him  out  in  Congress.  Two  or  three  terms,  then the senate and finally we make the final push.” 

“All in Massachusetts?” 

“Of course.” 

“And where does Jack fit into all of this? Didn’t you have political plans for him as well?” 

Two  waiters  silently  pushed  a  side  cart  next  to  the  table.  The three  fell  to  silence  as  one  waiter  placed  a  Waldorf  salad  before Kennedy. With a long silver spoon, the other waiter ladled navy bean soup into two bowls and set them before Hoover and Tolson. 

Just  then  a  dark-haired  man  in  a  pinstriped  suit  stepped  up  to Tolson, leaned over, gave him an envelope, and whispered to him for a moment. Tolson opened the envelope, rapid-scanned it, and then looked to the pinstriped man and gave a slight shake of his head. 

The man stepped away and walked out. 

Hoover  and  Tolson  exchanged  glances.  Tolson  mouthed something and gave an imperceptible shake of his head. 

Hoover  picked  up  his  spoon  and  tried  his  soup.  “Ahhhhh, excellent. They always hit them over the fence here.” He tried some more  while  looking  with  raised  eyebrows  at  Joseph  Kennedy,  who attacked his Waldorf salad. 

“A  lot  of  pressure,”  Kennedy  began.  “They’ve  given  him  a  PT

boat that was pretty well used up. A pile of junk, Jack called it. But there  was  nothing  else  available,  so  Jack  took  this  one.  They’ve given  him  a  good  crew  and  they’re  repairing  it  all  by  themselves. 

Except the squadron commander has given them three new Packard engines. So the thing will really be a hot rod once they get it going. 

Apparently, Jack tells us, progress is good.” 

Hoover  and  Tolson  finished  their  soup  within  seconds  of  one another. They sat back as a waiter whisked away the bowls. “And his girlfriend?” asked Hoover. 

Kennedy chuckled. “Which one? He has so many.” 

“You know, the one who is in bed with Hitler.” 

“How can she be in two places at once? She’s in New York right now.” 

“California, actually.” 

The  main  courses  arrived.  They  sat  back  as  the  waiters  fussed around them. Finally, the three picked up their silverware and began. 

“Are  you  sure?  I  thought  she  was  working  for  North  American News Alliance.” 

“Yes,  that’s  true.  But  she’s  in  Hollywood  with  your  daughter Kathleen interviewing movie stars.” 

This  was  news  to  Kennedy.  He  forked  in  a  bite  of  steak.  Well done, he’d asked for medium rare. He raised his eyes to look for a waiter. 

“Everything all right?” asked Hoover. 

Forget it. He looked. No A1 sauce on the table. It wasn’t allowed. 

Nor was ketchup—both insults to the chefs and the Army and Navy Club. 

“Joseph?” 

“This is very good.” 

“Makes you fat.” 

“My weight hasn’t changed in the past twenty-five years, daiquiris and all.” 

“I meant no ill will.” 

Kennedy  patted  him  on  the  forearm.  “None  taken,  Edgar.  I  just wasn’t  aware  of  any  of  this.  I  didn’t  know  Kick  was  out  there.  I thought  she  was  here  in  D.C.  I  tried  to  phone  her  last  night.  She didn’t answer. Now I know why. But I’m surprised.” 

“Staying with …with …” Hoover snapped his fingers and looked at Tolson. 

“It must be Stephan Köhler,” Kennedy sighed. 

Tolson  was  about  to  speak.  Hoover  waved  him  away.  “That’s  it. 

Uniform guy. Used to sell to the Germans.” 

“Before they declared war on us.” 

“Yes.” 

Kennedy  found  a  medium  rare  section.  He  felt  better.  “I  don’t remember the girl. Like I said, Jack has had so many, and now, he’s been gone for four months. Hard to keep up with him.” 

“He’s already seen action. Been in a firefight or two.” 

“How … how.” 

“We  have  a  man  out  there  keeping  tabs.  Your  son  is  doing  all right.” 

“And you’re asking me?” 

“I  like  to  keep  up  with  things.  We’re  still  not  convinced  this  girl isn’t  spying  for  Hitler.”  Hoover  finished  his  salmon  and  pushed  his plate away. 

Tolson had a bit to go and ate a little faster. 

Just  then,  the  man  in  the  striped  suit  reappeared.  He  laid  an envelope before Tolson and stepped back. 

Tolson scanned it. His eyebrows popped up. He leaned over and whispered to Hoover. 

Hoover  shook  his  head.  “No,  no.  Never.  And  tell  him  not  to  ask again.” 

“Yessir,”  mumbled  Tolson.  He  passed  the  envelope  back  to  the man in the striped suit with a head shake. Then he resumed eating as the man rushed off. 

Hoover turned directly to Kennedy and said, “I’d like to clear my mind  about  this,  Joseph.  Has  Jack  mentioned  anything  about  her recently?” 

“What was her name?” 

“Inga. Inga Arvad.” 

“Ah yes, the one he wanted to marry.” 

“That’s the one.” 

“I had a long talk with Jack about her well over a year ago. I told him, almost ordered him, to stop seeing her.” 

“Yes?” 

“And as far as I know, he has…” Kennedy turned to Hoover, the two now face to face. 

Hoover’s  eyes  became  a  bit  hooded.  “Although  your  son  is overseas, we believe he is still communicating with her.” 

“How do you know?” 

Hoover looked at Kennedy. 

Tolson coughed politely. 

Kennedy pitched a hand in the air and said, “Okay, okay. So what if they are corresponding or writing? They’re young kids with raging hormones. Let them have their fun.” 

“Not so young.” 

“No?” 

“No. She’s been around, Joseph.” 

“How so?” 

“She’s been married.” 

“What?” 

“Twice.  She  divorced  her  second  husband  last  …”  Hoover snapped his fingers. 

Tolson leaned over and muttered something. 

“Last  June  the  third.  In  Reno.  All  nice  and  legal.  And  she’s  four years senior to young John.” 

Kennedy sat back and expelled a blast of breath. 

Hoover  dabbed  his  mouth  with  his  napkin  and  stood.  Tolson stood right beside him. 

Kennedy looked up with baleful eyes. 

“You didn’t know?” 

“Not at all.” 

“We must be off. Thank you for seeing me, Joseph. We should do this again soon.” 

Kennedy half-stood and shook Hoover’s cold hand. Tolson’s too. 

They left and Kennedy sat heavily. 

The waiter stopped. “All done, sir?” 

He looked down. The steak was half-finished. 

Kennedy’s stomach turned flips. He’d met with Jack over a year ago  and  had  nearly  threatened  to  disown  him  if  he  continued  to pursue  this  girl.  He’d  thought  the  matter  was  over.  But  no,  Hoover hung on like a moray eel. And now look at all of them. 

Embarrassing.  And  now,  alcohol  began  to  swirl  in  his  brain.  He didn’t care. 

“Yes, I’m full. Could you please bring me another daiquiri?” 

“Of course, sir.” 
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8 June 1943

1591 Lexington Road

Beverly Hills, California

Inga  Arvad  and  Kick  Kennedy  kept  after  Tubby  during  his  leave. 

Along with lazy afternoon swims, they took him to dinner once more, this time to Chasen’s, also in Beverly Hills. 

Tubby spotted chili on the menu and he was in heaven. Chasen’s was famous for its chili, and Tubby had no regrets when a large bowl was placed before him while the girls were served Caesar salads. 

The  night  before  returning  to  the  South  Pacific,  Stephan  Köhler did Tubby the honor of entertaining him and his parents at a poolside barbecue.  Köhler  sent  his  1941  Packard  Custom  Super  Eight  to collect Tubby, Leonard, and Eleanor White and bring them to Beverly Hills. At first, the Whites were stiff and reserved. But Köhler loosened them  up  with  gin  and  tonics  for  the  men  and  chardonnay  for  the women. 

Stephan’s  wife,  Elsie,  was  feeling  much  better  and  appeared gracefully. With large blue eyes, an engaging Viennese accent, and swept-back  hair,  she  was  as  charming  as  her  husband,  putting  the Whites at ease. 

That’s when Kathleen Kennedy once again became Kick. Instead of chardonnay, she had gin and tonics and soon challenged Tubby to a game of pool in the cabaňa. While others splashed and giggled in the pool, Tubby just grinned as Kick ran the table twice and put him to shame. 

Later, she challenged Köhler to chess while he was meticulously tending his grill. In a not-too-subtle gesture of superiority, she chose black. Within six moves, Kick was on the offensive, chasing Köhler’s queen  around  the  board.  It  looked  as  if  she  was  going  to  do  the same  thing  to  Köhler  as  she  did  to  Tubby,  who  sat  close  and watched. But Tubby could see that Köhler was no fool. By ten moves he’d  taken  Kick’s  queen,  and  by  fourteen,  it  was  check-mate.  She knocked over her king gracefully and rose to collect her thoughts and self-esteem.  But  Köhler  grabbed  her  hand,  had  her  sit  back  down, and  very  patiently,  in  a  fine,  professorial  accent,  explained  to  Kick how  the  game  had  developed  and  how  she  had  exposed  her strategy  too  quickly.  Easy  to  counter,  he  said  softly.  With  Kick nodding, he explained how he did it. Finally, he drained his G&T and put his glass down with, “Life’s lessons, yes, Kathleen?” 

Her grin was lopsided as she stood, leaned over the board, and kissed Köhler on the forehead. “You bet, Uncle Stephan. Thank you.” 

It  was  a  beautiful  evening.  Stephan  finished  barbecuing  his chicken,  often  basting  it  while  telling  jokes  laced  with  European humor.  When  the  chicken  was  about  done,  he  laid  asparagus soaked in olive oil and garlic salt alongside the chicken. It turned out well, and in the warmth of the evening they dined by candlelight, still in bathing suits, at a beautifully laid table while a half-moon climbed overhead. 

Later,  after  dressing,  they  moved  into  the  living  room  where schnapps  were  served  and  Inga  sat  and  played  the  Köhlers’

beautiful Steinway concert grand. She was flawless and natural. Kick whispered to an amazed Tubby that Inga had once aspired to be a concert  pianist  and  worked  hard  at  it.  She’d  given  it  up  eight  years ago  after  becoming  immersed  in  journalism  and  meeting  all  those Nazis while still in Denmark. 

Inga moved from a lively piece to “Clair de Lune.” With one hand, Stephan  conducted,  his  eyelids  droopy  with  sleep.  Kick  dozed  off

and on, but Tubby, Leonard, Elsie, and Eleanor were enraptured. 

The  doorbell  chimed  from  deep  in  the  hall.  Stephan  waved  his other hand for someone to answer. 

Thirty  seconds  later,  a  woman  stood  in  the  doorway.  Not  bad, thought  Tubby.  She  was  tall,  high  cheekbones,  light  brown  hair pulled back into a ponytail, but with very light skin. No summer tan on  this  girl;  he  wondered  why.  And  now,  he  thought  he'd  seen  her before. Of course. Faith. Faith Cromwell, the naturalized Canadian. 

As  a  teenager,  she’d  joined  North  American,  starting  in  Leonard’s section. Now, he remembered, Faith Cromwell had become Leonard White’s secretary about a year ago. 

She  held  up  a  set  of  keys.  They  were  the  keys  to  the  1939

Chevrolet. Faith Cromwell had delivered it as asked. 

Just then, Inga finished “Clair de Lune.” The timing was perfect. 

Everybody  turned  to  see  Faith  Cromwell  standing  in  shadows.  But then, she stepped forward a bit. 

From  twenty  feet  away,  Tubby  did  a  double-take.  Jeez,  she’d changed. He remembered he hadn’t seen her in two or three years. 

She  must  have  been  all  of  twenty-one  or  twenty-two  now.  What  a difference. Amazing. 

She caught his eye. He raised his hand to wave. That’s when she pitched  the  keys  across  the  room.  A  perfect  throw.  Tubby  caught them. “Nice shot, Faith.” 

“Good to see you, Mr. White.” 

“It’s Tubby, Faith. Don’t you remember?” 

“Well,  yes.  But  you’ve  grown.  You  no  longer  look  tubby.  That uniform looks great. The Navy must be agreeing with you.” 

 If you only knew. 

She went on. “Very nice. No wonder your dad is so proud.” 

A fully awake Stephan rose and walked over to Faith. “Who, may I ask, is this lovely young lady?” 

Leonard  quickly  got  up  and  stood  beside  her.  “Right  on  time, Faith. You did well finding the place.” 

“Your directions were perfect, Mr. White.” 

“Good,  I’m  glad.”  He  turned  to  the  others.  “May  I  present  Faith Cromwell, who works for me at North American Aviation. Faith, this

is our host, Stephan Köhler, and his wife”—he gestured—“Elsie.” He finished introducing Kick and Inga. 

Stephan  took  her  hand  and  kissed  it  with  great  bravado.  “Can you  stay  for  some  schnapps,  my  dear?”  He  waved  at  Inga.  “The entertainment is out of this world.” 

Leonard  said,  “Afraid  we  must  go,  Stephan.  Big  meeting tomorrow morning at 7:30.” 

Tubby  thanked  his  lucky  stars  Leonard  hadn’t  launched  into farting jokes. He’d certainly had plenty of practice the other night in San Pedro with Landa and the Ingrams. 

“Ah, I’m so sorry,” said Stephan. 

Tubby  White  edged  beside  Faith  while  the  others  shook  hands. 

“You look great, Faith.” 

She turned dark. “You never wrote.” 

Tubby cursed inwardly. That was two, two and a half years ago. 

He’d  just  been  accepted  into  the  Navy  and  was  being  sent  off  to destroyers.  After  that,  he  got  lost  in  PT  school  in  Melville,  Rhode Island, and then the South Pacific. “I’m sorry. There was a lot going on with the Navy and all.” 

They were walking down the hall toward the front door. Stephan took Faith’s hand and was purring at her. She glanced at Tubby over her shoulder. 

Tubby mouthed, “I’ll write. What’s your address?” 

Outside, Stephan was still all over her. They gathered around the Chevrolet, with Leonard and Eleanor in front, and Faith in back. With Leonard’s early meeting tomorrow, it was impossible for his parents to  take  Tubby  to  Long  Beach.  So  he  was  staying  with  the  Köhlers tonight. Kick and Inga had volunteered to drive him down tomorrow in the Packard. 

With everyone crowded around, it was difficult for Tubby to stick his  head  in  the  window  to  kiss  his  mother  goodbye,  let  alone  say anything at all to Faith. 

Leonard cranked up the engine. Tubby reached toward the back seat for Faith’s hand. 

Leonard rasped, “Gotta go, son. Take care of yourself and sink a battleship for me.” 

They  had  barely  touched  when  Leonard  popped  the  clutch  and the Chevy disappeared into darkness. 
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9 June 1943

Allen Field, Long Beach Naval Shipyard

Long Beach, California

It  was  10:45  on  an  overcast  morning  when  the  midnight-blue Packard  eased  up  to  the  operations  office.  Tubby  White  had  been driving. A few curious eyes followed as he stepped out and opened the trunk, pulling out his B-4 bag. But all eyeballs quickly zeroed in on  Inga  and  Kick  when  they  got  out  and  stretched.  One  sailor,  a second  class  bosun’s  mate,  whistled,  but  then  took  in  a  dark  look from  Lieutenant  White  and  found  refuge  beneath  the  wing  of  a nearby TBF Avenger. 

Tubby walked into the operations office and up to the front desk and checked in with the OOD, a thin, red-faced lieutenant j.g. whose Bakelite  tag  announced  FREDERICKS.  But  he  wore  shiny  gold wings. “Help you, Lieutenant?” 

Tubby reached in his breast pocket and produced travel orders. 

“Checking in for transport out to Cactus. They told me this is the right place for these.” He tapped the document. 

The  young  j.g.  examined  the  documents  and  then  whistled. 

“Wow. Lieutenant. You have a golden ticket here.” 

Tubby gave a thin smile. 

“ID?” 

Tubby handed it over. 

With one hand, the j.g. swept the documents off the counter and walked to the back of the room. A hulking man sat at a large desk, hunched  over  a  pile  of  papers.  Tubby  could  see  the  man  was  a lieutenant commander, but that was all. It was so dark back there it was hard to see what else might be lurking in the gloom. 

The girls walked over. “We okay?” asked Kick. 

“Far as I know,” said Tubby. 

Inga  dropped  nickels  in  the  Coke  machine  and  walked  up  with three Cokes and handed them around. They all clinked and drank. 

In  the  back,  Tubby  heard  the  triumphant   crunch  of  a  rubber-stamping device. Soon, the j.g. walked back with, “Okay, Lieutenant. 

You’re all set. See that bus over there?” He pointed out the window. 

“I do.” 

“That’s your transport to the flight line. Leaves ASAP. Give this to the driver.” He ripped off a ticket stub and handed it over. His eyes wandered over to Inga and Kick. 

“Okay, thanks. What’s my transport?” 

“A  PBM.  You’re  checked  all  the  way  through  to  Noumea. 

Somebody up there is watching out for you.” He was looking at Inga. 

“Hello?” Tubby waved. “What happens after that?” 

The  kid  refocused  on  Tubby.  “In  Noumea,  check  into  the  ops office. They’ll put you on board something for Cactus.” 

“Maybe a sampan?” 

“Anything  is  possible.  Good  luck,  Lieutenant.”  He  offered  his hand and they shook while his eyes flicked back to Inga and Kick. 

They  walked  outside  with  Tubby  picking  up  his  B-4  bag.  He nodded  to  the  bus  with,  “Looks  like  this  is  where  I  get  shanghaied. 

Thanks  for  everything,  you  two.  You  really  made  it  so  nice  for  me. 

And my folks. Last night was super. I’ll be thinking of that for a long time.” 

“Tubby.”  Kick  wrapped  her  arms  around  him  and  held  on.  They swayed, she gave him a long, sloppy kiss on the cheek, and then let go. 

“Please give my best to the Köhlers,” he said. 

“Me,  too?”  Inga  stepped  in  with  another  big  hug.  “Remember what I said?” 

“How could I forget?” 

“About Jack?” 

“Oh that. Yes, I remember.” 

She gave him a look and then reached in her purse and brought out  a  bundle  of  envelopes.  It  looked  like  five  or  so.  She  held  them up, her brow knit. 

“Of course,” he said, kissing her on the forehead. He stuffed them in the inside pocket of his tunic. 

“There’s  an  envelope  for  you,  Tubby,”  said  Inga  in  a  throaty whisper. 

Kick stepped close and said, “This is so neat,” her nose wrinkled. 

“Huh?” 

Inga said, “Faith dropped this at the house this morning while you were in the shower.” She handed him a small envelope. “She was in a hurry to get to work. She couldn’t wait.” 

“Holy cow!” The envelope was simply addressed “Tubby” on the outside. 

A  voice  called  from  the  bus’s  open  door.  “Hey  Mac,  you  wanna ride or not?” 

“Hold on,” growled Tubby. 

The  driver,  a  gum-chewing,  middle-aged  civilian,  pointed  to  his watch.  “Suit  yourself,  Mac,  but  your  plane  shoves  off  in  twelve minutes.” 

Tubby threw his arms around both. “Gotta go, kids. Thanks again. 

You’re the greatest.” 

A  Jeep  screeched  to  a  halt  beside  them.  Someone  bellowed, 

“Get  in,  you  gold-brick.  Otherwise,  I’m  arresting  you  for  missing movement.” 

Tubby said, “I’ll be damned, where the hell did you come from?” 

It was a grinning Todd Ingram. “Been looking everywhere. I tried the BOQ. Hospitals, the brig, county jail. Everywhere. Finally, I got a hold of your mom this morning and she gave me the lowdown.” 

“Todd,  great  to  see  you.  I  should  have  got  back  to  you.”  He introduced Inga and Kick. He finished with, “And congratulations on that silver star Admiral Nimitz hung on you.” 

“Silver star? Wow,” said Inga. “Maybe I should interview you.” 

“That’s right, Commander. Congratulations. We’d love to hear all about it,” said Kick. 

Ingram  said,  “Thanks,  but…”  He  glanced  toward  Tubby  with  a

“what’s this” look. 

Tubby  said,  “Take  her  seriously,  Todd.  She’s  with  the  North American Newspaper Alliance out here interviewing people.” 

“I don’t know,” said Ingram. 

“She’ll make you famous,” said Tubby. “You got a card? Give her a card.” 

Ingram  pulled  out  a  wallet  and  handed  over  a  dog-eared  card. 

“Best  I  can  do.  Also,  anything  you  may  want  to  discuss  has  to  be cleared with the Commander of the Eleventh Naval District.” 

Inga drew a broad smile. “Don’t worry, Commander. I’ve done this before. And thank you.” 

Tubby  grinned.  “Not  to  worry,  Todd.  She’s  already  interviewed Hitler and Göring. You’re small potatoes.” 

“What?” gasped Ingram. 

Kick said, “It’s not like that, Commander. She just—” 

“Please, Commander. Let me call. I’ll explain,” Inga said. 

Tubby  said,  “Seriously,  Todd.  It’s  on  the  up  and  up.  She’s damned good at what she does. You’ll be famous. Best part is that it’ll piss off Jerry Landa.” 

Ingram  tucked  his  wallet  away  and  waved  his  hands  in resignation.  Tubby  White  was  being  Tubby  White.  He  lived  on controversy.  Play  along.  “Okay.”  He  looked  Inga  and  Kick  up  and down  and  grinned.  “Anyway,  I  can  see  why  you  didn’t  get  back  to me.” 

The bus driver blasted his air horn. “Gotta go, Mac. Nice meeting you.” 

“Hold on,” Ingram yelled. “I’m taking him out. Where’s the plane?” 

The  driver  sliced  a  hand  toward  the  bay.  “Straight  out.  Big  fat PBM on the seaplane ramp. You can see her twin tails from here.” 

They spotted the plane about a half mile away. A big puff of blue smoke blasted from under the starboard engine. “Jeez,” Tubby said. 

“Looks like they’re starting up.” 

“Adios,  Mac.”  The  bus  driver  pulled  the  doors  shut.  Air  brakes hissed and the bus lumbered for the seaplane ramp. 

Ingram  jumped  in.  “We  gotta  scoot,  Tubby.  Nice  talking  to  you, Inga. I’ll think about it.” 

“Thank you.” 

Throwing  in  his  B-4  bag,  Tubby  jumped  in  beside  Ingram.  The women threw kisses. Tubby threw them back and they were off. 

Ingram  shifted  through  the  gears  and  quickly  passed  the  bus. 

“How in blazes did you end up with that snake pit?” 

“No. They’re wonderful ladies. Spent much of my time there.” 

“How’d you meet them?” 

“Through Jack Kennedy.” 

“Whoosat?” 

“That’s  right.  You  were  sort  of  woozy  after  our  trip  back  from Mondo.  You  probably  don’t  remember  meeting  him.  He’s  a replacement  skipper.  A  damned  good  one  too.  Comes  from  a  big family.” 

Ingram  snapped  his  fingers.  “Kennedy.  Kennedy.  Is  this  the  son of  Joe  Kennedy,  the  former  U.S.  Ambassador  to  the  United Kingdom?” 

“I think that’s right.” 

“Wow! Handle him with kid gloves.” 

“I don’t think so. He’s got a boat—the 109. He’s a good skipper. 

His  crew  loves  him.  I’ve  been  in  a  couple  of  firefights  with  him.  He can  hold  his  own,  I’ll  tell  you.  Anyway,  the  girls  are  in  the  same business  and  are  close  friends.  Kick,  the  brunette,  is  Kennedy’s younger sister. Inga is Kennedy’s squeeze.” 

“Wow. He did okay with Inga.” 

“Which  reminds  me.  How  are  you  and  Boom  Boom  coming along?” 

“Looking  pretty  good.  My  ship’s  coming  together  pretty  good. 

Should  get  back  to  her  in  a  couple  of  months.  Right  now,  I’m  just helping  Jerry  form  his  squadron.  Get  the  ships  and  personnel together. And that’s why I stopped by this morning.” 

“Glad you did.” 

“I wanted to say I’m firing you. I got another exec.” 

Relief  swept  over  Tubby.  With  all  the  afternoon  swimming,  he’d forgotten about Ingram’s offer. 

They pulled up under the PBM’s port wing. She was poised at the top of the ramp, ready to roll down and splash into the harbor. The PBM  had  looked  fat  and  dumpy  from  a  distance,  but  up  close,  the gull-winged seaplane appeared swift and powerful. 

The second engine, the one on the portside, turned over. Flame belched from her exhaust stacks, and it caught with a blast of blue smoke as oil cleared her fourteen cylinders. Soon both of her Wright R-2600 engines idled softly. 

Tubby jumped out of the Jeep, grabbed his B-4 bag, and called over the engine’s clatter, “I’m sorry. I handled that poorly.” 

Ingram stuck out his hand; they shook. “Don’t worry. We’re good.” 

“Who’d you get?” 

“Hank  Kelly.  The  damn  fool  balked  at  a  shore  assignment. 

Wanted back into tin cans. Can you believe it?” Hank Kelly had been the  chief  engineering  officer  on  the   Howell,  their  previous  ship  that had been grounded and then blown up off of Mondo Mondo Island. 

“He’s  a  good  man.  You  can’t  do  better.  Thanks  for  chasing  me down, Todd. And thanks for the ride. Hope to see you soon.” 

“So  long,  Tubby.  Keep  your  powder  dry.”  Ingram  dropped  the Jeep into gear, did a U-turn, and headed back toward the operations building. 

Tubby  walked  to  a  fuselage  door.  It  was  ten  feet  above  the cement tarmac and a light aluminum ladder was secured beneath. A white hat stood off to one side holding a clipboard. “Name, sir?” 

“White,  Eldon  P.,  Lieutenant.  Is  this  the  plane  for  Noumea?”  He handed over a copy of his orders. 

The  white  hat  drew  a  line  through  a  list  on  his  clipboard.  He nodded. “That’s right, Lieutenant.” He helped Tubby lift the B-4 bag and  pitch  it  up  through  the  door.  “Take  any  seat  back  there.  Only three of you on this leg. We pick up another three in Pearl. But for now,  you  can  park  your  stuff  on  the  adjoining  seat.”  Tubby  looked back.  Just  two  officers  had  jumped  off  the  bus,  both  lieutenant commanders. 

“Nice. Thanks, Sailor.” 

“Yes, sir. Coffee will be up right after takeoff.” He began checking in the other two men. 

Tubby  climbed  the  ladder  and  descended  into  the  PBM,  which seemed cavernous. He walked aft and found a pleasantly appointed passenger compartment. 

He tossed his hat and coat on the adjoining seat, buckled in, and watched as the seaplane was unleashed from its moorings. Soon, it rolled  down  the  ramp  and  splashed  into  Long  Beach  harbor.  It bobbed up and down for a moment as the pilot cycled the engines and  swimmers  unhooked  the  portable  beaching  gear.  Then  Tubby realized  they  were  into  their  takeoff  run,  the  mighty  R-2600s delivering full power. 

Something about the strain of the two engines reminded Tubby of his Packards on the PT 72. And then his mind jumped to—

Faith. Holy cow. 

He  reached  for  his  tunic  and  found  the  envelope.  It  was  small, monarch-sized with ivory stationery. He opened it. 

There was a card written in green ink:

 Good seeing you, Tubby

 2761 Second Street

 Santa Monica, California

 Ex 3 1575

 Faith
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PT 72

Boat Yard, Calvertville, Sesapi Harbor

Tulagi, Solomon Islands

The  PBM  flight  was  smooth  except  for  a  storm  they  hit  north  of Funafuti. Besides that, the plane droned and droned and droned to boredom  over  the  Pacific.  The  two  lieutenant  commanders  were equally  bored,  and  they  started  a  poker  game  with  the  crew  chief joining in. Tubby came over, making a fourth. Members of the flight crew drifted in and out, mostly the co-pilot, but usually it was just the four of them. 

By  the  time  they  got  to  Noumea,  the  lieutenant  commanders were the last ones standing. Just before landing, Tubby had run out of  money,  and  the  victorious  crew  chief  marched  off  with  nearly $1,300 in cash and a smile on his face. 

“Cheap  entertainment,”  groused  one  of  the  commanders,  a redheaded gunnery officer off the  Helena. Tubby, a terrible gambler, thanked his lucky stars he had only $200 in his wallet. The other two guys were hurting and looked it. 

In the Noumea operations office, he learned a PBY was taking off for Cactus and Ringbolt (Tulagi) almost immediately. 

An  out-of-breath  Tubby  barely  got  to  the  ramp  in  time,  and squeezed himself and his bag among cartons and crates of medical supplies. 

But  his  muscles  were  so  tired  by  the  time  the  PBY  crunched down  into  Tulagi  Harbor,  he  could  hardly  move.  Truly,  he  had  to consciously  command  his  legs  to  move  when  he  tried  to  exit  the plane,  or  the  shore  boat,  or  even  the  bouncing  truck  that  took  him across the island to Sesapi Harbor. 

He  found  his  tent  and  rack  undisturbed.  It  took  another  twenty minutes  to  sort  out  his  gear  and  make  sure  that  no  scorpions  or cockroaches or snakes had taken residence amongst his bedding in his absence. His head hit the pillow at 11:30 p.m. and the next thing he knew, it was 9:40 the following morning. 

Bliss. 

No engines droning, no bouncing around. No men grousing and bitching in the next aisle. He’d slept like a baby. 

He  awakened.  What?  A  strange  sound.  He  sat  up.  Nothing.  In addition to the lack of droning, there was no sound. He got up and looked  out.  Nobody  working.  No  noise,  no  hammering,  no  cursing. 

No … nothing. Place was a ghost town. 

Just  two  boats  were  moored  at  the  pier.  Both  rode  cleanly  on their lines. The boatyard boys had scraped the bottoms, sanded and repainted  them  with  a  new,  top-secret,  copper-based  paint  that supposedly  would  last  for  six  months  And  now,  the  black  bottom paint glistened with no signs of disease-ridden bottom growth. Tubby squinted: one was PT 109 now in dark measure 12 camouflage, the other—yes,  PT  72,  Little  Lulu,  also  in  dark  gray  measure  12

camouflage. The boats were moored port side, nose to tail, to PT 72

just forward, men swarming on their topsides and the dock. 

Hungry. 

He  put  on  shorts,  boots,  a  sleeveless  shirt  and  walked  down  to the mess tent. After a solid breakfast of pancakes, eggs, and bacon, he walked to the dock. 

He drew alongside the 109. A head popped from the chart room hatch. 

It was a grinning Kennedy. “Deep shit. Trouble is back in town.” 

He spread his arms wide and gave an eye roll. “Hey, everybody, take a look at this. It’s now Lieutenant White. Or should we address you as Your Majesty?” 

“Knock it off. And that’s my first official order.” Tubby walked over. 

“Hello,  Jack.  Wow.  The  109  almost  looks  like  a  real  PT  boat.  And check  this.”  He  waved  at  the  foredeck.  “Something  completely unauthorized. A nice, big, juicy 37-millimeter antitank gun. Where in the hell did that come from?” 

Kennedy  put  a  forefinger  over  his  lips.  “Shhh.  BuOrd  doesn’t know about that.” 

“Your  secret  is  safe  with  me.  But  look  at  all  this.  New  paint  job. 

New bottom job. New engines. You guys are hot stuff.” 

“Beat your dead ass, flat out.” 

“We’ll see about that.” 

Kennedy asked sotto voce, “You find out anything?” 

“Okay.”  Tubby  reached  under  his  shirt  and  pulled  out  a  bundle. 

“The latest from Inga Binga.” He tossed it. 

Kennedy caught it with one hand. “Thanks.” 

“All part of the service,” said Tubby. 

“Hey.  Wait.  You  said  Inga  Binga.  You  mean  she’s  on  the  West Coast?” 

“With  your  sister.  And  I  gotta  tell  you,  Jack.  They  showed  me  a great time. Really neat girls. Thanks for the introduction.” 

“I didn’t expect that.” 

“Neither did I. And wow.” 

“You saw her?” 

“Well…yes. First, I met Kick. And then Inga.” 

“She was there?” Disbelief in his voice. 

“Better yet, she kissed me and said, ‘That’s for Jack.’” 

Kennedy looked at him, unfocused. 

“I’m not going to kiss you, you dammed fool.” 

“How … how is she?” 

“Your sister or Inga Binga?” 

“You’re screwing with me, Tubby.” 

“Inga  is  a  beautiful,  highly  intelligent,  and  cosmopolitan  woman. 

You’re lucky to

have her.” 

“Inga Binga. That’s what I call her.” 

“Well,  it  must  have  caught  on  because  that’s  what  everybody calls her.” 

“And Kick?” 

“The  greatest,  Jack.  They  were  so  nice.  They  showed  me  the town. And Mr. and Mrs. Köhler had me and my folks for a barbecue my last night. That’s when your sister beat the crap out of me in pool. 

Ran the table. Twice. And laughed at me.” 

“That’s Kick.” 

Tubby looked around. “Where is everybody?” 

“Well,  it’s  just  you  and  me.  We  have  the  last  boats  remaining. 

Both  of  us  finishing  repairs.  At  least  mine  is.  Yours  might  still  be  a piece of shit, for all I know. You should go and find out.” 

“I intend to. What else?” 

“We’re moving out. Right now. Best you go check your boat and then get your gear. Al has moved us all over to Mbanika.” 

“I haven’t even talked to him yet.” 

“Good luck finding him. I think he’s over there now. He told me to tell you that we should shove off no later than 1600 for Mbanika with all our gear. We’re not coming back here. Looks like they’ll have us up for barge patrol. You know, shooting Japs in the water.” 

Tubby didn’t like the thought of that. And by looking at Jack and hearing the tone of his voice, he knew he didn’t either. 

Kennedy shrugged. “They’ve done worse.” 

“Time to check on  Lulu.” 

“Good luck. She looks pretty fine.” 

Fuller stood waiting on the 72’s fantail, his hands jammed on his hips. “Welcome back, Skipper.” He reached over. “Wow.” Fuller bent close  with  exaggerated  examination  of  Tubby’s  new  collar  devices. 

“Look  at  those  peachy-keen  railroad  tracks.  So  it’s  Lieutenant Skipper. Congratulations.” They shook. 

Somehow, the rest of the crew figured out what was going on and jumped off to crowd around Tubby. They shook all around with jeers about bringing the clap back from Australia. 

Finally, they calmed and went back to work. Tubby clambered on the main  deck  as  Fuller  continued,  “Starboard  engine  turned  into  a

nightmare, so Al got a new one for us.” 

“Amazing.” 

They crawled into the engine room, all freshly painted. “Then we tore down the center engine and it was just as bad. So Al got us two new engines.” 

“Things are looking up.” They scrambled topside. 

“Remember that SHIPALT you posted about the torpedo tubes?” 

“It went through.” Winston waved to where the number one and two torpedo tubes were. It was easy to see the torpedoes were gone as well as the launching tubes. “How about that?” 

“So we’re about 5,000 pounds lighter.” 

“They didn’t put up a fight.” 

“Except to put a new 40-millimeter on the foredeck,” said Tubby. 

“Oh, you noticed,” said Winston. 

“How could I not?” Tubby would have to get used to it, he knew. It partially  blocked  his  view  dead  ahead  from  the  pilot  house.  With three men attending the mount, probably more when trained around. 

“Well yeah, you know what that means.” 

“We’re going after Jap barges.” 

“That’s my take.” 

“I think you’re right. What else?” 

“Four new .50-caliber machine guns complete with armor splinter shields. Two to a side and the men to go with them.” 

“Jeez. Al has been busy.” Tubby looked around. “So, where are the men?” 

“I  sent  them  ashore  to  scrounge  up  more  ammo.  We  got  short-changed, especially in .50-caliber,” said Winston. 

“Okay. How’s the chart room?” 

“Like  the  Green  Hornet’s  secret  chamber.  See  that?”  Winston pointed. 

Tubby said, “I noticed. Some sort of new radar antenna?” 

“Exactly.” Winston puffed out his chest. “We scrounged an Army S band radar.” 

“Nice. What the hell is that?” 

“Actually,  it’s  a  Raytheon  SO-3  radar.  But  confidentially”—Fuller lowered  his  voice—“it  …  uh  …  was  intended  for  the  126  boat  in squadron 23, but … we …uh…” 

“Okay.  I  get  it.  But  what  happened  to  the  517  able?”  The Westinghouse SCR 517 A was the model currently used in PT boats. 

“This SO-3 apparently is the hottest thing. Far better than the 517

able. The Japs did us a favor blowing it up.” 

Wilcox,  Ocello,  and  Brunner  stuck  their  necks  out.  “It  was  just sitting there. Over on the Tulagi pier. I mean nobody was watching.” 

“Yeah, yeah.” Tubby walked in the cockpit. But something looked different.  The  pilot  house  exterior  bulkhead.  It  looked  thicker.  He rapped it with his fist. Solid. Thick. 

“Armor,”  said  Winston.  “It’s  class  C  armor,  actually,  for  the  pilot house  and  the  twin  50-caliber  mounts.  And  then  it’s  for  splinter shields for the 40-millimeters.” 

“Wow. You guys have been busy.” 

“We’re trying.” 

They stepped down into the chart room. It all looked brand new. 

Gone  were  the  signs  of  the  round  that  had  ripped  through  and almost killed Kennedy. Freshly painted, it smelled good. And the new radar repeater was mounted over the chart table. “Wow. Fawn-cee,” 

said  Tubby.  “And  this  is  your  midnight  auto  supply  Raytheon  …  a what?” 

“Raytheon SO-3, courtesy of the U.S. Army Air Corps. They use them on airplanes.” 

Tubby reached over and, with a whistle, patted the dark gray box over the chart table. “Where do you put the nickels and dimes?” 

“We use slugs.” 

“Have you lit it off?” 

“Works great. But just right here. We really won’t find out until we get out there. But, thanks to Al, we have a new radarman on board to run the damned thing.” 

“Who?” 

“Ken Torres, a second class radarman.” 

Tubby  scratched  his  head.  “You  have  the  service  jackets  for  all the new men?” 

“On your bunk.” 

“Looks like you’re out of a job.” 

“Apparently so.” 

“We can always use help scrubbing bilges.” 

Fuller gave an eye roll. 

Tubby recognized the coffee maker on an adjoining bulkhead. It was the same one, now all shiny. But something new was beside it, also shiny. 

“What the hell is that?” 

“Shhh. Top-secret.” 

“What are you talking about?” 

“Well, it was sort of dinged up.” 

“I can see that.” 

“Came  off  a  light  cruiser.  Her  bow  was  damned  near  blown  off. 

They had her in dry dock and sawed off the rest of the bow so they could make her watertight for the trip home. So, the junked bow was just lying on the pier waiting for the welders to cut up. Tons of guys crawling around grabbing anything in sight. Well, that was the same night Wilcox, Ocello, and Brunner were out scrounging up the radar. 

They stumbled onto the little party, and they found this.” 

“And it is?” 

Fuller  looked  from  side  to  side  and  whispered,  “Shhh.  Top-secret.” 

“Come on.” 

“Popcorn machine.” 
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Mbanika Wharf, Mbanika Island

Russell Islands, Solomon Group

“Who’s got a cigarette?” demanded Cluster. 

They  knew  the  answer.  Nobody  in  the  tent  smoked  except  Earl Boemke, the thin redheaded skipper of PT 111. 

With a sigh, Boemke pulled a pack of Lucky Strikes from his top pocket, shook out a cigarette, and held out the pack. 

“Thanks, Earl,” said Cluster, patting his pockets. 

Watson,  a  first-class  signalman,  stood  and  walked  over  to  the squadron commander, pulled out a Zippo, and thumbed the wheel. 

A  large  flame  jumped  out.  “Jeeez,”  screeched  Cluster.  He stepped back, waited a moment, then bent over the diminished flame to take his drags. He looked up. “Nice lighter. Do you drink that stuff too?” 

Watson was used to it, for he grinned with, “You’re welcome, sir.” 

He walked back to his slide projector and sat. Looking on, the eight officers  of  Squadron  Two  swiped  and  batted  at  mosquitos  while fanning themselves against oppressive heat. 

Upon  mooring,  a  bowser  had  pulled  onto  the  docks  and  begun fueling the PTs. It was twilight, and Tubby and Jack barely had time to run ashore and stow their gear before evening chow. That’s when they received word that Al had called a skippers’ meeting. Gathered were the skippers and execs of PT 72, PT 88, PT 94, PT 109, and PT 111. They were in a tent all right, but the sides were rolled up, the circulation barely tolerable with the bugs getting in and coming after them. 

Silence. 

Someone took a bite of an apple. 

It was Jo Jo Kelly, exec of PT 111, seated beside a red-faced Earl Boemke. Cluster stared at Kelly, letting the silence work its magic. At length, Boemke turned to stare at his exec. Kelly put the apple down. 

Al took a drag and said, “Welcome to the newest tourist attraction of World War II. I want to brief you on a couple of things. Then we’re going  out  to  play  tonight.  While  I’m  on  the  subject,  can  we  all  get underway this evening?” He spread his hands. 

They  exchanged  glances.  Nobody  responded.  Cluster  said,  “No nays... I assume we vote ‘aye.’’’

They groaned. 

“So nice of you all to be so cooperative.” A pause, then, “Here’s the  deal:  Halsey  and  MacArthur  feel  it’s  time  to  take  the  Solomons back. That means island jumping and that means you guys have to get  out  there  and  earn  your  pay.  We  start  in  a  few  days,  maybe  a week, no later than the 21st. They want to begin with New Georgia. 

To start, they’re going to do a preliminary feint on the Southern tip. 

Watson?” 

The signalman flipped his switches and the slide projector leaped into life. 

“Kill the lights, will you, Earl?” 

“Yessir.”  Boemke  stood  and  walked  to  the  portable  lights  and switched them off. 

Cluster  picked  up  his  pointer  and  rose  to  his  full  height.  “Next week  we  begin  here,  at  Segi,”  he  said.  His  pointer  whacked  the screen.  “On  the  southern  tip  of  New  Georgia.  Marines.  Two companies.” 

“That’s not a Jap stronghold?” asked Tommy Madison, skipper of PT 88. 

“Intelligence  tells  us  it’s  lightly  held;  a  garrison  of  maybe  100

people.” 

Madison groaned. 

“I’m with you, Tommy. Let’s hope they’re right,” said Cluster. He continued,  “Okay,  on  the  30th,  we  see  the  main  event.  Forces  are gathering  to  take—”  His  pointer  slapped  the  chart  each  time  he called  a  location:  Viru  Harbor,  Wickham  Anchorage  on  Vangunu Island,  and  finally  Rendova  Harbor,  on  the  north  side  of  Rendova Island. 

Winston Fuller whistled. 

“You’re right, Sir Winston, that’s a lot of real estate. And it’s up to us  to  neutralize  Jap  barge  traffic  so  we  can  achieve  those objectives.” 

“How in blazes do we do that?” asked Winston. 

“Simple. We kick ass. Everybody and anybody along the shore. 

Kick barge ass. Sink the little bastards and keep ’em from assisting in the defense of these garrisons.” 

“Barges, a big deal now?” asked Bollinger. 

“The  only  deal  for  now,”  said  Cluster.  “G-2  tells  us  Japs  are getting too many bloody noses from our reinvigorated surface forces. 

They’re  hanging  back.  Making  repairs  and  looking  for  more  ships. 

On the defensive right now. That means we have them on the ropes and it’s time to kick the daylights out of them.” 

“Never give a sucker an even break,” said Bollinger. 

Cluster said, “Amen.” 

“So, for the next couple of nights, I want the five of us to sweep from  Segi  up  to  Viru  Harbor.  We’ll  divide  it  into  five  equal components and go out and play ball.” 

Ensign  Ralph  Thomas,  a  Princeton  graduate  and  exec  from  PT

94, shook his head. 

“What is it, Ralph?” asked Cluster. 

“Doesn’t matter…” 

“Come  on,  Ralph.  You’re  among  friends.  Unless…”  Cluster looked up. “Anybody here working for the Japs?” He looked around. 

“No? Okay then. Come on, Ralph, we all want to know.” 

Smirks and guffaws ranged around the room. 

“Anybody?” Cluster pressed. He stepped before Thomas. “What is it, Ralph?” 

Ensign  Thomas  looked  up.  “It’s  this  place.  These  godforsaken islands. Why in the hell are we here?” 

“Because we don’t want the Japs taking Australia. That’s a major staging  area  for  us.  We  need  it  badly.  So  do  the  Australians.  They live there.” 

“There’s more to it than that.” 

“Suppose you tell me. I’m just a Naval Academy graduate. They teach  naval  engineering  and  ship  handling  there.  Flight  school  if you’re stupid enough.” 

“Well  yeah.  But  look  around  you.  These  hundreds  of  islands  all around us. And the Japs cling to them.” 

A lengthy silence followed. Cluster said, “Maybe we’ll figure it out along the way, Ralph. I’ll make a note to call Bull Halsey and—” 

“Soap!” declared Kennedy. 

“Huh?” said Cluster. 

All eyes shifted to Kennedy. 

He  stood.  “Not  just  soap.  It’s  medicine,  and  perfume,  and  food, and food confectionaries.” 

“Guy’s full of shit,” muttered Boemke. 

Cluster walked over to Boemke and held out his hand. “Please, Earl. Just one more?” 

While  Boemke  produced  his  pack  of  Lucky  Strikes,  Kennedy continued with, “Actually, it’s Lever Brothers,” he said. “Anybody hear of Lifebuoy soap?” 

Boemke  grinned.  “My  mom  loved  washing  my  mouth  out  with Lifebuoy soap each time I said ‘shit.’ Somehow, that didn’t bother me that  much  and  I  kept  doing  that.  But  then  one  day,  I  brought  fuck home from school. My dad took me out back and beat the shit out of me.  He  sent  me  back  inside  the  house  with  a  bar  of  Lifebuoy jammed  between  my  teeth.  That’s  when  I  learned  all  about  Lever Brothers and Lifebuoy soap.” 

Watson  flipped  out  his  lighter.  Cluster  puffed  and  exhaled  an enormous cloud. 

Kennedy  looked  out  the  tent  flap,  his  eyes  a  bit  unfocused.  He continued,  “That’s  the  general  idea,  Earl.  The  two  Lever  Brothers founded  a  soap  company  in  Britain,  and  it  flourished.  For  decades they  made  soaps  and  all  sorts  of  knockoffs.  But  to  expand  their company,  they  bought  up  all  sorts  of  land  in  Southeast  Asia  and created these plantations. We’re standing in a major portion now. All these  islands  in  the  Solomon  chain,  especially  the  Southern Solomons,  have  enormous  plantations  where  they  grow  coconuts and extract copra.” 

Tubby looked up to Jack, who stood straight and tall, both hands grasping  the  back  of  a  chair  before  him.  His  voice  was  crisp  and clear,  his  delivery  clipped.  Jeeez,  he  looked  like  a  politician.  That was  what  the  girls  told  Tubby,  and  they  were  right.  Jack  lived  in Britain  when  his  dad  was  ambassador  there.  An  inquisitive,  young, Harvard-attending  man  would  have  learned  about  Lever  Brothers, now  Unilever,  and  all  sorts  of  things.  In  fact,  Jack  had  written  the bestselling non-fiction  Why England Slept in 1940 based on a paper he’d presented for his graduation thesis. If it weren’t for this damned war, he’d be running for office right now. 

Kennedy  waved.  “Yes,  we’re  here  on  Mbanika  Island.  On  the western side. But Yandina is on the eastern side of this island. They have a big processing plant there to send their copra-based products into world markets.” 

Quite reigned. They stared. Jo Jo Kelly’s mouth hung open. 

Kennedy said, “Sorry, I got carried away.” 

Cluster said, “Okay, Jackie. You may sit now.” 

Kennedy sat. 

Cluster said softly, “Another feather in the cap of the Greater East Asia  Co-Prosperity  Sphere.”  He  spoke  of  the  Japanese  one-line mantra for world domination. 

Kennedy  nodded.  “For  sure.  Like  with  all  the  territories  they’ve conquered,  no  doubt  they’ve  stripped  and  sent  off  most  of  the Yandina  plant  back  to  Nippon.  After  the  war,  Unilever  will  have  to start again, but they are well-capitalized. They’ll make it.” 

Cluster said, “Shaftie, you running for office?” 

“Nossir. Just trying to make your point.” 

“And that is?” 

“Those who dare to fail miserably can achieve greatly.” 

“Jeez, where the hell did you come up with that? You sure you’re not running for office?” 

“Nossir. Not at this time. Just trying to help.” 

“Thank you.” 

Kennedy flashed a grin. 

“And thanks for the cigarette, Earl.” 

“Anytime, boss,” said Boemke. 

“Now, for tonight’s assignments.” 
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They got underway, the five of them, an hour after sunset. Al Cluster sent Tubby White and his 72 boat to Segi, at the southern tip of New Georgia.  There,  they  were  to  sniff  around  the  area  where  the Marines expected to land two companies on the 21st. With that, the 72 boat was expected to report back. Tommy Madison was assigned to take his PT 88 up to Viru Harbor, the northernmost section of their patrol area, about halfway up the southern coast of New Georgia. In between,  the  uninhabited  coastline  of  mangroves  was  equally  split between PT 109, PT 111, and PT 94. In support, the Army Air Force pitched  in  and  loaned  two  B-25s  to  patrol  the  sector  for  Rufe intruders. 

Cluster chose to ride with John Kennedy in PT 109, presumably because Al wanted to make sure things went well on Kennedy’s first wartime patrol in command. 

 Little Lulu had the shortest leg, about ninety miles from Mbanika. 

Weather  reports  said  the  wind  was  up  to  about  12  to  15  knots.  So

they  agreed  they  could  afford  to  travel  at  thirty-five  knots  en  route and back, about three hours’ travel time each way. 

But  once  out  to  sea,  Tubby  White  pegged   Little  Lulu  at  thirty knots as they surged through ground swells. There were hardly any whitecaps. Fortunately, it was a moonless night, so their wake didn’t stand out as much. 

Winston Fuller asked, “Why so slow?” 

“Getting old, I guess,” said Tubby. In the dark, their inflated lifejacketed silhouettes made them appear ridiculously overweight. Both had  model  1911  .45-caliber  pistols,  cocked  and  locked,  ready  for use, holstered on their hips on web belts. 

“Come again?” asked Sir Winston. 

Tubby  waved  at  the  ocean.  “This  certainly  isn’t  the  predicted twelve to fifteen wind speed. Right?” 

“Uh-huh.” 

“It’s no more than ten, if that. So I’d like to live just a little while longer  including  suiting  up.”  He  pointed  to  the  top  of  his  head  and donned his helmet. “Time for everybody to wake up.” 

“Yessir,” said Winston, putting on his helmet. “No argument from me.” 

Winston  keyed  his  sound-powered  telephone  mic.  “All  stations, we’re  going  in.  Look  alive.  Be  ready  for  anything.  Smoking  lamp  is out.” 

Fifteen  minutes  later,  they’d  entered  Nono  Bay,  a  large,  reef-saturated  body  of  water  bordered  by  Vangunu  Island  to  starboard and  the  string  of  Hele  Islands  to  port.  The  bay  was  about  twelve miles  deep  with  Segi,  their  objective,  at  the  end.  Tubby  throttled down to ten knots and posted a bow lookout to watch for reefs. He then  coaxed   Little  Lulu  to  within  three  hundred  yards  of  Vangunu Island. They began a binocular sweep, Winston Fuller to port, Tubby to starboard. 

Tubby examined what he could of Vangunu’s mangrove trees and said, “Nothing here, Winnie. How ’bout you?” 

“Zero.” 

“You sure?” 

“Well,  I  lied,”  said  Winston.  “I  didn’t  mention  the  monkeys  and snakes. Otherwise, it’s zero.” 

“Me too.” Tubby leaned down to the chart room hatch. Except for a red light illuminating the chart, it was darkened as well. 

Wearing  nighttime  red-lens  goggles,  Wilcox  and  Torres  leaned over the table, peering up into the radar scope. 

“Anything, you guys?” 

“No, sir,” reported Torres. 

“Radar working okay?” 

“Pretty good so far, Skipper,” he said. “Course still looks good for Segi; about seven miles to go.” 

“Boats? Barges? Honkey-tonks? Liquor stores? Girls? Anything?” 

“Slushy  return,  Skipper,”  said  Torres.  “Nothing  really  solid  that would indicate barge traffic. We’ll have to get closer to find the girls.” 

Tubby grinned. Torres was going to be okay. 

“Very well. Ralph. Need you topside to steer.” 

“On  my  way.”  Wilcox  pulled  off  his  goggles,  tightened  his  life jacket straps, and whipped on a helmet. 

Minutes  later,  with  Wilcox  steering,  Tubby  shut  down  the  two outboard  engines,  put  the  center  engine  on  low  idle,  and  engaged the muffler. Quiet reigned. One could barely hear the center Packard engine as Tubby and Winston scanned port and starboard. 

Nothing but damp heat pressing in, the occasional jungle shriek, and  the  ever-present  aroma  of  decaying  marine  life  and  living flowers. And the moonless sky with its billions of tiny sentinels yelling at them overhead. 

They stood two hundred yards off the shore to starboard. To port, it looked the same. The end was drawing near. 

Tubby  took  off  his  helmet  and  scratched  his  head.  “No gatekeeper?” 

Winston scanned his sector with his binoculars. “Doesn’t look like it.” 

“Who’s minding the store?” said Tubby. 

“Whoa,”  Torres  called  from  below.  “Recommend  U-turn  to  port, now.” 

“Do it, Ralph,” said Tubby. 

Wilcox needed no further urging and spun the wheel. At such a low speed, the twin rudders were sluggish and took a while digging in.  Finally,  the  72  boat  began  swinging  to  port.  But  even  with  full

rudder,  the  stern  seemed  to  take  forever  to  transfer  around.  And none too soon. At the bottom of the U, a dock suddenly appeared, roughly parallel to their course. Palm trees rose in silhouette behind it. 

“Holy cow,” exclaimed Tubby. He leaned over and hit the buzzers to  start  the  two  outboard  engines .  Little  Lulu’s  forward  progress caused  her  starboard  side  to  slide  into  the  dock  with  a  mighty crunch. 

A man was on the dock lying among crates. He struggled to his feet. He seemed bewildered as he rose; he’d been asleep. A guard, they  couldn’t  see  his  face  except  in  silhouette,  his  mouth  open  in astonishment. He had a rifle, an Arisaka. He grappled with it trying to raise it, screaming at the same time. They heard the bolt click home. 

The two engines caught with an unmuffled roar. Tubby engaged the  engines  and  hit  the  throttles .  Little  Lulu  surged  along,  her starboard  side  ripping  cleats  and  chunks  from  the  ancient  wooden dock  as  Wilcox  worked  the  wheel  back  and  forth,  getting  the  stern free. 

The  sentry  on  the  dock  fired  a  round.  It  clanged  off  the  pilot house armor. He worked the rifle bolt to chamber the next round. 

Raising the flap, Tubby yanked his .45 from his holster, thumbed off the safety, and began shooting. The sentry raised his Arisaka to fire again. Tubby’s third round hit the man and spun him around. He fell to the dock, screaming, holding his shoulder. 

By  this  time,  PT  72’s  screws  had  taken  hold.  Wilcox  had  her headed  fair.  She  quickly  gained  headway  and  faded  into  the  night, her engines thundering. 
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They  ran  at  full  speed  through  Nono  Bay  recklessly,  Tubby remembered later, until they cleared the last of the little Hele Islands and then throttled back to thirty knots. 

Tubby took off his helmet and racked it. Winston did the same. 

“Heavily defended?” Tubby snorted. 

Winston  faked  a  yawn  and  deadpanned,  “At  least  five  fully equipped divisions. Too dangerous to go in there.” 

Tubby nodded and then said, “Stand ’em down.” 

“Yessir.” Winston keyed his mic. “All hands, secure from GQ, but don’t  go  away.  Japs  still  may  have  Rufes  out  here.”  He  looked  at Tubby. “Smoking lamp?” 

“Sure.” 

“Smoking lamp is lit,” said Winston. 

“Wanna take the helm, Winnie?” asked Tubby. 

“You bet.” 

“Okay Ralph, lay below,” said Tubby. 

“Course  one-four-five,  speed  thirty.  I  stand  relieved.  Adios, everybody.” Wilcox scampered through the hatch and back into the chart room. 

Tubby  scanned  ahead.  Except  for  stars  and  planets  gleaming overhead, the night was still dark, but it looked clear enough and he decided  to  leave  their  speed  at  thirty  knots.  Winston  looked  happy, easily  thumbing  the  helm,  wind  blasting  through  his  hair.  Tubby thought, he’s going to make a good skipper. He was thinking about going to forty knots when—

Wilcox’s  head  popped  from  the  hatch.  “Hey  boss,  we  got  a  call from  Buster Brown. He wants to talk to you. Sounds like Big Al.” 

“On my way,” said Tubby. 

Tubby  was  through  the  hatch  and  at  the  chart  desk  in  four seconds. The R/T handset lay on the table. At a nod from Wilcox, he picked it up. “Little Lulu here, over.” 

“Welcome back. How’d it go?” 

“Real  good.  Defenses  very  poor.  The  only  Jap  we  saw  is  a  guy we  shot.  And  we  caught  him  asleep  on  the  dock,  taking  a  nap. 

Supposed to be on watch.” 

“Capital offense.” 

“Yup.  We  should  put  him  on  report.  Punishable  by  death.  Well, we only shot him once. In the shoulder. But with my .45. He’s going to be out of action for a long time.” 

“Your .45?” Cluster’s voice carried a tinge of incredulity. 

“It was self-defense. He was shooting at us—me.” 

“Mr. White. We’re not paying you to take on the whole Jap army. 

Good  God,  we  have  highly  trained  Marines  to  do  that.  You  should have—” 

“Bullshit!” Tubby stood up straight. Cluster was making him angry, which  he  knew  was  what  their  squadron  boss  intended.  Actually, playing with him. “The son-of-a-bitch was shooting at us. Could have hurt one of us. Maybe killed.” 

“Jeez. Like did you have him on board for a party and things got out of hand?” 

“No, I mean—” 

“It’s okay. Tell me later. Look. I have to turn you around. We need help up here.” 

“Help?  Like  in  assistance  of  some  kind.  You  want  me  at  your location?” 

“That’s correct.” 

“Wait  one.”  Tubby  laid  down  the  handset  and  leaned  out  the hatchway to shout at Winston. 

Seconds  later ,  Little  Lulu  rolled  into  a  U-turn  to  starboard.  The engines roared as Winston shoved in full throttle. 

Tubby  returned  to  the  handset.  “Okay,  Buster  Brown.  We’re headed your way now. What’s your location?” 

Cluster told them, then asked, “What’s your fuel state?” 

Tubby snapped his fingers and pointed toward the chart taped on the table. Quickly, Wilcox and Torres laid out parallel rules, dividers, and pencils and note pads. 

Tubby said, “About half. What’s the nature of your problem?” 

“Roger your fuel state. Estimate about forty minutes. We have a grounded boat. See you when you get here. Flash one dit toward the beach when you’re on station.” 

“One dit at the beach. Roger,  Buster Brown. See you there. Out.” 

Tubby  watched  as  Wilcox  and  Torres  plotted   Buster  Brown’s position,  about  one-third  the  distance  between  Nono  Bay  and  Viru Harbor. He crawled up onto the bridge. Fuller was at the helm. Feet planted wide apart. Bugs in his teeth. Yet he had sensed something. 

His helmet was back on. So were the helmets of Turner and Brunner, the gunners on the two twin .50-caliber waist mounts. 

Fuller looked at him, his brow knit. 

Tubby yelled over the Packard’s roar, “No idea what we’re getting into. But yeah, you’re right. Let’s suit up again. GQ if you please, Mr. 

Fuller.” 

“Okay,  boss.”  Fuller  keyed  his  mic  and  called  general  quarters. 

The manned and ready reports filtered in within fifteen seconds. The crew sensed something was up too and were ready. “You want your wheel back, Tubby?” 

“No, that’s okay. You’re doing fine.” 

“Thanks, boss.” 

Thirty  minutes  later,  they  were  within  three  miles  of  their  dead reckoning  destination.  Tubby  leaned  in  the  hatchway  and  called Wilcox. “Come on up, Ralph. You’re the star of the show.” 

“Yessir.”  Wilcox  scrambled  up  and  stood  among  them.  With  a baleful look at Winston, he said, “Who’s the hot rod helmsman?” 

Fuller gave an eye roll. “At least I don’t crash into docks.” 

Wilcox stuck his chin out. “Wait a minute. I didn’t–” 

“Shaddup,  you  idiots.”  Tubby  reached  over  and  chopped  the throttle. PT 72 settled in her wake, her engines gurgling. The dark, imposing mountainous silhouette of New Georgia Island lay straight ahead about a mile distant. 

“Wilcox,” said Tubby. 

“Sir?” 

“On the signal lantern. One short dit, please.” 

Wilcox leaned over and switched on the signal lantern. “Now?” 

“Yes, now. And aim it directly at the beach.” 

“Yes,  sir.”  Wilcox  stepped  up  to  the  signal  lamp,  flipped  the switch, palmed the handle, and gave it a short burst. 

The  beam  stabbed  the  night.  It  threw  off  their  night  vision  for  a moment. 

Almost right away, a signal light bleeped at them from off the port bow, its light loom glistening off flat water. 

Tubby pointed. “Over there. Winnie.” 

“Got it,” said Winston, rolling in left rudder. 

Winston  had  steadied  up  on  the  course  when  Torres’s  head popped through the hatch. “Mr. Cluster on R/T for you, sir.” 

“I’ll  take  it  up  here,  thank  you,  Ken.”  Tubby  unbracketed  the telephone handset and pressed it to his ear.  “Little Lulu here.” 

“You see us yet?” 

Tubby squinted into the night. “Saw your light but can’t see squat now.” 

“I hear you. You’re getting close. Cut your power. You can coast in. We’re here with PT 111.” 

Boemke? Al Cluster’s cigarette supply. “What’s up?” 

“He’s run aground. Uncharted reef. Didn’t see it coming. Tore off his  center  and  portside  screw.  We’ve  got  a  line  attached  but  that didn’t help. We figure if you get a line over the two of us might bring him off. 

“I see you. Steer nothing to the right of your present course. This place is lousy with uncharted coral heads.” 

Tubby looked to Winston, who nodded back. 

Just then, the starboard quarter of the 109 materialized from the gloom.  Winston  backed  down  to  a  complete  stop  and  muffled  the engines. 

Tubby  called  forward  to  the  loader  in  the  40-millimeter  mount, 

“Hey, O’Brien, dig out the lead line and take soundings.” 

O’Brien headed for the forward hatch. “Yes, sir. Anything I should watch for?” 

“Yeah, this area is lousy with coral heads. Best take a sounding every minute until we clear the area.” 

“Yessir.”O’Brien,  bulky  life  jacket  and  all,  disappeared  down  the hatch. 

“Tubby? How the hell are you?” Al Cluster’s voice ranged across the water. 

“Very good, Commander. Thank you.” 

Just  then,  the  transom  of  Boemke’s  PT  111  emerged  from  the darkness. She was stationary and listing to starboard a bit. A manila line ran from PT 109 to PT 111. 

“Hey, Tubby.” Boemke’s voice echoed across the water from PT

111. 

“Hi, Earle. You stuck in the mud?” 

“Shit. I wish. It’s a coral head. Don’t come close.” 

“Don’t worry. Was it uncharted, Earle?” called Tubby. 

“I don’t need any crap from you, Tubby,” groused Earle. 

“Sorry. Just making conversation.” 

Just behind, Winston giggled. 

“What the hell took you so long?” said Earle. 

“Now who is slinging shit at who?” called Tubby. He and Winston grinned at one another. 

“Just making conversation,” replied Earle. 

Tubby yelled back, “Stopped along the way for a couple of beers. 

So nice to see you on this beautiful evening, Earle.” 

Al  Cluster  boomed  across  the  water,  “Okay,  you  idiots.  Knock  it off.” 

Two men in a life raft paddled up to PT 72, bringing with them a light  messenger  line  from  PT  111.  At  the  bow,  O’Brien  lay  on  his stomach and the two oarsmen drifted in and handed it up to him. 

Tubby  called  to  the  two  remaining  men  on  the  forward  40-millimeter mount, “Go help Pete, you guys. It’s a messenger line for PT 111 up there. She’s aground and we’re going to haul her off.” 

“Sssssst.” Winston held up a hand and looked to the sky. 

“What?” said Tubby. 

“I thought—” 

An  engine  roared.  The  airplane  flew  directly  overhead.  As  it passed,  it  ejected  three  illumination  flares.  Suspended  by parachutes, the flares slowly descended to the mirror-flat waters. 

The three PT boats were lit in stygian radiance. 

“Scram! Get out!” It was Al Cluster yelling across the water. “And open fire on the sons-a-bitches.” 

Tubby  jumped  on  the  conning  platform,  nudging  Fuller  aside.  “I got it, Winnie.” 

He  had  just  shoved  the  throttles  down  when  machine  gun  fire ripped through the night. 

Waterspouts  leaped  from  the  water,  racing  toward  them.  Little Lulu’s  screws  bit.  She  jumped  ahead  just  as  the  Rufe’s  twin  .303

machine guns and twin 20-millimeter cannon fire raced across their wake, no more than ten feet from their transom. The Rufe zipped by, an  eyeblink  in  the  night.  The  fourteen-cylinder  Nakajima  engine’s exhaust plume quickly faded as it arced up. 

“Jeeez,” said Tubby. “Too close. Just too close.” 

But  another  Rufe  was  swooping  in.  Its  machine  guns  began  to chatter. 

A  fireball  lit  the  night.  A  thunderous  explosion  followed.  Parts spun  up  into  the  air.  The  concussion  smacked  them  two  seconds later, bringing with it a rush of heat. 

Tubby  checked  aft;  PT  109  was  right  there  on  their  starboard quarter, her bows high out of the water, now on the step, like  Little Lulu. 

“Earle,” Tubby mouthed. “Holy cow, that’s Earle.” 
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They ran at forty knots for a minute, then Al called for a stop. Both boats  settled  in  the  water,  their  wakes  rolling  up  to  their  transoms, picking them up and shoving them forward. 

The  109  crabbed  over  to  within  ten  feet  of   Little  Lulu.  A  man standing  at  the  port  rail  was  barely  visible,  his  hands  stuffed  in  his pockets.  It  was  Al  Cluster.  Behind  him,  Tubby  recognized  the silhouettes  of  Jack  Kennedy  and  Leonard  Thom  on  the  conning platform. 

Cluster cupped his hands to his mouth. “You guys okay?” 

Tubby called back, “Not a scratch, Al.” 

“Good. Look. We have to go back.” 

Tubby  knew  they  had  to  do  this.  And  yet,  he  looked  aft,  seeing pieces  of  flaming  wreckage  on  the  water.  An  incendiary  bullet  from the  Rufe  must  have  penetrated  one  of  four  enormous  gas  tanks aboard the 111. All told, PTs had a capacity for 3,000 gallons of 100

octane aviation fuel situated in two 800-gallon tanks forward and two 700-gallon tanks aft. 

Earle Boemke had topped off his PT 111 at the base tonight. After sucking  up  every  drop  of  gas  he  could  pack  into  his  boat,  Boemke smirked  and  finally  turned  over  the  hoses  to  Henry  Rockwell, Tubby’s chief motor mac. Tubby figured Boemke must have still had about 2,600 gallons left. Enough to really light the place up. 

Which it did. 

Once again, it hit Tubby that Boemke and his crew had gone up with it and were now vaporized. 

“Halloo, Mr. White?” 

Tubby  snapped  back  to  the  present.  “Of  course,  I’ll  go.  You people stand off and watch out for bad guys.” 

“I was thinking the same thing. Except it’s us that’s going in. You look for Japs. And don’t be too kind to them if they show up.” 

“Al, look it. You’re the squadron—” 

“Two  hundred  yards,  Lieutenant  White.  No  more,  no  less.  You think you can do that?” 

“Al, for crying out—” 

“We’re wasting time, Mr. White. Do you mind? I’d like to get this over with rather than listen to you snivel.” 

Silence. 

“Mr. White?” 

“Yes, sir, Commander sir. Two hundred yards.” 

“That’s  more  like  it.”  Cluster  pivoted  to  rejoin  Kennedy  on  the conning platform. 

“Al.” 

He stopped. “Now what?” 


“Two  sailors  from  the  111  paddled  over  and  brought  us  a messenger line. They had just started back when the shit hit the fan.” 

“Yeah, I was thinking of that. We’ll look for them.” 

“Okay,  Al.  Two  hundred  yards.  If  you  hear  us  shooting,  get  the hell out.” 

“You bet we will, Mr. Commodore.” 

“Mr. Commodore, SIR!” 

“Screw you, Tubby. Now get the hell away from here.” 

“Yes,  sir,  Mr.  Commodore  sir.  Two  hundred  yards,  Mr. 

Commodore.” 

“Mr. Commodore, SIR.” 

Tubby  let  it  go.  Maybe  it  was  because  the  topside  sailors  were quiet, sullen. No humor tonight. 

Tubby jumped to his conning platform and engaged the mufflers. 

The 109 nosed toward the wreckage as  Little Lulu  idled out to the two-hundred-yard circle where she lay, her engines ticking over. 

Flames  leapt  from  the  wreckage  from  time  to  time,  throwing tortuous shafts of light across the water only to fizzle moments later. 

The  109  worked  its  way  through  whatever  was  left  of  PT  111, maneuvering to avoid larger pieces of detritus. At one point, the 109

slowed.  Smoke  belched  from  her  exhaust  and  water  frothed  under the  transom  as  she  backed  down  and  stopped.  Five  or  six  men gathered on the starboard rail as two sailors eased past them with a boat  hook,  yanking  at  something.  Soon  it  was  at  the  PT  boat’s transom, where they reached down and got a line around whatever it was. 

Tubby  raised  his  binoculars.  Sickened,  he  figured  it  out  as  they hauled a shapeless mess over the transom. 

A  patch  of  flame  leapt  up.  The  men  shielded  their  faces  as  it momentarily roiled above them. For a millisecond, Tubby saw Earle Boemke’s grinning face in that mini-inferno, a cigarette dangling from his lips, his Zippo lighter burning and crackling. 

The flame flickered suddenly, and the stygian brilliance dwindled to dark gray and anthracite black. A minute later, they pulled another dripping formless mass aboard. After that, they hooked onto another sodden mess. It was the life raft, or what was left of one. Completely deflated, part of it in shreds. 

Two  minutes  later,  the  R/T  crackled.  “Little  Lulu,  Buster  Brown. 

Recovered two KIA. Nothing more in sight. Return to base. Over?” 

At a nod from Tubby, Winston keyed the mic. “This is  Little Lulu. 

Roger. Out.” 

They  eased  away  from  the  wreckage,  and  in  a  final  salute  to Earle  Boemke  and  his  PT  111,  the  six  Packard  engines  bellowed beneath the Southern Cross. 

An hour later, the sky brightened in the east as they approached Mbanika Island. With no wind, the water was glass-smooth as PT 72

and PT 109 sprinted. 

Usually,  the  crew  would  banter  and  jibe  on  a  return  trip.  And somebody  would  pull  a  stunt,  a  practical  joke,  making  everyone laugh. But not now. No one wanted to catch another’s eye as  Little Lulu bounced and jiggled while they lunged into a brightening golden dawn. 

But  Tubby  felt  nothing  of  the  surroundings.  Nor  did  the  tinge  of damp,  decaying  marine  life  mixed  with  the  odorous  flowers  on Mbanika Island take hold. At times like this, he would think of Faith and things at home. But now, his mind was a void, black inside. And his gut hurt as it once did before he went on leave. 

Glad for something to do, he palmed the helm of his eighty-foot PT  boat.  In  days  before,  they  would  be  thinking  of  racing  the  other PT,  bets  ranging  among  them  on  who  would  make  port  first.  But Tubby knew they were all in a black mood. Ready for the sack, yes, but ready for something else. It had become personal. It was time to return  to  the  enemy  what  they  had  just  done  to  Earle  Boemke, Joshua Kelly, and the men of PT 111. 

No  more  laughing.  It  was  serious  business.  And  for  the  time being, they lived in a temporary world.  Can’t think back. Don’t think forward. Can’t think of Faith or Mom, or Dad. Think of just right now and staying alive. 

And of killing the enemy. 

PART II

A life spent making mistakes is not only more honorable, but more useful than a life spent doing nothing. 

George Bernhard Shaw
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30 June 1943

Lumbari Island, Rendova Harbor

Solomon Islands

Dubbed  “Operation  Toenails,”  the  conquest  of  New  Georgia  Island was the second phase in General MacArthur’s drive up through the Solomon  Island  chain.  With  continual  air  raids,  he  also  intended  to neutralize Rabaul, a major Japanese airfield situated on New Britain Island, 437 miles northwest of Munda. 

A significant steppingstone in this drive was to throw the enemy from Munda, a major enemy airfield at the southwestern tip of New Georgia Island. With New Georgia secured, and the reconquering of New  Guinea’s  northern  shores,  many  options  would  be  open  to retaking  the  Philippines  and  fulfilling  the  general’s  1942  promise when he flooded the airways with: “I shall return.” 

Immediate  responsibility  for  executing  these  plans  was  given  to the  brilliant,  but  sometimes  unpredictable,  Rear  Admiral  Richmond Kelly  Turner,  Commander,  Amphibious  Force  South  Pacific (COMPHIBSOPAC). 

This  was  designated  as  Task  Force  62  and  consisted  of  nine Groups,  including  the  main  landing  force  commanded  by  Marine

Major-General  Alexander  Vandegrift.  The  screening  group  was commanded  by  Rear  Admiral  Victor  Crutchley,  Royal  Navy.  For the  specific  assault  on  the  New  Georgia  Groups  of  Islands,  Rear Admiral Turner was designated as Commander Task Force 31. 

Following MacArthur and Halsey’s plan, Task Force 62 began by invading  three  strongholds  in  New  Georgia.  On  21  June,  they  sent two  companies  of  Marines  to  land  at  lightly  defended  Segi  Harbor, the  place  where  Tubby  White  had  patrolled  on  the  night  of  14/15

June when he shot it out with the lonely guard. 

On  30  June,  Marine  assault  forces  of  Task  Force  62  landed  at Viru  Harbor  on  the  island's  southern-central  coast.  Viru  was  also lightly defended and the Marines took over with very few casualties. 

The site was intended for a PT-boat base, but after a few days, the idea was discarded. 

At  the  same  time,  troops  were  also  landed  to  the  south  at Wickham Anchorage on Vangunu Island. But there again, the story was the same: lightly defended and no casualties. 

Thus,  Munda  was  the  main  objective.  In  December  1942,  the Japanese  had  completed  a  1,094-foot  all-weather  fighter  airstrip  at Munda  Point  on  New  Georgia  Island.  Soon,  it  became  a  major Japanese  staging  area  for  air  raids  against  U.S.  forces  occupying Guadalcanal and the Russell Islands. 

To  help  secure  Munda,  COMPHIBSOPAC  decided  to  start  with Rendova Island, a seventeen-mile-long nearly square-shaped island, which  lay  just  seven  miles  across  the  Blanche  Channel  from  the Munda  airfield.  Intelligence  told  them  that  Rendova  was  garrisoned by  only  300  Japanese,  an  advantage  they  could  press  to  instantly neutralize the Munda airfield as an operating base. 

In  reality,  the  distance  traveled  between  Rendova  and  Munda was more like fifteen miles when taking into account all the natural impediments,  such  as  reefs  and  islets  in  the  Riviana  Lagoon  and Blanche  Channel.  But,  as  the  crow  flies,  seven  miles  was  seven miles, 14,000 yards, child’s play for a 155-millimeter howitzer. 

These  landings  were  a  complete  surprise  to  the  Japanese  on Munda  who,  with  incredulity,  watched  as  Kelly  Turner  and  his  Task Force 31 steamed unopposed into Rendova Harbor at daybreak with six transports. Most of the six thousand Marines and equipment were

put ashore by the noon hour, overtaking the Japanese defenders by day’s end. 

The Japanese on Munda didn’t get organized until mid-afternoon when they started bombarding Rendova with cannon fire. But by that time,  the  Marines  had  their  own  artillery  in  place,  tuned  up  and ready.  They  opened  up  with  counter  battery,  and  with  help  from aircraft  from  Henderson  Field  on  Guadalcanal,  soon  had  Munda’s airstrip cratered and denied to the Japanese. 

Artillery duels followed, but the Japanese, without air cover, were overwhelmed  by  what  had  been  taken  and  were  forced  to  sit  and wait. 

Kelly Turner had proved himself once again. One reason Turner was  liked  by  Admiral  Chester  Nimitz,  his  immediate  superior,  was that  he  preferred  to  be  close  to  his  troops,  to  personally  see  what was  going  on.  Previous  COMPHBSOPAC  commanders  had  swung safely at anchor aboard the command ship, USS  McCawley (APA 4), in  Noumea  harbor,  1,132  miles  to  the  southeast.  Originally,  the McCawley  was  the  SS   Santa  Barbara,  a  former  Grace  Passenger Liner of 9,600 tons, converted to an attack transport. 

But  Noumea  was  too  distant  for  Turner’s  way  of  thinking,  so  he included  the  Wacky  Mac,  as  she  was  called,  his  entire  staff,  plus 2,000  Marines  and  supplies  as  part  of  the  Rendova  landing  force. 

This  consisted  of  five  other  APAs,  twelve  screening  destroyers, LSTs,  LCIs,  and  PTs  sent  up  from  the  Russell  Islands  along  with generous  air  cover  from  Henderson  Field  on  Guadalcanal  to continue the bombardment of Munda airfield. 

But  times  were  not  so  easy  for  Turner  and  the   McCawley,   after all. Starting at 0640 the  McCawley’s landing force off-loaded most of her  men  and  cargo  equipment.  She  got  underway  about  1330  and stood  into  Blanche  Channel,  making  turns  southeast  for  the  two-hundred-mile trip down the Slot to Guadalcanal. 

However,  from  Rabaul,  the  Japanese  caught  up  with  her  with  a force  of  bombers  and  torpedo  planes.  One  low-flying  G4M2  twin-engine “Betty” bomber sneaked in and got a torpedo into the Wacky Mac’s engine room, killing all fifteen sailors. With  McCawley  dead in the water and in danger of sinking, Kelly Turner shifted his flag and staff to the destroyer USS  Farenholt (DD 491) for the rest of the trip. 

With  a  salvage  crew  on  board,  she  was  taken  under  tow  and fought  off  further  air  attacks  with  her  own  battery  and  that  of  the destroyers, USS  Ralph Talbot (DD 390) and  McCalla (DD 488). After a  towline  was  re-attached,  she  was  able  to  get  underway  by  dusk. 

But sadly, two torpedoes found their mark just after dark and down she went. 

At  first,  it  was  thought  that  a  Japanese  submarine  got  the McCawley. But no, reports the next day confirmed that she was sunk by a PT boat, who, in the first hectic hours of the Rendova Landings, was  not  informed  of  the   McCawley’s  presence,  mistook  her  for  an enemy ship in the dark hours, and put her down. 
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PT 72

30 June 1943

Mbanika Wharf, Mbanika Island

Russell Islands, Solomon Islands

Preparations for the Rendova campaign meant PT boats,  Little Lulu included,  would  have  to  carry  a  full  load  of  gas,  ammunition,  and provisions. But PT 72 was having trouble with the water pump on her center engine, so she stayed behind in Mbanika until early afternoon for  a  new  pump.  Reports  were  that  a  virulent  squall  was  charging down  Blanche  Channel,  so  they  decided  to  install  the  pump  while peacefully  docked.  That  took  three  hours  and  they  didn’t  get underway to re-join squadron 2 until late afternoon. 

Just before they shoved off, their mail caught up with them, and to his surprise, Tubby was handed a letter. 

“Huh?” 

Wilcox was playing mail clerk and handing out letters to the crew. 

He  pointed  to  the  return  address  on  Tubby’s  letter.  “That’s  right, boss, it’s for you. And who is Faith? Wheeeeoh. Lookit that,” he sang out. “Green ink. Sexy. What a flourish.” He held it close and sniffed. 

“Don’t smell too good, though. No fu-fu juice. What is she, a cousin or something?” 

Tubby  yanked  it  back  and  gave  Wilcox  a  look.  By  this  time,  the others had smelled blood. Five or six gathered around, looking over Tubby’s shoulder. 

He  scanned  the  envelope.  Yes,  it  was  from  Faith  Cromwell.  He was ready to tear it open but then Jimmy Beagle popped up in the engine  room  hatch  and  shouted,  “Center  engine  water  pump  all working good, Mr. White. Chief says we’re ready for sea.” 

Tubby could tell this was so. They had rolled the engine to test it. 

Then they started the other two. 

The men standing around him, including Fuller and Wilcox, were still there, breathing too hard to Tubby’s way of thinking. 

Tubby  shoved  the  letter  in  his  back  pocket  and  said,  “Time  to amscray. Let’s go. Get rid of the brow. Take in lines one, three, four, five, and six.” 

The  men  scrambled.  Soon,  they  were  free  of  the  dock  and headed out the short channel and into the Solomon Sea. 

The moment they cleared the channel the squall blasted them. It wasn’t a particularly bad one, but still uncomfortable. They turned to starboard and shaped course for the Blanche Channel and Rendova. 

With that, the wind was right on the nose, with Tubby figuring it was blowing at least forty knots. He knew they were in for it. A glance at their faces told him the others knew the same. They were veterans. 

No use hiding it from them. Time to hunker down. Be nice to the boat and hope for the best. 

It became a duel with the sea gods. Find a soft wave … maybe

… pitch up the front, buck over the top, and SLAM!  Little Lulu would nosedive  into  the  trough,  the  front  five  or  so  feet  of  her  nose  deep into green water. 

Shaking  herself  free,  she  would  rise  once  more  into  screeching wind to try again. Tubby throttled back to ten knots, barely enough to claim they were making headway over the ground. Better that than beating  Lulu to pieces. 

 Lulu  seemed  to  be  taking  it—just  barely.  The  wave  period  was around forty seconds, not too bad and not too wet inside. But Tubby had them all in life jackets, just in case. They were all scampering, 

tying things down, cleaning up broken crockery. But still, it seemed as  if  something  would  break  loose  about  every  third  wave; something becoming airborne and crashing or shattering against the opposite bulkhead amidst sailors scrambling and cursing. 

Tubby  had  the  chart  house  hatch  boards  secured  with  Torres inside  monitoring  the  radar  and  running  a  plot.  At  times,  Lulu  was pitching so violently that the radar return was splotchy. Torres gave up, secured the radar, and went to straight dead reckoning. 

Topside, it was a world of ear-splitting cacophony. Tubby White, Winston  Fuller,  and  Ralph  Wilcox  were  hunched  behind  the  wind screen.  They  spelled  each  other  every  half  hour,  one  on  the  helm, one  on  the  engine  controls,  and  the  third  keeping  lookout  and standing by to help if something went wrong. And just to be safe, all three were belted to a safety rail in the cockpit. But with wind gusting and  screaming  at  times  to  fifty  knots,  water  knifed  at  them  almost horizontally.  The  visibility  was  down  to  fifty,  maybe  seventy-five yards.  Wind  screeched  through  the  gun  mounts,  radar  mast,  and superstructure  so  loud  the  three  wore  sound-powered  phones  to communicate. They were also connected to Ken Torres in the chart room and Chief Rockwell in the engine room. 

At times, the wind drove cold, razor-sharp droplets at their faces, making  all  three  hunker  behind  the  windshield.  But  it  was  the sideways  knocking  that  threw  them  off.  Little  unpredictable  rogue waves would smack them and catch them off-guard, jerking them to one side or the other, nearly knocking them off their feet. 

Not wanting to broach, Tubby kept her into the wind as best as he could,  but  at  times,  he  took  little  bites  to  the  left.  He  wanted  to  get into  the  lee  of  Vangunu  Island  where  the  wind  would  be  less…  he hoped. 

The  whole  trip  was  only  145  miles.  But  at  their  present  speed, they  wouldn’t  arrive  until  tomorrow  morning.  He  was  worried  about Lulu  and  all  this  pounding.  But  once  they  got  into  the  Blanche Channel and in the lee of these islands, the trip should go faster. 

“Yeaaaowww.” It was Winston. 

Tubby  looked  up.  Darkness.  A  whole  mass  of  darkness.  An enormous  wave  reared  up  before  them.  “Straight  up  the  backside,” 

Tubby yelled. “Full throttle, Winnie.” 

The mighty Packards roared as  Lulu pitched up. 

Everything  was  lost  in  an  ebony  miasma;  the  wave’s  crest seemed to tumble upward into eternity. 

“Shiiiiiiiiiit!” howled Wilcox. 

Tubby couldn’t see where they were. No fixed points. Everything swirling. He felt dizzy. But a blast of water in his face shocked him to comprehension. 

 Lulu leveled out. This was it. The top. 

Tubby cranked in a bit of left rudder. He was guessing how much, but he didn’t want to do a full swan dive directly down the face and into the trough where they could disappear forever. “Cut,” he yelled. 

Fuller chopped the throttles. 

 Lulu  surfed  down  the  face  like  Duke  Kahanamoku  at  Waikiki. 

“Woo-wheee,” Tubby yelled. 

“Ride ’em, cowboy,” chimed Winston. 

With  all  that  momentum,  the  56-ton  PT  72  buried  her  forepeak into the raging trough. Green water blasted over the forward third of the boat and flooded the cockpit. The three men hung on for dear life as, miraculously,  Lulu shook herself free, her engines still running. 

“Wha, what?” yelled Tubby. It was the sound-powered phone. He pressed the button. “What!” he yelled. 

“What the hell?” bellowed Chief Motor Mac Henry Rockwell in the engine room. “You guys okay?” 

“Doin’ fine, Rocky,” yelled Tubby. “Just had a little swim call. How are the engines?” 

“Still  alive  and  cooking.  Nothing  to  worry  about  here.”  He continued, “So you’re soaked. Should I send something up?” 

“Shiiiit!” screamed Wilcox. 

“Here we go again! Gotta go, Chief.” 

The next wave was only about half as high.  Little  Lulu took it well but still slammed down on the backside. 

Tubby yelled back into the phone, “We’re doin’ okay. I think we’re getting into the lee of Vangunu. So it should get more quiet.” 

“How’s the water?” 

Tubby  looked  at  Winston  and  Wilcox,  who  gave  thumbs  up. 

“Warm. Not bad.” 

They  indeed  had  made  the  lee  of  Vangunu  Island.  It  provided great cover, the wind dropping to a more tolerable ten knots on the nose  with  hardly  any  chop.  Tubby  eased  the  throttles  up  to  where they were on the step, making 35 knots without too much pounding. 

Torres  had  the  radar  lighted  off  again  with  Rendova  and  Munda clearly painted on the scope about sixty miles ahead. 

“Two hours. Then we anchor someplace and crap out.” He turned to Fuller. “Going below for a moment.” 

Fuller palmed the helm easily. “We’re good up here. Go ahead.” 

Tubby sniffed. “Maybe some coffee.” 

“Nice,” said Fuller. 

Tubby smiled. “If we have any cups left.” 

“There is that, too.” 

Tubby took off the hatch boards and stepped through. Torres was way  ahead  of  him,  finishing  the  pouring  of  three  cups  of  coffee. 

Tubby  stepped  down,  grabbed  three  cups,  and  passed  them  up. 

“These are for the guys amidships.” 

Winston grabbed them. “Any port in a storm.” 

Soon,  all  the  coffee  was  poured  and  distributed.  The  wind  had abated  to  five  knots  and  Tubby  ordered  full  speed.  The  pit  log reported  they  were  doing  forty-one  knots.  The  radar  was  giving  a good picture. All was well. Time to relax. 

He leaned forward on the chart table and pulled out her letter. 

It  was  two  pages  of  onionskin  done  in  green.  And  Wilcox  was right, she did have a beautiful hand. 

 Dear Tubby, 

 First,  I  want  to  say  I’m  sorry  for  my  last,  much-too-brief communication. I was in a funk that day while trying to get something out to you, but bad things were happening here. You see, I got laid off. Came at me from left field. Your father tried to fight it but to no avail. They say I lied about my U.S. citizenship. But I was naturalized six  years  ago  from  Canada  but  then  the  personnel  department  lost my  papers.  This  all  came  up  in  a  War  Department  review  and  the personnel  people  still  can’t  find  my  certification,  so  it  looks  like they’ve lied about it. It looks like an attempt to cover up their mistake and  I  got  caught  in  the  middle.  Your  father  got  vehement  with  the

 front  office  and  they  almost  fired  him.  So  right  now,  he’s  dialing people  he  knows  but  they  can’t  touch  me  because  it  affects  my security clearance. I filed for duplicate documentation with the U.S. 

 Naturalization  Department  but  that  will  take  a  while.  Meantime,  I’m sitting home looking at four walls. It’s terrible. 

 Except, that night at the Köhlers I met your friend Inga Arvad. We struck  up  a  conversation  and  she  gave  me  her  card.  Well,  I  called and told her what happened. With her Danish citizenship and all that stupid  Hitler  business,  she’s  been  through  it  ten  times  worse  than me.  She  set  me  up  to  meet  some  people  in  town.  One  was  Marty Saavedra, a talent agent who was at St. Monica High same time as us. I saw him over coffee at Schwab’s. He wants to set me up for a screen test. Can you believe? 

 I  know  this  all  sounds  crazy.  I  know  what  those  people  are  like and  I  promise  to  be  careful.  I  write  this  to  let  you  know  that  I  am watching out through all this. And your dad is helping, too. He thinks there  is  a  good  chance  I  can  come  back.  But  I’m  not  so  sure.  I’m really disgusted with those people. 

 And  for  you,  Mr.  White  –  I  hate  calling  you  Tubby,  you’ve  lost every ounce of fat—I’m thinking of you, too. We had great times, but I took it all for granted. I think you did, too. Especially the time you gave me a hot foot at the senior prom. 

 You  can  tell  I  have  trouble  forgiving  people  and  I’ve  almost forgiven  you  for  that.  Actually,  it  was  pretty  funny.  All  those  girls screaming  because  I  was  screaming.  That’s  what  you  go  for. 

 Confusion. Everybody screaming -- the best and worst of you. 

 And I think I love it. 

 Also, Inga says to give Jack a big hug from Inga Binga. Is he a big deal? I think I’ve heard of him before. 

 Please  take  care  and  don’t  date  too  many  South  Seas  chicks. 

 You  give  them  a  hot-foot  and  their  big  brothers  will  come  after  you with a big, long machete. 

 Fondly, 

 Faith
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PT 72

2 July 1943

Lumbari Island, Rendova Harbor

Rendova Island, Solomon Islands

In  the  United  States  Navy,  cleanliness  and  good  cooking  were mandatory.  But  at  Lumbari  Island  in  Rendova  Harbor,  both cleanliness  and  good  cooking  were  nearly  impossible.  Provisions were  scarce.  Fresh  water  was  scarce.  So,  for  the  campaign’s  first days and weeks, they lived mostly from canned food and oftentimes felt hungry. Whenever it rained, they ran topside to scrub down and maybe wash underwear. 

They soon learned their new Rendova base was not the icon of south  seas  posters  with  flaming  red  sunsets  and  gentle  breezes. 

Residents  and  non-residents  alike  contracted  a  number  of  hideous diseases  such  as  malaria,  dengue  fever,  dysentery,  and elephantiasis.  The  new  occupants  of  Lumbari  Island  were  also confronted  with  cockroaches,  giant  rats,  snakes,  foot  diseases,  ear fungus,  and  continuous  malnutrition  from  their  daily  diet  of  canned food. 

At  least  their  weight  was  down.  For  sure,  Tubby  White  was  no longer  tubby.  He’d  become  a  rock-solid,  five-foot-eight  Navy lieutenant who felt the pangs from time to time. So, as a distraction, much  of  their  off-duty  hours  were  focused  on  maintenance,  or paperwork, or even gathering fresh water. 

And food, with more than the usual attention directed toward the ship’s cook. 

PT  72’s  cook  was  Torpedoman  Second  Class  Norman  Burke, who  was  the  designated  operator  on  the  starboard  torpedo  mount, and more importantly during air attacks, the starboard aft .50-caliber machine  gun  mount.  A  native  of  Dallas,  Texas,  the  usually  quiet Burke  made  the  great  mistake  of  boasting  about  winning  second place in a chili cook-off contest. That was enough for Tubby White to appoint  Burke  to  the  collateral  duty  as  ship’s  cook.  And  oddly enough,  Burke,  an  unlikely  beanpole  of  five  feet  eleven  and  one hundred and forty-five pounds, took pride in this additional task. Like his torpedoes and his .50-caliber machine gun mount, his galley was spick  and  span:  the  cooking  equipment  cleaned  and  polished, everything neatly secured in its place. 

To Norman Burke’s credit, his Manhattan-style clam chowder was good,  a  shade  better  than  just  edible.  So,  that  was  okay.  But  his vaunted  Texas-style  chili  was  awful.  Too  much  cayenne,  way  too many jalapenos, and for some bizarre reason, Burke would dump in bucket-loads  of  ginger.  Accordingly,  his  chili  became  a  sort  of Chinese  miasma  that  created  agonizing  stomach  convulsions  and diarrhea  amongst  the  crew  of  PT  72  and  whoever  came  over  to share. 

It came to a mini catharsis when Tubby told Burke point-blank to knock  off  the  Texas-style  chili.  The  Dallas-born  sailor’s  shoulders slumped, and his height seemed to descend to five eight. But Tubby did  it  with  kid  gloves  since  he  needed  Burke.  For  as  bad  as Torpedoman  Second  Class  Norman  Burke  was  at  making  chili  and other  selected  meals  aboard  PT  72,  he  was  a  genius  with  his torpedoes and .50-caliber machine gun. They were both maintained like  Norman  Burke’s  galley:  everything  clean  and  shined.  Tubby needed  Burke  at  those  posts,  so  he  played  along  with  the  man’s supposed culinary talents. It was a tightrope Tubby walked in order

to keep his eighty-foot boat running properly. And after a while, the rest of the crew sensed this peculiar organizational phenomenon, so they  cut  Burke  some  slack  with  his  cooking,  and  did  their  best  to ignore  occasional  bouts  of  growling  stomach  pain  and  all  that followed.  Thus,  Burke  retained  his  title  as  ship’s  cook,  and  in accordance  with  the  captain’s  orders,  secured  from  making  his favorite: Texas-style (Chinese) chili. 

But  cayenne,  jalapenos,  and  ginger?  Where  did  all  that  come from? These items were a delicacy to the Navy’s way of thinking and were rarely available to the PT fleet or even most of the forces afloat. 

But  as  it  turned  out,  Burke  had  more  uncanny  skills.  With  the aptitude of a top-secret codebreaker, he always knew where the flag-ranked messing supplies were stored. He also was able to determine the most vulnerable depots for parts for his beloved torpedoes and machine  gun.  Wisely,  he  never  purloined  in  large  quantities  lest  a massive  investigation  be  launched.  These  and  other  skills,  honed over  twelve  years  in  the  Navy,  were  usually  exercised  between  the hours of one and four o’clock in the morning. 

This  evening,  after  an  uneventful  day  of  patrolling  the  coast  off Munda,  where  Navy  and  Marine  dive  bombers  were  still  blasting Munda  airfield,  PT  72  was  secured  back  at  a  makeshift  dock  on Lumbari  Island.  A  sentinel  to  the  entrance  to  Rendova  Harbor, Lumbari,  as  miserable  as  it  was,  was  their  home  until  something better came along. 

They  tied  up  at  about  1700  and  Burke  had  already  decided  on spaghetti for dinner. An hour earlier, he received permission from Mr. 

Fuller  to  secure  his  .50-caliber  and  start  chow.  Earlier,  Burke  had advertised  that  he  had  a  great  recipe  for  spaghetti  and  that  he intended  to  use  it  tonight.  Yes,  Tubby  had  signed  off  on  the  meal, hoping it would be legitimate this time. The last time Burke cooked with  ground  round,  Chief  Rockwell  discovered  at  the  last  possible moment that Burke was cooking with horsemeat. It was an external screw-up  ashore  in  the  Russell  Island  supply  depot.  Nonetheless, Rockwell howled like a stuck pig. Burke’s “hamburgers” were thrown over the side and they sat to a desultory meal of canned salmon and peanut butter sandwiches. 

That was last week, so this was Burke’s big effort to get back in good  graces.  He  had  to.  One  man  in  the  crew,  Desmond  Hatchett, was over six feet and had biceps the size of tree stumps. Once, after a particularly gruesome meal, Hatchett, a first-class gunner’s mate, threw Burke an extremely malevolent look. When finished, Hatchett rose from the table and scraped the contents of his plate, most of it uneaten,  into  the  garbage  pail.  Hatchett  made  sure  to  bump  Burke hard on the ladder going topside. Burke almost fell off. 

With Crisco safely burbling in the frying pan, Burke began adding the ground round. 

Ahhhhh. Damn! That smelled good. Just like home. Now to add the onions. 

The siren screeched outside. 

Air raid! 

Grabbing lifejackets, men cursed in the bunk room. Burke barely had  time  to  flip  off  the  burners  and  cover  the  sizzling  frying  pan. 

Vibrations at his feet. The engines were starting. 

“Com’on, gawd dammit!” someone screech at the ladder. Four or five souls were crowded around headed topside. Burke was next. He moved to climb. 

Ouch! His foot was stuck. He looked up into the green malignant eyes  of  gunner’s  mate  first  class,  Desmond  Hatchett.  He  was standing on Burke’s left foot. 

“Yeooooow!” screeched Burke. He tried to jerk it away. 

Hatchett pressed harder with his full weight. “Asshole.” 

Burke panted, “Des, com’on, it’s an air raid.” 

“No more shit dinners, understand?” 

An explosion outside. Men screamed. A rush of warm air gushed down the hatch. 

Three people were gathered behind Burke and Hatchett trying to get up the ladder. They pushed and yelled. 

An aircraft zipped overhead. Another blast outside. 

The  pain  in  Burke’s  foot  was  terrible.  Hatchett  was  twisting  his massive foot back and forth, a satisfied grimace on his face. 

Men yelled. 

Burke  wound  up  and  delivered  a  round-house  punch  to Hatchett’s left temple. 

Hatchett  blinked  and  stumbled  backward.  But  then  he  snarled. 

Someone  else,  it  looked  like  Mario  Ocello,  the  little  Italian  from  the Bronx, rabbit-chopped Hatchett on his Adam’s apple. 

Hatchett  wheezed  horribly  and  sank  to  his  knees,  clutching  his throat.  Ocello  delivered  a  knee  directly  into  Hatchett’s  face, propelling him back against the mess table, where he fell. His eyes rolled back into his head and he fell unconscious. 

They  rushed  topside  into  a  living  hell.  Explosions  were everywhere.  Bullets  chewed  great  chunks  of  water  and  PT  boat wood all around him. Forward, a PT boat, Burke couldn’t tell which, was burning. Men jumped overboard, two of them on fire. 

Burke ran to his .50-caliber and unlimbered it. He found an ammo can, slammed a belt into his machine gun, and crawled behind it just as a bullet bounced off the armored splinter shield. 

“Burke, Burke,” someone yelled. 

He  looked  forward,  seeing  Mr.  White  yelling  from  the  cockpit. 

“Yeah?” 

Tubby White splayed his hands in the air. “Number four. Cast off number four. Hurry!” 

Another bullet whanged off his splinter shield. Burke looked up to see  a  Zero  headed  right  at  him,  the  engine  growling  louder  and louder. He swung his .50-caliber, racked the belt, and clamped down on the trigger. The gun spat tracer rounds. Burke walked them right into  the  fast-approaching  Japanese  fighter,  the  pilot  hunched  over the stick. Even at this distance, Burke saw the pilot’s hands spasm up into the top of the canopy and then disappear. 

“Number four, Burke,” screeched White. 

The Zero nosed down right toward them. Smoke trailed from its cowling. 

“Yeah, yeah.” Burke started crawling toward the cleated dock line. 

The Zero’s engine screamed as it flashed overhead, clearing PT

72  by  no  more  than  ten  feet.  Burke  felt  the  heat  of  its  smoking engine  as  it  whipped  past.  Two  seconds  later,  it  hit  the  water  and cartwheeled  across  Rendova  Harbor,  throwing  parts  and  flaming chunks as it went. 

His hands shaking, Burke un-cleated number four line and threw it onto the dock. 

Tubby  White  slammed  the  Packards  into  reverse  and  backed clear of the dock just as two more Zeros lined up on them and began firing.  Little  Lulu  swiftly  backed  into  Rendova  Harbor,  with  Tubby spinning the helm, going ahead on two engines, the boat beginning a clockwise  twist  as  she  stopped  moving  in  reverse  and  gathered headway. The Zeros blasted overhead; their greater worry now was a  Marine  F4U  Corsair  on  their  tail,  its  six  .50-caliber  machine  guns rattling. 

The Zeros split. 

Without  hesitation,  the  Corsair  followed  the  one  on  the  right.  In three  seconds,  he’d  caught  up.  In  another  two  seconds,  the  Zero was aflame. It looked as if a round or two had hit the main fuel tank, which  was  right  under  the  pilot  and  formed  part  of  his  seat.  The entire aircraft grew into a gigantic airborne inferno as it spewed fire, smoke, and parts. It crashed one and a half miles across the harbor in a grove of coconut trees. 

The other Zero flattened out into level flight, heading north. The Marine Corsair was about four miles behind, slowly catching up. 

Quiet. 

No  planes  in  the  sky.  The  all-clear  siren  sang  out.  Tubby  White motioned for Burke to come forward. He’d been speaking with Mario Ocello, who now returned aft to his GQ station on the 40-millimeter. 

Burke got to his feet and stumbled to the cockpit. “Yessir?” 

Fuller was driving. 

Tubby White said, “Great shooting, Sailor.” 

“Thank you, sir.” 

White gestured to the starboard twin .50-caliber mount. “Any idea about what happened to Hatchett?” 

Burke whipped aft to see the twin .50-machine gun unmanned, its barrels uselessly secured straight up into the air. 

“Er…ah … I think he tripped at the ladder, sir. Bumped his head.” 

“Well,  I’ll  tell  you  what,  Mr.  Burke.”  He  nodded  aft.  “Desmond Hatchett  is  now  manning  your  old  mount,  the  aft  starboard  fifty-caliber. Henceforth, your battle station is the starboard twin fifty.” 

“Me, sir?” 

“Anybody  else  around  here  know  how  to  shoot  a  fifty-caliber beside Desmond Hatchett?” 

“No, sir. That’s great. Thank you very much.” 

White spoke up. “One more thing, Burke.” 

“Sir?” 

“You’re fired.” 

Burke gulped and tried to stand to attention. “Whaaat?” 

“That’s right,” said Fuller. “It turns out Mario Ocello’s parents own an Italian specialty restaurant in the Bronx. Little Mario has worked there  all  his  life.  It  looks  as  if  he  has  cooking  skills  that  meet  or exceed yours. So, he has agreed to take over as cook.” 

“Wow.” Burke felt uplifted. 

“Sad  to  say,  no  more  Texas-sized  Chinese  chili,”  said  Tubby White. 

“Yes, sir. Sorry about that.” 

“Yes, you should be sorry in more ways than one.” 

“Sir?” 

White bumped Burke’s arm. “COMPHIBPAC security was getting on to you. They were ready to haul you out of here, but Fuller talked them out of it. We had to promise.” 

“Promise? Promise what, sir?” 

Tubby  White  grew  serious.  “Knock  off  the  midnight  auto  supply. 

It’s either that or they’re going to turn you over to the Marines, who will stuff you in the brig for the duration. Okay?” 

Silence. The engines rumbled. Seven lonely seconds passed. 

Burke’s chin fell to his chest. He was trapped. He said, “Yes, sir. 

That business is closed as of now.” 

“Make  sure  it  is.  Otherwise,  those  guys  don’t  screw  around. 

They’ll throw away the key. They have more important things to do.” 

“Yessir.” 

“Now, lay below and send Hatchett up here. It’s time to break all this wonderful news to him. I may just kick him off the boat.” 

“Yes, sir.” 

“And then go cook your last meal. It better be good.” 

“Spaghetti, sir. I was starting spaghetti. Can I ask Ocello to help out? Maybe pass the torch?” 

“Good  idea.  You’d  think  an  Italian  from  the  Bronx  would  know something about spaghetti.” 
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29 July 1943

Lumbari Island, Rendova Harbor

Rendova Island, Solomon Islands

Al Cluster had scheduled a briefing to start at 1630 in the so-called meeting room, a large bullet-riddled tent that also served as a mess hall. When they entered, he was fussing with presentation materials up front. He had propped a blackboard up in a corner, an eraser on its  shelf.  Chalk  was  smeared  over  faded  scribblings  from  previous briefings. A large chart was pinned to the canvas off to one side. 

Gathered were the skippers and execs of: PT 72, PT 88, PT 94, PT 109, and PT 114. The rest of Al Cluster’s boats were either up for maintenance  or  destroyed,  the  latter  group  mostly  from  the numerous uncharted reefs in the area. Coral heads seemed to pop up where they weren’t a day earlier. Navigation charts were useless. 

In some cases, they dated back to the 1750s. Before one could say anything,  the  boat’s  bottom  would  be  holed,  or  a  propellor  or  two ripped off, or worse, the whole boat stranded up on a reef, a sitting duck for Japanese Rufes slinking about the next day. 

While  they  waited,  Tubby  White  scrawled  out  the  last  of  a  four-page letter. 

Jack Kennedy sat next to him. “Jeez, Tubby. That looks serious.” 

He grunted with, “This is bullshit.” 

“What?” 

“Faith Cromwell, my kind-of girlfriend.” 

“Kind-of?” 

“Well. She’s rapidly becoming a girlfriend. I’ve known her for ages since we were in high school. And now, I’m beginning to notice. She turned out to be quite good-looking. And she has a great personality. 

So, I’m no longer taking her for granted.” 

“I get it.” 

“Her  family  emigrated  from  Canada.  But  they  naturalized  and everything  was  copasetic.  Now  she  works  for  my  dad  at  North American. Hell of a secretary, Dad says.” 

“Nice.” 

“Well,  I  just  got  a  letter.  North  American  conducted  a  routine personnel review. They lost her naturalization certificate. Nobody can find  it.  So  now,  they  had  to  re-classify  her  as  an  alien  and  they’ve fired  her.  All  because  some  paper-pushing,  4-F  weenie  lost  her naturalization certificate.” 

“Jeeeez. Can’t you—” 

“She’s applied to the Immigration people for a duplicate and they say they’re working on it. But it’s been eight weeks and she’s out on the  street.  Things  are  getting  tight  financially.  She  tells  me  she’s taking  a  job  at  Leo’s  Burgers  down  on  Ocean  Boulevard.  My  dad’s making  noise,  but  the  company  is  getting  pissed  at  him.  They  say there’s nothing they can do.” 

“I wonder if–” 

Al  Cluster  turned  and  said,  “Gentlemen,  if  I  could  have  your attention, please?” He gestured to a chart. “Here’s the picture so far. 

As you’ve seen, the Allied invasion of Munda Point has been going on for nearly a month. Our Marines and Army guys have landed from all  points  of  the  compass  around  the  airfield.  But  their  advances through jungles are slow or stalled, either from bad weather or just poor  planning.  But  our  guys  are  drawing  closer  to  the  airfield.  In support,  the  Japs  are  sending  more  and  more  barges  laden  with troops  and  supplies  down  the  coastlines  of  Bougainville, Kolombangara, and New Georgia Islands. 

“So  now  it’s  up  to  us  to  interrupt  their  plans.”  He  went  on  to assign patrol sectors to the other boats. For whatever reason, PT 72

and PT 109 were not mentioned. 

At  length,  Cluster  nodded  toward  Tubby  White  and  John Kennedy.  “You’re  wondering  why  I  haven’t  given  you  assignments tonight.” 

They  were  seated  on  benches  that  were  prone  to  splinter.  In times past, one of them would yelp in spite of himself as a pin-sharp splinter penetrated his trousers. 

Tubby White wiggled a bit. 

“Oh, you have a question, Mr. White?” asked Cluster plaintively. 

“My ass is tired.” 

Snickers ranged among them. 

“I take that as meaning you’d like to get up and move about.” 

“Please.” 

“Please  be  my  guest.  Can’t  have  your  ass  getting  in  the  way  of tonight’s assignments.” 

Tubby stood. “Ahhhhh. Thank you, sir.” 

Fuller  stood.  Kennedy  right  beside  him.  The  rest  remained seated, smirking. 

“Comfortable, gentlemen?” asked Cluster. 

“Proper blood circulation does wonders,” said Kennedy. 

Cluster paused, a gleam in his eye. “Be careful, Jack, you mustn’t send too much blood to your ass. We need it to feed your brain.” 

The  laughter  was  loud.  Finally,  Cluster  said,  “Okay,  we’re  about done  here,  except  for  you  two.”  He  pointed  out  Tubby  White  and John Kennedy. “You’re going up to Gizo tonight.” 

“Again?” asked Kennedy. 

“Yes,  again.  And  quit  your  bitching.  We  have  word  from  coast watchers that three, maybe four barges hunkered down on the north side early last night. We believe they’ll make a run for Munda tonight, and we’d like to be there.” 

Tubby exhaled. “Sounds good to me.” 

“Count me in,” agreed Kennedy. 

Due  to  maintenance  and  just  bad  luck,  the  two  hadn’t  engaged any  decent  targets.  Cluster  had  picked  up  on  their  frustration  and hopefully  was  sending  them  into  a  hot  zone.  “I  want  you  two

together, the main reason being Tubby has radar and Jack doesn’t. 

So, Tubby will cover for both of you. 

“Now, you’ll start on the south side of Gizo. Get close in and see what’s going on. Continue then curve around the west end and patrol the north side. That’s where you should find some action. Oh, yeah, watch  out  for  coral  heads.  Also,  we’re  getting  word  that  some  of those barges are armed with twenty and thirty-seven millimeters. So be careful. And steer clear of Gizo’s eastern end. The Japs just built a runway there. We don’t think they’re doing night OPS out of there but I’m sure they’ll have security. So steer clear. Got it?” 

“Yessir,” they said in unison. 

Tubby  and  Jack  looked  at  one  another.  Meeting  over?  They looked back to Cluster. 

“One more thing,” said Cluster. “I have a little present for you.” 

Eyebrows went up. 

“I’ve  secured  a  dumbo  for  you  tonight.”  A  dumbo  was  a  PBY

Catalina twin-engine seaplane. “He’ll be up at 1,200 feet looking for barges and Rufes. I suggest you have a man on the bridge tonight in constant contact with him. Frequency is baker-baker six, call sign is

‘Smilin’ Jack.’” 

“Hallelujah,” said Jack. “How long do we have him?” 

“Just  from  2200  to  0200.  After  that  he  has  to  scoot  up  to Bougainville.” 

“Well, that’s something,” said Tubby. He glanced at Cluster. 

“Amazing,”  said  Kennedy.  He  stood  back,  his  hands  in  his  rear pockets, looking at the board, the charts, and PT boat schedules. 

“What?” asked Cluster. 

“All  this  data.  Maps.  Maintenance,  weather,  fuel,  ammunition, food, medical supplies. How in the hell does all that happen?” 

“Way above my level of intelligence,” said Cluster. 

“And then you throw in coast watchers.” 

“Nice, huh?” said Tubby. 

“Where do they come from?” asked Kennedy. 

Cluster shook his head slowly. “Dedicated guys. Nerves of steel. 

Australians, mostly plantation owners and supervisors before all this began. And then the Japs moved in and started killing them. So they
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got  out  and  either  went  back  to  Australia  or  hid  in  the  hills  and started working for us.” 

“That’s dedication,” said Kennedy. 

“They’re pretty good at it. They usually have a half-dozen natives assigned to them. Scouts, they call them. They act as lookouts and so  forth.  They  camp  deep  in  the  jungle  mostly  on  or  near  a mountaintop.  In  good  weather,  they  can  see  for  sixty,  eighty  miles. 

Then we really get solid dope on what’s coming at us.” 

“That’s how we get advance word?” 

“That and radar,” said Cluster. “Yeah, they take good care of us.” 

Kennedy slowly shook his head. “Too much.” 

Tubby asked, “Too much what?” 

Kennedy rubbed his chin. “The greater our knowledge increases, the more our ignorance unfolds.” 

“Shit, there you go again, Jack,” said Tubby. 

“Sorry.” 

Cluster  drew  a  deep  breath.  “What  are  you  running  for  now, Jack?” 

“Sorry. Just thinking.” 

Cluster checked his watch. “Time to scoot.” He raised his voice. 

“All done, gentlemen,” he called. “Pilots, man your planes. And good hunting.” 

It was old, they’d heard it many times. Men groaned and groused their way out of the tent and shuffled off to their boats. 

The shadows were long, the sun nearly down, with the five PT boats moored  in  a  nest  alongside  a  rickety  dock.  The  dock’s  pilings  had been long infested with barnacles that were now so thick the wood was barely visible. And each mini surge of water inched the dock to its  ultimate  demise  as  pilings  creaked  and  protested,  exclaiming  to anyone  in  earshot  that  they  could  unpredictably  collapse  at  any moment. But still, one could wiggle his nose at the sunset this time of day and be rewarded with a somnolent odor of honeysuckle. 

Tubby checked his watch. 2030: time to wind ’em up. Fuller stood nearby  chatting  across  to  Leonard  Thom,  exec  of  the  109.  They were discussing football. It was no secret that Thom played guard or tackle at Ohio State, and he wore it proudly. 

“Where’s Jack?” Tubby asked. 

“Paperwork.”  Thom  grinned.  “Not  always  his  strong  suit.  He’s working  on  a  pile  of  stuff  to  give  to  Watkins.  Otherwise,  big  Al  will hang  him  upside  down.”  He  nodded  toward  Billy  Watkins,  a  lone sailor  pacing  on  the  dock.  With  close-cropped  red  hair,  he  wore  a duty  belt  with  a  holstered  .45.  A  leather  mailbag  hung  over  his shoulder. 

It was time. 

The concert began with Oscar Bollinger, skipper of PT 94, first to crank  up  his  Packards.  Tubby  glanced  aft,  and  sure  enough,  there was Chief Rockwell, standing in his engine room hatchway, waiting. 

Tubby nodded and twirled a finger over his head. “Start ’em up,” he mouthed against the noise. 

Leo Thom twirled his finger over his head at the same time; PT

109’s engines took fire. By now, all fifteen Packards had rumbled into life,  the  crescendo  incredible  as  men  jazzed  their  engines  to  clear cylinders. 

Jack Kennedy popped out of the 109’s chart room hatch, a pile of U.S. Government envelopes jammed under his arm. He jumped over to PT 72, nodded to Tubby, and walked to the rail. He stooped down to Billy Watkins and handed over the envelopes. Then he hauled a single white envelope from his back pocket and handed it to Watkins as  well.  The  sailor  looked  at  it  and  then  back  up  at  Kennedy  and nodded.  Kennedy  grinned  and  mouthed  “thank  you,”  and  rose  as Watkins walked off. 

Kennedy  moved  over  to  Tubby  and  shouted,  “The  whole  nest started without blowing up?” Once in a while a boat would catch fire or  even  explode  if  the  high-octane  fumes  had  not  been  scavenged from the engine room. 

“Wonders never cease,” shouted Tubby. 

Just  then,  Al  Cluster  paced  by,  waving  and  then  clasping  his hands over his head. 

“Seeing us off,” said Jack. 

“Not just that, he wants to go,” said Tubby. 

But there was a new sheriff in town. He was Captain Edward J. 

(Mike)  Moran,  former  commanding  officer  of  the  light  cruiser  USS

 Boise  (CL  47).  After  an  intense  surface  battle  with  a  superior Japanese  surface  force,  the  heavily  damaged   Boise  under  Mike Moran had held her own and was now limping back to San Francisco for repair and overhaul. But Moran stayed behind to be in the fight. 

Recently  he  was  appointed  Commodore  Motor  Torpedo  Boat Squadrons  South  Pacific.  After  the  embarrassing   McCawley debacle,  Moran  was  making  sure  PT  boats  were  properly  utilized and  coordinated  with  the  surface  fleet.  Part  of  his  mandate  was  to keep unnecessary personnel off the boats. Especially senior officers who were too valuable to risk in battle. 

Kennedy  gave  a  grin  and  jumped  over  to  the  109.  He  tossed back in his best Bostonian Harvard, “Stupid Republican, for sure.” 
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29 July 1943

PT 72, PT 109

En-Route Gizo Island

Solomon Islands

Gizo  Island,  a  crescent-shaped  island  about  six  miles  long,  was forty-five  miles  to  the  northwest  of  Rendova.  But  Wanawana  Island lay in their direct path, so after ducking beneath it, the entire trip was in  the  neighborhood  of  fifty  miles,  about  an  eighty  minute  boat  ride with good conditions. 

Under  a  quarter  moon,  PT  72  and  PT  109  headed  into  seas gently  white-capping  under  a  twelve-knot  breeze.  With  that,  they found  negligible  luminescence  for  the  Zero  floatplanes  to  see.  So they  put  their  boats  on  the  step  at  thirty-eight  knots  and  made  for Gizo Island. 

Tubby  had  his  crew  at  general  quarters  when  they  fetched  the southern  end  of  Gizo.  They  drew  up  to  the  shore,  the  breeze strangely  calm  as  they  powered  into  Gizo’s  lee.  Tubby  and  Jack decided to engage mufflers, and with PT 72 at the head of their little column, patrolled two hundred yards off Gizo’s reef line. Each boat posted a lookout at the bow’s peak, where he lay face down, looking

over the side for coral heads or anything else that could gouge the boat’s bottom. Aboard PT 72, they had Wilcox driving, while Tubby and  Winston  stood  back  with  a  clear  view,  closely  scanning  Gizo’s shoreline with binoculars where the jungle grew to the water’s edge. 

The hatchway was open to the pilot house with Torres watching the radar return. 

Tubby  checked  his  watch:  2158.  About  time.  He  looked  at  Sir Winston, who nodded and donned a headset and microphone. Fuller leaned into the chart house and said to Torres, “We ready?” 

Torres replied, “Wait one.” He reached up to the radio transmitter and  flipped  switches.  Gauges  jumped  on  the  console.  A  speaker under  the  piloting  platform  dashboard  crackled.  “Okay,  Mr.  Fuller. 

Give it a shot.” 

Fuller keyed his mike and said, “Smilin’ Jack, Smilin’ Jack. This is Little  Lulu,  Little  Lulu.  Radio  check,  over.”  He  held  an  earphone tightly to his head. Nothing. He looked at Tubby and shook his head. 

“What  else  can  go  wrong?”  said  Tubby.  He  leaned  in  the  chart house. “Torres, check your settings. We get nothing.” 

“Baker-baker six?” asked Torres. 

“Affirmative.” 

Carefully,  Torres  checked  a  manual,  ran  his  forefinger  over  an entry,  and  then,  ever  so  slightly,  eased  a  knob  on  the  transmitter. 

“Okay, give it another try.” 

Tubby nodded to Winston. 

Winston  pressed  his  mic  and  called,  “Smilin’  Jack,  Smilin’  Jack. 

This  is Little Lulu, Little Lulu.  Radio check, over.” 

Fuller’s earphones and the speaker under the dashboard blasted, 

“Dear  Little Lulu,  Smilin’ Jack here. Read you five by five. How me?” 

Fuller  grinned.  “Hear  you  five  by  five  also,  Smilin’  Jack.  Nice  to have you along. Your posit, please? Over.” 

“Right,  Lulu.  We  have  you  in  sight  about  five  miles  ahead  of  us right now. No traffic so far. We plan to fly a dog-bone pattern above you. Over.” 

Fuller  nodded  and  said,  “Right ,  Smilin’  Jack.  Thanks  for  the company.  Little Lulu, out.” 

Fuller shrugged at Tubby, then raised his binoculars to scan the shoreline. 
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The radio boomed again, “Little Lulu,  Smilin’ Jack, over.” 

Fuller bent to it. “This is  Little Lulu. Go ahead.” 

“We have a question.” 

Fuller looked at Tubby White, who shrugged. “Go ahead, Smilin’

Jack, over,” he said. 

“Ahhhhh,  Little  Lulu.  People  around  here  say   Little  Lulu  is  no longer a virgin. Please advise. Over.” 

“Whaaaat?”  sputtered  Fuller,  forgetting  naval  radio/telephone procedure. 

“Yes,  Little Lulu. Our information is that Sluggo finally got to her. 

Can you confirm, please? Over.” 

Fuller, a paragon of protocol, looked at Tubby White. But Tubby turned  away  and  gazed  far  out  to  sea,  his  body  shaking.  Torres laughed  uproariously  down  in  the  chart  room  as  did  Burke,  just behind in earshot on the starboard twin fifties. 

Tubby  White  kept  his  back  to  Ensign  Winston  Fuller,  his executive officer. 

Fuller  stood  erect,  his  head  into  the  breeze,  and  said,  “Ahh, Smilin’ Jack, this is  Little Lulu. Roger that. Parties here attempting to determine veracity of that statement. We won’t know until the results are in. Over?” 

“Results? What results? Smilin’ Jack, over.” 

“Smilin’  Jack,  this  is   Little  Lulu.  Please  be  advised   Lulu  has attended  her  gynecologist  and  the  results  of  the  rabbit  test  are  not available yet. Over.” 

“Little Lulu,  Smilin’ Jack. Rabbit test. Yes, we understand. Please advise Smilin’   Jack of test results first opportunity. Convey to her that if results are negative ,  Smilin’ Jack is next in line. Over.” 

Tubby  White  turned  and  ran  a  finger  across  his  throat.  Enough. 

 Cut! 

Fuller nodded and said, “Roger, Smilin’ Jack . Little Lulu, out.” He turned to Tubby. “Damned zoomies. Will they ever learn?” 

They  had  rounded  Gizo’s  west  end  and  patrolled  the  island’s  north side. This side offered several coves and they crept closer, spending time looking into each one. 

Nothing.  No  barges.  And  it  was  nearly  midnight.  The  PBY

checked  in:  “Little Lulu,  this  is  the  one  and  only  Smilin’  Jack.  Nice spending  the  evening  with  you,  but  now  we’re  off  to  another  date. 

Over.” 

Fuller  looked  up.  They  heard  the  PBY’s  engines  fade  as  she turned north and headed toward Bougainville. 

Tubby picked up the R/T handset. “Roger, Smilin’ Jack. Thanks to you and Sluggo for all your love and understanding. See you again, sometime. Er …ah … be advised, the rabbit died.  Little Lulu, out.” 

The  speaker  clicked.  Laughter  this  time,  just  laughter.  Then  it clicked off. 

One  more  cove  to  go.  Tubby  looked  aft.  The  darkened  PT  109

was there, 100 yards in their wake. 

Soon they were abreast of the cove. Torres called from inside the chart house, “Hold on, I got something.” 

Tubby leaned forward to peek inside. 

The world exploded. A shell, Tubby later realized a mortar round, had  landed  in  their  wake.  Water  and  shrapnel  scattered  on  PT  72. 

Gunfire erupted from the shore. Bullets whanged off the chart house armor plate and tore wood chunks aft. 

Someone aft screamed. It turned to a horrible, convoluted gurgle. 

“I got it.” Tubby jumped forward and pushed the throttles down. At the same time, he called for the mufflers to be closed. “Open fire,” he yelled. 

With  a  roar,  PT  72  surged  forward.  With  the  fore  and  aft  40-millimeters,  the  starboard  side  .50-calibers  opened  up  in  an unmetered staccato. 

Glancing  over  his  shoulder,  Tubby  saw  muzzle  flashes  on  the shoreline. It looked like three different sources, all firing at once. He yelled at Wilcox, “Ralph, flashing light to the 109 to stay with me. I’m going to reverse course in a minute and take them under fire with our port battery. I want them right there.” 

“Yessir.” Wilcox was on the signal lantern, clacking furiously. 

PT 109 flashed back. 

“One oh nine acknowledges, sir,” called Wilcox. 

“Very  well.”  They  completed  their  turn  as  another  mortar  shell exploded twenty-five yards to starboard. 

Fuller had his binoculars up. “I make out three barges, Tubby. All hunkered under that grove of palm trees.” 

“Pour  it  to  ’em,”  Tubby  shouted.  PT  72’s  .50-calibers  and  40-millimeter  cannons  roared  into  the  night,  their  muzzle  flashes momentarily lighting up her decks and the lifejacketed and helmeted men hunkered over their gun mounts. 

On  the  now  unengaged  starboard  side,  the  gun  flashes illuminated a man lying on the deck. His hands clawed at space as two others bent over him. Bandages, it looked like. 

Aft,  he  saw  PT  109  was  at  it  as  well,  their  combined  firepower pouring a living hell into the barges. 

One of their 40-millimeter rounds hit something. A bright flash lit the  cove  momentarily.  The  night  was  ripped  by  an  enormous thunderclap. A concussion wave and heat immediately followed. 

Tubby was almost knocked over. He, Fuller, and Wilcox grabbed handgrips. “Torres,” he called. “What’s it look like?” 

“Hold on, Skipper. Radar has to settle down after that one. Here we go. Yeah, okay. Just two barges on the screen now. I think it was the one in the middle that went up. Must have been carrying a hell of a  lot  of  ammo  to  make  a  blast  like  that.  Damn  thing  just disintegrated.” 

Tubby  laid  his  glasses  on  the  targets.  One  of  the  barges  had caught fire. Men were swatting at it with towels or blankets and a few fire  extinguishers.  One  of  the  men  bent  close  to  the  fire.  Suddenly his head disappeared in a cloud of glistening gray glaze. 

He swung to the other barge. It looked down by the stern, nearly sunk. Men, troops with field packs, jumped over the side and made their way to shore, some dragging wounded. 

Tubby called, “Cease fire.” 

Sweet  silence.  Without  the  guns,  the  world  once  again  seemed tolerable, almost pleasant. It was a balmy evening. It seemed nice. 

But chaos, agony, and pain raged amongst the barge survivors who, at this moment, were most likely wishing they hadn’t survived. 

Tubby  grabbed  the  mic  and  pressed  the  button.  “Buster  Brown, Little Lulu, over?” 

PT  109’s  response  came  right  back  in  Jack  Kennedy’s  Boston accent. “Bustah Brown  hyeah.” 

“This is  Little Lulu. Sitrep. Over.” 

Kennedy  came  back,  “We’re  good  here,  Tubby.  No  casualties. 

Except one of those damned mortars nearly got us. How you, over?” 

Tubby  replied,  “Glad  to  hear  it,  Buster Brown.  We’re  good  also. 

Out.” 

Something else entered their silent world. The rising note of two

Pratt  &  Whitney  R-1830-54  Twin  Wasp  radial  engines. The  PBY’s hull  and  wings  were  illuminated  when  it  flashed  over  the  barges. 

Then  it  disappeared  into  the  night,  its  engines  rapping  up  as  it clawed for altitude. 

The  speaker  crackled  with,  “Little  Lulu,  Smilin’  Jack  here.  Saw you from miles away. How can we help you?” 

Tubby, Fuller, and Wilcox had their binoculars up, watching men struggle  ashore  amidst  flickering  fires,  some  carrying  others. 

Suddenly, Tubby felt very tired. “We’re okay, Smilin’ Jack, thank you. 

You can go out and play now.” 

The pun fell flat. The people aboard the PBY had seen enough to realize  something  terrible  had  happened.  The  speaker  crackled. 

“Serious stuff down there. Makes you glad we’re on the same side.” 

“Concur,” said Tubby.  “Little Lulu, out.” 

They  both  looked  aft  at  the  two  men  attending  the  one  on  his back. 

Tubby said, “I’ll go.” He nodded to the helm. “It’s yours, take us home.” 

Fuller said, “Okay, I got it, Skipper.” 

“Make sure you swing wide of that airfield.” 

“Will do.” 

Tubby  quickly  walked  aft.  He  knelt  among  the  group.  Epps  and Gilroy  were  bent  over  the  wounded  man.  Tubby  raised  a  flashlight. 

He flicked it on as they removed the man’s helmet. 

Hatchett. 

The  gunner’s  mate  spasmed  pathetically  trying  to  grasp  his throat.  Blood  occasionally  shot  from  a  jagged  wound.  One  of  the

men nodded to the struggling man. 

It  was  Gilroy,  the  starboard  side  aft  machine  gunner.  “Crazy bastard went berserk. Screaming at the top of his lungs.” 

Hatchett  groaned  and  spat  blood.  His  eyes  went  wide  as  he recognized Tubby. 

Gilroy  said,  “Kept  yelling  ‘son-of-a-bitch.’  Got  to  his  knees  and yelled, his finger on the damned trigger, all the time shaking his fist and yelling, ‘son-of-a-bitch.’” 

Tubby  eased  Hatchett’s  head  to  the  side  and  looked  closely. 

Three  inches  of  tissue  were  ripped  outward  just  behind  his  left jawbone. An exit wound, for sure. “Huh?” 

Gently,  he  opened  Hatchett’s  mouth  and  shined  in  his  light.  As expected,  it  was  a  mess.  Blood  welled  up  and  Hatchett  coughed  it out. But still, Tubby could see. His teeth were all intact, and the exit wound was right where his left tonsil was or would have been. Tubby looked outside and felt along Hatchett’s jawbone. All solid. 

Hatchett  had  been  screaming.  When  his  mouth  was  open,  the bullet  had  gone  in.  It  came  out  the  left  side,  taking  his  tonsil  along with it. Amazing. A million-dollar wound. 

Tubby stood and rubbed his chin. “Bitch,” he said. 

“Sir?” Gilroy asked. 

“He was yelling ‘son-of-a-bitch?’” 

“I-I think so, sir. At least that’s what I heard.” 

Tubby  grabbed  Hatchett’s  shoulders.  “Bitch,”  he  said  calmly.  “It must  have  been  when  he  yelled  ‘bitch’  that  the  bullet  went  in.  His mouth  would  have  been  wide  open.  It  took  his  tonsil  away  when  it came out.” 

Gilroy’s eyebrows went up. “No shit?” 

“That’s what it looks like.” 

Winston had PT 72 on the step now. Tubby looked aft. The size of  the  wake  told  him  they  were  doing  a  good  forty  knots.  And  right behind was Kennedy in PT 109. 

Hatchett’s eyes were wide open again, but not quite so panicked. 

He blinked several times. 

Tubby said, “Desmond, you know who this is?” 

Hatchett nodded weakly. 

“That’s  right.  Tubby  White.  Listen.  You’re  going  to  be  fine.  Just keep calm. We’ll radio ahead and have the doc fix you up.” 

“Uhhhgggh.” He spat blood. 

Tubby grabbed some gauze, pointed to the exit wound, and said to Gilroy, “Here, keep some pressure on this; slow the blood flow.” 

“Yessir.” 

Fuller came aft and knelt among them. 

Tubby looked up. “Who’s minding the store?” 

“Ralph is driving. All stations report no casualties, and everything is working fine.” He looked down. “Hatchett?” 

The gunner’s mate chose that moment to spit blood. 

“Jeeez.” Fuller jerked back. 

Tubby said, “Unless I miss my bet, he’s gonna be fine. A million-dollar wound. The docs may even send him stateside.” 

“What?” 

Hatchett  wanted  to  know  also.  He  seemed  to  be  coming  out  of shock. 

Tubby patted Hatchett on the shoulder. “You, Mr. Hatchett, have had  surgery  courtesy  of  the  Empire  of  Japan.  After  you  presented yourself  to  His  Royal  Majesty,  Michinomiya  Hirohito,  Emperor  of Japan,  an  invaluable  7.7-millimeter  Arisaka  rifle  cartridge  was donated  to  affect  the  removal  of  your  left  tonsil.  Although  their method was most unusual, you, as required, opened your mouth at the  right  time  while  giving  your  oath  of  loyalty  to  the  emperor.  In return, His Royal Majesty’s highly trained surgeons took care of the rest. They also provided for you an exquisite exit wound that will be the  talk  of  the  town  for  decades  to  come.  Certainly,  your grandchildren will be delighted each time they hear you speak of it.” 

Hatchett gurgled and clawed at his throat. Gilroy batted his arms away as blood ran from the corner of his mouth. 

“Good. Not as much, this time,” said Tubby. “You’re gonna be just fine,  Desmond.  We’re  going  to  radio  ahead  now.”  Again,  he  patted Hatchett on the shoulder and rose, walking back to the cockpit. 

Shaking his head, he said to Fuller, “Lucky guy.” 

“Yeah.” 

“He did it the hard way.” 

“How’s that?” 

“He didn’t dodge the bullet. He swallowed it.” 
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1 August 1943

Operations Tent, Lumbari Island

Rendova Island, Solomon Islands

“Sorry  to  interrupt,  Commander.  We  got  an  OPERATIONAL

IMMEDIATE.” Ensign Ray Cardenas waved a thick manila portfolio. 

The legend TOP SECRET was stamped in each corner. 

At  four  in  the  afternoon,  Lieutenant  Commander  Thomas Warfield,  commanding  officer  of  PT  Squadron  10,  was  deep  into planning  tonight’s  raid.  Gathered  around  a  drafting  table,  three others  were  with  him:  Lieutenant  Commander  Al  Cluster,  c/o  of torpedo  squadrons  2  and  3;  Lieutenant  Commander  Henry  Farrow, c/o  of  squadron  5;  and  Lieutenant  Commander  Robert  Kelly,  c/o  of squadron  9.  All  would  be  contributing  boats  for  a  raid  on  Vila, Kolombangara, tonight; it looked as if it would be fifteen all together. 

But they had precious little time to get it on paper, let alone make sure it executed well and successfully. Warfield’s squadron 10 would send  out  the  most:  six  boats.  Farrow  pitched  in  with  another  five boats, Kelly with three, and Cluster found only one boat ready to go: PT 109. 

Thus  seniority  for  the  meeting  became  a  mishmash  of  who contributed the most boats. Warfield with his six PTs and the fact that he was the oldest made him the de facto leader. 

They  had  just  set  up  the  division  assignments  and  the communication  schedules  when  Cardenas  interrupted,  waving papers in the air. 

Warfield  rolled  his  eyes.  He  didn’t  need  another  list  of  newly promoted  rear  admirals,  or  worse,  spare  Packard  engine  parts backordered from two months ago. 

“Yes, what is it?” He held out a hand, not bothering to look up. 

“Sorry, Commander, you gotta sign,” said Cardenas, holding out a clipboard. 

Warfield, a 1932 Naval Academy graduate of six feet two inches and  a  slim  185  pounds,  leaned  back  in  his  chair.  It  protested, threatening to dump him on the operations tent dirt floor. 

He was hungry. Today’s lunch was a mystery goulash of dubious origin. Something crunchy, like ground-up cockroaches, was in there, his mind visualized. His stomach rumbled after three bites and he’d made  do  with  a  peanut  butter  and  jelly  sandwich  with  two  soggy lettuce  leaves  jammed  in.  He  raised  an  eyebrow  to  Cardenas.  The kid was good, rock solid. Fresh out of one of those ever-proliferating Texas  colleges.  He’d  done  well  at  PT  school  in  Melville,  Rhode Island, and had just submitted his fourth application for transfer to PT

boats.  And  Warfield  had  denied  it  four  times.  He  couldn’t  afford  to lose Cardenas. At least not right now. 

Warfield said, “Okay.” 

Cardenas handed over the clipboard. Warfield signed and dated, then  returned  it  and  accepted  the  dark  manila  folder.  An  envelope was inside also stamped:

MAGIC

THOMAS  G.  WARFIELD,  LIEUTENANT  COMMANDER, USN

EYES ONLY

MAGIC

The  chair  protested  again  as  he  leaned  back  further.  Cardenas closed his eyes and grit his teeth. 

Warfield  removed  a  single  crinkling  page.  His  eyebrows  jumped up his forehead. His booted feet plopped to the ground as he read it again. “Shit!” 

“Commander?” 

“This says the Japs are on to tonight’s raid.” 

“Holy  sh—”  said  Farrow.  He  knew  Warfield  didn’t  like  swearing even  when  he  was  swearing.  And  yet,  here  Warfield  was,  painting the operations tent blue. There were three other clerks ten feet away, hunched  over  typewriters.  They  kept  their  heads  down  in  feigned detachment. 

Warfield  said,  “Through  the  Blackett  Strait;  they’re  putting  up  a Tokyo Express to cover the barges en route to Vila.” 

“Destroyers?” 

“Four of them.” 

“I’ll  be  damned,”  said  Cluster.  Kelly  and  Farrow  muttered  their agreements. 

Silence. 

“What do you want to do, Tom?” asked Farrow. 

Warfield  bit  a  thumbnail.  “Not  sure,  dammit.”  He  waved  the message. “‘Proceed accordingly,’ they’re telling me.” 

He pointed to the radio telephone. “Ray, dial up Mike Moran. Let’s see what he has to say.” 

“Yessir.” 

Another  messenger  walked  in  wearing  duty  belt  and  hat.  He handed a clipboard with a flimsy to Ray Cardenas. 

Cardenas  signed  for  the  message,  then  handed  it  over  to Warfield. 

Just then the air raid siren wound up outside. 

“Incoming,” shouted one of the clerks. 

With desperate alacrity, everybody ran for the exit and shot into broad daylight. 

Three planes swooped low overhead, in a V, perhaps thirty feet off  the  deck.  Their  bombs  tumbled  out  and  landed  fifty  feet  away, blowing up the officers’ latrine, newly completed by the Seabees. 
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Cluster  spotted  a  trench  and  jumped  in.  Atop  someone.  It  was Warfield  sprawled  on  his  back.  Farrow  and  Kelly  soon  followed  as three  more  planes,  mid-wing  with  twin  engines  and  twin  tails, swooped past, each dropping bombs. 

“Bastards!” yelled Cluster. 

Another  threesome  roared  off  to  the  west.  It  looked  as  if  they were targeting the PT boats moored offshore. More explosions. Bits and shards shot into the air, pulling trails of dark smoke. Except now, the Marines and their AA guns had joined the fight. 

One  of  those  bombers.  They  were  Nells,  trailing  thick,  greasy smoke. Another was hit in the wing root. The wing simply folded up over  the  Nell’s  fuselage.  The  plane  rotated  onto  its  side,  and  two seconds  later,  plunged  into  the  jungle  in  an  enormous  orange-red explosion, trailing a long plume of oily flames. 

Warfield,  his  glasses  askew,  started  laughing  and  looked  up  to Cluster. 

“What’s so funny.” Cluster’s question was punctuated by a string of bombs. 

Warfield  held  up  the  message.  “This  warns  us  of  an  enemy  air attack at low level.” He worked his glasses to his face. 

“Why am I not impressed?” 

“I wonder about that, too. Guess what it says?” 

“Try me.” 

“Proceed accordingly.” 

They  picked  themselves  up  twenty  minutes  later  and,  dusting themselves off, walked back toward the operations tent, which was mercifully undamaged aside from two giant rips in one side. 

They sat and talked as reports filtered in. The more they heard, the stiffer their resolve. Two men killed. Two boats wrecked: PT 117

and PT 164 tied up at dockside. 

Worse,  two  of  PT  164’s  torpedoes  were  blown  off  the  boat  and ran circular runs around Lumbari Harbor, scaring the daylights out of everybody, until they ran up on the beach without exploding. 

Cluster walked over to look things over. One of the torpedoes had slithered up to within 50 yards of an ammo dump. 

Not nice. 

Inside,  Warfield  barked,  “Cardenas.”  He  walked  over  to  the hapless ensign’s desk, a roll of toilet paper in his hand. 

“Sir!” 

“Call  the  Seabees  and  find  out  when  they  can  fix  the  officers’

latrine.” 

“Right away, Commander.” Cardenas grabbed the field telephone and spun the crank. 

Warfield  wasn’t  through.  He  added,  “When  I  get  back,  let  me know what time sunset is tonight.” 

“Yessir.” 

With  a  nod,  Warfield  walked  out,  looking  for  a  fallen  tree  to  sit upon. 

The phone rang in Cardenas’s ear. Then, “Moynihan.” 

Cardenas was glad to hear Chief Timothy Moynihan’s voice. He was a legend in SoPac. His family ran a well-established commercial construction company in Phoenix, Arizona. It was a large family, and Timothy and his two brothers volunteered for the Navy, leaving their three sisters to help their father with the business. 

Chief  Moynihan’s  reply  to  Cardenas  was  surprising:  “We’ll  be there first thing in the morning, sir. Happens all the time. Japs love to bomb  the  shitters.  And  that’s  all  right.  Keeps  ’em  from  bombing headquarters.” 

Another example of the Seabees oft-quoted can-do spirit. 

That done, Ensign Cardenas grabbed the 1943 Nautical Almanac and  began  plugging  tables  looking  for  sunset  time.  He  fumbled pages and cursed. He hadn’t done this since OCS. How the hell—

“Sir?” It was Pechuls, a second-class gunner’s mate with butch-cut  blond  hair,  standing  before  his  desk.  He  was  on  temporary assignment work as a yeoman. 

“Shoot.” 

With  both  thumbs  and  forefingers,  Pechuls  suspended  a  single sheet of paper before Cardenas. It was labeled PLAN OF THE DAY. 

In  the  upper  left-hand  corner  was  the  legend:  Sunrise;  Sunset. 

Sunset was listed as 1831. 
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Cardenas chuckled. “Wow. Thanks, Pechuls.” He sat back. 

Just  then,  Warfield  marched  into  the  tent,  half  the  roll  of  toilet paper missing. “Well?” 

“1831, Commander.” 

“Very  well.  Set  up  a  skippers’  meeting  for  1800.”  Warfield  went back to the drafting table and sat. 

“Yessir. Oh, and Commander?” 

“Yes?” 

“Seabees  start  work  on  the  officers’  head  first  thing  tomorrow morning.” 

“Very  well.”  Warfield  picked  up  a  folder  and  began  scanning. 

Then he stopped. “Tomorrow morning, huh?” 

“Yessir.” 

“Nice  job,  Mr.  Cardenas.”  Warfield  picked  up  a  sheaf  of  papers and grunted. 

Cardenas peeked over his shoulder to Pechuls. 

The man grinned and held up a thumb. 

Cardenas  mouthed  “thank  you”  and  then  remembered  that  two weeks  ago,  Pechuls  had  put  in  papers  for  transfer  to  PT  boats.  All approved, it was sitting in Warfield’s basket. 

Fifteen minutes later, the four squadron commanders once again sat around the drafting table. A chart of the Blackett Strait was unrolled before  them.  They  were  angry.  The  Japanese  had  come  in unannounced  today  and  done  some  serious  damage.  So  they quickly agreed on a plan. 

Warfield  then  called  Captain  Mike  Moran  and  was  now  hanging up  the  field  telephone.  With  a  nod  to  the  others,  he  said,  “Mike agrees, let’s do it.” 

“Right.” 

They  bent  over  the  chart.  Intelligence  had  told  them  the Japanese  were  coming  down  with  a  “Tokyo  Express”  of  four destroyers bringing troops and supplies to Vila at the southern tip of

Kolombangara.  These  were  to  prop  up  their  beleaguered  forces fiercely defending the Munda air strip. 

The Blackett Strait was like a T intersection. The crossbar at the top  was  the  Blackett  Strait  running  along  the  southern  end  of Kolombangara  all  the  way  through  the  Diamond  Narrows,  which separated the island from Arundel Island by only two miles. 

The  staff  of  the  T  was  the  Ferguson  Passage,  which  ran  down toward the PT boat base on Rendova Island. At the top of the staff on the left-hand side was the Gizo Island group. Arundel Island was off  to  the  right.  It  was  that  chokepoint,  right  where  the  staff intersected the cross bar, that the two intended to place their PTs. 

They took stock. This was where they would take revenge, where they would jump the Japs. And they had fifteen PT boats to do it. 

They  dithered  and  bitched  and  called  for  Cardenas  to  drum  up coffee as their pencils twirled. Al Cluster went through half a pack of Bob Kelly’s Camels. At last, they sat back and viewed their plan: ATTACK ORGANIZATION

DIVISION B

PT 159Lt. Henry J. Brantingham

PT 157Lt(j.g.). William F. Liebenow

PT 162Lt(j.g.). John. R. Lowory

PT 109Lt(j.g.) John F. Kennedy

This  division  stationed  furthest  north;  about  two  miles  off Kolombangara. 

PT 159 with the only radar

DIVISION A

PT 171 Lt. Arthur H. Berndtson

PT 169Lt(j.g.) Phillip A. Potter, Jr. 

PT 172Lt(j.g.) Stuart Hamilton

PT 163Ens. Edward Kruse, Jr. 

This  division  stationed  a  few  miles  south  of  Brantingham’s division. 

DIVISION C

PT 174Lt Russell W. Rome

PT 105Lt(j.g.) Richard E. Keresey, Jr. 

PT 103Lt(j.g.) Joseph K. Roberts

This division stationed to the southeast of A Division. 

DIVISION D

PT 107Lt. George E. Cookman

PT 104Lt(j.g.) Robert D. Shearer

PT 106Lt(j.g.) David M. Payne

PT 108Lt(j.g.) Sydney D. Hix

This  division  was  stationed  furthest  south,  almost  into  the Ferguson Passage. PT 107 had the only working radar. 

Warfield checked his watch and looked up. “Skippers’ meeting at 1800. Anything else?” 

Cluster  shrugged.  “Keep  it  safe.  Shut  down  to  one  engine  to minimize  phosphorescence.  Idle  back  and  forth  on  station  until  the little bastards come through. Then let ’em have it.” 

Warfield nodded sagely. “Sounds good to me.” 
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Lumbari Island, Rendova Harbor

Rendova Island, Solomon Islands

Aside from the 7.7-millimeter clean-through bullet wound to gunner’s mate  first  class  Desmond  Hatchett’s  throat,  Tubby  White’s  PT  72

was likewise shot up. 

But they didn’t realize the extent until they returned to Rendova and saw things the next day under full sunlight. The armor plate had done its job protecting the crew topside. But elsewhere, there were bullet  holes  from  calibers  of  all  sizes.  Miraculously,  nobody  was injured  except  Hatchett,  who  lost  his  left  tonsil  while  screaming epithets at the Japanese while rising from behind his shield. 

There  were  several  hits  in  the  engine  room.  The  putt-putt auxiliary  generator  had  taken  a  large  round.  Both  cylinders  were reduced to molten metal. A whole new putt-putt was being flown in from the main PT engine overhaul base at Espirito Santo. Also being flown in was a new oil pan for the port-side Packard that had taken a hit. Fortunately, the boat didn’t need a haul-out because that would have meant a trip to Tulagi and two or three more days off the line. 

So,  work  commenced  immediately  on  PT  72,  with  patching  bullet holes a major part of their effort. 

After  filing  an  after-action  report,  Tubby  volunteered  to accompany  Jack  Kennedy  on  the  next  night  raid:  this  one  to blockade  the  Tokyo  Express,  a  group  of  marauding  Japanese destroyers steaming at high speed through the Blackett Strait. 

Captain  Mike  Moran  and  his  staff  felt  strongly  about  this  raid. 

Moran’s  intelligence  had  told  him  the  Japanese  were  attempting  to reinforce  their  airfield  at  Vila  on  Kolombangara  Island,  just  to  the north of New Georgia, with barges and destroyers. Moran’s intel had a  great  dialogue  with  coast  watchers,  which  gave  them  confidence about their raid assignments. 

For tonight, Warfield and Cluster, with Captain Moran’s blessing, had dialed up all the boats available in squadron two. Word quickly buzzed around the base about the major raid. About the payback for today. 

Lumbari Island was a hellhole for the PT boat crews. There were no facilities ashore to adequately bunk officers and men, so for the time being, they slept aboard. And truth be told, the land crabs were so large and aggressive that nobody wanted to be ashore at all. 

A  pneumatic  drill  woke  Tubby  about  noon,  and  he  wandered around looking for fresh water and a shave. By 2:00 he was fed and reasonably  cleaned  up  when  Al  Cluster  stepped  aboard  and  found him  aft  handing  parts  down  the  engine  room  hatch.  “How’s  it looking?” 

“Pretty good, boss. Starboard engine almost back together. We’ll be ready for tomorrow night; that is, if you need us.” 

“And the putt-putt?” 

Tubby  grinned.  “All  done.”  He  stood  and  led  Cluster  to  the  rail. 

“Guess what?” 

“Try me.” 

“That  PBY  pilot  is  a  buddy.”  A  PBY  had  landed  in  the  harbor delivering  parts,  food,  and  medical  supplies  to  the  PT  nest.  The plane then departed with a new passenger: a dazed gunner’s mate first class, Desmond Hatchett. “Knew him at USC. Neat guy.” 

Cluster, the Naval Academy graduate, said, “That’s a new one on me. I didn’t realize USC had any neat guys.” 

It  was  only  mid-afternoon,  not  appropriate  for  insults  about  ring knockers  and  West  Coast  Trojans.  Tubby  went  on,  “Well,  you’ll change your mind soon. Tommy Hastings brought us a little gift.” 

Cluster’s eyebrows went up. 

“A bottle of Johnnie Walker Black.” 

“Jesus.” 

“And two cartons of Camels.” 

“You know I don’t smoke.” 

“Well, I know this to be true, but I was wondering if you could take care of all this loot for me while I go out tonight.” 

Cluster toed the deck for a moment. “Well, that’s why I–" 

A pneumatic drill rudely interrupted him. 

Tubby  continued,  “Okay.  How  about  just  sitting  on  it  for  a  few hours while I try to find a home for all this.” 

“That’s  why  I’m  here,  Tubby.”  Cluster  stood  tall.  His  tone  had changed. 

Tubby sensed this to be official. “Yes, sir.” 

“You’re not going out tonight.” 

“Huh?” 

“That’s  right.  You’re  beached.  So  you  can  take  care  of  your damned booze.” 

Tubby’s face was written with  what the hell did I do wrong? 

“Not that I wouldn’t mind helping you take care of it.” 

Tubby  sputtered,  “Sure,  anytime.  I  don’t  mind  giving  you  a teaspoon or two.” 

“You met this new ensign, Barney Ross?” 

“Just barely. He a PT boater?” 

“Just finished school at Melville. Now he’s here with orders to this squadron. Turns out he and Kennedy are pals. And Barney’s looking for  a  billet.  So  I’ve  swapped  you  out  for  Kennedy’s  boat  so  he  can get acclimated.” 

“Well,  okay.”  Tubby  looked  up  to  Cluster.  “Damn.  You’ll  do anything for a snort.” 

Cluster laughed and stepped to the brow and off the boat. “You watch ’em shove off?” 

“Wouldn’t miss it.” 
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By twilight, they’d had their skippers’ meeting and were ready to go. 

As  usual,  the  wet,  soulless  humidity  covered  them  with  Lumbai’s misery as they slapped at bugs and wiped away sweat. As anxious as  they  were  about  tonight’s  mission,  they  couldn’t  wait  to  get underway  so  they  could  idle  out  into  the  harbor  and  run  up  to  ten knots  or  so,  generating  a  soothing  relative  wind.  Indeed,  God’s blessing. 

But with fifteen boats going out, the men knew a lot was at stake. 

Father  Steve  Donegan  held  a  quick  Mass  and  Holy  Communion  at 1900,  rendering  God’s  blessings  to  all  who  attended.  Quite  a  few were there. 

Earlier  that  day,  all  four  mighty  80  Elkos  of  Division  B  had gathered  into  a  nest:  PTs  159,  157,  162,  and  109.  And  now  they waited  for  the  signal,  1945  on  their  watches,  to  light  off  their Packards and get underway. 

They’d had a brief skippers’ meeting at 1800 with Al Cluster and Tom Warfield diagramming how they were to blockade the northern section of the Blackett Strait. This in concert with Divisions A and C. 

Included were R/T call signs, the latest submerged reef information, along with data on coast watchers. 

And  now,  Al  Cluster  and  Tubby  White  stood  at  dockside, watching.  Tubby  had  played  enough  football  to  understand  their mood: the locker room before a football game was always quiet, the players  sitting  by  themselves,  consumed  by  one  universal  thought: What  if  I  screw  up?  Can  we  still  make  it?   Or,  even  a  more  basic, terrifying thought:  Am I a coward? 

Barney  Ross  was  on  PT  109’s  foredeck  with  two  other  sailors, futzing with the 37-millimeter anti-tank gun. 

He yanked a lever, opening the breech. “Ow, shit!” He shook his hand. 

Al called across, “You gonna be okay, Barney?” 

Ross looked over to them. “Pinched the crap out of my thumb.” 

He looked at his thumb. It was bleeding. 

Al  gave  a  snort.  “Glad  to  see  you  have  great  skills  in  our  latest weaponry. You ever used one of these before, Barney?” 

“Well, no sir. But I’ll figure it out. It’s just a little pop gun.” 

Kennedy walked up. “You guys are nice to see us off.” 

“Wouldn’t have it any other way, Jack,” said Tubby. 

Kennedy made a show of looking from side to side. “Where are the flowers?” 

“Uhh, delivery boy stopped for a beer.” 

“He’s old enough to drink? Let’s sign him up.” He winked, lowered his voice, and bent low to face Tubby. “Got a letter from Kick.” 

“Wow,” said Tubby. “How’s she doing?” 

“She asks about you. I think she’s hot for you.” 

“Jesus,” said Tubby. 

“Who is Kick?” demanded Cluster. 

“My sister,” said Kennedy. 

“Hot for Tubby? Is she crazy? She must have the IQ of a garbage can.” 

“Not  that  bad,”  said  Kennedy.  “Actually,  I  think  she  has  it  in  for Lord Hartington.” 

“Who in the hell is Lord Hartington,” asked Cluster. 

Kennedy  pulled  out  a  letter—several  onionskins,  actually—and paged through them. “Yep, she’s made plans to go back to London and see him. Met him when she worked for the Red Cross when we were all over there with Dad.” He shook his head. “Still carrying the torch.” 

“She never said a word,” said Tubby. 

“Like I said, that’s Kick.” 

Al  Cluster  was  talking  to  Barney  Ross,  so  Tubby  lowered  his voice and nodded toward the letter. “Any word from you-know-who?” 

“Who?” said Kennedy. 

“You know, Inga Binga.” 

Kennedy  placed  the  letter  over  his  right  hand.  “I  have  no  idea who you’re talking about.” 

“But—” 

Carefully, Kennedy slid the letter off his right hand, holding it so Cluster couldn’t see it. His right hand was in a complete thumbs up. 

And he smiled. Broadly. He said softly, “There’s a good chance.” 

“For what?” 
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Kennedy  looked  from  side  to  side.  Then,  even  lower,  “Back together.” 

“Wow!” 

“Shhh,” with a smile. 

In  a  normal  voice,  Tubby  said,  “I  must  have  had  her  mixed  up with someone else.” 

“Obviously.” 

A loud shout echoed over the nest. “Fire in the hole!” It sounded like  Hank  Brantingham,  skipper  of  PT  159.  One  by  one,  her Packards rumbled into life. 

They  checked  their  watches:  1930.  “Time  to  amscray,”  said Kennedy.  He  stood  and  twirled  a  finger  over  his  head.  PT  109’s Packards joined the chorus. Soon, all twelve engines shouted at the dusk, the exquisite blend causing the rickety dock to vibrate. 

“So long, fellas,” said Kennedy. He stepped over to his cockpit. 

“Good hunting, Jack,” shouted Cluster. 

The two outboard boats, PT 157 and PT 159, cast off and backed away. 

Al  Cluster  untied  the  109’s  bow  lines  and  tossed  them  on  the foredeck to a waiting Ensign Ross. “Have fun, Barney.” 

“Adios, amigo,” called Ross. “I’m going yachting.” 

Tubby White un-cleated the stern lines, then joined Al as PT 162

and PT 109 backed away. 

The sun sets quickly in the tropics. This evening was no different. 

It seemed as if an enormous sweaty creature backstage had yanked a master switch as the two PT boats reversed into the gloom, joining PT  157  and  PT  159.  But  soon,  all  twelve  engines  roared  into  the night as they throttled up and headed for the Ferguson Passage. 

“Sir? Mr. White?” 

“Huh?” Tubby rolled over. Someone was shaking his shoulder. 

“Mr. White.” It was Torres, their radarman. 

Tubby sat up, rubbing sleep from his eyes. “Yes, go ahead.” He checked his watch: 0452. 

Torres said, “I’ve been covering the R/T last few minutes.” 

“Yeah?” 

“They’re coming in.” 

“Yeah?” 

“Except  for  the  109.  It  sounds  like  she  is  not  with  them.  They keep talking about a big explosion that nobody could have survived.” 
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IJN  Amagiri

Blackett Strait

Solomon Islands

The  night  was  moonless  and  dark.  But  millions  of  stars  gleamed overhead,  providing  a  visibility  of  just  fifteen  to  twenty  meters.  The seas were flat, near mirror-like, as Commander Kahii Hanami paced the  bridge  of  his  2125-ton  destroyer   Amagiri  (mist  in  the  sky). 

Completed  at  the  Isikwazima  Shipyards  in  1930,  Amagiri  was  a Hubuki-class destroyer of 97 meters in length. She had six five-inch guns,  four  AA  guns,  and  nine  torpedo  tubes.  With  four  Kanpon boilers  delivering  40,000  shaft  horsepower,  she  was  rated  at  thirty-five knots. 

 Amagiri was first in a column of four destroyers with separation at 1,000  meters.  Thus,  on  this  dreadful  night,  with  visibility  so  poor, Hanami doubled his lookouts. Indeed, Hanami’s brow was knit with the  thought  of  Americans  supposedly  close  by.  Intelligence  had predicted  several  American  PT  boats  in  the  area,  especially  since they  had  just  captured  Rendova  last  month.  And  from  what  he’d
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heard  at  Vila  tonight,  the  garrison  at  the  Munda  air  base  was  still fighting bitterly but was close to falling as well. 

Hanami’s  job  had  been  to  conn  the   Amagiri  and  her  column safely  to  Vila  Harbor.  And  now,  they  were  running  quickly  back  up the Blackett Strait, making haste under the safety of the dark night, for their base at Vella LaVella. 

To starboard lay Kolombangara, whose dimensions were close to symmetrical.  Nearly  circular,  the  island  was  about  twenty-nine kilometers  in  diameter  and  was  covered  with  virgin  forests.  In elevation,  Kolombangara  was  closely  proportioned.  Rising  from  the center  was  a  high-peaked  extinct  volcano  of  1,768  meters.  In English, the name posted on the charts was Mount Veve. 

Kolombangara’s main harbor was Vila on the southern coast, well inside the Blackett Strait and just 3.2 kilometers across the Diamond Narrows, where Kolombangara and Arundel Islands nearly touched. 

At  0245  in  the  morning,  PT  109  idled  in  Blackett  Strait’s  darkness, running  on  just  one  engine  lest  they  be  spotted  by  a  Rufe.  Gizo Island lay about eight miles ahead. Working the helm, Jack Kennedy stood  in  the  cockpit  along  with  Leonard  Thom  and  John  Maguire, their radioman second class. Nearby were PT 157 and 169, but they had lost track of everyone else. 

So far, the whole mission was a bollix. A complete uncoordinated screw-up from beginning to end. 

Kennedy  intended  to  complain.  Nothing  had  gone  right.  Radio procedure  was  out  the  window  as  people  shouted  into  the  night, clearly broadcasting gibberish that nobody understood. 

Kennedy pondered whether or not to check in with the 157 boat to see if they’d had any radar contact. 

A shout from the foredeck. “Ship at two o’clock!” 

“What?”  At  first  Kennedy  didn’t  see  it.  But  he  heard  the  soft whistle  of  intake  blowers  forcing  air  into  a  ship’s  boilers.  Suddenly, there it was. Right off the starboard bow. 

A ship was headed right for them. Maybe a hundred yards away. 

Kennedy yelled to John Maguire, “Sound General Quarters!” 

While Maguire ran aft shouting the alarm, Kennedy punched the start buttons for PT 109’s two outboard engines. At the same time, he cranked in the right rudder, wanting to fire a torpedo. 

In the blink of an eye, the ship was seventy, fifty yards away. Her bow, which looked like a destroyer, came straight at them, a bone in her teeth. 

Kennedy  spun  the  helm.  But  PT  109’s  rudder  wouldn’t  answer. 

She didn’t turn. Her other two engines weren’t yet on the line. 

Closer. Closer. 

Finally, the engines roared into life. Kennedy slammed them into gear and shoved the throttles forward. 

The  destroyer’s  bow  loomed  overhead.  The  superstructure  was blocked from view as it bore down. 

“Nooooo,” someone screamed from back aft. 

The  cold,  wet  bow  was  upon  them.  With  a  terrible  crunch,  it  hit starboard side aft. 

PT 109 was cut in two. 

On his back, Jack looked up. It was a destroyer. The bridge and then the forward stack swept by. 

The whole world lit up. It was as if a massive sun had descended upon  them.  The  explosion  hit  Kennedy  with  a  concussive  force, slamming him once again to the deck. Blinking, he opened his eyes to  see  the  upside-down  Y-shaped  gray  after-stack  of  the  destroyer slide past. 

Kennedy  knew  right  away.  Of  their  3,000-gallon  capacity,  about 2,000 remained and had just been touched off. 

Her two twin five-inch after gun mounts raced past. Kennedy and Maguire were thrown onto the cockpit deck grating. Thom, standing beside the cockpit, also fell. They struggled to rise as the ship above them,  her  intake  blowers  loudly  whining,  bumped  and  gouged  and scraped through what was left of PT 109. 

The ship was past. 

Shouts.  Men  scrambled  to  their  feet.  Another  scream.  The  fire seemed  everywhere,  leaping  up  from  the  water,  licking  at  what remained  of  PT  109.  The  fire  was  rising  all  around  them,  the  heat intense.  Getting  to  his  feet,  Kennedy  yelled,  “Everybody  off. 
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Abandon ship! Everybody over the side before we burn up.” Aft, men jumped in the water as flames sprouted up. 

He looked forward, seeing Barney Ross, a 37-millimeter shell in his  hands.  He  was  struggling  to  his  feet,  but  he  kept  falling  over, slipping  onto  the  deck.  Two  gunners  were  there  with  him,  trying  to rise. “Barney!” 

“Jack?” Barney shouted. 

“Over the side, Barney, before the fire gets us.” 

“Huh?” Barney looked down at the 37-millimeter shell he’d been trying to shove into the breech. He’d intended it for the Jap destroyer but couldn’t get the damned breech block to open. 

“Barney!” Jack yelled. “Go!” 

Ross blinked at his surroundings. He looked down and examined the shell in his hands as if it were a work of art. 

“Barney, dammit!” 

Ross  nodded  and  casually  tossed  it  over  the  side.  “Okay, Skipper.” He stepped to the foredeck’s starboard side, where water lapped at its edges, and jumped in. The two gunners followed him. 

“Hello, what’s this?” It was sub-lieutenant Arthur Reginald Evans of the Royal Australian Navy. A coast watcher posted near the peak of Kolombangara’s Mount Veve, Evans jammed binoculars to his eyes. 

He’d just spotted an explosion of some sort out in the Blackett Strait. 

He stood straight in their dugout and braced his binoculars against a log. “Crikey, Ben. Take a look at this.” 

Beside Evans was U.S. Army Sergeant Benjamin Franklin Nash, third-generation Colorado cattle rancher on loan to the RAN. Nash’s cow-punching  skills  translated  perfectly  to  the  lonely  and  often dangerous job of coast watching. Twirling his binocular’s focus knob, Nash replied, “Damned if I know. But it looks like a fuel-air explosion. 

Hot, quick.” 

“Maybe an airplane crash?” muttered Evans. He looked at Nash. 

“I didn’t hear an airplane.” 
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“Me neither.” The fire had subsided a bit. But it still looked bright and dangerous. “Yeah, that’s a lot of fuel. Maybe a PT boat?” 

“I’d put my money on that.” 

“Poor gobs. We’ll keep a look out. Learn more with the sunlight.” 

The fire had dwindled. And the current mercifully carried it away from the wreckage of PT 109 where, in forty minutes, it had burned itself out. With watertight doors closed, the forward half was still afloat in Blackett Strait. Kennedy, Thom, and Ross swam the area, finding ten of  their  twelve  sailors.  Most  were  okay,  except  for  motor  machinist second class William Johnson, who had swallowed a lot of fuel and was vomiting. Also, he’d been whacked by one of the ship’s screws, but not seriously. 

Swimming  among  flames,  Kennedy  had  found  motor  machinist first  class  Patrick  McMahon,  a  non-swimmer,  who  was  seriously burned  over  his  body.  Getting  “Pappy”  into  a  life  jacket,  Kennedy chomped  the  straps  between  his  teeth  and  towed  him  back  to  the wrecked PT 109’s foredeck, where he had ordered all of them back aboard, the flames having waned and blown away. 

Shivering,  they  grouped  on  the  foredeck  as  the  fire  died. 

Kennedy  counted  heads.  There  were  eleven  including  himself. 

Missing  were  motor  machinist  second  class  Harold  Marney  and torpedoman  second  class  Andrew  Kirksey.  For  fifteen  minutes,  the survivors  shouted  into  the  night  for  Marney  and  Kirksey.  But  to  no avail.  With  little  wind,  the  waters  of  Blackett  Strait  were  nearly smooth. And quiet, as if mocking them and their futile cries. 

They  quieted.  Barney  Ross  scooted  beside  him  and  asked  in  a low voice, “Anybody around to pick us up, boss?” 

Kennedy  cocked  his  head  toward  the  south.  “Not  yet,  Barney. 

Don’t hear a damned thing.” 

Ross  nodded  toward  the  last  of  the  flames  licking  the  surface about  a  hundred  yards  away.  “Couldn’t  be  a  better  beacon,  one would think.” 

“Yeah, Barney, one would think.” 
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Blackett Strait

Solomon Islands

John F. Kennedy was boarded, as was older brother, Joe, Jr., at the Choate  School  in  Wallingford,  Connecticut.  Here,  for  the  ninth through twelfth grades, he was prepped for his entrance into Harvard and beyond that, greater things. 

Some of it came back to him now, as he sat on PT 109’s wrecked foredeck  with  ten  of  his  original  crew  of  twelve.  For  the  rest  of  the night,  PT  109  stirred  beneath  them,  bubbling  and  grunting,  sinking lower  as  the  waters  of  the  Blackett  Strait  worked  their  way  into supposed water-tight compartments. 

The sun rose, brightening the eastern sky behind Kolombangara. 

Choate  flashed  into  his  mind  where  the  somewhat  rebellious  tenth grader was given Rudyard Kipling to study. 

A line from Kipling’s poem, “Mandalay,” had read, “…Where the flyin'-fishes play, An' the dawn comes up like thunder…” 

“…An’  the  dawn  comes  up  like  thunder…”  Great  line.  So appropriate, Jack thought. Kipling nailed it right there. He must have spent a lot of time out in this godforsaken, hot, and miserable place. 

.His mind wandering, Jack looked about. Kettledrums rumbled as deep reds and oranges collided over Kolombangara. The blood-red orb  popped  up  suddenly,  accompanied  by  the  crash  of  cymbals. 

Then  came  the  blasting  of  trumpets  and  trombones  as  the  sun accelerated into the sky. 

 Choate. Why does that come to me now? 

Southeast. Those who were awake had turned to the southeast. 

Rendova. 

Rendova was home, such as it was. PT boats and rescue. Where the hell were they? 

It was only a matter of time. 

She was going down, sooner or later. And some of his men were hurt. Pappy McMahon was the worst, burned terribly over his upper body.  But  amazing  to  Jack  was  that  Pappy  didn’t  cry  or  snivel  or complain.  He  kept  to  himself  stoically  and  even  tried  to  smile  or laugh on occasion. 

They drifted in the Blackett Strait, and to the west, Jack spotted a series  of  small  islands  partly  shrouding  Gizo  Island,  another Japanese stronghold. Their only choice was to head for one of those small islands. Definitely not east to Kolombangara; well over 10,000

Japanese were known to be stationed there. 

Some  of  the  men  slept,  others  stirred  listlessly.  A  few  looked  at him, their faces pleading with … what the hell do we do? And once more,  their  gazes  settled  to  the  southeast  and  Rendova,  their  ears perked for the sound of Packard engines. 

Barney  Ross  and  Leonard  Thom  crawled  over  and  sat  beside him. “What do you think, Skipper?” said Thom. 

Jack  nodded  over  his  shoulder  toward  Gizo.  “Over  there.  This thing is going to sink pretty soon, and we’ll have to head somewhere. 

Probably to one of those little islands.” 

“Japs?” 

“I  don’t  think  so.  But  we’ll  just  have  to  give  it  a  shot.  Before  we go, I’d like to take inventory of what we got. Let’s find out, okay?” 

Thom nodded and they bent to it. Ten minutes later, they learned they had six 45-caliber government issue pistols, Kennedy’s pistol, a

.38  caliber  revolver  with  three  rounds.  Elsewhere,  there  were  two sheath  knives  and  a  pocketknife.  Beyond  that,  all  the  food  and
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medical supplies were trapped below, in the flooding compartments. 

But a large chunk of wood, a log really, was available to them. It had been used to steady the .37-millimeter anti-tank gun. Jack, the best swimmer  in  the  group,  knew  he’d  have  to  tow  Pappy,  who  could hardly  move.  The  rest  would  hang  on  the  log  and  kick  their  way along. 

As  the  morning  wore  on,  they  looked  southeast  and  dithered, hoping against hope a rescue vessel or airplane would show up. 

Atop  Mount  Veve,  Sub  Lieutenant  Reginald  Evans  swatted  a mosquito.  “Buggah!”  he  yelped.  Tightening  the  focus  on  his binoculars, he concentrated on the speck in the water about seven miles lateral distance. The wind was up a bit, the water was white-capping, and it was hard to see the damn thing. 

Finally,  he  blurted,  “Damn.  Looks  like  it’s  gone.  Couldn’t  tell  if anyone was around.” 

Ben Nash walked over. He’d been working on the radio receiver. 

It had been acting up with the humidity. “You okay, Reggie?” 

Evans slapped the back of his neck. “Shit, where do these bloody things come from? They’re like B-17s.” 

Nash smirked. For some reason, the mosquitoes left him alone. 

Like being bullet-proof. 

Evans  lowered  his  binoculars.  “I’ll  betcha  Yanks  were  on  that thing.” 

“Makes sense to me.” 

“We should find out.” 

Nash got the idea. “And?” 

“Yes,  where  are  Gasa  and  Kumana?”  Biuku  Gasa  and  Eroni Kumana were two of the six Melanesians assigned to Evans’s unit. 

Invaluable,  they  helped  with  camping  and  spotting  enemy  aircraft and ships; they also warned of Japanese patrols incessantly poking about, searching for coast watchers. Better yet, Gasa and Kumana were residents of Nauru Island and knew every inch of the islands in the Blackett Strait. 
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“Down in the meadow working on the dugout,” said Nash. 

Evans steepled his fingers. 

“You want to send them out?” 

“Ummmm.” 

“I’d  say  ‘yes’  to  that.”  Nash  nodded.  Gasa  and  Kumana  were among the best. 

“Ummm.” 

The decision was made for them when the sun was about halfway to its zenith: about 1000. The forward section of PT 109 rolled over and capsized, dumping them all into the water. For a while, they grasped the  PT  boat’s  barnacle-covered  keel.  But  with  more  burps,  grunts, and hissing of air, the wreck continued to sink. And the wind was up a bit, bringing more chop in the water. 

Time to go. 

“Okay,  everybody,”  Jack  called.  Jabbing  a  thumb  toward  one  of the  islands  in  the  west,  he  said,  “We’re  going  for  that  one.  Follow me.”  He  rolled  Pappy  onto  his  back,  grabbed  a  strap  from  the horribly burned man’s life vest, and clamped it between his teeth. 

McMahon rasped, “How far is that, Mr. Kennedy?” 

Kennedy  began  pulling  with  a  breaststroke.  “Not  far,  Pappy. 

Maybe a mile or two.” His seaman’s eye told him the little island was more like three or four miles distant, but what choice did they have? 

He  looked  southeast.  No  help  from  that  direction.  No  Packard engines from Rendova. 
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Coconut palms stood out on the little island before him. The sun was well  to  the  west  when  Jack  Kennedy  felt  the  first  bite  of  the  rising bottom. It was living coral and would tear into his bare feet, he knew. 

He had done well enough pulling Pappy McMahon, so much so that he  was  several  hundred  yards  ahead  of  the  others  as  they  kicked their way along, pushing the log. But it wasn’t easy going. The wind grew stronger after a while and created little whitecaps, one or two slapping Jack in the face when he least expected it. He’d swallowed water, and later brought it up in spasms of nausea. 

Overall,  he  estimated  at  least  five  hours  had  gone  by  when  his foot grazed something. Coral maybe. He tested again with his foot. 

Bottom.  Yes,  coral,  four  feet  beneath.  He  stopped  and  stood.  Pain zipped up his leg. His foot, all soft from the water; he’d cut it easily. 

“How we doin’, Mr. Kennedy?” asked McMahon. He’d been facing the opposite direction and didn’t realize they’d just landed. 
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They  had  made  it.  The  little  island  lay  before  them,  perhaps  a hundred  yards  in  diameter  and  tufted  with  a  small  coconut  grove. 

“Home  sweet  home,  Pappy,”  said  Kennedy,  trying  to  stand.  As  he did, the razor-like coral ripped at both feet. “Can you stand?” 

“Yeowch, shit. Yes. Jeeez. That stuff really gets your attention.” 

“Just lay back, Pappy, and I’ll pull you closer to the beach.” As he stood  and  yanked  McMahon  along,  Kennedy  looked  back  and  saw the others paddling the log. Perhaps four, maybe five hundred yards out. 

“Okay,  thanks.”  Gratefully,  McMahon  lay  back  and  let  his  legs rise. 

But Kennedy was tired. So tired, he was beyond exhaustion. Yet he stood and pulled until McMahon yelped. “My hands. I’m touching. 

I got it from here, Skipper.” 

“Okay, Pappy.” Kennedy helped McMahon rise to his feet in three feet  of  water,  and  like  a  pair  of  drunks,  the  two  stumbled  their  way ashore into clean, soft sand. 

“Over here,” muttered Kennedy. He dragged McMahon to a fallen coconut log. Both fell on their knees, then onto the sand, and were instantly asleep. 

“Jack?  Hey,  Jack.”  Barney  Ross  and  Leonard  Thom  leaned  over him. “Come on, we gotta get you into some shade.” Each taking an arm,  they  dragged  Kennedy  into  the  small  coconut  grove  and propped him up against a tree. “Welcome to this island paradise.” 

Kennedy smacked his lips, looked up, and gasped. It was Thom leaning over him. 

“That’s  right,  boss.  No  water.  Except  for  a  few  really  green coconuts,  no  food.  No  electricity,  no  telephones.  Worst  of  all,  no girls.” He sat back and grinned. 

Kennedy  pulled  himself  up,  looking  out  onto  the  Blackett  Strait. 

With the afternoon, the wind blew harder, making the water choppy. 

Otherwise, it was still a bright, shiny day, about four o’clock. 

Thom said, “Did you see those Japs as you were coming in?” 

“Holy cow. No!” 

“They idled past in a patrol boat, not a care in the world. About four  or  five  guys.  We  lay  low  offshore,  and  you  and  Pappy  were passed out by that log. So it all went well. They just kept on going.” 

“Whew. I didn’t know.” 

“Good  thing  you  didn’t.  You  two  looked  like  fallen  logs.  We  just drifted and kept our heads down. Lucky, huh?” 

“Yeah.” 

“Any idea where we are?” asked Ross. 

“Gizo Island group. Gizo should be that way.” Kennedy jerked a thumb over his shoulder. “About five miles or so.” 

“Air base?” 

“I think so.” 

“Yeah. Lotsa Jap planes buzzing around over there.” 

“That’s encouraging.” 

A man groaned and retched loudly. 

They  looked  over.  Thom  said,  “In  case  you  didn’t  know,  that’s Edgar Mauer, our esteemed ship’s cook, testing green coconut milk.” 

“That’s all we got here?” asked Kennedy. 

“Just green unpasteurized coconut milk. Guaranteed to make you puke.” 

“Water?” 

“Nada. Just bird shit. Bird shit everywhere. I don’t think the birds can stand it either. Nobody around.” 

“Nice,” said Barney Ross. 

“Bird Island. The boys are calling it Bird Island.” 

“I  think  it’s  Plum  Island,  but  Bird  sounds  good  enough  for  me.” 

Kennedy bowed his head for a moment. 

“Boss?” asked Thom. 

Looking up, Kennedy said, “We have three choices. One is to get captured by the Japs.” 

“Uh-uh,” said Thom. 

Kennedy  held  up  two  fingers.  “Next,  we  just  sit  here  and  rot  on this island paradise.” 

“I don’t think so,” said Ross. 

“And three, we get the hell out of here.” 
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“Now that’s a great idea. You Harvard guys are really smart,” said Ross, the Princeton graduate. 

Kennedy nodded out into the Blackett Strait. “Out there. They’re bound to come back tonight. And that’s where I’ll be. With the battle lantern for a signal.” 

“You’re going back out there?” gasped Ross. 

“Somebody’s  got  to  flag  them  down.”  Kennedy  stretched  out  in the  shade  and  laced  his  fingers  over  his  belly.  “Until  then,  I’m sacking out.” 

They  did  their  best  to  make  McMahon  comfortable,  which  wasn’t much. Then waited until after dusk. 

Finally, Kennedy stood and looked out into the Blackett Strait. No wind. No choppy water. Good. Quarter moon, limited visibility. Okay. 

He  pulled  on  a  pair  of  soggy  boots  they’d  brought  in  on  the  raft, buckled the .38 revolver around his neck, wrapped a battle lantern in a life vest, and walked to the water’s edge. 

“Is this trip necessary?” Thom asked stoically. 

Kennedy’s  teeth  gleamed  in  the  moonlight.  “You  got  the  watch, Lenny. Take care of our boys.” 

“You bet.” 

Kennedy started walking. 

Thom called after him, “You be careful, boss. We’ll be watching.” 

“I’ll be okay.” 

Hip  deep  in  the  water,  Kennedy  was  able  to  walk  on  the  bottom thanks to his boots. There was the island next door, which he knew to  be  Nauru  Island.  It  was  larger,  about  three  hundred  yards  in length.  He  approached  to  shallow  water,  stood  there  for  a  bit,  then took  off  his  boots  and  tied  them  to  the  life  jacket.  With  a  last  look toward  shore,  he  began  swimming  out  to  where  he  knew  the  PT

boats, his comrades, would be passing. 
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He  was  soon  in  deep  water  and  headed  out  to  where  he  knew they  would  be.  But  then,  something  was  just  not  right.  He  looked back to the island and saw he was drifting parallel to it about three hundred yards off the beach. He swam hard. Had to get out there. 

Current. Dammit. 

He worked hard to break free, but the current was a death-grip, just  sweeping  him  along.  Where  the  hell  was  it  taking  him,  he wondered?  If  he  kept  going  like  this,  he’d  end  up  on  Gizo  with  the Japs.  He  kicked  harder  and  harder.  Time  was  passing,  the  night waning. Beyond exhaustion, he had to do something. He needed to break free. 

Boots. 

There  went  his  mobility.  As  he  bounced  back  and  forth  in  the Blackett  Strait,  waves  occasionally  slapped  him.  He  made  his decision. 

He untied the boots and dropped them. Instantly, he felt himself making  progress.  The  battle  lantern  too?  No.  That  was  freedom. 

Their ticket home. He swore to keep it and began taking long, slow strokes. It took hours, but he eventually came upon sand. Coral too. 

The  boots  were  gone.  But  he  was  ashore.  The  coral  hurt  as  he gratefully struggled ashore. 

He looked about. This island. This damned island. Nauru Island. 

It  was  the  same  one  he’d  walked  to  in  the  beginning.  The  current had  pulled  a  cruel  trick.  It  had  yanked  him  out,  then  dumped  him back, nearly in the same place. 

Lieutenant  (j.g.)  John  F.  Kennedy  stumbled  and  nearly  crawled across  the  reef  connecting  to  Plum  Island.  It  was  nearly  daylight when,  his  feet  cut  in  several  places,  he  finally  made  it  back  to  the home  island.  Plum  Island.  The  crew  saw  him  and  dragged  their semi-delirious skipper back to the shade of the palm trees. They did their  best  to  comfort  Kennedy  as  he  vomited  and  retched  and shivered for a couple of hours. At one point, he opened his eyes and looked back into the faces peering down at him. 

Kennedy spotted Barney Ross and gurgled something. 

“I didn’t get that, Jack.” Ross leaned closer. 

Kennedy’s voice was a bit louder. “Guess what, Barney?” 

“What’s that, Jack?” 

“You get to go out tomorrow night.” 

PART III

The sea—this truth must be confessed—has no generosity. No display of manly qualities—courage, hardihood, endurance, faithfulness—has ever been known to touch its irresponsible consciousness of power. 

Joseph Conrad
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Inga was late. She’d been drawn into a long-distance phone call with John  Wheeler,  North  American  Newspaper  Alliance’s  (NANA) founder and general manager in New York. Wheeler had confirmed rumors that Sheilah Graham was still carrying the torch for F. Scott Fitzgerald, her recently deceased lover, and thinking of returning to her  native  Britain.  If  Sheilah  did  go  back  to  Britain,  Wheeler  asked over a scratchy telephone connection extending nearly 3,000 miles, would  Inga  mind  being  considered  for  her  replacement  at  NANA’s subsidiary,  Hollywood Today?  What  a  surprise,  Inga  mused  as  she turned  over  possibilities  in  her  mind.  Sheilah  Graham  was  firmly fixed as one of the triumvirates of Hollywood gossip columnists. The other  two  career  make-or-break  artists  were  Louella  Parsons  and Hedda  Hopper.  Make-or-break  meaning  a  disparaging  word  from one  of  the  three,  whether  true  or  false,  and  a  career  could  be completely ruined. But Inga took solace in that she didn’t work that way.  She  disliked  gossip.  She  always  looked  for  the  good  in

someone  and  used  that  as  a  through-line  to  carry  the  story.  That way,  the  subject  wasn’t  hurt,  nor  was  NANA,  nor  was  her  reading public.  Always,  her  responses  and  fan  letters  were  very  positive. 

Something must be going right, she figured as she pulled up to Alex, the  valet.  But  the  phone  call  with  Wheeler  was  all  so  fresh  in  her mind she had difficulty remembering who she was meeting. 

She  downshifted  her  Lincoln  Zephyr  coupe,  turned  into  the Derby’s parking lot, and pulled up to the front doors. 

“Afternoon, Miss Arvad,” said Alex. A weightlifter, muscles bulged at every seam of Alex’s black uniform trimmed in dark red piping. 

 With  a  build  like  that,  why  aren’t  you  serving,   she  wondered. 

“Here for lunch; about an hour and a half.” 

He gave a wink. “I’ll put your car right over there.” He pointed at his valet stand across the way. “See, it’s got shade.” He opened the Zephyr’s door. 

She flashed a broad smile. “Wonderful, thank you, Alex.” 

Inga  Arvad  stepped  out.  The  Brown  Derby  front  doors  were snapped open. She smiled greetings to the staff and stepped down into  the  main  dining  room.  As  usual,  the  place  was  nearly  full,  the crowd  well-dressed  and  quietly  enjoying  their  meals.  A  three-piece string ensemble played in the background. 

Where was he? She looked about. 

“Looking  for  someone,  Miss  Arvad?”  It  was  the  maître  d’, impeccably dressed in a tux. Except he wore elevator shoes. Even at that  he  only  stood  up  to  5  feet  5  inches.  But  he  had  a  beautiful, sonorous baritone voice. 

“Oh, hello, Franco. Yes …” She stood on tiptoes. “Well…yes. I’m supposed to meet a Navy officer, Commander Todd Ingram.” 

“Of course. They are over there.” He waved a hand off to his left. 

“They?” He had waved to two Navy officers sitting in a booth. 

“Yes, ma’am. They got here early. All the way from Long Beach. 

Please follow me.” 

Franco  led  the  way  and  stopped  before  a  booth  with  two  Navy officers  in  dress  khakis.  They  looked  spectacular  with  ribbons  and brass buttons. She recognized Ingram, the one on the left, with three gleaming stripes on his shoulder boards. The one on the other side had  shoulder  boards  with  four  stripes,  a  full  Navy  captain.  Right

away  Ingram  smiled,  scooted  out,  and  took  her  hand.  “Miss  Arvad. 

This is great. Thanks for asking us.” 

She shook and patted his hand. “Us?” 

“I’m  sorry.  My  wife  has  the  car  and  Jerry  Landa  insisted  on driving. Please, I’m sorry if this is inconvenient. This is Captain Jerry Landa, my commanding officer. Jerry? Say hello to Inga Arvad.” 

Landa had shot out from his side of the booth and was at Inga’s side,  taking  her  hand.  Wow,  she  thought.  This  guy  is  very  good-looking  and  has  a  definite  Hollywood  smile.  It  gleams  almost  as much  as  Jack  Kennedy’s.   “Hello,  Jerry.  And  welcome.  This  is  an honor. You have me outnumbered.” She turned to Ingram. “And my apologies.  I’m  sorry  it  took  so  long  to  get  together.  But  I’m  glad you’re here.” 

“No, this is very nice, Miss Arvad. I—” 

“Inga, please.” 

“Er…yes, Inga. Thank you.” 

Landa’s smile stretched. “And please don’t forget, Miss Arvad—” 

“Inga.” 

“Yes,  Inga.  We  don’t  bite.  We’ll  behave  ourselves.  We’ve  had nothing to drink … er, ah, so far.” 

Franco bowed and made to move off. “We’re all good here, then. 

Please may I get you something to drink?” 

“Iced  tea,  please,  Franco,”  said  Inga.  Without  asking,  she scooted in, taking a place in the middle. 

“Coke,” said Ingram. 

“Me too,” said Landa. 

Inga  looked  at  Landa.  “And  you  are  a  full  Navy  captain  and Todd’s boss?” 

“That’s  right,  ma’am.  Somebody  has  to  watch  out  for  him.  Navy policy,  twenty-four  hours  a  day.  He’s  unpredictable.  Otherwise,  we know, once off the base, he’d be raping and pillaging.” 

Inga giggled. 

Ingram braced his forehead on his hand, shaking his head a bit. 

“Jerry, you said you’d behave.” 

“Honest injun, Todd. Standing orders of the Commandant of the Eleventh Naval District.” 

“You promised.” 

Landa said, “Todd, you don’t know yourself. And I have to ask.” 

“What?” 

“Have you taken your pills this morning?” 

Inga laughed out loud. 

“Dammit, Jerry, you are—” 

“Phhfffffffffffttttttt.”  A  racking,  disgusting  sound  erupted  from  the table across the aisle. Franco had just seated a rather corpulent lady there. Another woman, a well-made-up, good-looking brunette, took a place beside her. Diners glanced over, some grinning. The three-string ensemble stopped playing. 

Ingram’s head snapped up to Landa. His eyes turned to slits. 

Landa  gazed  at  a  plein-air  seascape  on  the  opposite  wall,  his face a marvelous study in deadpan. 

Inga glanced from one to the other and immediately understood. 

Quite  the  opposite,  she  was  not  a  study  in  deadpan.  Covering  her mouth, she was having difficulty holding it in. 

Someone guffawed two tables away. Others looked quickly over to the lady, then back to their own tables. 

The  corpulent  lady  stood,  her  fists  doubled.  Franco  reached down,  pried  up  her  seat  cushion,  and,  with  thumb  and  forefinger, pulled out a … whoopie cushion. 

Franco  looked  slowly  about  and  then  snapped  his  fingers.  The music  resumed;  decorum  returned  as  he  stuffed  the  whoopie cushion under his cummerbund. 

Landa sat up and straightened his tie. With hands folded before him, he asked, “Well, what do we talk about?” 

The corpulent lady leaned over and shook a finger at Franco. Her companion  stood,  the  corners  of  her  mouth  raised.  The  corpulent lady poked Franco in the chest. 

He  backed  away.  “Ma’am,  I’m  sorry.  Your  lunch  will  be  on  the house. Please, be seated.” 

“Up  yours,  you  puny  little  wretch.”  She  stormed  away,  the  other woman following. 

Inga looked at the two. “That worked pretty good. I wonder what happens when you’re drunk.” 

Landa  spread  his  hands.  “My  fault,  really.  Todd  knew  nothing about it. I’m sorry.” 

“A  great  stunt,  actually,”  she  said.  “Charlotte  did  a  bad  job  of handling it, which made it even better.” 

“Who?” they asked. 

“Charlotte  Walker,”  she  replied.  “An  agent.  That  was  most  likely one  of  her  clients.  She  typifies  what  Hollywood  shouldn’t  be  about. 

Always at someone’s throat.” 

“You know her?” 

“Yes, NANA wants me to interview her. But I’ve been ducking it. I think she caught wind I was coming here and secured that table just to jump me.” 

“And then Landa came along,” Ingram said. 

Now,  it  was  Landa’s  turn  to  get  red  in  the  face.  “Really,  I  didn’t mean to—” 

Inga  dropped  a  hand  on  Landa’s  forearm.  “No,  no,  Captain, please. This place is like a Japanese pachinko machine. You shoot the ball and have no idea where it’s going to land. Please, it was a great stunt. I was glad to see her go. Now we can talk.” 

“Well, I really didn’t mean to—” 

“Please, Captain.” 

“Jerry.” 

“Jerry. Your secret is safe with me.” 

Landa beamed. As did Ingram. 

Two  waiters  appeared  with  menus.  The  three  of  them  read  and fussed and ordered. The waiters moved off. 

Reaching  for  her  purse,  Inga  pulled  out  a  steno  pad.  “I’ve  seen enough to do a column on the both of you.” 

“You  don’t  say,”  said  Landa,  checking  his  watch.  “Oops.”  He stood. “Time for me to call Laura. I’ll tell her we’re on our way.” 

“Your way to where?” asked Inga. 

“She lives here in town.” 

“Your wife?” 

“Not exactly. My buddy and my ride. Okay. Be right back.” Landa moved off. 

“Not his wife?” inquired Inga. 

“Girlfriend. They’re very close.” Ingram crossed his fingers. 

“Who is she, if you don’t mind me asking?” 

“Laura West, she’s a musician. She—” 

“You mean the Laura West, piano player with the NBC Symphony Orchestra?” 

“Well, yes.” 

“Amazing. Laura is one of my favorites. I’d like to—” 

Ingram  laid  a  hand  on  her  forearm.  “Can  you  take  it  easy  with that for just a little while. Things are kind of”—he tipped a hand from side to side—“dicey right now.” 

“Well, yes, of course.” 

“Thank you. He stays with her in town on weekends. She’ll take him back to Long Beach on Monday morning. Meantime, I have his car. My way to get back.” 

“You’re friends, then?” 

“Well, yes. He’s also my boss.” 

“What kind of duty?” 

“Destroyers.” 

She waved at the table across. A new couple was being seated. 

Franco  refused  to  look  over  and  return  Inga’s  smile.  But  his cummerbund was rearranged, the whoopie cushion gone. 

“He’s gone, so I suppose I can ask, is he a good captain?” 

“The very best.” 

“How  do  you  know?  Have  you  been”—she  waved  off  toward Santa Monica and the Pacific Ocean—“out there with him?” 

“Yes, I have, Inga. He’s the very best. I’d trust him with my life,” 

said Ingram. “In fact, I have. Out there, he is a paragon of command and  control.  He  thinks  of  everything.  Anticipates  the  worst  and  is loved by his men.” 

“Wow. That’s saying a lot.” 

“His  bosses  love  him,  too.  That  is,  the  sea-going  ones.  Ashore, Jerry is a disaster, as you have just seen. A little boy. He can’t stop. 

He  gets  in  trouble  with  the  chair-bound  officers,  especially  the  old-establishment ones.” 

“Ouch.” 

“That’s  why  he’ll  never  make  admiral.  Made  too  many  enemies among  the  gold-brick  class.  He  knows  this  but  he  hates  pretense. 

And I must admit, there’s some of that in me, too, but I try to control it.” 

“Oh, dear.” She dashed off some notes. 

“But please don’t print that last.” 

“Don’t worry. I’m not like that.” 

“Thank you.” 

“I noticed he had a limp. Is he okay?” 

“Well,  yes,  we  had  a  little  go-around  with  the  Japs  out Guadalcanal  way.  Jerry  has  a  bit  of  luggage  from  that.  But  he’ll  be fine. He loves to gripe about it in front of women. They go nuts.” 

“And this is the one who Tubby is at war with?” 

“Yeah, except that was a minor dust-up. But they love to keep it going in front of others. It gets hilarious at times.” 

Landa  hobbled  back  and  scooted  in.  He  drilled  Ingram  with  a fierce look. “You’ve been talking about me.” 

Ingram returned the look. “So what?” 

Inga scribbled furiously, then laid down her pencil. “May I ask you two about Tubby White?” 

“Well,” said Ingram. “A PT boat skipper, he saved us and brought us home. In fact, we all had dinner with him and his folks at Olsen’s in San Pedro.” 

“Saved you from what?” 

Ingram and Landa exchanged glances. And were silent. 

She looked at them, her eyebrows up. “Ah, military secret.” 

They remained silent. 

She asked, “Well as long as you know PT boater Tubby, there’s another PT boater named Jack Kennedy. Have you run into him?” 

“Yes,” they grunted. 

“Just yes?” She stopped writing and looked up, her eyes darting from one to the other. 

Landa  cleared  his  throat.  “We’re  getting  into  security  here.  Yes, we know him, or at least I can say we’ve met him. That’s all we can say.” 

She looked to Ingram, who just shrugged. Softly, she said, “Looks like I better shut up.” 

Landa covered her hand with a large paw. “No. You’re doing fine. 

You’re doing your job and doing it well. So, I can tell you this. Pretty soon, we’ll be shipping out in that direction. And when we see him, we’ll  make  sure  he’s  well  taken  care  of  and  we’ll  send  your  lo—er, kind regards.” 
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She flashed a glorious smile. “You had it right the first time, Jerry. 

Love. And thank you.” 

Thirty  minutes  later,  they  were  gathered  in  the  parking  lot,  saying goodbye. Inga stood on her heels, gave Ingram a hug and a kiss on the cheek. 

She said, “You boys take care of yourselves. Don’t take any un—

offfff!” 

Wrapping  his  arms  around  her,  Landa  grabbed  Inga  and  kissed her fully on the mouth. Then he let her go with a lopsided grin. “That was even better than I imagined.” 

For once in her well-practiced and cosmopolitan years, Inga was speechless.  No  part  of  her  psyche  was  the  assumed  Hollywood custom of slapping an aggressive man. She looked to Ingram. 

He shrugged with a “see what I mean?” expression. 

“I…I—” 

Gently,  Landa  held  her  by  the  shoulders.  “Forget  it,  sweetheart. 

You  take  care  of  yourself  too.  Sounds  like  you  have  a  lot  on  your plate, so be careful.” 

A bit flushed, she said, “Thank you. I will.” 

Ingram said, “And thanks again for a great lunch.” 

Inga’s  Lincoln  Zephyr  swooped  up.  Alex,  the  valet  with  the bulging muscles, stepped out and held the door for her. 

She  said,  “You  are  most  welcome.”  Tipping  Alex,  she  gave  a stern  look  at  Landa  and  said,  “I  think.”  She  winked  and  got  in.  “So long, boys.” She drove off. 

Alex  ran  off  for  Laura  West’s  Cadillac  convertible.  Ingram  said, 

“Jerry, I don’t know how I put up with you and all your sh—” 

Landa drew himself up. “You have orders, Mister.” His eyes bored in. He was serious. 

“What? How could—” 

“Temporary. Ken Snyder, skipper of the  Sallot,  got whacked really bad by malaria. They’ve flown him to Noumea for special treatment. 

They  reckon  he’ll  be  off  the  line  for  several  weeks.  Meantime,  they

need a temporary skipper. Basically, you’re sitting on your dead ass around here, so I volunteered you for the job. Any objections?” 

“Jeeez, I dunno—” 

“That’s the spirit.” 

“But—” 

“Seriously,  Todd.  This  isn’t  long  term.  And  you  could  use  some experience. It’s perfect for you. The  Sallot is an older Craven-class but still very close to a  Fletcher.” 

“Ken Snyder, I know him. A good man.” 

“So go have some fun.” 

“Jerry, last time I was out there, the place was crawling with Japs trying to kill me. You, too.” 

Laura  West’s  light  green  Cadillac  convertible  drew  up.  Alex jumped out and held the door open for Landa. Landa pulled a dollar bill from his wallet and handed it over. 

Holding it up, Alex stared at it, then back to Landa. 

“Anything wrong, Junior?” asked Landa. 

Alex, the valet, slowly shook his head. 

“You look in great shape. Why aren’t you serving your country?” 

“Bad eyesight, Admiral.” 

Landa and Ingram got in and tossed their caps in the back seat. 

“That’s pretty obvious,” said Landa. 

“Huh?” 

“Your fly is unzipped, kid.” With a roar, Landa popped the clutch and screeched from the driveway. 

With customers crowding around, Alex risked a quick look down. 

Landa  was  right.  His  fly  was  wide  open  for  the  whole  world  to see. 
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Beneath merciful coconut palms, they kept their skipper cool and dry. 

Even so, they were desperately thirsty, tired, and hungry. 

And abandoned. 

But where? Only knowing their tiny shelter was part of the Gizo Island group, they called it Bird Island because of the proliferation of bird poop. It was everywhere and covered almost everything. Except for  the  spot  they  hand-raked  out  for  their  skipper.  And  that’s  where he lay now, slightly fetal, fast asleep. 

When they first picked him up off the beach, he was delirious and sick from the sea water he’d ingested. But as time rolled on, he grew quieter  and  quieter,  until  he  was  very  still,  mouth  slightly  open, sleeping the sleep of the near dead. 

While  Kennedy  slept,  they  kept  their  heads  cocked  to  the southeast. Just thirty-five miles away lay Rendova and all those PT

boats  and  brethren.  But  where  were  those  Packard  engines  that should have been blasting up to rescue them? 

Nothing. 

A few shook their heads. Abandoned. Not coming. 

Worse. Maybe not caring. 

One by one, it struck them that they were on their own. 

While  their  skipper  slept,  Barney  Ross  shuffled  about  with  the realization that as an officer, he did have to go out there and confront the  elements  that  Jack  did  just  last  night.  That  Lenny  Thom,  the rough, tough, Ohio State football player who was still in reasonable shape,  had  to  stay  close  by  and  take  care  of  the  crew.  And  his skipper. 

About  three  in  the  afternoon,  they  again  scrambled  for  cover when a patrol boat cruised by. It was another fifty-footer with about six or seven troops. Most were asleep. The helmsman’s feet in split-toed sandals were propped on a bulkhead as he steered with a tiller. 

Up  forward,  a  bowman  sat  cross-legged  on  the  foc’s’cle,  his  head nodding  with  sleep.  They  didn’t  look  alert,  but  Ross  and  the  others knew they could be deadly if galvanized into action. The only other sign of the Japanese were airplanes taking off and landing on Gizo Island about three miles to the west. 

Barney Ross paced back and forth, waiting for Jack to wake up. 

Finally,  he  did  at  about  four  in  the  afternoon,  reasonably  refreshed but still very tired. 

A blinking Kennedy was trying to sit. 

Ross stooped beside him and looked him up and down. “You look like shit.” 

Kennedy’s  throat  was  dry.  He  rasped,  “Thanks  for  the encouragement.”  And  then  he  croaked,  “You’re  going  out  tonight. 

Just to next door.” He nodded toward the island. 

“Thanks, boss.” 

“Nauru.” 

“Yes, sir. Nauru it is, sir.” 

“Shove off about an hour before sunset. You don’t need to swim outside unless you really have to. I just want one of us to signal, to wave one of our boats down, if they happen by.” 

Ross  gave  an  exaggerated  exhale  and  nodded.  He  was committed. 

“Glad to see you’ve bought into the program.” 

“You’re welcome. Any last-minute instructions?” 
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“Keep your head down. Watch out for Japs. And fire a shot if you think you hear our boys.” 

“Gladly.” 

“You got a pistol?” 

“Right here.” He patted a .45 stuffed in his belt. 

“And if you decide to swim, be advised there’s a nasty riptide off that island.” He stretched an arm toward the southeast. “It’ll take you out and then bring you back. Very strong. You can’t fight it. A waste of time if you go out there. It’ll be a survival contest.” 

“That’s encouraging.” He gave a half-grin. 

“Just stay awake, Barney. See what turns up.” 

“Aye, aye, Commodore.” Ross stood. 

“Take care of yourself.” 

“Do my best.” 

They  all  gathered  and  watched  him  go.  Wearing  boon-dockers, he  easily  negotiated  the  100-yard  coral  causeway  and  rose  on  the other island’s beach. 

Ensign  George  H.  R.  Ross  turned,  grinned,  waved,  and  then disappeared into the coconut grove. 

The night passed peacefully and they were up at sunrise, Kennedy grouped  among  them.  Barney  stood  across  on  the  beach,  tired, forlorn, his shoulders slumped. 

Thom muttered to Jack, “Looks like he struck out.” 

“Ummm,”  replied  Kennedy.  The  day  and  night’s  rest  made  him feel better all right, but also reminded him of how hungry and thirsty he was. 

How hungry and thirsty everybody was. 

Jack Kennedy waved and shouted, “Come on, Barney, we have things to do.” 

Nobody spoke. But as Barney trudged across, they all looked at their skipper, their faces saying  oh no, here we go again. 

Al  Cluster  and  Tom  Warfield,  commanding  officer  of  PT  Squadron 10, sat under the shade of a coco palm just outside Chaplain Steve Donegan’s  tent.  The  memorial  service  for  Jack  Kennedy  and  the crew of PT 109 was due to start in five minutes at 1100 sharp. They watched as Donegan fussed beside his tent, setting up chairs and an altar under coconut trees. The altar looked decent, but Donegan was having trouble with the seating. Already about twenty or so officers and men, mostly PT boaters, stood around waiting. 

A  half  dozen  reporters  had  sniffed  it  out  also.  That  the  son  of Joseph  Kennedy,  favored  friend  of  President  Roosevelt  and  recent Ambassador to Great Britain, was missing and presumed dead. The squadron  commanders  were  also  there:  beside  Al  Cluster, commanding  officer  of  squadrons  two  and  three,  there  was  Hank Farrow, c/o of squadron five, and Bob Kelly of squadron nine. With the  crowd  growing,  Donegan  sent  sailors  searching  for  anything  to sit  on.  They  returned  with  .50-caliber  ammo  boxes,  two  empty  55-gallon fuel drums, and a smattering of coconut logs. 

“I hate this,” Warfield grumbled. 

“Hate what?” said Cluster. 

Warfield  threw  a  hand  to  his  head.  “Headache.”  Last  night, Warfield had come up with a bottle of scotch of dubious origin from an unknown vat in an unknown province of Australia. They didn’t call it the Outback for nothing. Together, they drank it. Cluster was sure he  detected  just  a  bit  of  torpedo  juice,  but  he  wasn’t  about  to  say anything. And he had the headache too. Almost blinding. 

He gave Warfield a look. 

Warfield mumbled, “I know, I know. It was lizard piss. But where do you get stuff out here?” 

Cluster sniffed, “Any port in a storm. Many thanks.” 

Father  Steve  Donegan  stood  on  an  ammo  box  and  waved everyone  in.  He  was  barely  5’5”,  but  weighed  close  to  175,  was balding,  and  had  eyes  bluer  than  the  surrounding  waters  of  the Solomon Sea. Uncovered, he had donned the stole of a priest. With a  broad  smile,  he  spread  his  hands  and  announced  in  a  loud baritone,  “Okay,  boys.  Welcome  to  Our  Lady,  Queen  of  Rendova Church.  Come  on  in  and  make  yourself  comfortable.  Hats  off, please.” 

They sat on a log. Warfield grabbed Cluster’s shoulder. “Get over it, Al. He’s gone.” 

Commander Tom Warfield, a Naval Academy graduate from the class of 1931, was not only the commanding officer of PT Squadron 10,  but  the  de  facto  leader  of  the  PT  squadrons.  He  was  a  natural leader; men were buoyed by his confidence and trusted him. 

Al  Cluster  nodded  dumbly  as  Donegan  boldly  launched  into  his recitations.  They’d  done  this  before,  the  most  recent  for  Earle Boemke  and  the  crew  of  PT  111.  That  had  been  a  night  service. 

Under  the  stars  back  at  Mbanika  in  the  Russells.  Everything  quiet and beautiful. Somber but beautiful. 

Here,  in  spite  of  Donegan’s  skills,  they  were  miserable.  They couldn’t  ignore  it.  Mosquitoes  still  buzzed  and  bit,  there  was  rarely hot chow, the jungle crud ate away at everything. Men scratched and grumbled  and  couldn’t  wait  to  go  onto  patrol  where  cool  breezes made one feel whole again. 

And  here,  the  boys  on  the  109  were  missed.  Everybody  knew Kennedy, and Thom, and McMahon, and Starkey, and…

Cluster sniffed again and blew his nose. 

“They’re gone, Al.” It was Warfield whispering. “Get over it. Listen to the Padre and move on.” 

“I got it, Mike,” Cluster rasped. 

Warfield  whapped  Cluster’s  knee,  then  looked  around.  Others were  blowing  their  noses.  Coughing.  Sneezing.  Wiping  their  eyes with sleeveless wrists. 

But  Donegan  was  good.  He  was  well-trained,  professional,  and yet compassionate. He got through it. Lieutenant junior grade John F. Kennedy and the crew of PT 109 were finely eulogized. And one could  tell  from  the  crowd’s  reaction  that  they  appreciated  it.  Since Kennedy  was  Catholic,  Donegan  offered  a  Holy  Eucharist. 

Everybody  stood,  lined  up,  and  went  up  to  Chaplain  Donegan: Catholic, Protestant, Jewish, it didn’t matter. He served them all and blessed them all. 

It was done twenty-two minutes later. Cluster checked his watch. 

Just twenty-two minutes for a man who stood tall among them. No, his war record was not sterling. But then, they’d sent him on stupid missions,  over  twenty  of  them,  and  he’d  done  a  good  job.  For

nothing. That’s when he began griping. About being shafted. That’s why  everyone  called  him  Shaftie.  It  was  the  man  that  those assembled here missed and loved. And Cluster was among them. 

Tom Warfield hadn’t known Kennedy. And as he looked around, he couldn’t quite understand. Everyone here seemed to have known Kennedy, their heads still hanging as they shuffled from the sands of


“Our Lady of Rendova Church.” What was it about Kennedy? 

Warfield watched as Al Cluster walked off on his own and down to  the  beach.  Kicking  aside  a  couple  of  land  crabs,  he  sat  on  a coconut log, looking out over the bay. 

Interesting, Warfield noted. Cluster wasn’t smoking cigarettes. 
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Kennedy’s teeth glinted in the sunlight. “How do you feel, Barney?” 

Having  just  slogged  up  the  beach,  Barney  Ross  swayed  before him with drooping eyelids. “Honest, Skipper, I stayed awake.” 

“I believe you, Barney. So, what happened?” 

“Not  a  damned  thing.  Didn’t  hear  Packard  engines.  Didn’t  even hear a seagull fart. Didn’t hear the sand crab that bit me on the heel. 

Didn’t see the—” 

“Okay, okay.” Kennedy jerked a thumb over his shoulder. “Go get a  couple  hours  of  shuteye.  Then  we  take  off  for  that  island  over there.” He nodded to one closer to Ferguson Passage. 

“Two hours?” 

“We’ll gather our stuff while you’re sleeping. Then we take off.” 

“Why?” 

“More coconuts. Maybe mature coconut milk so we don’t puke as much. At least we can start from there. And it’s closer to Ferguson.” 

“I’ll  buy  that.”  Slowly,  Ross  trudged  over  to  a  grove,  flopped down, turned to his side, and was gone. 
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By  one  o’clock,  they’d  gathered  all  their  gear,  awakened  a grumbling  Barney,  shoved  the  log  in  the  water,  and  were  off. 

Kennedy  once  again  towed  Pappy  McMahon,  who  seemed  no worse, but no better, either. The hardest part was that he’d begun to smell,  badly.  Sitting  upwind  of  him  became  the  preferred arrangement. 

In  their  new  home,  Olasana  Island,  they  relaxed,  found  mature coconuts,  and  pulled  them  down.  Although  the  milk  was  cool  and soothing,  it  still  didn’t  abate  their  hunger.  Elsewhere,  some  of  the men drank too much and too fast. They regurgitated in spite of Thom walking among them telling them to slow down. 

The sunset was spectacular and they settled to watch gathering clouds overrun it. Yes, it was rain. Just after the sun went down, they whooped and hollered as they pulled off whatever clothes they had and  looked  for  puddles  of  rainwater  to  wash  them.  Collecting rainwater  to  drink  was  more  of  a  challenge,  but  they  found  licking rain  off  undergrowth  leaves  worked  well,  and  they  spent  the  next couple  of  hours  licking  leaves  and  shouting  back  and  forth.  Finally, the rain abated at about midnight, and they settled with their backs against trees for much-needed sleep. 

Kennedy  awoke  the  next  morning,  the  fifth  of  August.  It  was  about seven  a.m.  by  his  reckoning,  which  he’d  begun  to  trust  more  and more as he acclimated to the tropics. 

Thom  and  Ross  were  arising  as  well,  so  with  a  breakfast  of coconut meat and milk, they gathered off from the others, upwind of Pappy, and talked things over. 

Lenny Thom began with some interesting news. “You guys enjoy the water last night?" 

Kennedy nodded. Ross said, “Got as much as I could. Still thirsty, though.” 

“Guess what,” said Thom. 

The other two raised their eyebrows. 

“Check the leaves,” said Thom. 

Ross leaned back and grabbed a thick branch. “Awwwww, shit.” 

“Exactly.” Thom grinned. “We got some extra vitamins.” 

Ross  pulled  hard.  The  branch  snapped  and  he  swung  it  over. 

Many of the leaves were covered with bird poop. 

Kennedy  grinned.  “Barney,  I  always  knew  you  were  full  of  shit. 

Here’s proof positive.” 

“What are we gonna do?” mused Ross. 

“If we get sick, we get sick,” said Kennedy. “So be it. Otherwise, we press on.” 

The other two nodded. 

Kennedy  continued,  “Beyond  that,  I’m  for  staying  on  the  move. 

As long as we can. Just keep looking.” 

Thom nodded sagely. “Makes sense. Otherwise, we just sit here and rot.” 

“But,”  offered  Ross,  “we  gotta  watch  for  Japs.  Having  them  so close makes me nervous.” He nodded west toward Gizo Island, just four  or  five  miles  away,  with  its  airstrip  of  fighter  planes  constantly taking off and landing. 

Thom asked, “Okay, what’s next, boss?” 

Kennedy pointed. “Over there.” 

They followed his gaze. 

“I  remember  that  one  from  our  charts.  Pretty  sure  it’s  Olasana Island.  And  as  you  can  see,  it’s  quite  a  bit  larger  than  these  outer islands.  Chances  are,  we’ll  find  plenty  more  of  everything  over there.” 

“Japs?” asked Ross. 

Kennedy replied, “As you say, we have to be careful. So, let’s you and I go over. Lenny gets to take care of the boys.” 

“Nice,” said Thom with an eye roll. 

Ross said, “Come on, Lenny. We need you.” 

“Right,” said Thom. “We’ll have the place spick and span for you upon  your  return.  Brass  all  shined,  floors  polished,  hot  chow,  New York steaks, and cool Pabst Blue Ribbons ready to go.” 

Ross reached for the sky. “I only wish.” 

Kennedy  smirked.  Soon,  they  were  in  the  water,  headed  for Nauru Island. 
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Four  hours  later,  the  two  felt  as  if  they’d  stumbled  upon  a cornucopia. Crossing to the Ferguson Passage side of Nauru Island, they  came  upon  a  Japanese  barge  high  on  a  reef  and  apparently abandoned. At least that’s what it looked like. From the underbrush, they  studied  it  for  an  hour  before  they  ventured  out.  The  barge looked pretty well stripped, but next to it they discovered a crate with Japanese  writing.  They  pried  off  the  top.  Ross  whooped  when  he spotted biscuits and candy inside. 

Kennedy held up a bag. “Barney, we dine in splendor tonight.” 

“Beats the hell out of the Stork Club,” agreed Ross. 

But  things  improved.  Inside  the  tree  line,  they  stumbled  on  a thatch  shelter,  which  was  something.  But  beside  it  was  another world. 

A drum of water. Fifty-five gallons of it. 

Both were so excited they hardly noticed another treasure. 

“Wow!” said Kennedy, leaning over a one-man canoe. 

“We feast tonight, huh?” 

“Yeah,” said Kennedy, “I don’t see why not. We can—” 

“Shhhhht!” went Ross. He pointed. 

Two  men  had  pulled  up  in  a  canoe  and  were  looking  about  the beach. 

Kennedy  and  Ross  stooped  behind  the  undergrowth  to  watch. 

“Japs?” whispered Ross. 

Kennedy  rasped  back,  “Too  dark.  And  Japs  don’t  wear  sarong-type clothes, and these guys don’t have weapons.” 

The  two  men  were  short,  no  taller  than  five  feet  four,  their features were sharp, as if carved from ebony, their hair was woolly, just  like  the  Melanesians  they’d  seen  in  the  Solomons.  “I’d  say they’re natives. They look like they live here,” said Kennedy. 

“So?” 

“Let’s give it a shot.” 

“What if they’re Jap sympathizers?” 

“I don’t think so. But if they are, it’s our tough luck.” 

“You’re the boss.” 

“Don’t worry.” 

“That  shows  me  a  lot  of  confidence.  Which  means  if  you’re wrong, Jack, I get to kick your ass.” 

“Thanks,  Barney.”  Kennedy  rose  and  walked  out  on  the  beach. 

“Halloo.”  He  smiled  and  waved.  Ross  followed  him,  pasting  on  his best grin and likewise waving. 

The  two  men  jerked  upright  and,  from  about  twenty  feet  away, studied  Kennedy  and  Ross.  One  muttered  something  to  the  other. 

Slowly,  they  backed  to  their  canoe.  Then  they  bowed  deeply  and turned  to  the  canoe.  Shoving  hard,  the  canoe  was  water-  borne  in seconds and they paddled away. 

Ross  sighed  and  watched  them  go.  “It’s  about  your  magnetic personality, Jack.” 

Kennedy watched as they disappeared around a headland to the east. “Well, they’re not paddling toward Gizo. I take that as a good sign.” 

“Ah, yes. Kennedy’s magic intuition. I have to say, however, that I agree with you.” 

Kennedy looked up to the sky. “Almost sunset. Excuse me for a while as I take that little hot rod out for a spin and see if any of our boys are out there.” 

“Suit yourself. Can I have some biscuits while you’re gone?” 

“You really are a pig, Barney.” 

Kennedy  paddled  a  mile  or  two  into  a  calm  Ferguson  Passage. 

Drifting, he waited and waited as twilight merged into darkness. But he  was  aided  by  a  nearly  half  moon  and  spotting  the  wrecked Japanese  barge.  He  paddled  back  and  found  the  beach  and  Ross minutes later. Together, they loaded the biscuits, candy, and water. 

Then,  Kennedy  looked  down  into  the  canoe.  He  looked  up  to Ross and spread his hands. No room. “Sorry, Barney.” 

Ross nodded glumly. “I caught the short straw.” 

“I’m sorry. Can you make it alone?” 

“Do I have a choice?” 

“I  wish.”  Kennedy  passed  over  a  ration  of  biscuits  and  candy. 

Finding  a  ladle,  he  gave  Ross  a  generous  slug  of  water.  “You  try later?” 

Ross  shook  his  head.  “Not  really.  I  can’t  walk  on  water,  at  least not yet. I’d rather go in daylight.” 

With  some  difficulty,  they  maneuvered  the  fifty-five  gallon  drum and the biscuit cache into the canoe. 

“I don’t blame you. See you tomorrow, then.” 

“For sure. I need to get back early before you guys slop up all the biscuits.” 

“You’ll have plenty, Barney. See you later.” Kennedy pushed off. 

He made Olasana Island an hour later. Lenny Thom walked out and found Jack pulling the canoe up onto the beach. 

Thom cheered when he saw the water drum and biscuits. “Wow! 

Fellas, gather ’round. See what our glorious leader has discovered.” 

The  men  emerged  from  a  coconut  grove  and  circled  around Kennedy and Thom. 

“Lookit this!” shouted Maguire as they drew closer. 

They  whooped  and  hollered  as  Kennedy  walked  among  them passing out biscuits and candy. 

And water. Precious water. 

That  done,  Thom  took  Kennedy  aside.  “There’s  more.  Stand  by for this.” 

“What?” 

“We have company.” 

“You’re kidding.” 

“Two guys. Natives. Seem all right, but they’re not sure we’re not Japs.” He pointed to two dark figures near the underbrush. 

“How about that?” Kennedy’s hands went to his hips. 

Thom said, “They paddled up late afternoon. At first, they scared the  crap  out  of  me  and  we  scared  the  crap  out  of  them.  But  we talked. Seem nice enough. But the language barrier took some work. 

I think they’re almost convinced we’re Americans.” 

“I’ll be damned.” Kennedy walked over. Even in the darkness, he recognized them as the two natives he and Barney Ross had seen earlier  in  the  day.  He  put  his  hands  on  his  knees  and  smiled. 

“Halloo? Remember me?” 

At  first,  they  shrank  back  and  looked  to  the  beach  and  their canoe.  Then  Thom  spoke  calmly  with  them,  explaining  in  pidgin English  that  Kennedy  was  a  friend.  He  said,  “Looks  like  they mellowed when they saw you passing out biscuits and candy.” 

“Well,  let’s  try  this.”  Kennedy  sat.  Thom  sat  beside  him,  and together,  they  gestured  up  to  the  natives,  holding  up  biscuits  and waving. “Come on, fellas. Have a seat.” 

Eventually, the natives sat and, bowing slightly, accepted a biscuit each. Then they drank water as the rest of the men quaffed a cupful each. Soon, they all burped and grunted as if what little they had was a king’s feast. 

Kennedy said to the natives, “Me…John Kennedy. Captain.” 

“Ahhhhh.” One smiled. “You captain? Skipper man?” 

“Yes,  that’s  right.”  Kennedy  took  a  swig  of  coconut  milk.  “How about you?” He offered them some and they took it. 

Then  they  stood.  The  shorter  man  had  eyes  that  danced  in  the pale  moonlight.  He  pounded  his  fist  to  his  chest  and  said  in  near-perfect English, “I am Baiku Gasa.” 

The other said proudly, “I am Eroni Kumana.” 

Their  voices  had  the  melodious  lilt  of  the  Melanesians,  perhaps Kumana more than Gasa. 

Kennedy  said,  “I  am  very  pleased  to  meet  you.”  He  extended  a hand. 

They shook with vigor. 

“Hey, me too. I’m Lenny Thom.” 

Again,  they  shook  with  Lenny.  Soon  all  four  began  speaking excitedly. Finally, Kennedy asked, “Send message to Rendova?” 

“Rendova, sure, sure.” Gasa pointed south. “That way.” 

“Good, good,” said Kennedy. He nodded to them. “But you take message, Rendova?” 

The  two  looked  amongst  one  another  and  spoke  in  their Melanesian  dialect  for  a  minute.  At  length,  “Yeah,  yeah.”  Gasa pointed. “Rendova that way,” he said. 

“Uh-oh,” said Thom. “We need an interpreter.” 

“I got this, Lenny,” said Kennedy. 

To the Melanesians, he tried again. “You go, Rendova?” He made paddling motions. “Rendova, yes?” 

The two spoke among themselves at length. “Ahhhh,” they said. 

Gasa  finally  turned  to  Kennedy  and  said,  “Hokay.  We  go.  Maybe tomorrow.” 

Kennedy gave a broad grin. “Yes, tomorrow. You take message?” 

Gasa  and  Kumana  stood,  bowed,  and  backed  away.  Kumana said,  “Hokay,  Skipper  Man.  We  back  tomorrow.”  He  pointed. 

“Rendova that way. Hokay. We go.” 

Kennedy and Thom walked with Gasa and Kumana down to the beach,  where  they  deftly  launched  their  canoe  and  jumped  in. 

Paddling  off,  they  soon  disappeared  into  gloom.  But  they  clearly heard  Kumana’s  sing-song  voice  over  the  water,  “Bye-bye,  Skipper Man.” 
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6 August 1943

Olasana Island

Solomon Islands

The two natives were on the beach when Kennedy and Thom arose. 

Again,  they  feasted  on  biscuits,  water,  and  candy.  After  that, Kennedy and the natives struck out for Nauru Island, leaving Thom to  once  again  take  care  of  the  crew.  Just  before  they  left,  Lenny Thom  handed  something  over  to  Jack,  saying,  “Here’s  a  message for them to carry.’’

Kennedy  looked  it  over,  finding  it  scratched  on  the  back  of  an envelope. He said, “Well that’s good. But what if it gets water-soaked or damaged or something?” 

“It’s a crapshoot, Skipper,” said Thom. “I didn’t know what else to do.” 

Kennedy  said,  “Maybe  find  something  more  durable.  Okay, thanks,  Lenny.  See  you  along  about  sunset.  Or  maybe  the  next morning.” 

“You leaving town?” 

“I’m  thinking  we  have  this  canoe  now.  Why  not  use  it?  We’ll  be closer to Ferguson. So why not go out there and try to find one of our

brethren?” 

“Makes sense to me. Go sic ’em, Fido.” 

“Arf,  arf,”  mimicked  Kennedy,  pushing  his  dugout  canoe  off  the beach to follow the natives. 

They  were  nearly  there  when  Kennedy  spotted  someone  in  the water.  He  steered  closer  to  find,  “Barney!  Out  for  your  morning exercise?” 

Ross dog-paddled alongside and said, “Shit, I wanted to get over there before you guys slopped up all the biscuits.” 

Kennedy  held  up  a  bag.  “Oh,  ye  of  little  faith.  Come  on  back, Barney. I got a ration for you. The good news is you won’t get fat on these things. The other news is that you’ll still feel hungry.” 

“Any port in a storm, boss. Lead on.” 

Swimming  alongside  was  a  bit  awkward,  so  Kennedy  shouted, 

“Hang on, I’ll tow you.” 

Ross spat water. “Okay.” 

Fifteen  minutes  later,  they  landed  on  the  beach.  Kennedy  led Ross over to a wary Gasa and Kumana. They shook hands formally. 

At first, things were a bit stiff as Ross ate. But he kept grinning as he stuffed his cheeks with crackers. 

They watched him intently. 

Ross  tilted  his  head,  stuck  out  his  tongue,  crossed  his  eyes, jammed his thumbs in his ears, and wiggled his hands. 

Like squealing pigs, Gasa and Kumana broke into laughter. 

Kennedy said, “So that’s your secret with women?” 

“Works all the time,” said Ross, his cheeks still full. 

Kennedy  gestured  and  they  sat,  forming  a  circle  like  the  night before. Kennedy asked, “Okay. You go Rendova?” 

“Rendova that way,” said Gasa, pointing to the south. 

“Great.” Barney Ross rolled his eyes. 

Kennedy said, “We went through all this last night. They’ll catch on.” 

With  paddling  motions,  he  turned  to  them  again.  “You  go Rendova, okay?” 

Gaza’s  eyebrows  went  up.  “Hokay,  hokay,  Skipper  Man.  We  go Rendova.” 

“Good.”  He  pulled  out  Lenny  Thom’s  note.  “You  give  big  Navy man, okay?” 

“Big Navy man?” asked Gasa. 

“Yes.” Kennedy gave an exaggerated nod. 

“Big, big Navy man?” 

Thinking of no one in particular, Kennedy said, “Yes, great big fat Navy man.” 

Kumana jammed Lenny Thom’s note in his sarong. 

To  Kennedy,  it  didn’t  look  too  secure.  So  he  said,  “Hold  on  a moment, please.” 

Barney asked softly, “What?” 

Kennedy rubbed his chin. “We need something more. Something they won’t lose. Ah!” He picked up a dry coconut shell. Pulling out his pocketknife, he began carving. 

Barney  leaned  over  and  watched.  “Not  bad.  Tell  them  to  send back a couple of blondes while they’re at it.” 

Kennedy ignored him and kept on. Five minutes later, he held it over for Ross to see. 

NAURU ISL. 

NATIVE KNOWS POSIT

HE CAN PILOT

11 ALIVE

NEED SMALL BOAT

Ross smiled. “Yeah, that should do the trick. Not bad for a Harvard-trained imbecile.” He flipped the coconut shell back to Kennedy. 

“Okay.” Kennedy handed the shell to Kumana. “You please take to Rendova, to great big fat Navy man.” 

Kumana  held  it  skyward,  then  handed  it  over  to  Gasa,  who  did the same. He asked, “This go to big fat skipper man, Rendova?” 

“Yes, yes,” said Kennedy and Ross together. 

They stood. “Hokay,” said Kumana. “We go.” But then, he leaned over  and  whispered  to  Gasa.  They  nodded  and  gestured  for Kennedy and Ross to follow. They walked along the tree line, finally arriving  at  a  large  pile  of  dead  coconut  fronds.  Pulling  the  fronds aside, they uncovered a two-man dug-out canoe. 

With a full grin, Gasa said, “For you, Skipper Man.” 
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“Wow!” said Ross. “Paddles and everything.” 

Kennedy  bent  low  with  an  exaggerated  bow.  “Thank  you  very, very much.” 

“Hokay, Skipper Man. Rendova with coconut, yes?” 

“Yes,  yes,  please,”  said  Kennedy  and  Ross.  They  walked Kumana and Gasa back to their canoe, shook hands, bowed deeply, and helped shove them off. 

“Bye-bye, Skipper Man,” they called as they paddled away. 

Kennedy  and  Ross  stood  knee  deep  in  the  waters  of  Ferguson Passage.  They  kept  waving.  Kumana  and  Gasa  waved  back  until they passed around a headland and were gone. 

Kennedy walked ashore and sat. 

Barney  looked  down,  his  hands  on  his  hips.  “Okay,  Jack,  we going back?” 

Kennedy shook his head. “Not sure if those guys can connect up with  Rendova.  I  mean  it’s  nearly  forty  miles.  Anything  can  happen. 

And then will they believe them?” 

Ross had a feeling in the pit of his stomach. “Well, at this time, I say  hope  for  the  best.”  He  stood  straight.  “Let’s  go  back  to  the others.” 

Kennedy  munched  crackers  and  nodded  toward  the  dug-out canoe. “We have this marvelous gift. Let’s use it. We’d be fools not to. So tonight we go back out there.” He pitched a hand out to sea. 

“Ferguson Passage. We must try. I don’t want to give up.” 

Ross sat slowly beside Kennedy and skewered him with his eyes. 

“Jack, is this really necessary?” 

“It’s our only chance, Barney. We have to keep trying.” 

“It just doesn’t make sense.” 

“Barney. I promise you. A nice cool moonlit cruise. We just sit out there  and  bob  up  and  down,  fanned  by  soft  ocean  breezes.  The waves make you sleepier and sleepier. In the distance, you hear PT

boats swarming all around.” 

“Bullshit.” 
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“You’ll do just fine, Barney.” He stood. “Come on. Let’s go under those coconut trees and grab some shuteye.” 

It was a sudden August rain squall. They were barely a mile off the beach  when  the  storm  rolled  down  on  top  of  them.  Wind  howled. 

Combers grew to five feet and crashed over them. Ross, in the bow, gave up paddling and began frantically bailing water with a coconut shell. 

Lightning  fired  all  around.  Quick  blasts  of  thunder  followed,  and they felt as if they were under gunfire. 

The  wind  picked  up,  screeching  mad,  sometimes  driving  rain parallel  to  the  ocean,  almost  as  if  they  were  being  stung  by  a hundred needles. 

“Turning around, Barney,” Kennedy yelled. “We’re going back.” 

“Huh?” 

“Back to the beach,” Kennedy screamed. 

“Where the hell is it?” It was so dark, the storm so intense as it closed  upon  them,  Barney  Ross  couldn’t  see  two  feet  in  any direction. 

They  were  about  halfway  through  the  turn  when  an  enormous wave  picked  the  whole  boat  up  and  slammed  it  upside  down  onto raging waters. 

They  held  on  and  kicked,  their  progress  slow.  But  they  were encouraged by the sound of waves smashing on the reef. Closer and closer. 

There was a lull in the wind. Kennedy yelled, “Sorry I got you into this, Barney.” 

Ross yelled back, “I could say I told you so, but I won’t.” 

The waves crashed—louder. They were closing in on the island. 

But it also meant they could be smashed to pieces on the reef. 

Lightning, thunder, waves colliding against the reef. It all blended into a seemingly endless Götterdämmerung of fate and death. 

The current picked up. Swifter and swifter. Thundering waves told them  they  were  close.  Kennedy  heard  himself  shout.  Dear  Lord. 

 Hang on! Pray this sturdy dug-out absorbs the blow. 

A large wave grabbed them dramatically. It tossed them end over end onto the reef. The canoe took some of the shock. But Kennedy and Ross were terribly battered. 

Pain fired up Barney’s arm, like he’d been shot. 

But then water sloshed back to the sea. Miraculously, they could stand. 

Water  sucked  at  them,  trying  to  take  them  back.  In  pain,  hardly able to keep their balance, they slogged ashore as sharp coral tore at their bare feet. 

Onto the sand. Still warm from the day’s sun. 

They collapsed. 

Instantly asleep. 
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6 August 1943

Noumea Harbor

New Caledonia

It was a bollix from beginning to end. Ingram’s C-54 had landed two days  ago  in  Noumea.  Tired  and  out  of  sorts,  he’d  then  taken  a launch out to the  Sallot only to find an extremely vibrant and healthy Ken Snyder stomping about his ship’s decks, fully recovered from his malaria  and  ready  to  go.  In  fact,  he  was  weighing  anchor  in  fifteen minutes to join a convoy for escort duty up to Guadalcanal and back. 

Commander  Frederick  Moosbrugger  had  already  moved  ahead  to Tulagi  with  his  Destroyer  Division  12.  Messages  of  these  changes had  been  chasing  Ingram  all  the  way  across  the  Pacific  but somehow had never caught up with him. So next, he was looking for a ride to Tulagi to hopefully catch up with Moosbrugger. 

At the BOQ, they’d roused him at 0030 saying a PBY was taking off  soon  for  Tulagi  with  emergency  provisions.  Ingram  managed  to squeeze into that tired old seaplane, and as loud as it was, endured a six-hour flight to Tulagi Harbor, where he landed at about 0730. He was picked up by a whale boat for transport to the destroyer tender

 Whitney (AD 4), swinging at anchor in mid-harbor with six destroyers nested three and three on either side. 

Moosbrugger  met  Ingram  on  the  02  deck  just  outside  the wardroom, leaning on the rail, looking over the three destroyers tied up to port. 

He  extended  a  hand.  “Hi,  Todd.  Feel  like  you’ve  had  the runaround?” 

“Well, I–” 

“Don’t answer that. Just makes things worse.” He waved a hand toward the destroyers alongside. Men, many shirtless in the sloppy heat,  walked  the  ships’  decks  with  boxes  and  crates  to  be  struck below. There were even a few young officers as well, passing boxes, sweating,  and  cursing  with  the  rest  of  them.  A  yard  oiler  was outboard of the ships, refilling their fuel bunkers. 

“Glad to be here, Commodore.” 

“Now  that’s  bullshit,”  said  Moosbrugger.  He  was  lean  and weighed 174 pounds, average by South Pacific standards but gaunt by  USA  mainland  standards.  As  proof,  his  belt  was  drawn  tight  to hold  up  oversized  pants.  With  dark  brown,  curly  hair,  he  was  forty-three  and  wore  an  easy  smile.  But  Ingram  knew  his  reputation.  A Naval  Academy  graduate,  Moosbrugger  was  a  gunner  and  a destroyer  man  through  and  through.  He’d  tried  submarines  for  a couple  of  years  but  then  returned  to  the  surface  Navy,  where  he excelled  in  ballistics,  torpedoes,  optics,  and  radars,  especially  the new fire control radars now installed on most destroyers. 

If  Moosbrugger  was  a  young  43,  then  the  man  next  to  him,  a commander,  was  a  professional-looking  academic.  He  was  the tallest  of  the  group,  for  sure  the  oldest,  and  yet  had  features  of  a resolve that was unquestionable. Also unquestionable was the Naval Academy ring flashing on the man’s left hand. 

 Jeez. We’re all a bunch of ring knockers. 

Moosbrugger  went  on,  “Say  hello  to  Rodger  Simpson.  He’s commodore of DesDiv15.” 

It was obvious the quarterdeck had done its job. They’d phoned ahead to let Moosbrugger and Simpson know that Jerry Landa’s boy, Todd Ingram, was aboard. 

And  yet,  as  Ingram  shook,  he  knew  he’d  like  this  man  as  well. 

Both were ten to twelve years his senior and looked as if they could put him unquestionably in place with a sharp phrase or two. Time to shut up and learn. 

“Welcome aboard,” said Simpson. 

“Glad to be here, Commodore,” replied Ingram. 

“More  bullshit,”  said  Moosbrugger.  “Here.  Take  a  look.”  He nodded to the hatchway opposite. Even from here, the din was loud. 

It  was  a  group  of  officers.  Commanders,  lieutenant  commanders, and  a  few  lieutenants.  A  skippers’  meeting  was  underway  in  the Whitney’s wardroom. 

“We got one on for tonight. That’s why you were rushed up here. 

Jerry Landa wanted you to see some action, and now we can lay it on for you.” 

“Thank you, sir.” 

“I’ll bet. You look like shit. How’d you sleep?” 

“Eh? Here and there.” 

“That’s the spirit.” He wiggled his nose. “Had breakfast?” 

“Not yet.” 

“We’ll fix you up. But hold on for a sec.” Moosbrugger stepped to the  hatch,  leaned  inside,  put  two  fingers  on  his  lips,  and  blew  a shrieking whistle. “Hey, you guys. Hold it down. We start in about a minute. Then we’re underway.” 

With Simpson’s three destroyers, Moosbrugger had six under his command. And from the noise and laughter in the wardroom, these spirited officers sounded like some of the more raucous bars Ingram had visited in the Philippines and China before the war. 

Moosbrugger nodded to Ingram. “Come on in.” 

He shouted, “Say hello to Todd Ingram, hero of Corregidor. He’ll be riding with me tonight.” 

Men roared their greetings as Ingram stepped in the hatch. The wardroom was stuffed with smoke and generally miserable. Beads of humidity  dripped  down  bulkheads,  now  scraped  to  bare  metal  to reduce  the  fire  hazard.  But  coffee  cups  were  out  and  one  was shoved in Ingram’s hand as soon as he dropped his B-4 bag. 

“Thank you.” It was to the brim, full, and tasted … excellent. 

Moosbrugger  waved  his  arms.  “Okay,  okay,  pipe  down.  Let’s finish up. I want to be underway at 1130. You guys okay with that?” 

They nodded, completely quiet now, listening. 

A place was set before Ingram, and soon a plate full of scrambled eggs, bacon, and toast appeared. 

Moosbrugger  waved  to  it.  Ingram  needed  no  further encouragement. He sat and dug in. 

Moosbrugger said, “Okay, in review, our Army and Marines have just about captured the Munda airfield. Hopes are up for a final push for  today.  But  the  Japs  are  frantic.  Resistance  is  stiff  and  that’s where we come in.” 

He  paused  and  then  said,  “Their  only  chances  for  resupply  are from Bougainville. They sent down destroyers, maybe four or five of them, like the old  Tokyo  Express four or five nights ago. That’s when we tried to stop them with PT boats in the Blackett Strait. There were fifteen  PT  boats  out  there  waiting  and  the  Japs  went  through  them like a knife through butter. To their credit, the PTs all fired torpedoes, but they all missed. It was a real screwup, completely uncoordinated. 

Worse, most of our PTs didn’t have radar. And worse than that, we lost  a  PT;  it  was  this  young  hotshot,  Jack  Kennedy.  Anybody  know him?” 

Ingram and a few others raised their hands. 

“Yeah, a good man, I’m told. He was popular. Well-liked and well qualified.” 

A  young  redheaded  lieutenant  commander  called  from  the  back of the wardroom, “Yeah, his dad and FDR are close buddies. Lot of good that did him.” 

Moosbrugger  nodded  sagely.  “So  say  we  all.  We  all  know somebody. But it doesn’t help when the chips are down. And that’s not going to bring Kennedy back. His dammed boat just blew up. All hands lost. Nobody seems to know what happened after that except to say they think he was rammed.” 

Moosbrugger went silent for a moment. “I was up there to speak with  Tom  Warfield  about  tactics.  But  he  didn’t  make  the  meeting. 

Kennedy’s funeral was going on; actually, the services were for the entire crew, ten, twelve guys. Gone in an instant.” 

He  stopped,  his  gaze  boring  into  his  skippers.  “So  I  ended  up going. And I’m glad I did.” 

He  continued,  “Halsey  was  pissed  when  he  heard  about  it.  And guess what? He is sending in DesDiv twelve and fifteen. All six cans. 

That’s us.” He thumped his chest. “And this time we’re not escorting cruisers. We’re on our own.” 

A babble arose from amongst the men. Many of them smiled. “At last,” one or two said. 

“Okay, you guys, pipe down.” 

They kept talking. 

Moosbrugger whistled again. Louder this time. Ingram shook his head, wishing he had learned to do that. He never picked it up as a youngster. 

“Pipe down,” Moosbrugger yelled. Finally, calm returned, the only sound the clanking of coffee cups. Moosbrugger continued, “So this is what we’ve been waiting and practicing for. Hoping for. A chance to  get  at  the  Japs  on  our  own  without  molly-coddling  those  stupid cruisers or escorting supply ships. 

“Study your OPORDERS. Intel is pretty sure they’re sending the Express down tonight with supplies for the Munda garrison and from seven  hundred  to  a  thousand  troops  on  each  ship,  all  with  sharp knives and jungle machetes.” 

“How many ships?” someone yelled. 

“Six to eight cans,” replied Moosbrugger. He clapped his hands. 

“All right, any more questions?” 

Silence. 

“Okay,  go  over  your  OPORDERS.  Like  it  says,  I’ve  got  Division A-1:   Dunlap,  Craven,  and   Maury.  Rodger  Simpson  has  A-2:   Lang, Sterrett, and  Stack.” 

The  same  redheaded  lieutenant  commander  in  the  back  called, 

“Not the  Maury again. She’s a piece of shit.” 

Men grinned and yelled at one another. 

Moosbrugger stood and waved his hands in the air. “Okay, I get it. Come on.” 

Watching them, Ingram smiled to himself. These fellows certainly were in high spirits. He hoped it would keep up. 

Moosbrugger continued, “Keep in mind, Division A-2 will take the inside along the coast of Kolombangara. We’ll be on the outside. So, for God’s sake, pay special attention to your nav aides, okay? I don’t want anyone going aground.” 

They nodded. 

“Make  sure  your  comms  are  all  lined  up  between  ships.  I  don’t want any R/T screwups either.” 

It became quiet. 

He turned to Simpson. “Got anything, Rodger?” 

Simpson nodded. 

The room went entirely quiet. 

“You fellows have heard it all. We’ve practiced and practiced this stuff.  I  know  we’ve  got  it  right.  Now,  it  seems  like  it  could  come together tonight, a night action. 

“One  thing  we  haven’t  practiced  a  lot  is  radar.  It’s  a  great gimmick. And with tonight’s weather forecast, we may need it. I just checked  the  weather.  No  change.  Looks  like  rain  up  in  Blackett Strait.  We’re  gonna  need  that  damned  radar.  So  double  down  on your plots. It may be all we have. Check and double-check.” 

He looked up. “That’s all.” 

“All set?” Moosbrugger asked softly. 

Quiet. 

“Okay, underway at 1130. Godspeed. Secure.” 
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6 August 1943

USS  Dunlap (DD 384)

Sealark Channel

Solomon Islands

Moosbrugger  was  gracious.  He  gave  Ingram  the  spare  bunk  in  the exec’s stateroom and when underway, stationed him on the bridge to watch  things  close-up.  “Pretend  it’s  all  yours,  Todd,”  he  said  with  a wink.  “Do  anything  you  want.  Just  don’t  puke  down  the  stairwells.” 

Thus, Ingram took a comfortable position forward of the pilot house hatch.  There,  he  was  determined  to  keep  his  mouth  shut.  And  to learn. 

Soon,  the  time  came  to  get  underway.  Activity  around  the Whitney  was  like  Grand  Central  Station.  The  “tin  cans”  broke  the nest  at  1135.  The   Maury  (DD  382),  moored  outboard  on  the  nest’s starboard side, began the process by going ahead on a short 1/3 bell while holding the number 2 line to the ship next door. With the stern stuck  out,  she  took  in  her  number  two  dock  line  and  backed  clear with  a  prolonged,  mournful  blast  of  her  whistle.  Three  short  blasts came  next  as  she  gained  sternway.  Soon,  she  twisted  on  her engines,  then  went  ahead  on  a  1/3  bell  to  head  out  for  Sealark

Channel.  Sounding  their  whistles  and  following  were   Craven  (DD

482) and  Dunlap. This comprised Commodore Fred Moosbrugger’s Destroyer  Division  12,  with  Dunlap  quickly  taking  a  position  at  the head of the column as the division flag while they stood out of Tulagi Harbor. 

Likewise,  the   Whitney’s  port  side  was  just  as  chaotic,  as  the outboard  destroyer,  the  USS   Lang  (DD  399),  carrying  DesDiv  15

commodore  Rodger  Simpson,  blew  her  whistle  and  backed  clear. 

Quickly joining her was the USS  Sterett (DD 407), and then the USS

 Stack (DD 406). With the  Lang as the flag, they quickly formed into a column  and  stood  into  the  Sealark  Channel,  following   Dunlap’s column  of  destroyers  making  sure  to  leave  Sylvia  Reef  and Songongona Island to starboard. 

These sailors were good, Ingram noted. No screaming, yelling, or callous  phrases  tossed  at  underlings.  Everybody  knew  their  job.  It was a comfort to watch. Ingram could tell right away he was aboard a well-oiled machine. Landa knew what he was doing when he sent Ingram out here. 

Their  ships,  these  workhorses,  were  an  earlier  variety  of  the Fletcher-class  destroyer,  now  arriving  in  the  Pacific  in  greater numbers.  A  bit  shorter  at  341  feet  and  much  lighter  at  1,500  tons, they only had four 5”/38 guns and a much leaner AA battery. But with three 600-pound boilers and two generators, they were just about as fast at thirty-five knots. Most of all, the  Lang and her division carried sixteen  torpedoes  each  compared  to  only  ten  with  the   Dunlap’s division and only ten in the  Fletcher-class. 

The day hung heavy as Moosbrugger rang up formation speed of seventeen knots. The best part was that the increase in relative wind was  a  relief  to  those  topside  as  they  swept  past  Guadalcanal’s northern shore. Ingram gazed at the landmarks, old and fixed in his mind from his days on the  Howell. Abeam to port was Guadalcanal itself and its airfield, Henderson Field. Just forward was Lunga Point, where the Marines had stood valiantly against a massive Japanese counterattack.  About  a  half-mile  up  the  beach  was  the   Yamaura Maru, a wrecked Japanese cargo ship, her bow jutting insanely into the sky at a forty-five-degree angle; her stern rested underwater on the  steep-to  shelf  of  Guadalcanal,  one  of  the  hundreds  of  volcanic
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islands  in  the  archipelago.  Under  attack  by  U.S.  bombers,  her captain ran the  Yamaura Maru up on the beach so that at least some of  her  human  cargo  and  supplies  could  reach  shore  to  re-supply beleaguered  Japanese  troops,  now  starving  and  close  to  outright losing to the Americans. 

Ahead,  Ingram  spotted  the  wreckage  of  three  other  Marus, similarly hove up on the beach. 

A Japanese junkyard. 

But  then  there  was  Savo  Island  slightly  off  the  starboard  bow. 

Like a beacon of death, Savo Island was the site of one of the U.S. 

Navy’s most hideous and embarrassing defeats. On the night of 8-9

August  1942,  a  column  of  eight  Japanese  destroyers  from Bougainville stormed down “The Slot” and attacked a force guarding the American transport and supply ships, their Marines now ashore on  Guadalcanal  and  Tulagi  (Codenamed  Operation  Watchtower) dislodging the enemy. 

It was the first naval surface action, a night action, of the Pacific War,  and  the  Americans  were  completely  unprepared.  The Japanese, on the other hand, were well-practiced in night tactics and knew how to handle their type 93 torpedoes, a monstrous thirty-foot missile,  with  a  speed  of  fifty-two  knots  at  twelve  miles  and  a whopping warhead of 1,080 pounds of TNT. 

After just thirty minutes of fighting, four Allied cruisers had sunk—

three American and one Australian—the Japanese getting away with minor damages. 

The ships in the formation steamed at a condition III watch. This was basically general quarters with only 1/3 of the stations manned. So all gun mounts were manned—barely. The ship could put up a fight while the rest rushed in to do their jobs. 

Ingram was surprised that it was silent on the bridge. One could hear the low squawking of the radios and the wheezing of the ship’s uptakes. But elsewhere on the weather decks the men stood still. 

They removed their hats. 

What? Then Ingram looked aft to the flag bridge. Signalmen were bending  on  numeral  pennants.  But  he  didn’t  understand  the  hoist. 

And he thought he knew most of them. 

“Okay,  two-block  it.”  Moosbrugger  waved  to  the  signalmen  and they snapped up the flag hoist. 

Lieutenant Allen Lavelle, the GQ OOD, quietly called into the pilot house, “Come right to three-one-five.” 

“Three-one-five, aye,” answered the helmsman, putting his wheel over. In calm seas,  Dunlap leaned gently into a turn to starboard. 

Ingram  checked  aft.  The   Craven  had  hauled  out  to  port.  And behind  that,  the   Maury  had  hauled  out  to  starboard.  Further  back down  the  line,  the  destroyers  of  DesDiv  15  had  hauled  off  of  base course in a similar way. 

“Got  the  idea,  Todd?”  Moosbrugger  had  spoken  quietly  as  he stepped beside Ingram. His garrison cap was clutched in his hand. 

Ingram  spread  his  palms  in  frustration.  But  he  whipped  off  his garrison cap anyway. 

Just then, Lavelle called, “Come left to course two-two-five.” 

It  was  beautifully  coordinated  with  flag  hoists.  Without  a  sound, the  six  destroyers  turned  ninety  degrees  to  cross  over  their  base course  of  three-one-five,  every  other  one  turning  in  the  opposite direction. 

Moosbrugger  said,  “We  honor  our  dead,  Todd.  Four  of  our cruisers are almost directly beneath us.” 

“Ah.” Ingram nodded. The U.S. Navy cruisers  Quincy,  Vincennes, Astoria,  and  the  Australian  cruiser,  Canberra  had  all  been  sunk during that hideous night off Savo Island. 

Moosbrugger said, “It was Simpson’s idea. Honor our dead with an S-turn salute.” He gave a short laugh. “Mike Moran and even Bull Halsey didn’t seem to mind, and if they ain’t stormin’, then it must be okay.” 

Just  over  a  year  ago,  Ingram  had  been  part  of  it.  Under  Jerry Landa, he’d been exec of the  Howell, which had fought in the Battles of Cape Esperance and St. Cruz Islands. But there were not just two battles.  There  were  eight  over  a  period  of  seven  bloody  months. 

During  this  time,  over  13,000  U.S.  Navy  sailors  died  in  their  ships protecting the forces ashore. 
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Yes,  it  was  proper  that  Moran  and  Halsey  approved  the  S-turn salute. 

The flag hoist was hauled down. Moosbrugger called for a return to base course and Lavelle ordered it on to the helmsman. Soon the ships  formed  into  two  columns,  side  by  side,  heading  toward  New Georgia Island. 

The afternoon waned as they took the Blanche Channel along New Georgia’s  south  side.  Ingram  stood  at  the  chart  table  in  the  pilot house  as  it  grew  time  for  the  evening  meal.  The  ship  was  bucking and  rolling  with  the  waves.  He  looked  out.  Yes,  the  seas  were building,  the  wind  was  up,  the  sky  turning  overcast.  Simpson’s weather forecast was right. They’d be hitting the slop pretty soon. 

He headed below to his stateroom for his foul weather jacket. He pulled it out of his B-4 bag and hit the ladder for the wardroom. Just outside,  he  felt  a  bulge  in  one  of  the  pockets.  Stepping  inside  and sitting, he pulled it out to find a candy bar. A Milky Way. Paper was taped around it. He looked about. There were just eight seated. The rest were at general quarters. 

The hell with it. Let ’em watch. He unfolded it, finding a note: I love you very much. Come home safe. That’s an order. H

Ingram  smiled  broadly.  He  read  it  again  and  stuffed  the  Milky Way back in his pocket. 

Moosbrugger was at the table’s head, spooning up tomato soup. 

“What’s so funny, Ingram?” 

Ingram passed over the note. “My wife.” 

A  smile  spread  across  the  commodore’s  face.  “What’s  her name?” 

“Helen.” 

“Do you mind?” He offered the note to Terry Caldwell, the torpedo officer. 

Ingram waved a hand. “Of course.” 

Caldwell  chuckled  and  the  note  went  quickly  around  the  table, their nods and smiles evident. 

Moosbrugger said, “She takes care of her boy.” 

“The best.” 

“I’d like to meet her sometime.” 

“I’m not so sure.” 

“Aw, come on.” 

Everybody laughed. 

The  Dunlap rolled steeply with a wave. Hands frantically danced around the table, catching sliding soup bowls, saltshakers, and water glasses. Someone cursed quietly. One of the new ensigns. Nobody said anything. 

They ate their spaghetti. It wasn’t bad and yet conversation died. 

Their  mission  was  on  their  minds  and  the  team  was  in  the  locker room,  waiting  for  the  opening  gun,  leaving  some  of  the  spaghetti untouched. 

A messenger knocked and walked in the wardroom. He was from radio  central  and  on  duty.  Removing  his  hat,  he  walked  up  to Moosbrugger. “For your eyes only, sir.” 

Moosbrugger nodded, dabbed his mouth with a napkin, accepted the message, and signed for it. 

After quickly scanning it, he said, “That’s all, thank you. No reply.” 

“Yes, sir.” The radioman walked out. 

They watched, tense. 

Moosbrugger said quietly, “Intelligence confirms it. Four Jap cans coming out of Buka. Now steering south by west. ETA Vella Gulf at 2330.” 

The others exchanged glances and nodded. 

“And we’ll be waiting,” Moosbrugger added. 

Nothing  was  forced.  They  knew  their  jobs.  They  just  wanted  to get at it. The officers finished and, one by one, excused themselves. 

Ingram made to go with them but Moosbrugger waved him down. “I’d like a moment with you.” He spoke quietly, his eyes drilling Ingram. 

Dead serious. 

Soon they were the only ones in the wardroom. It was just Ingram and Moosbrugger, and the wail of the exhaust blowers venting thick, humid air. 

“I  have  to  make  a  decision.  And  this  is  where  you  and  Jerry Landa come in.” 

 What? I’m here with an expert. What the hell can I do?  “Yes, sir?” 

“This is all under the table and this conversation didn’t take place. 

Is that understood?” 

Jeeez. “Understood, sir.” 

“It’s  my  understanding  that  you  had  some  experience  with  Jap torpedoes.” 

“A little bit. Yes, sir.” 

“And  that  you  discovered  a  few  things  about  our  torpedoes otherwise unknown. Is that correct?” 

For  sure,  Moosbrugger  had  access  or  knowledge  to  Ingram’s experience  in  Mindanao  when  he  learned  about  Japanese experiments with the American Mark 14 and Mark 15 torpedoes. The Mark  14  was  the  submarine-launched  variety,  the  Mark  15  the surface-  or  destroyer-launched  torpedo.  Ingram  grew  fidgety.  He didn’t like where this was going. 

Moosbrugger prompted, “Todd?” 

As far as he knew, and he had signed documents to the effect, all that was disclosed to him in those dark days of 1942 was top-secret. 

Period. Not to be discussed with anybody. Worse, Helen had been in the  thick  of  it.  Now  she  was  guaranteed  a  permanent  stateside assignment  in  the  U.S.  Army  Nursing  Corps.  They  didn’t  want  her going overseas for any reason. Too much at risk. 

He looked at Moosbrugger and returned the stare, skewering him with his eyes. 

Moosbrugger  leaned  back  in  his  chair.  “I  understand,  Todd. 

Official  Secrets  Act.  I’m  not  asking  you  to  disclose  anything  in  that area. All I need”—he leaned forward and held a thumb and forefinger an inch apart—“is a tiny decision.” 

“Sir, I can neither confirm nor deny—” 

“Save  it,  Ingram.  I  got  the   Tokyo Express  coming  at  me  tonight and I need to know. Can you understand that?” 

“Within reason.” 

“You are one blockheaded son-of-a-bitch.” 

Ingram returned the stare. 

Moosbrugger laughed. “Yeah. So am I. It’s a Mexican standoff.” 

Ingram felt as close to punching out a superior officer as he ever had.  Except  one  time  with  Jerry  Landa.  He’d  cold-cocked  Landa

when he deserved it. 

“Let’s try it this way, Todd. Tonight, we fire the Mark 15 torpedo, right?” 

“I’m assuming that’s what you are going to do. Yes, sir.” 

“I  have  to  know  if  our  magnetic  exploders  are  reliable.  If  they’ll work.  Or  should  I  go  back  to  the  contact  exploders.  We  still  have time to change them out. But I have to know now.” 

 Dammit!  I  can  get  burned.  But  the  guy  is  right.  He  really  must know. 

Ingram took an exaggerated sip of coffee, then stood. 

Moosbrugger  focused  intently  on  his  every  move,  his  eyes demanding,  Well? 

Ingram  doubled  his  right  fist  and  smacked  it  hard  into  his  left palm. Loud. Waiting three seconds, he did it again. Then he turned and walked for the door. 

He  was  barely  through  when  Moosbrugger  said  quietly,  “Thank you.” 
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6 August 1943

USS  Dunlap (DD 384)

Task Group 31.2

Blackett Strait, Solomon Islands

The  storm  passed  and  the  weather  moderated.  By  2235,  the  wind was  down  to  four  or  five  knots  and  the  seas  were  smooth.  On  a moonless  night,  it  seemed  as  if  six  maritime  ghosts  stood  into  the Strait,  their  gun  and  torpedo  crews  tweaking  dials,  checking communications,  doing  last-minute  chores,  some  for  the  third  and fourth time. 

Elsewhere  in  the  ship’s  command  centers,  men  cocked  their heads  toward  loudspeakers  and  earphones,  listening  for  anything new. 

At the same time, radarmen became brusque with people, mostly officers  with  smelly  breath,  who  crowded  around  their  SG  radar repeaters  poking  at  fuzzy  objects  on  the  radar  screens  (they  were called PPIs: Plan Position Indicators), asking insipid questions. 

Ingram  stood  near  Moosbrugger  on  the  starboard  side  of  the open bridge. Portholes lined the pilot house on three sides. All were clipped  open.  Ingram  was  close  to  one  of  the  portholes  that  was

directly over the pilot house radar repeater mounted on the starboard bulkhead  directly  inside.  With  the  best  seat  in  the  house,  he  could poke in his head and look directly down on the PPI almost as if the instrument were for his private use. He was lucky to have this spot. 

He had enough rank so that no one tried to push him aside. And the bridge  and  pilot  house  were  crowded,  at  least  three  times  the  men required  for  a  normal  steaming  watch.  All  wore  helmets  and  life jackets and they all seemed to have jobs. Most were wired up with sound-powered  phones  and  carefully  attended  to  tote  boards  and grease pencils, or charts and diagrams. 

But  Moosbrugger  reigned  supreme.  At  least  four  people belonging  to  his  operations  team  hovered  around  the  commodore, one  constantly  twirling  a  grease  pencil,  updating  a  temporary  plot taped to the pilot house bulkhead. 

On the port bridgewing was Commander Clifton Iverson, skipper of  the   Dunlap.  With  his  own  tote  boards  and  sycophants,  Iverson dashed among officers and men, checking bearings, calling for radar ranges,  peering  through  his  binoculars,  and  conning  his  ship.  A master ship-handler, Iverson kept the conn and left the OOD grind to Allen  Lavelle,  who  dashed  back  and  forth,  answering  the  strident summons of commodore and skipper. 

The last time the ships all checked in and calibrated was at 2215. 

The daytime radar “hoods” were off, the picture and focus bright and clear.  With  all  the  lights  out  except  red  nighttime  lights,  the  radars cast an eerie light-green stygian glow on the faces of those bent over the scopes, almost like something from a Frankenstein movie. 

At 2246 they stood at the entrance to the Blackett Strait. It grew very quiet. Moosbrugger drummed his fingers. 

Very quiet. 

Making just a lazy fifteen knots, the  Dunlap rolled in the slop left over  from  the  storm.  Also,  it  was  frustrating,  because  people  could hardly  see.  There  was  no  moon,  and  a  thin  overcast  lingered  from the  storm,  obliterating  most  of  the  starlight.  With  that,  they  softly prayed for their SG radars to keep them out of trouble. 

Moosbrugger bent close to his wrist, checking his watch. 

Most everyone’s eyes were fixed on him. 

At  2332,  he  raised  his  head.  He  grabbed  the  R/T  handset  and called: “Ragtime, this is Haymaker. Execute to follow. Corpen zero-one-five. Speed two-five.” 

Sixty  seconds  later,  he  called,  “Ragtime,  this  is  Haymaker. 

Standby, execute!” 

Frederick  Moosbrugger  had  just  stepped  on  the  gas.  The  show was  on.  Formation  course:  zero-one-five.  Formation  speed:  twenty-five  knots.  They  were  headed  into  Vella  Gulf  and  looking  for  the enemy with no cruisers hanging on their coattails. 

The  two  columns  of  Task  Group  31.2  charged  into  Vella  Gulf  at about 2315 with bones in their teeth and maneuvered into their battle formation.  Kolombangara  lay  about  five  thousand  yards  directly  to starboard.  DesDiv  12,  the  outboard  column,  consisted  of   Dunlap leading   Craven  and   Maury.  A  thousand  yards  closer  to Kolombangara  and  a  thousand  yards  aft  was  DesDiv  15,  Lang, Sterett, and  Stack. 

Empty. 

Nothing.  People  couldn’t  help  but  wonder,  where  the  hell  were the  Japs?  Was  it  all  another  major  screwup?  Could  the  enemy somehow have turned the tables? 

Adams,  a  fire-plug-shaped  radarman  in  the  pilot  house,  said, 

“Hold on.” He tweaked his curser a bit. He’d found a speck ten miles directly  north,  about  twenty  thousand  yards.  It  looked  almost  like  a bug  blotch  on  a  car’s  windshield.  Word  filtered  up  from  CIC  that they’d found something too. 

Moosbrugger squeezed between the bodies surrounding the pilot house radar and studied the pip for a moment. Then he called on the R/T,  “Ragtime,  this  is  Haymaker.  Skunk  Able,  three-five-one,  range nineteen thousand, seven hundred yards. Haymaker out.” 

Within two minutes, the pip split into three definite contacts. 

“Holy shit,” Adams muttered. 

Then four contacts. 

After a moment, Adams called loudly, “Commander. Skunk Able now split into four contacts. Fifteen thousand yards.” 

“Stay with it, son.” Moosbrugger clapped Adams on his massive shoulder.  He  called  across  the  pilot  house,  “You  okay  with  this, Swifty?”  Swifty  Clifty  was  Commander  Cliff  Iverson’s  nickname. 

Replying  through  the  portside  hatch,  Iverson  said,  “You  bet, Commodore.  Director  fifty-one  is  locked  on  and  tracking.  We’re matching pointers now with torpedo one—wait, okay, torpedo one is hooked up. We have a firing solution.” 

“Good, hold on, Cliff.” To his talker, Moosbrugger called, “Target course and speed, please?” 

Brunner, the commodore’s talker, issued the request. The answer came  back  in  fifteen  seconds.  “Target  course,  one-five-zero, speed twenty-seven knots.” 

Ingram watched the four little pips, now distinct, march down the radarscope.  The  realization  unfolded:   wow,  they  don’t  see  us.  And they  don’t  have  radar.  What  a  setup.  He  looked  up.  A  light  breeze dissipated the clouds. Stars were once again splattered above them. 

With  binoculars,  he  could  barely  make  out  silhouettes.  Four destroyers. The vaunted  Tokyo Express. But they seemed oblivious to what was happening. 

“Range?” demanded Moosbrugger. 

“Eleven thousand three hundred,” reported Adams. 

Iverson called across, “What do you want to do, Fred?” 

“Let’s  get  on  his  left  side,  closer  to  the  island.”  He  ordered  a course  change  right  to  zero-three-zero  to  parallel  Kolombangara’s coastline.  Also,  it  would  take  them  across  the  enemy’s  bows  while keeping his ships hidden deep in the shadows of Kolombangara. 

Ingram ran the numbers. Or at least tried to. The opposing forces were  closing  with  each  other  at  a  rate  of  nearly  fifty  knots.  Fast. 

Insane. The ranges were dropping quickly. The last one he’d heard was nine thousand yards and dials were spinning. He imagined the men in the torpedo director and in the mounts dials twirling with input from  CIC  and  gun  control.  Helmeted  men  hunched  over  their mounts, twirling hand cranks, trying to keep up. 

Range: 7500 yards. Bearing three-three-five. 

Still plenty of time for things to go wrong. 

Iverson came over to Moosbrugger. “What do you think, Fred?” 

“Coming  left,  Swifty.”  Grabbing  the  R/T  handset,  he  shouted, 

“Ragtime,  this  is  Haymaker.  Corpen  three-three-five.  I  say  again, corpen three-three-five. Standby, execute! Haymaker out.” 

Iverson gave the rudder order, and  Dunlap, followed by  Craven, Maury, and the ships of DesDiv 15, came left to the new course. 

Range 6,500 yards. 

Handset  in  hand,  Moosbrugger  called,  “Ragtime,  this  is Haymaker. Execute William. I say again, execute William. Haymaker out.” 

The six portside torpedo tubes on  Dunlap belched with a  thwonk sound,  each  tube  sending  a  silver  twenty-four-foot  missile  into  the waters of Vella Gulf. With all three ships, it took sixty-three seconds to launch twenty-four torpedoes. 

The  torpedo  run  to  target  at  a  speed  of  twenty-six  knots  was going  to  be  about  four  and  a  half  minutes.  Men  in  three  different spots  on  the  bridge  started  stopwatches  with  great  flourishes. 

Through binoculars, Ingram could plainly see the Japanese ships as they  steamed  blithely  along,  seemingly  unaware  of  what  was streaking toward them. 

Moosbrugger called into his R/T, “Roundhouse, this is Haymaker. 

Turn nine. I say again, turn nine. Standby, execute.” The commodore was telling the  Dunlap,  Maury, and  Craven to turn directly away from the Japanese destroyers to outrun any opposing torpedoes. 

Once  again,  Moosbrugger  keyed  his  R/T.  “Home  Run,  this  is Haymaker. Nine turn. I say again, nine turn. Standby, execute.” Now, he  was  telling   Lang,  Sterett,  and   Stack  to  come  left  to  cross  the enemy’s T and finish them off with gunfire after the torpedoes hit. 

After  talking  with  Iverson,  Moosbrugger  strolled  out  onto  the starboard  bridgewing  as  if  he  were  in  Central  Park  on  a  warm summer evening. Whistling softly, he passed Ingram and said quietly, 

“Now it’s all up to you, Todd.” 

“I have no idea what you’re talking about.” 

Moosbrugger laughed and kept walking. 

KER—WHACK!!  The  torpedo  hit,  illuminating  the  first  Japanese destroyer in the column. The hulk lifted from the water and separated into  three  sections.  More  explosions  erupted  from  her  magazines. 

Her  pilot  house  and  forward  stack  spun  crazily  in  the  air  and  fell sizzling  into  the  water.  The  ship  was  nearly  obliterated  and disappeared beneath the waves erupting and belching as it slithered to the bottom of Vella Gulf. 

Number  two  and  three  ships  in  the  column  suffered  hits  but remained  afloat.  The  fourth  ship  heeled  steeply  into  a  turn  to starboard and skidded around to straighten up on a course back to the north. 

Right away,  Lang, Sterett, and  Stack opened fire, raking the ships with their five-inch guns. 

One  of  the  five-inch  projectiles  found  its  mark  and  tore  into  a magazine.  It  blew  up  with  a  horrendous  WHACK,  louder  than  the others, the noise echoing off the islands for miles around. The ship was completely consumed by the blast and a roiling cloud of flames and  smoke.  Minutes  later,  when  the  smoke  cleared,  the  ship  was gone. 

The  third  ship,  engulfed  in  flames,  simply  rolled  over  and  went down  stern  first.  Many  of  her  crew  jumped  over  the  side  and struggled  in  the  water.  Some  were  engulfed  by  flaming  fuel-oil. 

Others  struck  out  to  safety,  away  from  the  hideous  mess  in  Vella Gulf. 

The  pilot  house  loudspeaker  squawked  with,  “Haymaker,  this  is Lame Duck, over.” Lame duck was the call sign for the  Lang, where Rodger Simpson (Comdesdiv 15) was embarked. 

Moosbrugger grabbed the R/T handset and keyed it. “Go ahead, Lame Duck.” 

“Haymaker,  be  advised,  we’ve  attempted  to  pick  up  or  assist survivors  in  the  water.  We’ve  tossed  a  cargo  net  over  and  they refuse to climb it. They do not, I repeat, they do not want assistance or to be rescued. One guy, must have been an officer, grabbed the net,  pulled  a  pistol,  and  started  shooting  at  us.  The  damned  pistol worked but he didn’t hurt anybody.” 

Moosbrugger,  forgetting  R/T  procedure,  said,  “Good  God.  What did you do with him?” 

Simpson said dryly, “Well, a BAR took care of the situation.” 

“I wish I felt sorry for the fellow.” 

“Me  too.  All  that  said,  Haymaker,  interrogative  your  intentions. 

Over.” 

“Back to the ranch, Lame Duck. Please give your people a Baker Zebra from me. Haymaker out.” 

“Haymaker, Roger Baker Zebra. Lame Duck out.” 

Men talked on the bridge. It ran among them. Amazing. They had won.  They  had  beaten  the   Tokyo  Express  at  its  own  game. 

Moreover, they’d finally stopped the Japanese, their ships laden with troops  and  supplies  from  reprovisioning  Kolombangara.  With  the victory at Munda airfield, things were looking up. And they could all feel it, with their conversation turning louder and finally to bluster. 

Moosbrugger waved Iverson over and screwed a finger in his ear. 

Iverson  nodded  and  stepped  up  on  the  starboard  pelorus platform.  He  shouted,  “Everybody,  knock  it  off!  In  case  you  haven’t noticed, this is not a cruise ship. Boatswain mate of the watch, set a condition  III  steaming  watch.  All  the  rest  of  you  bastards,  get  off  of my bridge. We still got work to do.” 

Moosbrugger lifted his R/T handset and called, “Ragtime, this is Haymaker.  Formation  able.  Corpen  two-one-zero,  speed  two-five.  I say  again,  formation  able,  corpen  two-one-zero,  speed  two-five. 

Standby, execute. Haymaker out.” 

Silently,  with  only  stars  overhead,  the  SG  radars  coaxed  Task Group 31.2 back into their original formation, a column, with twenty-five knots taking them quickly back through the Blackett Strait. 

Commander  Iverson’s  admonition  on  the  bridge  served  only  to enrich a celebratory atmosphere in the wardroom and on the mess decks crowded with bellowing sailors. 

In  the  wardroom,  the  men  whooped  and  laughed  while  Ingram stood  off  to  the  side,  watching  and  smiling.  Then  Moosbrugger edged  over  to  him.  The  two  spent  thirty  minutes  as  aviators,  their hands like airplanes as they discussed the evening’s maneuvers. 

TG  31.1  exited  the  Blackett  Strait  at  0023  on  the  night  of  7

August 1943. Soon they were abeam of the Gizo Island group, and were heading into the Ferguson Passage, expecting to reach Tulagi about mid-day. 

Unnoticed by the destroyer men were two sailors asleep beyond exhaustion on the nearby beach of Nauru Island. Under a blackened and moonless sky, the pair were scrunched in the sand, completely unaware  of  what  had  just  happened  fifteen  miles  to  the  north.  The nearly  comatose  sailors  didn’t  see  the  six  ghostly  shapes  plowing past  them  and  into  the  Ferguson  Passage  headed  for  Tulagi. 

Moosbrugger’s victorious tin cans pulled white foaming wakes, their

uptakes  howling  like  screeching  banshees.  These  were  the  forces the  two  shipwrecked  sailors  had  spent  so  much  time  looking  for. 

Earlier  this  evening,  they’d  almost  lost  their  lives  trying  again.  And now, at 0027, fate raced past them once more as they desperately slept, unaware of the gunfire and chaos twenty miles north. 
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7 August 1943

Nauru Island

Solomon Islands

Something  woke  Kennedy.  He  turned  and  looked  up,  shading  his eyes.  The  sun  was  high  and  it  was  hot.  Barney  was  passed  out beside  him  like  a  skid-row  drunk.  They’d  slept  late.  Late  and  hard. 

He  reckoned  it  was  nearly  ten  a.m.  He  hurt  all  over  from  pounding over the reef. But… he tried stretching. Nothing broken. He sat up. 

Ten yards away, a group of natives, eight of them, were pulling a dug-out  canoe  from  the  water.  One  of  them  looked  up  and  walked toward him. 

“What the hell is all this?” It was Barney, sitting up, rubbing sleep from his eyes. 

“Damned if I know.” 

Just  like  Biuku  Gasa  and  Eroni  Kumana,  the  man  who approached  him  was  small,  Melanesian,  with  crinkly  hair,  loincloth, and  had  the  stark  black  features  of  an  aborigine.  Except  this  one wore a broad white stripe, a downward slash, on each cheek. 

A headhunter, Kennedy guessed. They were still known to be out here.  Also,  they  were  known  to  hate  the  Japanese  and  worked

closely with the Australian coast watchers. 

The man drew up to Kennedy, bowed, and extended a document. 

He gave a broad smile and said in a perfectly clipped British accent, 

“I have a letter for you, sahr.” 

Blinking sleep, Kennedy sputtered, “Hello? I am John Kennedy.” 

He bowed again. “Yes, sahr. Pleased to meet you, sahr.” 

The other natives gathered around. 

“Jeeez,” growled Ross. 

“Easy,”  said  Kennedy.  “I  think  they’re  okay.”  Painfully,  he  stood with a groan, returned the bow, and accepted the letter. “Thank you,” 

he managed, unfolding the letter. 

A British crest adorned the top of the page. The letter read: ON HIS MAJESTY’S SERVICE

To Senior Officer, Nauru Island, 

Have just learnt of your presence on Nauru Island And also that two natives have taken the news to Rendova. 

I strongly advise you return to here in this canoe and by the time You arrive here, I will be in radio communication with authorities Rendova, 

And we can finalize plans to collect balance of your party. 

A. R. Evans, Lt. 

Will warn aviation of your crossing Ferguson Passage

“I’ll be damned,” said Kennedy. 

“Huh?” Ross struggled to his feet and read the message over his shoulder. Finally, it hit him. “Jeeez. Jack! Does this mean what I think it does?” 

Kennedy grinned. 

“From the outhouse to the penthouse.” 

“Can you believe it?” 

“Can I ever?” 

They  were  beside  themselves  and  jumped  and  whooped  and yelled, shaking hands with each of the eight cackling natives. “Thank you, thank you,” they said, over and over. 

Kennedy and Ross, still ecstatic, grabbed each other’s shoulders and danced a little circle… until Ross went, “Owww. Dammit.” 

He  lowered  his  arm,  now  swollen  to  the  size  of  a  small watermelon.  He  held  it  out.  “Courtesy  of  the  reefs  of  Ferguson Passage.” 

“Come,  gentlemen.”  The  leader  pointed  to  the  center  of  the canoe. “Please sit. We take you to Olasana.” 

Kennedy and Ross did so, and soon, eight strong backs paddled them  to  Olasana  Island,  covering  the  distance  in  only  twenty minutes. 

Right  after  they  beached,  Kennedy  staggered  up  to  an  open-mouthed  Lenny  Thom  and  six  or  seven  other  sailors.  With  a  deep bow,  Kennedy  handed  over  the  message  to  Thom.  “You  won’t believe this.” 

Thom read it quickly. “On the level?” 

“We’re going home, Lenny.” 

“Holy shit,” screeched Thom. “Hey, fellas. You gotta see this.” 

He handed the message to Ed Mauer. 

“Good God,” he gasped. 

Others crowded around, and within thirty seconds they’d all read it. They began chanting, “…we goin’ home, baby, we goin’ home. No more days on this damned island, we goin’ home.” 

Soon,  all  of  the  survivors  of  PT  109  were  yelling  and  shrieking and shaking hands with each other and with the natives. 

While  they  danced  and  blabbed  and  threw  sand  in  the  air,  the natives  unloaded  provisions  from  their  canoe.  Soon  three  of  them had  built  a  lean-to  shelter  for  Pappy  McMahon,  whose  sores  had festered and gave off obnoxious odors. They also built a lean-to for Barney  Ross,  whose  swollen  arm  was  turning  hideous  shades  of black and blue. Then they hauled out a small stove and cooked the Americans a minor feast of C-rations and yams. 

An hour later, the men burped and grunted and settled in to enjoy their new lease on life and to nap. The leader said to Kennedy, “You ready now, sahr? We take you to HQ.” 

“To Rendova?” 

“No, sahr. Just over to Wana. Meet big Aussie boss man. But trip dangerous. Jap airplanes everywhere. We must disguise you.” 

“How?” 

It  sounded  foolish  to  Kennedy,  but  he  did  as  he  was  told.  They had  him  lie  in  the  center  of  the  canoe  and  covered  him  with  palm fronds for a trip that was a bit less than halfway to Rendova. 

Again, the eight willing shoulders and arms dug their paddles in the  waters  of  Ferguson  Passage  and  headed  southeast  to  Wana Wana Island for John Kennedy’s meeting with Sub Lieutenant Arthur Evans,  Royal  Australian  Navy,  and  head  of  the  coast  watcher’s section for Ferguson Passage and the Blackett Strait. 

And the leader was right. Time after time, Japanese planes flew low overhead. Once there was a group of nearly thirty, their engines blasting the skies as their pilots looked down upon the canoe: Zeros, B5Ns, Betty bombers. Kennedy peered through parched leaves, his stomach  tightening  as  they  zoomed  overhead,  some  close  to  the deck. 

But  the  natives  always  grinned  and  waved  up  to  the  Japanese. 

And that seemed to satisfy them. 

And  the  closer  they  drew  to  Wana  Wana,  the  emptier  the  skies became and the more lilt to their voices. The helmsman in the stern began  pounding  a  rhythm  on  the  hull.  The  natives  stroked  along, chanting with it. Kennedy found it soothing. He nearly fell asleep as they  glided  across  the  windless,  mirror-smooth  waters  of  Ferguson Passage. 
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7 August 1943

Lumbari Island, Rendova Harbor

Rendova Island, Solomon Islands

The  PT  base  communications  officer  was  Lieutenant  Randolph Garell.  Lieutenant  Garell,  a  blond  fireplug  of  five-seven  and  one hundred  forty-six  pounds,  was  already  in  trouble  with  Lieutenant Commander Thomas Warfield. An hour earlier, Lieutenant Garell had rapped  on  the  pole  supporting  Lieutenant  Commander  Warfield’s tent  and  awakened  him  from  a  nap.  It  was  about  a  message  from Coastwatcher  Arthur  Evans  reporting  that  most  of  Kennedy’s  crew had  survived  the  explosion  aboard  PT  109  and  were  now  safe  on Olasana Island in the Gizo Island group. 

Shaking  sleep  from  his  eyes,  an  incredulous  and  still  grumpy Warfield called in squadron commanders Cluster, Farrow, and Kelly. 

Beyond  that,  nobody  said  anything  when  Lieutenant  Tubby  White showed up with Cluster and took a seat at the table. 

Tubby White’s heart jumped two beats when Warfield announced, 

“Gentlemen, it looks as if Jack Kennedy is alive. And so are ten of his men. Coast watchers are all over it. Here are their messages to

us.”  He  pushed  forward  a  clipboard  of  message  flimsies  from  the radio tent. 

The  men  at  the  table  stared  at  each  other,  their  mouths  open. 

Tubby and Cluster caught each other’s glances of amazement. 

“Jeeeez!” said Tubby, his eyes aglow. 

Cluster pounded the table. “I knew it.” 

Excitedly, they gabbed among themselves until Warfield raised a hand. “Okay, okay. It looks pretty definite, but I want to make sure.” 

“Yeah, okay,” they said. 

“First  of  all,”  said  Warfield,  “none  of  this  to  reporters.  Suddenly, this place is crawling with them. And I don’t want us stepping in shit in case this is all wrong.” 

“Where’s Cardenas?” asked Farrow, looking around for Warfield’s trusted assistant. 

“That’s part of it,” said Warfield. “I got him with the reporters now, showing them around the base. They don’t know about this meeting and I intend to keep it that way.” 

Cluster  lit  a  cigarette  and  cleared  his  throat.  Blowing  an enormous cloud of smoke, he asked, “Then what’s the holdup?” 

Warfield  scratched  his  head.  “Just  want  to  be  sure.  We  need some sort of corroboration.” 

“What about these messages from—coast watchers? That’s gotta mean something,” asked Farrow. 

“Just not sure.” 

“What about Jack?” asked Tubby White. “Where is he now?” 

Warfield picked up the clipboard and flipped messages. “Ah. This one  says”—he  looked  over  glasses—“that  the  natives  were supposed to paddle him down here since he was just about halfway. 

But he insisted on going back to be with his men on Olasana.” 

“Where the hell is that?” demanded Kelly. 

Warfield  waved  a  hand  in  a  northerly  direction.  “Up  in  the  Gizo Island group.” 

Farrow said, “Jeeez. That place is a reef trap. PT boats go there to die.” 

“Don’t I know it?” said Warfield. “We should—" 

Just then Brantingham and Liebenow walked in. “You sent for us, sir?” 

“Yes, gentlemen. Please sit. We have news.” 

They sat. 

“It  seems  Lieutenant  Kennedy  and  eleven  of  his  crew  are  alive and awaiting rescue on Olasana Island up in the Gizos.” 

Silence descended. 

The two were incredulous. Brantingham said, “Impossible. I saw the damn thing explode.” 

Liebenow nodded along with him. 

Warfield snapped, “You’re sure nobody could have survived that blast?” 

The two skippers looked at one another, then shook their heads. 

“No, sir, not survivable.” 

“Then  how  about  this.”  He  looked  back  to  Garell.  “Okay,  this  is Evans’s latest. Read it for them, Garell.” 

With  a  scathing  look  at  Warfield,  Lieutenant  Garell  cleared  his throat  and  read,  finishing  with,  “‘…am  meeting  Kennedy  soon  to discuss  details  of  his  crew’s  rescue.  Apparently  two  are  in  bad shape.  One  badly  burned,  the  other  with  a  broken  arm.  Suggest pickup tonight. Weather forecast good, unlike last night.’” 

“What do you think about that, gentlemen?” demanded Warfield. 

Brantingham  spread  his  hands.  “Jap  trick?  They  know  our frequencies,  we  know  theirs.  Maybe  they’re  super  pissed  at  us  for taking Munda.” After a protracted campaign, against men and mud, Army troops had finally captured Munda airfield the day before. 

Brantingham continued, “Or for kicking their ass up in Vella Gulf. 

We should be very careful about this, Commander.” 

Warfield  shot  back,  “But  they  don’t  have  the  coast  watcher frequencies.  Those  are  top-secret.”  He  held  up  some  flimsies.  “I’ve already  had  three  messages  from  this  guy.”  He  looked  over  his shoulder. “What’s his name, Gowell?” 

“It’s Garell, sir.” 

Warfield, red in the face, turned in his chair. “Don’t screw with me, Garell. Or I’m busting you to ensign.” 

Again,  it  became  very  quiet  in  the  tent.  Warfield  snapped  his fingers. “Come on, the guy’s name.” 

Tubby  White  caught  Cluster’s  eye.  Warfield  is  pulling  a  Jerry Landa on this poor jerk, his eyes said. 

Cluster  nodded,  then  muttered,  “Perhaps  they’ll  become  best friends when this is all over.” 

“Hah,” retorted Tubby. 

With  a  glance  at  Tubby  White,  Lieutenant  Garell  cleared  his throat  and  said,  “Evans,  sir.  Sub  lieutenant  Arthur  Reginald  Evans, Royal Australian Navy.” 

“Thank you soooo much, Mr. Garell.” He froze Brantingham and Liebenow  with  a  stare.  “You  may  be  right,  but  I’m  paying  more attention to Evans. He’s properly authenticated all three messages. 

Besides that, he's—” 

Commotion ranged at the tent flap. McGrody, a Marine sergeant, poked his head

in.  He  wore  jungle  fatigues  and  a  sub-machine  gun  was  slung over his right shoulder. 

Warfield knew and liked the man. A true mud-Marine, he’d been through  hell  on  Guadalcanal.  And  he’d  done  a  good  job  with  base security here. “What is it, McGrody,” Warfield demanded. 

“We have a guest, Commander. A native.” 

“So?” 

“Says he’s from Vanu. Speaks pretty good English.” 

“Jeez. The coast watcher’s HQ.” 

“Where, sir?” said McGrody. 

“Never mind. Show him in.” 

Sergeant  McGrody  raised  the  tent  flap  and  a  short  Melanesian native  walked  in.  His  eyes  darted  around  the  room.  Everyone  was seated except Lieutenant Garell, so the native walked up to him. He bowed deeply and announced in a strong voice, “I am Baiku Gasa. 

Need speak with big fat Navy man.” He held up a disheveled-looking coconut shell. 

Cluster and Tubby White grinned. The others smiled. 

Warfield said, “Garell, tell him—” 

Lieutenant Randy Garell drew to his full height of five feet seven inches and bowed deeply. “I am not-so-fat tall Navy man. Welcome to my tent.” He waved around the room. 

Garell waved to the table. “Please join us.” 

McGrody grunted. 

“What is it,” demanded Warfield. 

“Two more of them out here, Commander. They want in.” 

“Okay.  And  would  you  please  get  Sanders  to  bring  us  a  couple jugs of iced tea?” 

“Yes, sir.” Sergeant McGrody opened the tent flap and two more natives  walked  in.  They  all  looked  the  same  except  one  had  white slash marks painted down his cheeks. 

The one with the slash marks looked around the tent, spotted the senior officers, and picked out Warfield, who sat at the table’s head. 

He walked up to him, bowed, and said in his deep British baritone, 

“Good afternoon, Commander. I am Senior Scout John Kari. This is Eroni  Kumana.”  He  nodded  to  the  native  who  had  walked  in  with him.  “We  have  good  news.  Your  Lieutenant  Kennedy  is  well  and alive. Presently, he’s safe with his crew on Olasana Island.” 

“How many are there altogether?” asked Warfield. 

“Eleven,  sahr,”  replied  Kari.  “That  includes  Lieutenant  Kennedy and Ensign Ross.” He said something in Milanese to Gasa. 

With  a  nod,  Gasa  handed  over  the  coconut,  saying,  “This  from Skipper Man.” He made slicing motions on the shell. “He do this.” 

Warfield accepted the coconut shell, turned it over in his hands, and read it. 

NAURU ISL. 

NATIVE KNOWS POSIT

HE CAN PILOT

11 ALIVE

NEED SMALL BOAT

“I’ll be damned,” Warfield said. “Sure looks like the real McCoy.” 

He passed it around. 

“Well, hallelujah,” said Kelly. 

The coconut shell got to Tubby White. It was nearly too much for him.  He  felt  dizzy.  He  took  a  breath.  A  deep  one.  Then  another. 

“Wow,” he blurted. 

It  was  as  if  Warfield  realized  Tubby  was  there  for  the  first  time. 

“So say we all, Lieutenant.” 

He glanced at Brantingham and Liebenow, resignation written on their faces. Brantingham said slowly, “This is one time I’m glad to be wrong.” 

“For sure,” said Liebenow. 

Cluster leaned back and asked Gasa, “Can you tell me what he looks like?” 

“Skipper Man?” 

“Yes.” 

He pointed to Commander Warfield. “Skipper Man that big. And big teeth. Many, many teeth. All the time flash.” His mouth spread to a wide grin. He splayed his fingers before his face and giggled. And then he added, “Hair.” 

It was silent. “Hair, what?” asked Warfield. 

Gasa’s  eyes  dashed  around  the  room  like  a  conspirator.  “Hair. 

Red hair.” Then he whispered to Kari. 

Kari  nodded  with,  “Ah.”  He  smiled  and  said,  “Gasa  says  your skipper  man  has  reddish  hair.  Like  a  warrior.”  He  grinned  and gestured  to  Gasa  and  Kumana.  “Like  one  of  ours.”  And  then  he laughed. 

His laughter was infectious. Gasa began laughing with him. Then Kumana. Then the Americans laughed. Eventually, they all cheered. 

“Jack, you crazy son-of-a-bitch!” yelled Tubby. 

Warfield thrust both hands in the air. “Shut up, everybody.” 

Just  then,  the  tent  flap  opened  and  Henry  Sanders,  a  seaman apprentice,  walked  in  balancing  two  jugs  of  iced  tea  and  a  dozen glasses  on  a  tray.  He  set  it  all  down  and  backed  away.  Warfield pointed to the natives and said, “Please pour a glass for them.” 

Sanders poured and handed glasses to the natives. 

The  natives  gulped  their  iced  tea  while  the  Americans  poured their  own.  After  a  while,  Gasa  dug  in  his  sarong  and  pulled  out Leonard Thom’s message. “From other Skipper Man,” he said softly. 

This time, he handed it to Warfield, who read it aloud: To: Commanding Officer--Oak O

From:Crew P.T. 109 (Oak 14)

Subject:  Rescue  of  11(eleven)  men  lost  since  Sunday,  August 1 in

enemy action. 

Native  knows  our  position  &  will  bring  P.T.  Boat  back  to  small islands of Ferguson Passage off NURU IS. A small boat (outboard or ours) is needed to take men off as some are seriously burned. 

Signal at night three dashes (- - -) Password--Roger---Answer---

Wilco If attempted at day time--advise air coverage or a PBY could set down. Please work out a suitable plan & act immediately Help is urgent & in sore need. Rely on native boys to any extent Thom

Ens. U.S.N.R

Exec. 109. 

Warfield exclaimed, “Holy cow. This cinches it. We gotta get up there tonight and rescue those boys.” 

“One more thing, Tom,” said Cluster. 

“Go ahead, Al.” 

Cluster turned to Kari. “I have the feeling you guys have been on the go quite a bit.” 

“Yes, sahr.” 

“Did you sleep last night.” 

“No, sahr. We in the boat the whole time. We had to get here.” 

“Have you had anything to eat?” 

Kari shook his head. “We paddled all night.” 

“No sleep, you say?” Warfield asked softly. 

Kari said slowly, “It was important. Very important.” 

Warfield  said,  “Amazing.  Gawd  awful  amazing.  You  guys  are something  else.”  He  cupped  his  hands  to  his  mouth  and  yelled, 

“McGrody!” 

The sergeant’s head popped in. “Yes, sir.” 

“McGrody,  these  guys  have  given  it  their  all.  They  paddled  all night to get here. Please take them to Chief Bradly in the mess tent and give them a full meal. Anything they want. And then find a nice quiet  rack  for  them  on  Lieutenant  Brantingham’  s  boat.  And  get  a couple of your guys to load their canoe on PT 159 as well. Okay with you, Hank?” 

“Are you saying I get to go?” 

“Yes,  both  you  and  Lieb  are  going  back  to  pick  these  guys  up. 

After all, you guys were in the same division. Now you get to go and clean things up.” 

“Yes, sir. Thank you very much.” 

Warfield  turned  back  to  Kari  and  said,  “On  behalf  of  our government and the United States Navy, I want to thank you for all you’ve  done.”  He  extended  a  hand  and  shook  with  all  three.  “Now, go with this sergeant here. We’ll give you dinner, all you want. And anything  else  you  want  to  take  along.  And  then  you’ll  ride  with Lieutenant  Brantingham  tonight  on  the  way  back  to  pick  up Lieutenant  Kennedy  and  his  men  and  then  anywhere  you  wish  to go.” 

Kari bowed. “Thank you very much, sahr.” He winked. “I think we get rid of the Jap pretty soon.” 

Warfield  said,  “It’s  looking  a  lot  better,  John,  thanks  to  you  and your men.” 

“Yes,  sahr.”  They  backed  away  and  began  to  walk  out.  But another sailor with clipboard and duty belt got in their way. He edged his way in and walked over to Lieutenant Garell. 

It  was  another  message  for  Warfield.  Garell  walked  over  and handed it to him. 

Warfield  eyed  Garell  and  said,  “Thank  you...  Lieutenant  Garell.” 

Then he read the message. 

Garell, walking away from Warfield, broke into a broad grin. But when  he  got  to  his  spot  two  seconds  later,  he  turned.  He  wore  a straight poker face, as if frozen solid. 

Warfield  didn’t  bother  looking  up.  He  read  the  message,  then said, “Okay, here we go again. It’s from Evans to us.” He read: Lieutenant Kennedy considers it advisable that he pilot PT boats tonight. He will await boats near Patparan Island. PT boat to arrange approach island from northwest 10 P.M. As close as possible. Boat to fire four shots as recognition. He will acknowledge with same and go alongside in canoe. Survivors now on island northwest of Cross. 

He advises outboard motor. Patparan Island is 1 1/2 miles and bears 213 degrees from Makuti. 

He looked up. “Okay, here’s our marching orders.” He nodded to Brantingham  and  Liebenow.  “You  guys  gas  up,  have  chow,  and get  your  boats  ready  for  anything  possible.  Shove  off  at”—he checked  his  watch—“sunset,  say  1900  this  evening.  You  should

make  the  rendezvous  on  Patparan  by  about  2000  or  so.  And  right away, I’ll send a wilco to Evans so he can get going on his end.” 

Warfield turned to face Liebenow. “Bill, I think you should lead the way, making sure everything is clear, say by five hundred yards. Go all  the  way  into  the  Blackett  Strait  as  Kennedy  requests.  Then,  if everything  looks  good,  you  guys  peel  off  and  go  back  to  pick  up Kennedy  at  Patparan.  Then  you  two  motor  over  to  where  Kennedy says  and  pick  up  his  boys.  But  no  wakes,  no  phosphorescence. 

Understand? Go slow. Last thing we need is a Rufe strafing you.” 

Al Cluster stood and asked, “What about giving us a Dumbo for air cover?” 

Warfield jammed his hands to his hips. “Us? Who?” 

Cluster  stuck  out  his  chin.  “I’ll  be  on  Hank’s  boat.  Jack  and  his crew are my boys. Mine. I’m going. Okay?” 

“Yeah, yeah. Sure, Al.” 

“Tubby goes too.” 

Warfield looked to Brantingham, who gave a shrug. “Yeah, sure. 

Tubby goes too. But sorry, no Dumbos available tonight. I tried to set

’em  up  for  another  operation.  They  gave  me  a  definite  no.  Not enough to go around.” 

He waved a hand in the air. “Yeah, okay by me, Al. They’re your boys. Go. Have fun. Just bring ’em back safe and sound.” 

40

7 August 1943

PT 159

Ferguson Passage, Solomon Islands

Before shoving off, Cluster, Brantingham, and Liebenow had briefed the  crews.  And  now,  it  was  like  one  of  those  football  locker  rooms before  the  big  game.  Tubby  was  right.  They  were  like  suited-up players  sitting  by  themselves,  leaning  against  a  wall.  Everybody quiet, prisoners to their thoughts. They worried over consequences if things went wrong. Was this a Japanese trap and nothing but guns awaited  them?  What  if  the  Japs  decide  to  run  the   Tokyo  Express tonight? What if one of the boats had a breakdown? What if … What if…

Cluster  had  hustled  up  a  squad  of  Marines  just  in  case.  They were split. A fireteam of seven on PT 159 and six on PT 157. The PT

159 Marines sat scattered forward of the 40-millimeter gun mount on the  fantail,  checking,  cleaning  their  gear,  making  sure,  for  the  third and fourth times. 

They  blasted  along  at  thirty-five  knots.  The  wind  was  zero,  the ocean flat, with scarcely a ripple. To starboard, Arundel Island’s low

silhouette  loomed  in  pale  moonlight.  Above,  the  sky  silently  raged with a zillion stars. 

Al Cluster and Tubby White sat beneath the starboard .50-caliber twin machine gun tub. Both wore helmets and life belts. Prepared for the  worst,  they  also  had  .45  pistols  hanging  on  web  belts.  For  the second time in as many minutes, Tubby checked his watch: 2155. 

He exchanged glances with Cluster. They were late. 

Cluster nodded. They had needed to top off with fuel and the fuel barge was twenty minutes late. It took another thirty minutes to pump and draw clear. 

Four  men  sat  on  the  deck  just  aft.  It  was  Ray  Cardenas shepherding three reporters: one from  The New York Times, another from  the   Associated  Press,  the  third  from  the  North  American Newspaper  Alliance.  The  three  represented  a  pool  of  seven reporters  who  somehow  had  gotten  the  word  and  made  it  to Rendova in time to chase down what could become a very important story. 

Another  four  men  waited  down  below  in  the  crew’s  berthing compartment.  They  were  pharmacist’s  mates,  well  experienced  in traumatic injuries and burns. They were laying out the tools of their trade, getting ready to receive their patients. Also, they had jugs of cold water, milk, tuna sandwiches, and cookies, ready to go. 

PT  159  bounced  and  jiggled,  suddenly  hitting  chop.  With  that, Cluster sat up. He looked around and waved a hand forward.  We’re in Blackett. 

A  look  ahead  told  Tubby  he  was  right.  The  quarter  moon  stood near Kolombangara’s Mount Veve, outlining its 5,800-foot height. 

As if in response, Brantingham cut his engines to medium speed. 

A glance forward told them Liebenow had done the same thing. 

The  gunner  above  them  slapped  the  side  of  his  turret.  “Okay, gentlemen.  Hank  just  put  out  the  word.  We’re  at  full  GQ.”  As  if  to italicize,  the  gunner  racked  his  guns  and  swung  the  mount  out  to starboard.  “Starboard  fifty  locked  and  cocked,”  he  sang  into  his microphone.  PT  159  was  coming  alive  as  others  readied  their  gun mounts.  The  forty-millimeter  gun  on  the  fantail  swung  into  battery facing  directly  aft.  Same  with  the  37-millimeter  anti-tank  cannon  on the foredeck, the three sailors setting up the ammo train. 

The gunner called down, “Skipper says come on up, gentlemen.” 

“Right,” said Cluster. He and Tubby walked forward. 

PT 157 settled in her wake as Liebenow cut his engines entirely. 

Brantingham did the same. 

Soon,  they  stood  close  to  the  lee  of  Kolombangara  Island. 

Cluster  and  Tubby  stepped  onto  the  cockpit  grating  just  as Brantingham  spun  his  helm  in  a  turn  to  port  following  in  PT  157’s wake,  toward  the  Gizo  Island  group.  It  was  much  quieter. 

Brantingham had cut his outboard engines and was running at about ten knots on just the center engine, which was completely muffled. 

Tubby looked over the side. 

“We okay, Tubby?” asked Brantingham. 

“Yep. No wake, no phosphorescence.” 

“Glad we pass the test.” 

“Okay.” Brantingham checked his watch. “I figure Nauru in about ten minutes.” He looked around. “Where is—?” 

“Here,  Skipper  Man.”  It  was  Baiku  Gasa  silhouetted  by  the evening stars. 

Another  stood  beside  him.  It  was  John  Kari.  “We’re  doing  well, sahr.  Baiku  advises  to  come  left  about—”  He  broke  off  and  spoke Milanese for a moment. “About ten degrees to the left should do it.” 

“Okay, ten degrees it is.” Brantingham made the correction, then looked to the foc’s’cle. Gasa raised a thumb and forefinger. 

They motored along and passed PT 157. After what seemed an eternity, but was just four minutes, Gasa called back, “Stop, please.” 

Brantingham  reversed  his  center  engine.  PT  159  burbled  to  a stop. 

Kari said, “Baiku advises this is good. You may shoot your pistol now, sahr.” 

“Okay.” Brantingham pulled a .45 from his holster, racked it, and looked at Cluster, an eyebrow raised. 

“You remember how to shoot that thing, Hank?” said Cluster. 

“Me?  Remember?  I  have  trouble  remembering  which  end  the bullet  comes  out.”  Brantingham  pointed  his  .45  nearly  straight  up. 

“Here goes nothing.” He cranked out four deliberate rounds from his pistol, the last shot echoing over the water. 

They  waited  five,  ten,  nearly  fifteen  seconds.  Then,  blam, blam, blam, then a loud, concussive  KER-PLOW. 

“Holy shit,” said Brantingham. “What was that?” 

“Jeeez,” echoed Tubby. 

They  waited.  Water  lapped  against  PT  159’s  hull,  her  exhaust rumbling softly. 

A  minute  later,  the  moonlight  revealed  a  war  canoe  slipping alongside.  Kennedy  stood  in  the  center.  His  teeth  gleamed  in  the moonlight as he asked, “Permission to come aboard, sir?” 

Brantingham, Cluster, and Tubby all said, “Granted.” 

Cluster  reached  down  and  grabbed  Kennedy’s  hand.  “Git  your butt up here.” 

Tubby  grabbed  Kennedy’s  other  hand  and  they  heaved.  A second  later,  he  was  aboard  PT  159.  Kennedy  wobbled  to  his  full height. “Good to see you fellas.” 

Cluster blurted, “What the hell was that?” 

“Huh?” said Kennedy. 

“That blast. Scared the crap out of us.” 

“Oh, that. A Jap rifle, an Arisaka I believe. I only had three rounds for  my  pistol.  I  needed  a  fourth.  So  Commander  Evans  let  me  use that.” 

“Could hear it forever,” said Cluster. 

Kennedy said, “The irony is, the recoil was as bad as the blast. I was standing. Damn thing nearly knocked me into the water. As it is, I lost control of the rifle. It fell in and is now in the deep six.” 

“Where it belongs,” said Tubby. 

Baiku Gasa walked up, stood before Kennedy. He said in stilted English, “Good you here, Skipper Man.” 

They shook. Kennedy plopped a hand on Gaza’s shoulder. “Good to  see  you  again.  Thank  you,  thank  you.”  They  shook  again, vigorously. 

“Sahr.” 

John Kari stood beside him. “How do you do, Meestah Kennedy.” 

Kennedy  shook  with  Kari.  “Good  to  see  you  again.  Thanks  for coming.” 

Kari said, “This is a wonderful thing, sahr. I’m happy we could do this for you.” 

“Believe me, for me and my boys, it is wonderful,” said Kennedy. 

Brantingham called from the cockpit, “You’re AWOL, Jack.” 

“Good  to  see  you,  too,  Hank,”  Kennedy  responded.  Then  he looked down to the war canoe and called, “We’re going to Olasana now.” He pointed to Keri and Gasa. “These two will guide us.” 

“Hold  on,”  said  Cluster.  He  called  down  to  the  canoe,  “Can  you wait  about  an  hour?  Then  we  can  return  and  give  Kari  and  Gasa back to you. Also, we have provisions we’d like to hand over.” 

“Yes,  sahr,”  a  voice  called  up  to  them.  “Thank  you,  sahr.”  The canoe cast off and paddled away. 

A  blond,  skinny  pharmacist’s  mate  first  class  walked  up  to Kennedy. “Sir, I am Horace Evans. Could you come below, please? 

We’d like to look you over.” 

“Hold on, please,” said Kennedy. He looked over to Brantingham and pointed to Kari and Gasa. “Best pilots in His Majesty’s service. 

They’ll lead you to Olasana.” 

“Got  it,  Jack.  In  the  meantime,  go  on  below  and  let  these  guys fuss  over  you.”  He  shifted  his  center  engine  into  forward.  PT  159’s screw bit the water and she eased ahead. 

Kennedy smiled. “I could stand a little fussing.” He said to Gasa and Kari, “Can you go up to the bow and give directions to Skipper Man?” He pointed to Brantingham. 

“Yes, sahr,” said Kari. He walked forward with Gasa. 

Kennedy paused at the ladder. “Evans, Horace Evans. Have we met?” 

Evans  stood  straight.  “Tulagi,  sir.  I  believe  you  had  just  walked into town. But I had two other patients then. No time for small talk.” 

“Yeah…I  remember.  Those  other  two  guys.  They  were  sort  of beat up.” 

Evans  gestured  down  the  ladder.  “Yes,  sir,  that’s  right.  They’re fine now. Just like we’re going to make you. Please, sir?” His voice was more demanding. 

“All right,” muttered Kennedy. He descended and was followed by Evans, then Al Cluster and Tubby White. 

They  had  converted  the  crew’s  berthing  compartment  to  a makeshift infirmary. The corpsmen laid Kennedy out, took his vitals, 

then sat him up and gave him a glass of milk and two tuna sandwich halves. 

Kennedy wolfed the sandwich and wiped his mouth with the back of his hand. “Man, that hits the spot.” 

With  panache,  Evans’s  assistant,  seaman  apprentice  Warren Vogel, produced a tray of brandy. There were twelve shot glasses of

“medicinal brandy.” Kennedy grabbed one, whooped, and knocked it back. Smacking his lips, he looked over to Cluster. “Wow, that really hits the spot. You guys run a great cruise ship.” 

Cluster  checked  his  watch.  “Mmmm.  Dancing  girls  are  late.  But not to worry. We reserved the fat, ugly one for you. All the others are taken.” 

They’d  pulled  off  Kennedy’s  shirt  and  pants,  then  stood  him  up and pushed him into water closet and onto the toilet seat. There they dumped two buckets of fresh water over him.  “Just to get some of the gunk off of you, sir,” said Evans. 

“I’m for that.”  Kennedy slapped at the water run-off. “Wow. That’s nice.” 

Soon, Kennedy was out and dressed. “Feel like a million. Okay to go topside, guys?” 

Hopkins  nudged  Cluster.  The  tray  that  once  held  twelve  shot glasses of brandy now only held nine. 

“Jesus,” said Cluster. Without anyone being the wiser, two shots of brandy had just disappeared. 

“Stay close to him, Commander. That could knock him on his ass. 

Tell you what. I’ll give him another tuna sandwich. See if that helps.” 

Kennedy was halfway up the ladder. 

“Sir!” called Evans. 

“Yes?”  said  Kennedy,  looking  over  to  where  the  tray  of  brandy glasses had been. It was gone. Vogel had hidden it. 

Evans  handed  over  the  tuna  sandwich.  “Ahhh,  I  highly recommend  you  eat  this  one  too,  sir.”  He  spoke  slowly.  “For medicinal purposes.” 

Kennedy  flashed  a  grin,  grabbed  the  sandwich,  and  took  an enormous bite. “Happy to do that, Evans. My heartfelt thanks ... for medicinal purposes.” Then he was up the hatch and out. 
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Gasa shot his fist up for the “hold signal.” Brantingham backed down and stopped. 

Keri walked back to the bridge. “This should be it, gentlemen. We think you should anchor.” 

“Okay,”  said  Brantingham.  He’d  already  set  the  sea  and  anchor detail.  Two  men  stood  on  the  foredeck,  ready  to  let  the  anchor  go. 

Another,  a  boatswain’s  mate,  had  been  calling  the  depths  with  a lead-line. The most recent sounding: twenty-six feet. 

Brantingham whistled to his foredeck crew. Then, “Let go.” 

With  a  sledgehammer,  they  smacked  a  pelican  hook  and  the anchor dropped with a splash. Soon it was on the bottom, and they stopped and held the anchor at short stay. Brantingham backed a bit on the center engine; the anchor dug in and held fast. “Okay, Al. It’s your show.” 

“Thanks.” Cluster stepped over to the starboard side where four sailors had dumped an eight-foot punt work boat over the side. “Let’s go,  Jack,”  he  said,  crawling  down  a  cargo  net.  “You  sure  you  can make this?” 

“Wouldn’t miss it,” said Kennedy, following Cluster. Awkwardly, he stepped into the punt and sat heavily in the stern sheets. He waved a hand casually. “Lead on, McGee.” 

Cluster grabbed the oars and began rowing. After three minutes, Kennedy pointed straight ahead. “Olasana Island is that way.” Then he shouted, “Lenny? Lenny? Where the hell are you?” 

Rowing toward shore, Cluster said, “Jeez, Jack. You wanna wake the dead?” He kept rowing. 

“Hold up a minute, Al,” said Kennedy, slurring a bit. 

It hit Cluster that Kennedy was near-drunk. “Sure, Jack. Time for another tuna sandwich?” 

“Oh, Al, ye of little faith.” Then he really shouted. “Lenny. Where the hell are you?” His voice echoed over the water. 

Cluster  was  scared.  “Jack,  damnit.  There’s  Japs  all  around.  I don’t want to—” 

“Lenneeeeee.” 

“Shit, Jack. You’re going to get us—” 

“Jack, over here.” A voice wavered off to their right. 

“There.” Kennedy grinned and pointed. 

With a groan, Cluster rowed. 

Kennedy yelled, “You okay, Lenny?” 

Thom  replied,  “You  interrupted  our  barbecue.  What  the  hell  do you want?” 

“Straight ahead, Al,” said Kennedy. “Give it all you got.” 

Cluster rowed hard, and soon the punt scraped up onto sand. 

Two  figures  walked  from  the  tree  line.  They  materialized  into Lenny Thom and Barney Ross, both with broad smiles. 

Kennedy jumped from the punt. They all shook and patted backs. 

“Lenny. Barney. Say, how’s the arm?” 

Cluster walked up. 

Ross exclaimed, “Hell, it’s big Al. Welcome to God’s paradise.” 

They all prattled on for a minute, then Cluster said, “We gotta get going, boys. “Sunrise at 0530 or thereabouts, and I want to be home and tucked in by then. Plus, you have some injured?” 

Thom  and  Kennedy  looked  at  each  other.  Kennedy  said,  “Let’s get Pappy out here. I think Al can take two at a time. The first load should be Pappy and Barney.” 

Ross protested, but they shut him up and stuck him in the stern. 

Carefully they fished a very odorous Pappy McMahon out of the undergrowth and worked him down to the punt. There, they lifted him onto the bowseat. Still in obvious pain, he just said, “Thanks, fellas.” 

Kennedy and Thom shoved the boat back into the water. Fifteen minutes later, Tubby White was back to pick up two more. After that, Brantingham  was  back  to  pick  up  two  more.  Ray  Cardenas  came and  picked  up  another  two,  then  Tubby  White  returned.  Al  Cluster came in for the last load. Kennedy shoved them off and leapt in. 

Cluster  rowed,  and  eight  minutes  later,  as  they  drew  within  100

feet  of  PT  159,  the  sounds  of  men  shouting  and  calling  to  one another  drifted  out  to  them.  Cluster  cursed  with,  “Listen  to  those bastards. Don’t they know there’s a war on?” 

“They’re happy, Al,” said Kennedy. 

“I’ll get happy too, once we’re away from here.” Cluster shipped his oars, letting the punt drift alongside PT 159. 

“Hey,  you  guys.”  It  was  Evans  and  Vogel  reaching  down.  They pulled  Kennedy  and  Thom  aboard.  “Welcome,  gentlemen,”  said Evans. “Do you mind lying below? Especially you, Mr. Thom. We …

ah … have something for you.” 

“What’s that?” blurted Thom. 

Evans  oozed  with,  “You  should  ask  Mr.  Kennedy.  He  knows  all about it.” 

Kennedy grabbed Thom’s shoulder. “Come on, Lenny. It’s a nice surprise. This way … crew’s berthing.” 

“I seem to remember that space.” 

Grunting  sailors  hoisted  the  punt,  and  Brantingham  started  PT

159’s  center  engine  on  muffler.  The  anchor  was  raised,  and  ten minutes  later,  with  Gasa  and  Kari  giving  directions  up  in  the  bow, they eased out through the reef line into Ferguson Passage, the boat rocking more heavily with wind-waves. 

They  were  two  hundred  yards  beyond  the  reef  line  when  two shapes  emerged  before  them.  PT  157’s  silhouette  was unmistakable.  Also  on  just  a  muffled  center  engine,  she  lurched  to within ten yards and stopped, both boats easily rolling in the swells. 

With a megaphone, Liebenow called across the gap, “Well, what have you got, Hank?” 

Brantingham  called  back,  “Full  boat,  Lieb.  Eleven  guys.  In  fair shape too. We’re all set.” 

Cheers rose from PT 157. 

Cluster  grabbed  the  megaphone.  “Hold  it  down,  boys.  Don’t forget there’s Japs all around and they patrol these waters. So we’re not home yet.” 

PT 157 became quiet. 

Cluster continued, “All that said, thanks for hanging with us and watching our flank. That helped a lot. We’ll shove off in a couple of minutes as soon as we take care of the natives.” 

Liebenow’s voice echoed across the water. “Standing by.” 

Gasa and Keri walked up. 

Cluster took their hands. “You two are the greatest. Thank you for all you do, and especially for this.” 

Kennedy,  Thom,  and  Barney  Ross  rose  from  the  hatch  and walked over. “We hope to see you again soon,” said Ross. 

“Yes, sahr.” 

“Take care of yourselves,” said Thom. 

“Yes, sahr.” 

“And please give our best to Lieutenant Evans,” said Kennedy. 

“Yes, sahr.” 

Kennedy continued, “Thank you again and again.” 

“Our  pleasure,  sahr.”  They  put  their  palms  together  and  bowed. 

Then they crawled down the net. 

Sailors  passed  down  cartons  of  food  and  medical  supplies. 

Cluster  grabbed  one  large  box.  “Ah,  you’ll  like  this.  Twenty-four cartons of Lucky Strikes.” He handed it down. 

Kari caught that one and beamed with, “Thank you, sahr. Thank you very much.” 

The provisions were all aboard the war canoe and neatly stacked amidships. The natives were seated and ready. 

Kennedy,  Cluster,  Tubby  White,  Barney  Ross,  and  Lenny  Thom stood at the starboard rail, watching. 

With a single whoop from the native in the stern, they dug in their paddles, their stroke powerful, their rhythm amazingly synchronized. 

The war canoe soon melted into darkness. 

Over the water, they heard, “Goodbye, Skipper Man.” 

Gasa. 

Kennedy  cupped  his  hands  to  his  mouth  and  yelled,  “Goodbye. 

Goodbye and thank you again.” 

“Skipper Man, after war is—” 

The  rest  was  blotted  out  when  Hank  Brantingham  started  his outboard  Packards.  The  engines  thundered  with  a  rippling cacophony.  At  the  same  time,  he  unmuffled  the  center  engine.  Ten yards to port, PT 157’s Packards blasted into life. 

They  didn’t  waste  time.  Brantingham  and  Liebenow  shoved  in their  throttles.  Soon,  they  were  on  the  step,  heading  south  for Rendova, the roar of their engines fading over the calming waters of Ferguson Passage. 
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9 August 1943

USS  Whitney (AD 4)

Tulagi Harbor

Solomon Islands

Ingram waited for Fred Moosbrugger on the 02 level at the wardroom hatch. Soon, he would head down to the quarterdeck and ashore for his trip back to CONUS (Continental United States). He wore a clean set  of  working  khakis  and  had  said  his  goodbyes  to  the  officers  of DesDiv12 and 15. Fred Moosbrugger was the last on his list. In fact, Moosbrugger’s gig was now easing up to the accommodation ladder, standing by to take him ashore. It was there to take him to the main Tulagi  pier.  A  sailor  had  grabbed  his  B-4  bag  and  was  hauling  it down the accommodation ladder to the gig. 

Inside, he heard cheering and whooping. Finally, the hatch burst open  and  Moosbrugger  emerged,  grinning.  “Thanks  for  waiting, Todd.” 

“Glad to do it, Commodore.” They shook. 

“Fred.” 

“Fred.” He nodded inside. “What’s the hullabaloo?” 

“It looks like we avenged PT 109.” 

“Say again?” 

“Turns  out  they  all  survived.  All  except  two  enlisted.  But everybody else got back. Hell of a survival tale, though. Can’t wait to hear it.” 

“And their skipper?” Ingram snapped his fingers. 

“Yes. Kennedy, Jack Kennedy. He’s okay, too.” 

“Wow.” 

“You  may  have  a  chance  to  see  him.  They’re  sending  Kennedy and his crew down this morning from Rendova via PT boat. They go into the hospital here and then on to the States for thirty days R and R.” 

“Nice.” 

“And the PT refuels, then takes you over to Cactus for your trip out. Then back to Rendova for them.” 

“Rendova. I don’t envy that.” 

“Me neither. It’s one swampy hell-hole.” 

“So I’ve heard. Anyway, Commodore, I—” 

“Fred.” 

“Excuse  me.  Fred.  I  want  to  thank  you  again  for  letting  me  tag along. There’s a lot of stuff I needed to know. Jerry Landa was right to send me out here.” 

“I’m  sure  it’s  no  news  to  you  when  I  say  Jerry  Landa  is  one insane son-of-a-bitch.” 

A twinkle grew in Ingram’s eye. “All true except the insane part. 

Maybe ashore, but at sea, he knows exactly what he’s doing. Gotta say, I’ve never known a man with more control and more depth when the chips are down.” 

“He’s senior enough. He should be a staffer somewhere as a rear admiral.” 

“Well, I …” 

“Say  no  more,  Todd.  We  know  Jerry  makes  too  much  a  fool  of himself in O Clubs.” 

“He hates ass-kissing.” 

“I know, but he needs to ease up. Give that to him from me. We’ll take care of him. Tell him that, okay?” 

“From you, that’s good news. I’ll let him know.” 

“He’ll probably bend over and throw a fart at you.” 

Ingram chuckled. “He’s done worse.” 

The water was choppy alongside. The boat crew were having a time holding it alongside the accommodation ladder. 

Ingram said, “Looks like I better get down there before it all turns to  matchwood.”  They  shook.  Ingram  stood  straight  and  said, 

“Request permission to leave the ship, sir.” 

They saluted. 

“Granted, and thanks again for coming out, Todd. I learned some stuff from you, too.” 

“Whoa.  I  should  be  saying  that  to  you,  Commodore.  Again,  I thank you.” 

“Fred.” 

“Fred.” 

Ingram  turned  and  quick-stepped  down  the  ladders  to  the quarterdeck  and  the  OOD.  He  saluted  once  again,  and  asked permission to leave the ship. The OOD granted his request. With a salute to the colors aft, Ingram was down the accommodation ladder and on the platform. 

The chop was worse than it looked. The gig heaved up and down at least two or three feet. 

The boat’s engineer was right across and offered a hand. “Rather have you aboard with us, sir, than in the drink.” 

“Gladly.”  Ingram  grabbed  the  man’s  outstretched  paw  and  was yanked  aboard.  He  found  a  place  in  the  cockpit  as  the  cox’n  rang four bells. The gig pulled away. 

Ingram looked up and waved to Moosbrugger. “Adios.” 

“Come see us again sometime.” Moosbrugger grinned. 

He sat and settled in for the ride ashore when, about halfway, a familiar  rumble  came  from  behind.  He  turned  to  see  a  PT  boat.  In fact, it was PT 72, Tubby White’s boat. The PT was idling and had settled in its wake. But still, she overhauled the gig. And yes, there was Tubby, at his helm, on top of his game. Shirtless as usual. The three  Packards,  barely  idling,  were  too  loud  to  hail  the  PT.  But  the skipper looked over and Ingram waved. 

Tubby  elbowed  the  officer  next  to  him;  it  might  have  been  Al Cluster. It looked like Tubby mouthed,  It’s Ingram. Hey, Todd! 

As  they  all  waved,  Ingram  saw  that  PT  72’s  decks  were  strewn with a bedraggled group of men, sitting or lying back against the pilot house. They wore rags, but each held a canteen. One or two tipped a canteen over their head, letting the water run down. Two more men lay in Stokes litters on the foredeck, one heavily bandaged with an IV

drip.  Men—they  looked  like  corpsmen—were  perched  over  each litter, blotting out the sun, keeping them comfortable. 

Her  engines  growling,  PT  72  eased  on  past,  her  crew  lowering fenders on the starboard side, getting ready to moor. 

The  gig’s  cox’n  pushed  his  tiller  to  climb  over  PT  72’s  quarter wave and follow in smooth water directly behind. They headed for a mooring  where  a  group  of  ambulances  was  gathered.  Ingram counted five. PT 72 soon made her landing and shut down. The gig landed well aft. Ingram hefted out his B-4 bag and, after thanking the crew, ordered the gig back to the  Whitney. 

He  walked  up  the  pier  to  PT  72,  finding  Tubby  struggling  into  a khaki shirt. By the time Ingram drew opposite, Tubby had tucked in the  shirt  and  jammed  on  a  garrison  cap,  almost  looking  like  an officer. “Todd, how the hell are you?” He leaned over. They shook. 

“Doing better now. Was in Vella Gulf the other night, beating up on Tojo.” 

Al Cluster jumped onto the dock and they shook. “You were with Moosbrugger?” 

“Yes, Commander, a real train wreck. Guess who won, though?” 

Cluster whistled. “I know. We heard you put down four cans.” 

Ingram said, “Maybe. But it looks closer to three. I think one got away.” 

“Terrific,”  said  Cluster.  “You  probably  took  care  of  the  guys  that ran over Jack here—” 

“Hiya,  fellas.”  Jack  Kennedy  walked  up.  A  loose-fitting combination cap was jammed over his head; his khaki trousers were clean but wrinkled. He wore a khaki shirt half buttoned in front and not tucked in. Still wearing a broad smile worthy of Jerry Landa, he leaned  on  a  bamboo  walking  stick.  “I  think  I  remember  you.  Right back at this same place.” He reached out and they shook. 

“That’s right. Just a few months ago. Todd Ingram,” Ingram said. 

“Welcome back to the world.” 

“It’s  nice  to  be  here,  Commander.  So  very  nice.  Even  in  this screwed-up world.” He waved a hand at the tree line. “I can’t tell you how sweet every drop of water tastes.” 

Cluster patted Kennedy on the back. “How much  water have you had, Jack?” 

“Plenty,”  said  Kennedy.  He  belched  loudly  and  teetered  on  his bamboo stick. He muttered, “Damn thing won’t stay upright.” 

PT  109  sailors  were  jumping  into  ambulances.  Two  drove  off  at the  same  time.  The  bandaged  man  on  the  Stokes  litter  was  being eased into the back. He called softly, “Goodbye, Jack. Thank you for everything.” 

Kennedy yelled, “Goodbye hell, Pappy. I’m coming with you.” 

“Okay.” The back doors slammed and the ambulance drove off. 

“Where’s Barney?” Kennedy looked around. 

Cluster said, “Gone with the first batch, Jack. Completely passed out. I think he had too much …  water.” 

“Damn fool,” Kennedy muttered. 

A corpsman walked over. A first class, looking sharp in pressed dungarees.  He  waved  to  an  ambulance,  the  last  one  with  the  back door gaping open. “Sir? You ready?” 

Kennedy was rather unfocused. “Course I am.” He nearly lost his grip on the bamboo walking stick. But the corpsman caught his right arm.  Tubby  White  found  his  left.  Together,  they  walked  over  to  the ambulance  and  helped  Kennedy  in,  where  he  found  a  comfortable gurney. “Night, everyone.” He flopped face down on the gurney and was fast asleep. 

The  ambulance  drove  off.  Cluster  stood  with  Ingram  and  Tubby White, rubbing his eyes. “Damn. I’m unfocused too. And no booze, either.  Just  babysitting  some  fine  American  men.”  He  straightened up. “About ready, Tubby?” 

Tubby  waved  to  the  fuel  barge  outboard  of  PT  72.  “Refueling. 

Ready to shove off in twenty minutes.” 

Cluster  looked  around  and  landed  on  Ingram.  “I’ve  heard  about you.” 

“What?” asked Ingram. 

You guys are all the same,” said Al Cluster. 

“What are you talking about, boss?” said Tubby. 

“Kennedy, Ingram, and you, too, Tubby White.” 

Ingram felt a bit nervous. “Suppose we start with Kennedy.” 

Cluster  waved  toward  the  hospital  and  the  ambulances  on  their short  trip.  “Nerves  of  steel.  Guess  what  that  dumb  bastard  said  to me.” 

Ingram and Tubby White searched Cluster’s face. 

“In situations like this, policy is to send people home for thirty-day leave.  And  that’s  after  time  in  the  hospital.  So  I  handed  Jack  his orders for thirty days, and guess what?” 

Ingram couldn’t resist. “What?” 

“He tore them up. Said he is staying out here. Wants a new boat. 

Right away.” 

“Jeeez.” 

Just then, a sailor walked up carrying a mail bag. “Mr. White?” 

“Yes?” 

“One for you.” He handed over a letter, all in green ink. 

“Thanks,” said Tubby, ripping it open. 

Cluster said to Ingram, “So like a damn fool, I gave in. He almost threatened to have his old man come after me.” 

“Good God.” 

“I’m giving him the 59 boat. The  Tokyo Express days are over. No more Jap capital ships to go after. So we take off the torpedoes, and the torpedo tubes. Think of all that weight we take off. The thing will go like a rocket, right?” 

“Makes sense to me.” 

“Then we add a forty-millimeter forward and ten twenty-millimeter guns on the rails, five to a side. The things will be much lighter and faster than hell. Because our new mission is hunting down Japanese Daihatsu barges and sinking them.” 

“Wow!” 

“In  situ,  gentlemen.  In  situ.”  Cluster  looked  at  Ingram.  “I  need  a squadron commander. The job is yours if you want it.” 

“Holy cow. You don’t even know me.” 

“I know enough about you to realize you’d be perfect for this job.” 

Ingram jammed his hands on his hips and said slowly, “Al, that’s very nice, but thank you. I’m a tin can sailor. Committed to skipper a new  Fletcher-class.” 

“Yeah, but Jerry Landa?” 

“I’m sort of stuck with him, Al. We take care of each other.” 

“He leads you by the nose.” 

“And I got him by the balls and he knows it.” 

“Listen, I can give—” 

“Holyeeee shit!” yelled Tubby. 

“Huh?” they said. 

Tubby waved a crackling onionskin letter in the air. “He did it. The son-of-a-bitch did it.” 

“Who?” 

“Kennedy. I could kiss him. This is from Faith, my girlfriend.” He waved it again. 

“You have a girlfriend?” said Ingram. 

“Who would be stupid enough to do that?” added Cluster. 

White said, “Lookit this. North American fired Faith because they couldn’t  find  her  naturalization  papers.  She’s  Canadian.  And  the North American personnel department lost the damn papers. So they had to put her on unpaid leave. She was out of a job and basically unemployable because of her sudden alien status. She was even in danger  of  being  deported.  So  she’s  been  waiting  tables  in  a  cheap diner. 

“Here”—he  flipped  to  the  next  page—“she  says  some  bigwig  in the  State  Department  learned  about  the  problem  from  Joseph  P. 

Kennedy,  Senior,  and  has  torn  North  American’s  personnel department upside down. They even threatened to cancel contracts. 

They  also  sent  along  a  validated  copy  of  her  naturalization certificate. 

“So North American, being the good little defense contractor that they  are,  reinstated  Faith  to  full  time  with  all  back  pay  and  a promotion to senior secretary. 

“Jeeez.” He slapped the letter with the back of his hand. “Can you believe that? Jack asked his dad for help and didn’t even tell me.” 

“Amazing,” said Cluster. 

“And look what his dad did,” said Tubby. 

“What are friends for?” said Ingram. 

Tubby looked toward the hospital. “I should go thank him.” 

Cluster  said,  “We  got  a  job  to  do,  Tubby.  Get  Todd  over  to Henderson  and  then  back  to  Rendova.  There’s  a  ton  of  stuff  piling up.” 

“Damn,” said Tubby. 

“Write him a letter,” said Ingram. “I’ll help you.” 

EPILOGUE

Only the dead have seen the end of war. 

Plato

25 November 1968

Arlington National Cemetery

1 Sheridan Drive, Fort Myer, Virginia

It  was  overcast  at  eight-thirty  in  the  morning.  If  yesterday  was  any example, it would be overcast again today. All day. Dreary. 

Good  enough.  She  walked  to  the  familiar  site,  its  flame  burning with a beckoning lilt. 

She drew to within fifteen feet of his grave. 

“Close to you once more.” 

 Inga Binga. You look wonderful. 

She couldn’t help it. She pulled a handkerchief and dabbed at her eyes. “You sound wonderful.” 

Above  Jack’s  grave  was  a  circular  stone  memorial  to  Joseph  P. 

Kennedy  Jr.  He’d  been  killed  in  a  cataclysmic  airplane  explosion over  England.  On  12  August  1944,  loaded  with  21,170  pounds  of torpex, Joe’s PB4Y, a Navy B-24, was intended for a one-way trip to the U-boat  pens  at  Heligoland in the North Sea.  After  safely  taking off,  Joe  and  his  copilot  were  to  bail  out  before  clearing  the  English

coastline.  Instead,  it  blew  up  prematurely.  The  blast  was  huge. 

Nothing  was  ever  found  of  Joe.  And  nothing  of  the  plane,  either. 

Thus  the  circular  gray-stone  memorial.  And  the  eternal  flame.  On either side of Jack were the graves of a son and daughter who had died as infants. 

Five  people  were  already  there.  A  family,  on  their  knees.  She kneeled at a safe distance away from them. 

“I’m so sorry about Bobby. It was too soon for both of you.” She didn’t  add  about  losing  Kick  in  a  plane  crash  in  France  in  1948. 

Three  sons  and  a  daughter.  The  Kennedy  family  had  taken  a beating. 

 I see Bobby from time to time. Joe, too. And Kick pops in once in a  while  to  stir  up  the  pot.  They  seem  happy  enough.  And  we  still have Teddy in there slugging it out for us. 

“I don’t know Teddy.” 

 Don’t  try.  He’ll  just  pull  the  same  stuff  Dad  did.  It’s  not  worth  it. 

 Besides, you have your own family. How are they? 

“A  blessing.”  After  a  run  as  a  gossip  columnist,  Inga  wound  up with a job at MGM Studios working for David O. Selznick. She was heavily  involved  in  the  development  and  promotion  of   Duel  in  the Sun, a box-office hit. Along the way, she’d met Tim McCoy, twenty-two  years  older  and  a  cowboy  turned  movie  actor  who  made numerous  B-Westerns.  With  McCoy,  she’d  realized  her  dream  of having a home and a true family with children. They had Ronald and Terrence, a handful for her but she loved every minute. On the other hand,  McCoy  was  gone  a  lot  making  movies,  so  he  wasn’t  around much to be a father. 

“We’re  doing  great.  We  live  on  a  ranch  in  Pennsylvania.  One hundred twenty-seven acres.” 

 Uh-huh. Your eyes, it’s in your eyes. I can see it. 

She doubled a fist. “See what?” 

 Dear Inga Binga. You’re beginning to sound like a Catholic. 

“Perish the thought.” 

 He laughed. 

“You sound like the old Jack.” 

 How’s that? 

“I knew you before and after the war. You changed out there. You became a man. All that killing. I don’t know if it was good for you.” 

 I saw a lot of it and I did a lot of it especially when they gave me that gunboat. It was not fun. Yes, I suppose I changed. 

“But still not bad. Not for the worse. I still love you. You may not be the darling little boy I once knew, but you’re still darling.” 

 I love you too, Inga Binga. Very much. 

“Oh, baby. How can we—?” 

 How are your finances? 

“Well, it’s going sideways right now. I think Tim is having career troubles. We’re having to sell some—” 

 That’s  what  I  was  afraid  of.  Look,  this  is  between  you  and  me, okay? 

“Yes, of course. What’s that?” 

 There’s a law firm in Beverly Hills. I want you to contact them. 

“Whatever.” She pulled the handkerchief and dabbed at her eyes. 

 You  need  money.  I  left  you  a  slush  fund.  A  lot.  Just  in  case.  I don’t want you standing in a bread line. 

“Yes, but—" 

 Don’t argue with me. Just call them. Promise? 

This  was  very  strange.  Up  until  now,  Inga  had  indulged  herself, not  saying  anything  to  anyone  about  supposedly  speaking  to  Jack. 

Just her little emotional secret. Somehow, it had all helped. It started when Jack was assassinated. For two weeks, she was in seclusion. 

Her  family  understood  and  indulged  her.  But  they  didn’t  know  that she  and  Jack  had  talked.  Nor  that  she  visited  his  grave  once  each year  on  the  anniversary  of  his  assassination,  or  at  least  close  to  it. 

But  this  was  strange.  It  was  the  first  time  they  had  talked  about money. 

“Okay, I promise. Who are they?” 

 A  small  but  very,  very  prestigious  law  firm  in  Beverly  Hills: Snowden,  Hamel  Hoshino,  and  Lisotto.  But  don’t  tell  anyone  else, especially  my  father.  He  would  go  nuts  and  try  to  disgrace  them. 

 These  are  all  great  guys.  Navy  guys.  That’s  where  I  met  them. 

 They’ll take care of you. They have the wherewithal. 

“Jack, I don’t know. How can I—" 

 There’s something else. 
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“Yes?” 

 Smoking.  Smoking  cigarettes.  They’re  going  to  kill  you.  The Surgeon General says so. 

“That man is a crock. It’s all nonsense. Besides, I use filters.” 

 From  what  we  hear  up  here,  the  filters  make  it  worse.  Please, Inga Binga. Stop. 

“Oh, I’ll try.” 

 I have to go, Inga Binga. I love you very much. Goodbye for now. 

“Jack, wait.” 

But he was gone. 

Quickly, she hailed a cab, returned to her hotel, and took the elevator up. Seated in her room, she thought it over. This was stupid. For the past  five  years,  she’d  immersed  herself  in  all  she  knew  of  Jack Kennedy.  Even  visiting  his  grave,  where  she  swore  to  herself  that Kennedy was really speaking with her. It all seemed so realistic. And comforting. She always felt better walking away from Arlington. But now, too much.  This is ridiculous. I’m going crazy. 

She  pulled  a  little  booklet  from  her  purse  and  dialed  Dr.  Alfred Metz, a top psychiatrist in New York City. 

“Dr. Metz’s office.” 

“My  name  is  Inga  McCoy.  I  was  referred  to  you  by  Adrian Spooner, a mutual friend. I’d like to see Dr. Metz, please.” 

“Yes, ahhh, Mr. Spooner, you say?” 

“Yes, I understand they are personal friends.” 

“One moment, please.” The line clicked. She was on hold. 

Inga’s purse tipped. A note fell out. She’d written it in the cab on the  way  back  to  the  hotel:   Snowden,  Hamel,  Hoshino,  and  Lisotto, Beverly Hills. She took it out and smoothed it on the nightstand. 

The line clicked. “Miss McCoy?” 

“Mrs. McCoy. Yes.” 

“Dr.  Metz  can  see  you.  We’re  trying  for  next  week.  Is  that  all right?” 

“That’s fine.” 
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“Please let me call back in a few minutes while we find a place on his calendar.” 

“Thank you.” Inga gave her number and hung up. 

The note was there: Snowden, Hamel, Hoshino, and Lisotto. 

The  hell  with  it.  She  dialed  information  in  Los  Angeles.  She  sat bolt upright when the operator reported a listing for a law firm called Snowden, Hamel, Hoshino, and Lisotto with offices on Wilshire Blvd. 

in Beverly Hills. The operator gave the phone number and address. 

Inga knew the area well. A well-established business neighborhood. 

She wrote it all down. “Thank you.” She rang off. 

Her  phone  rang.  Loud  in  this  little  room.  She  hadn’t  heard  it before. “Hello?” 

It was Dr. Metz’s receptionist. “Mrs. McCoy?” 

“Yes.” 

“We have a spot for you next Thursday at four o’clock. Is that all right?” 

Inga  drummed  her  fingers.  “Something  has  come  up.  Can  I please call you back?” 

“Of course.” They rang off. 

Inga  stared  at  the  note  for  ten  minutes.  She  checked  the  clock. 

12:20  local  time.  She  took  a  deep  breath.  Okay.  She  got  the  long-distance operator and had her call the number station-to-station. 

A voice announced, “Snowden, Hamel, Hoshino, and Lisotto.” 

“My  name  is  Inga  McCoy.  Could  I  speak  with  one  of  your attorneys, please?” 

“Ahhh, one moment. … Yes, is that Inga Arvad McCoy?” 

An electric shock ran through her. “Yes,” she managed. 

“Please hold on. Mr. Snowden is in.” 

Click. She felt as if she were trapped in a block of ice. 

A  voice  came  on.  “Good  morning,  Mrs.  McCoy.  We’ve  been expecting you…” 

End of Book 7

The Todd Ingram Series continues with

Danger’s Ebb

In a world consumed by war, one man's courage defies the odds to shield those he holds dear. 

Get your copy of Danger’s Ebb here. 
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Lieutenant Commander Todd Ingram, seasoned by the perils of war, faces an unexpected challenge when reassigned to the grounded destroyer USS Dunagan. Encountering a crew plagued by

insubordination and turmoil, Ingram must restore order and lift spirits amidst an imminent threat from formidable adversaries. 

As the Dunagan is thrust into a high-stakes showdown with the Imperial Japanese Navy, Ingram's unwavering bravery becomes the driving force that steers his ship and crew through the maelstrom of battle. 

Danger's Ebb weaves an epic tale of love, loyalty, and sacrifice, where one man's decisive actions possess the power to alter the course of history. 

Get your copy of Danger’s Ebb here. 
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